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6,250,000 Shares
Class A Common Stock

Marpai, Inc.

This is a firm commitment initial public offering of shares of Class A common stock of Marpai, Inc. We are
offering shares of our Class A common stock. The initial public offering price of our shares is $4.00 per share.

Prior to this offering, there has been no public market for our Class A common stock. Our shares of Class A
common stock have been approved for listing on The Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbol “MRAI.”

We are an “emerging growth company” and a “smaller reporting company,” each as defined under the federal
securities laws and, as such, have elected to comply with certain reduced reporting requirements for this prospectus
and may elect to do so in future filings. See the section titled “Implications of Being an Emerging Growth
Company and a Smaller Reporting Company.”

Investing in our Class A common stock involves a high degree of risk. Please read “Risk Factors” beginning
on page 25 of this prospectus for a discussion of factors you should consider before buying shares of our
Class A common stock.

Neither the Securities and Exchange Commission nor any state securities commission has approved or
disapproved of these securities or determined if this prospectus is truthful or complete. Any representation
to the contrary is a criminal offense.

Per Share Total 
Public offering price $ 4.00  $25,000,000  
Underwriting discounts and commissions $ 0.28  $ 1,750,000 
Proceeds, before expenses, to us $ 3.72  $23,250,000  

See “Underwriting” for a description of the compensation payable to the underwriters We refer you to
“Underwriting” beginning on page 122 of this prospectus for additional information regarding underwriters’
compensation.

We have granted a 45-day option to the representative of the underwriters to purchase up to additional shares of
Class A common stock from us solely to cover over-allotments, if any, at the public offering price, less
underwriting discounts and commissions.

The underwriter expects to deliver the shares of our Class A common stock against payment therefor on or about
October 29, 2021, subject to customary closing conditions.

ThinkEquity

The date of this prospectus is October 26, 2021
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We and the underwriters have not authorized anyone to provide you any information other than that contained
in this prospectus or in any free writing prospectus prepared by or on behalf of us or to which we have referred you,
and you should rely only on the information contained in this prospectus or in any such free writing prospectus. We
and underwriters take no responsibility for, and can provide no assurance as to the reliability of, any other
information that others may give you. We and the underwriters are not making an offer to sell nor a solicitation of
any offer to buy these securities in any jurisdiction where the offer or sale is not permitted. You should assume that
the information appearing in this prospectus is accurate only as of the date on the front cover of this prospectus.
Our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects may have changed since that date.

For investors outside of the United States: we have not and the underwriters have not taken any action that
would permit this offering or possession or distribution of this prospectus in any jurisdiction where action for that
purpose is required, other than the United States. Persons outside of the United States who come into possession of
this prospectus must inform themselves about, and observe any restrictions relating to, the offering of the shares of
Class A common stock and the distribution of this prospectus outside of the United States.
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Our logo and some of our trademarks and tradenames are used in this prospectus. This prospectus also
includes trademarks, tradenames and service marks that are the property of other organizations. Solely for
convenience, trademarks, tradenames and service marks referred to in this prospectus may appear without the ®,
TM and SM symbols, but those references are not intended to indicate in any way that we will not assert to the
fullest extent under applicable law our rights or the rights of the applicable licensor to these trademarks,
tradenames and service marks.

We obtained the statistical data, market data and other industry data and forecasts described in this prospectus
from market research, publicly available information and industry publications. Industry publications generally
state that they obtain their information from sources that they believe to be reliable, but they do not guarantee the
accuracy and completeness of the information. Similarly, while we believe that the statistical data, industry data
and forecasts and market research are reliable, we have not independently verified the data, and we do not make
any representation as to the accuracy of the information. We have not sought the consent of the sources to refer to
their reports appearing or incorporated by reference in this prospectus.
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PROSPECTUS SUMMARY

This summary only highlights the more detailed information appearing elsewhere in this prospectus. As this is
a summary, it does not contain all of the information that you should consider in making an investment decision.
You should read this entire prospectus carefully, including the information under “Risk Factors” and our financial
statements and the related notes included elsewhere in this prospectus, before investing. Pursuant to the Amended
and Restated Equity Interest Purchase and Reorganization Agreement (the “Purchase and Reorganization
Agreement”), Marpai, Inc., a Delaware corporation, has acquired all equity interests of Marpai Health and
Continental Benefits. As used in this prospectus, unless the context indicates or otherwise requires, the
“Company,” “our Company,” “we,” “us,” and “our” refer to Marpai, Inc., the combined company of Marpai
Health, Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiary EYME Technologies Ltd. and Continental Benefits, LLC and its
wholly-owned subsidiary, WellSystems, LLC.

Our Company

Overview

Marpai Inc.’s mission is to positively change healthcare for the benefit of (i) our clients who are self-insured
employers that pay for their employees’ healthcare benefits and engage us to administer the latter’s healthcare
claims, and we refer to them as our “Clients”; (ii) employees who receive these healthcare benefits from our
Clients, and we refer to them as our “Members”, and (iii) healthcare providers including, doctors, doctor groups,
hospitals, clinics, and any other entities providing healthcare services or products, and we refer to them as the
“Providers.” We are creating the healthcare payer of the future for self-insured employers in the U.S., what we refer
to as the “Payer of the Future.” Through the use of the latest technology and artificial intelligence or “A.I.,” we
believe we have the ability to predict costly events, such as who is likely to develop a chronic disease or require a
costly operation over the next twelve months. With this knowledge, we aim to optimize care so that employers can
save money, while employees can have access to high-quality care and enjoy good healthcare outcomes.

Our company is the combination of Marpai Health, Inc. and Continental Benefits LLC. Marpai Health is our
A.I.-focused subsidiary, with a research and development team in Tel Aviv, Israel. Continental Benefits is our
healthcare payer subsidiary that provides administration services to self-insured employer groups across the United
States. It acts as a third-party administrator or “TPA” handling all administrative aspects of providing healthcare to
self-insured employer groups. We have combined these two businesses to create what we believe to be the Payer of
the Future, which has not only the licenses, processes and know-how of a payer but also the latest A.I. technology.
This combination allows us to differentiate in the TPA market by delivering something new — a technology-driven
service that we believe can lower the overall cost of healthcare while maintaining or improving healthcare
outcomes.

Since December 2019, Marpai Health and Continental Benefits have been working together on information
exchange and joint development of A.I. models to predict the onset of chronic conditions and up-coming high-cost
events such as expensive imaging or orthopedic surgeries. We believe early detection would lead some portion of
Continental Benefits’ Members to avoid, delay or better manage their disease. This matters in both cost terms to the
employers and in wellbeing for the Members. By recommending our Members to seek appropriate medical
consultation with effective providers, we believe our technology can help mitigate the financial and wellbeing
costs for employers and Members.

Many states have enacted laws prohibiting physicians from practicing medicine in partnership with non-
physicians, such as business corporations. In some states, including New York, these take the form of laws or
regulations prohibiting splitting of physician fees with non-physicians or others. As we do not engage in the
practice of medicine or fee-splitting with any medical professionals, we do not believe these laws restrict our
business. Our activities involve only monitoring and analyzing historical claims data, including our Members’
interactions with licensed healthcare professionals, and recommending healthcare providers and/or sources of
treatment. We do not provide medical prognosis or healthcare. In accordance with various states’ corporate practice
of medicine laws and states’ laws and regulations which define the practice of medicine, our call center staff are
prohibited from providing Members with any evaluation or recommendation concerning a medical condition,
diagnosis, prescription, care and/or treatment. Rather, our call center staff can only provide Members with general
and publicly available information that is non-specific to the Members’
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medical conditions and statistical information about the prevalence of medical conditions within certain
populations or under certain circumstances. Our call center staff do not discuss Members’ individual medical
conditions and are prohibited from asking Members for any additional protected health information (PHI) as such
term is defined under the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA). Our call center staff have
been trained and instructed to always inform Members that they are not licensed medical professionals, are not
providing medical advice, and that Members should reach out to their medical provider for any medical advice.

In the area of high-cost events, like a high-cost image or a surgery, our customer data show large variations in
cost for the same procedure, even given the same geography. For example, the median cost of an MRI of the brain
may be approximately $1,000 in a given geography, but a significant amount of procedures priced above the
median cost 3-5 times the median. By predicting which Members are on trajectories to have high-cost tests or
surgeries, we can help guide them to lower cost, but high-quality providers. This saves money for employers, while
ensuring Members get the best care.

After having worked together for over a year to identify and collaboratively develop A.I. solutions tailored to
the self-insured employer market, Marpai Health started to implement its A.I.-enabled prediction tools as part of
Continental Benefits’ patent-pending TopCare program®. In January 2021, our A.I.-powered TopCare program®
became live, making it possible for us to offer our Members care management with high-impact predictions.
Although our A.I. technology has not yet been integrated with any of our TPA business’ core systems, other than
TopCare, to date, we plan to use A.I. in virtually every part of our TPA business. Since the Acquisition on April 1,
2021, Marpai Health and Continental Benefits have been operating as one company under the “Marpai” brand.

Building Blocks for the Payer of the Future

Our vision for the Payer of the Future places the Member at the center of the healthcare experience. We plan
to use proprietary technology to innovate and improve operations at every level of a self-insured payer. Our
management believes that by placing the latest advancements in user experience and behavioral science at the heart
of our offering, we can create a truly personalized and seamless healthcare experience that engages Members and
guides them to pathways that lower costs while improving healthcare outcomes.

Data, technology and A.I. — We plan to incorporate leading technology and A.I. throughout our business and in
all of our building blocks. We will apply A.I. and other custom technologies to improve internal operations and to
power solutions that we believe can directly lead to improved care and lower cost of claims. We have invested
significantly in these capabilities and believe they are a key competitive advantage.

Foundation — The foundation of a TPA includes claims adjudication, benefits design and working with channel
partners, like benefits brokers. We plan to leverage technology in all aspects of these foundational building blocks
to lower our own costs. These efficiencies will make us more competitive.

Levers — We will combine the foundational elements of a TPA with A.I.-generated alerts, enriched member
engagement, care management and telemedicine. This is how we plan to reduce the growth of
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long-term healthcare spending while also improving the quality of healthcare, which is commonly known as
“bending the cost curve” in our industry.

Better Value/Better Healthcare Outcomes — We plan to monetize our role in the TPA market as the Payer of the
Future by capturing a greater share of the TPA value chain, including a greater share of per employee per month
(PEPM) fees charged to our Clients while delivering lower overall costs and quality healthcare outcomes for our
Members.

Our Industry Opportunity

Rising healthcare costs have been a major trend affecting all participants of the healthcare ecosystem,
including employers and their employees. In the United States, per capita healthcare expenditures are expected to
more than double from $5,801 in 1990 to $12,000 in 2020, according to our analysis based on the Health System
Tracker of the Peterson Center on Healthcare and Kaiser Family Foundation. As a share of GDP, healthcare
expenditures grew from 5% of GDP in 1960 to 18% of GDP in 2019, according to Statista, a market and consumer
data company.

These increases in healthcare cost have been driven by an increase in chronic diseases and various forms of
waste in the system. Overall, it means that healthcare patients now pay more and are often less healthy than they
were years ago. At the same time, patients today have adopted the latest online services and consumer electronics,
which has led to consumer expectation for fast, quality service.

The growing healthcare costs and expectations for better service represent a significant challenge for
companies that “self-insure,” or pay for their employee’s healthcare benefits directly as opposed to buying health
insurance for them. According to the Employee Benefit Research Institute, approximately 80% of U.S. companies
with 500 or more employees offered self-insured plans in 2018. According to the Everest Group, a research firm,
the TPA market is highly fragmented, with the top 10 TPAs in the U.S. commanding just a 3-5% market share and
lagging behind in technology adoption, despite technology being a key enabler of differentiation. Several of the
largest insurance providers have their own internal claims processing operations. The industry refers to the big 4 as
“BUCAs”: Blue Cross and Blue Shield/Anthem, United Health Group, Cigna, and Aetna. While the Company
aims to be one of the largest national independent TPAs, we have network agreements with two of the largest
health networks offering greater flexibility and choice.

Another major trend is the explosion of data, especially healthcare data. In 2020, approximately 2,413
exabytes of healthcare data will be generated, or 15x more than the 153 exabytes generated in 2013, according to
Statista. The expansive volume of data and the latest breakthroughs in A.I., especially in the field of deep learning,
are beginning to impact healthcare. Together with consumer-centric design, A.I. can enable more personalized
healthcare and improved outcomes.

We aim to be the Payer of the Future for self-insured employers in the U.S. by deploying our A.I. solutions to
curb the rising healthcare costs of our Clients and improve the health outcome of our Members.

Our Strategy

Our strategy is to create a proprietary technology platform enabling rapid growth in the healthcare payer
market. With the use of A.I., we believe we can achieve our dual goals of lowering the cost of claims for Clients,
while maintaining high quality healthcare outcomes for Members.

Today, we have already developed six A.I. modules to predict the following chronic conditions:

Type 2 Diabetes;

Cardio-vascular disease;

Kidney disease;

Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD);

High-cost imaging of knee; and

Knee replacement.
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These modules allow us to identify which members to enroll in care management. In January 2021, our A.I.-
powered TopCare program® became live, making it possible for us to offer care management with high-impact
predictions. Seventeen Clients have signed up to use this enhanced product offering on a trial basis as a prototype
as of October 26, 2021. We plan to continue to develop our technology, expand the number of A.I. modules
TopCare® will incorporate as well as other functionalities, and sign up as many Clients who will pay a premium
price for this enhanced product offering as possible.

Although our A.I. technology has not yet been integrated with any of our TPA business’ core systems, other
than TopCare, to date, we plan to use A.I. in virtually every part of our TPA business by the end of 2022 as follows:

Claims management that will enable accurate auto-adjudication of most claims, which we believe will lower
our operating costs and increase our operating efficiency. This will also include detecting and flagging
suspicious claims before final adjudication.

Member engagement and self-service options via an intuitive and easy-to-use application, which we believe
will also lower the cost to serve Clients and allow Members to interact with us as often as they wish. We will
seek to present the best providers in terms of quality and costs, in a manner that is centered around a
Member’s needs and geography.

Continuous Provider quality tracking that will enable us to identify the best Providers and also the usual and
customary practices and their related costs.

Smart plan design including cost optimization, performance monitoring and risk prediction.

We plan to use a significant amount of the proceeds from this offering to expand our research and
development efforts, build technology infrastructure, and greatly expand our A.I. research. We believe that these
enhancements are necessary in creating a Payer of the Future in the TPA market, which can expand both
organically and through acquisitions.

Our Products and Services

We are a technology-driven healthcare payer focused on providing services to the self-insured employer
market. We do not provide medical prognosis and are not engaged in the practice of medicine of any sort.

Our current core product and service offering includes handling all aspects of administration related to a
healthcare plan. We typically design for our Client a healthcare benefit plan which precisely outlines the coverage
the Client would like to provide to its employees.

We then manage the plan for the Client by providing the following services:

Providing a Client’s employees access to a Provider network via relationships with Aetna, Cigna, and
regional networks;

Concierge type services to help Members find Providers and care management as well as to answer
questions, such as on claims and benefits;

Validating and adjudicating claims from Clients’ employees, including automated adjudication;

Promoting health and use of high-quality Providers to the Member population across Clients;

Paying claims on behalf of our Clients; and

Stop-loss insurance via one or several A rated carriers.

We do not bear the financial risk with respect to the cost of the claims for any employer. Instead, the self-
insured employers and stop-loss insurance companies, if the self-insured employers purchase stop-loss insurance
policies to protect themselves from having higher than planned healthcare costs, bear the risk arising from the cost
of claims. We also sell a comprehensive offering of ancillary services such as care management, case management,
actuarial services, health savings account administration and cost containment services. Our margin on these
partner products varies greatly, but each added service makes the overall package for our Clients more robust and
increases the likelihood of Client retention.
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Our TopCare® Program

Use of A.I. to make predictions about Members’ health provides us a competitive advantage and differentiates
us from other TPAs in the market. Since January 2021, our A.I.-powered TopCare program® became live, making
it possible for us to offer care management with high-impact predictions. Using our innovative technology,
TopCare® allows us to help self-insured employers manage their employees’ healthcare needs proactively. Our
A.I. technology is able to process, analyze and store myriad types of data in large scale. Our A.I. models,
collectively branded as “FutureSight Advantage”, recognize patterns and detect anomalies, giving us greater
insights on a patient’s medical trajectory, although we do not provide medical prognosis, and are not engaged in the
practice of medicine of any sort. Alerts generated by our system based on that trajectory allow our call center staff
to start outreaching and recommend the best care to an at-risk Member, whether that is a visit to a primary care
physician or to a specialist, for a root cause or drill down analysis. With a full disclaimer to the Member that our
system does not provide medical advice or prognosis, our call center staff encourages the Member to develop an
actionable healthcare plan with licensed medical professionals.

The key components of our TopCare® program include:

Deep Member Profile — We understand Members’ health based on their medical history, demographic
information, historical claims, and in some cases, what they have shared with us as their own health risk
assessments. All this data is fed through various deep learning modules and automatically processed;

Claims Trajectory — Our A.I. models have studied millions of claims and have mapped out an expected
trajectory for Members. The predictions are based on all data on each Member available to us. Currently, the
data includes structured data, such as demographic information, historical claims, laboratory test data when
available. In the future, we anticipate that the data will include unstructured data, such as medical images,
text-based assessments and other types of health records. All of this data is fed into deep learning models for
each data type, and subsequently fed into a unified deep learning model which finds patterns and insights
across all data and data types available for the Member; and

Alerts — Our A.I. models come to life via alerts, which are triggered by an event such as a particular claim.
Each alert is a new data point for each Member, invoking the entire model to update its predictions. Deep
learning models are especially superior for finding non-linear patterns and correlations. For example, a new
data point X that apparently is completely unrelated to prediction Y, may actually affect the prediction
through complex non-linear patterns, which are very difficult for humans and traditional A.I. to find. Deep
learning models, however, are capable of finding those patterns, which trigger new actionable alerts. These
alerts allow the TopCare® team to begin outreach to an at-risk Member.

Our A.I.-enabled predictions help both Members and their Providers to be proactive and get in front of costly
events, so they can predict, prevent, and plan around them. Management believes that our services provide not only
lower costs, but also better value for the money spent on healthcare, and therefore greatly reducing any waste
related to care coordination and care delivery.

Our Technology

Our technology infrastructure and expertise are core building blocks of our vision to become the Payer of the
Future. The Marpai System is our proprietary big data analytics system that provides advanced deep learning
capabilities. Management expects to generate and collect troves of data from all aspects of our business including
healthcare claims, member engagement, internal operations and customer experience and systematically apply
intelligent automation and artificial intelligence to delight our end users, improve healthcare outcomes and lower
costs.
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The Marpai System

Mass Scale Data Fusion — Our system fuses massive amounts of data from various sources in many formats into
a single environment for analysis.

Data — Our system includes a unified healthcare schema that can ingest and make useful any healthcare data type
including claims, social determinants of health and psychographic data, blood test results and pathology and
radiology images.

Data Lake — Our system includes a massive data lake with our unified schema that stores and structures
healthcare data in order to enable analysis.

A.I. Models — Our system automatically applies our A.I. models to healthcare data to enable pattern recognition,
advanced querying and anomaly detection.

Marpai Product — Our system is fully integrated with our user platform and can automatically deliver alerts to
our internal staff and, in the future, to Members and other stakeholders.

Recent Developments

We have entered into four Administrative Service Agreements, each effective as of September 1, 2021, with a
series of four school districts in Texas whereby we shall serve as a third party administrator for the self-funded
employee welfare benefit plans maintained by these school districts. Marpai is implementing health plans,
including our A.I.-powered TopCare program, for these school districts. By virtue of these agreements as of
September 1, 2021, we have added 4,000 to 5,000 Employee Lives, representing an increase of 19.6% to 24.5%
from the 20,400 “Employee Lives” we served as of June 30, 2021.

On September 2, we effected a forward split at a ratio of 4.555821-for-1 to increase our authorized capital
shares from 50,000,000 shares of Class A common stock with a par value $0.0001 per share to 227,791,050 shares
of Class A common stock with a par value of $0.0001 per share (the “2021 Forward Split”). As a result of the 2021
Forward Split, we now have 11,147,302 shares of Class A common stock issued and outstanding as of the date of
this prospectus.

All share numbers, option numbers, warrant numbers, other derivative security numbers and exercise prices
appearing in this prospectus have been adjusted to give effect to the 2021 Forward Split, unless otherwise indicated
or unless the context suggests otherwise.

Growth Opportunities

We have two key drivers of growth: acquisitive growth and organic growth.
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Acquisitive growth — We plan to grow by acquiring other TPAs with limited technology, and we will view
them as books of business. Acquisitions will allow us to quickly fuel our near-term growth. However, we
will be disciplined in that we will expect all acquired TPAs to adopt our technology platform and be fully
integrated into our operations.

Organic growth — We believe we will grow organically by providing a highly differentiated TPA solution to
employer groups.

Corporate Information

We were incorporated in Delaware in January 2021. We maintain our principal executive offices at 5701 E.
Hillsborough Ave., Suite 1417, Tampa, FL 33610. We also maintain an office in Tel Aviv, Israel. Our telephone
number is (646) 303-3483. Our website address is www.MarpaiHealth.com. Information contained on our website
is not incorporated by reference into this prospectus, and it should not be considered to be part of this prospectus.

Acquisition of Marpai Health, Inc. and Continental Benefits LLC

On April 1, 2021, we entered into the Amended and Restated Equity Interest Purchase and Reorganization
Agreement (the “Purchase and Reorganization Agreement”) with all the then stockholders of Marpai Health
(including holders of shares underlying convertible notes held by certain current directors and officers of Marpai,
Inc. that, at the time, were holders of Marpai Health’s convertible promissory notes in an aggregate principal
amount of $3,800,000 (the “Original MH Notes”), Continental Benefits, WellEnterprises USA, LLC, and for the
sole purposes of a joinder in connection with Guaranteed Obligations (defined below), HillCour. As part of the
Acquisition, approximately $3,800,000 of the Marpai Health’s convertible promissory notes were exchanged for
shares of common stock of Marpai Inc. immediately prior to the Acquisition. On May 7, 2021, parties entered into
an addendum to the Purchase and Reorganization Agreement to correct the interest calculations on certain Original
MH Notes. Pursuant to the terms of the Purchase and Reorganization Agreement, the stockholders of Marpai
Health and the sole member of Continental Benefits contributed their respective securities and ownership interests
in Marpai Health and Continental Benefits to Marpai, Inc. for a combination of shares of Class A common stock
and Class B common stock (collectively, “Common Stock”) of Marpai, Inc. (the “Acquisition”). Options to
purchase 1,027,602 shares of Marpai Health common stock and warrants to purchase 1,366,746 shares of Marpai
Health common stock were exchanged, on a one to one basis, for options and warrants to purchase shares of our
Class A common stock. In addition, pursuant to a Note Exchange Agreement, we issued convertible promissory
notes in the aggregate principal amount of $2,198,459 (the “New Notes”) in exchange for certain then outstanding
convertible promissory notes of Marpai Health of equivalent amount of outstanding principal and accrued but
unpaid interest. The New Notes carry a simple interest rate of 8% per annum over a two-year term and will convert
upon the closing of this offering, at a price that is 70% of the per share public offering price in this offering. The
SQN Convertible Note (defined below) in the aggregate principal amount of $2.93 million remains outstanding.
The holder of the SQN Convertible Note has advised us that it intends to convert $2.5 million of the aggregate
principal amount of the SQN Convertible Note into shares of Class A common stock.

The Purchase and Reorganization Agreement required Continental Benefits to not have less than
$4.762 million of cash on hand, and to have no debt at the time of closing of the Acquisition.

Pursuant to the Purchase and Reorganization Agreement, Continental Benefits was valued solely for purposes
of the Acquisition, on a cash-free and debt-free basis, at $8.5 million. Including the $4.762 million of cash on
Continental Benefits’ balance sheet, equity totaled $13.26 million. In addition, pursuant to Purchase and
Reorganization Agreement, Marpai Health was valued solely for purposes of the Acquisition, at an assumed pre-
money valuation of $35 million.

See “Business – Marpai, Inc.’s Acquisition of Marpai Health and Continental Benefits” for a full description
of the Acquisition.

Class B Conversion; Second Amended and Restated Charter

On June 28, 2021, Eli David, Yaron Eitan, Edmundo Gonzalez, Grays West Ventures LLC, HillCour
Investment Fund, LLC, and WellEnterprises USA, LLC voluntarily converted an aggregate of 927,817
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shares of the Company’s Class B common stock they held into 4,226,968 shares of Class A common stock on a 1:1
basis (“Class B Conversion”). On July 8, 2021, the Company filed its Second Amended and Restated Certificate of
Incorporation (“Second Amended and Restated Charter”), under which, the share capital of the Company was
revised to include solely shares of Class A common stock. Until such filing of the Company’s Second Amended
and Restated Charter, the Company was authorized to issue two classes of common stock, Class A common stock
and Class B common stock. The issued and outstanding shares of Class B common stock have been converted into
Class A common stock as described above, and the authorized class of Class B common stock was eliminated with
the filing of the Second Amended and Restated Charter.

Controlled Company

Concurrently with the Class B Conversion, the Company, (i) HillCour Investment Fund, LLC and
WellEnterprises USA, LLC (together, the “HillCour Founding Group”) and (ii) Eli David, Yaron Eitan, Edmundo
Gonzalez and Grays West Ventures LLC (collectively, the “Grays Founding Group,” and together with the
HillCour Founding Group, the “Co-Founders”) entered into an Agreement Relating to Voting Power Between Co-
Founders of Marpai, Inc. and Grant of a Power of Attorney and Proxy (“Power of Attorney and Proxy”). Pursuant
to the Power of Attorney and Proxy, the HillCour Founding Group granted the Grays Founding Group the right to
vote 1,560,237 shares of the Company’s Class A common stock it held (“Proxy Shares”) on all matters relating to
any of the following: (i) change to the composition of the Company’s Board of Directors; (ii) sale of all or
substantially all of the Company’s assets or capital stock, or a merger involving the Company; (iii) replacement of
the Company’s CEO or other C-level officers; (iv) amendment or approval of any corporate documents or
agreements in connection with the Company’s corporate structure or capital raising activities; (v) approval of the
Company’s annual budget and business plan; and (vi) the Company’s acquisition, joint venture or other
collaborative agreements. Consequently, the HillCour Founding Group and the Grays Founding Group currently
have the right to vote 3,913,268 and 3,913,263 shares of the Company’s capital stock, respectively. The Power of
Attorney and Proxy also provides that the number of Proxy Shares is subject to adjustment from time to time so as
to maintain as much as possible, equal voting power in the Company between the HillCour Founding Group on the
one hand and the Grays Founding Group on the other, subject to certain exceptions related to transfer of shares by
the parties. The Power of Attorney and Proxy is irrevocable and will remain in full force and effect until the earlier
of (i) consummation of the sale of all or substantially all of the Company’s assets, or the acquisition of the
Company by a third party (by way of stock acquisition, merger, recapitalization or otherwise), or (ii) the time when
the Grays Founding Group collectively owns fewer than 1,882,420 shares of the Company’s capital stock. For as
long as this Power of Attorney and Proxy remains in effect, the HillCour Founding Group and the Grays Founding
Group are therefore deemed to be a “group” under Rule 13d-5(d) of the Exchange Act.

Pursuant to this Power of Attorney and Proxy, the Co-Founders have also agreed to vote all their shares for the
election of (a) Damien Lamendola (or another nominee of the HillCour Founding Group), (b) Edmundo Gonzalez;
and (c) Yaron Eitan (or up to two other nominees of the Grays Founding Group) as the Company’s directors.
Pursuant to this Power of Attorney and Proxy, the Co-Founders collectively hold an aggregate of more than 70% of
the voting power of the Company’s common stock and therefore, the Company is eligible to be classified as a
“controlled company” under the rules of the Nasdaq Stock Market and the Company will be eligible to utilize
certain exemptions from the corporate governance requirements of the Nasdaq Stock Market. We do not currently
intend to avail ourselves of these exemptions.
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Organizational Chart of the Company

Implications of Being an Emerging Growth Company and a Smaller Reporting Company

We qualify as an “emerging growth company” as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012,
as amended, or the JOBS Act. As an “emerging growth company,” we may take advantage of specified reduced
disclosure and other requirements that are otherwise applicable generally to public companies. These provisions
include, but are not limited to:

requiring only two years of audited financial statements in addition to any required unaudited interim
financial statements with correspondingly reduced “Management’s discussion and analysis of financial
condition and results of operations” in our Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Act, filings;

reduced disclosure about our executive compensation arrangements;

no non-binding advisory votes on executive compensation or golden parachute arrangements; and

exemption from compliance with the auditor attestation requirement in the assessment of our internal control
over financial reporting pursuant to Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002, or SOX.

We may take advantage of these exemptions for up to five years or such earlier time that we are no longer an
“emerging growth company.” We will continue to remain an “emerging growth company” until the earliest of the
following: (i) the last day of the fiscal year following the fifth anniversary of the date of the completion of this
offering; (ii) the last day of the fiscal year in which our total annual gross revenue is equal to or more than
$1.07 billion; (iii) the date on which we have issued more than $1 billion in nonconvertible debt during the
previous three years; or (iv) the date on which we are deemed to be a large accelerated filer under the rules of the
Securities and Exchange Commission, or the SEC.

We are also a “smaller reporting company” as defined in the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or
the Exchange Act, and have elected to take advantage of certain of the scaled disclosures available to smaller
reporting companies. To the extent that we continue to qualify as a “smaller reporting company” as such term is
defined in Rule 12b-2 under the Exchange Act, after we cease to qualify as an emerging growth company, certain
of the exemptions available to us as an “emerging growth company” may continue to be available to us as a
“smaller reporting company,” including exemption from compliance with the auditor attestation requirements
pursuant to SOX and reduced disclosure about our executive compensation arrangements. We will continue to be a
“smaller reporting company” until we have $250 million or more in public float (based on our Class A common
stock) measured as of the last business day of our
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most recently completed second fiscal quarter or, in the event we have no public float (based on our Class A
common stock) or a public float (based on our Class A common stock) that is less than $700 million, annual
revenues of $100 million or more during the most recently completed fiscal year.

We may choose to take advantage of some, but not all, of these exemptions. We have taken advantage of
reduced reporting requirements in this prospectus. Accordingly, the information contained herein may be different
from the information you receive from other public companies in which you hold stock. In addition, the JOBS Act
provides that an emerging growth company may take advantage of an extended transition period for complying
with new or revised accounting standards, delaying the adoption of these accounting standards until they would
apply to private companies. We have elected to avail ourselves of the extended transition period for complying with
new or revised financial accounting standards. As a result of this accounting standards election, we will not be
subject to the same implementation timing for new or revised accounting standards as other public companies that
are not emerging growth companies which may make comparison of our financials to those of other public
companies more difficult.

Summary Risk Factors

Our business is subject to numerous risks and uncertainties that you should consider before investing in our
company. You should carefully consider the risks described more fully in the section titled “Risk Factors” in this
prospectus beginning on page 25, before making a decision to invest in our Class A common stock. If any of these
risks actually occurs, our business, financial condition and results of operations would likely be materially
adversely affected. These risks, include, but are not limited to, the following:

We and Marpai Health are development stage companies with no operating history and no revenues.

Continental Benefits has had a history of operating losses, and we may not be able to generate sufficient
revenue to achieve profitability.

The loss, termination, or renegotiation of any contract with Continental Benefits’ current Clients could
materially adversely affect our financial conditions and operating results.

Continental Benefits is party to a number of disputes and lawsuits, and we may be subject to liabilities arisen
from these and similar disputes in the future.

Continental Benefits may be subject to penalties from the Internal Revenue Services.

Our success will largely depend on our ability to integrate Marpai Health and Continental Benefits, and
effectively manage the combined company.

If our TopCare® program fails to provide accurate and timely predictions, or if it is associated with wasteful
visits to Providers or unhelpful recommendations for Members, then this could lead to low customer
satisfaction, which could adversely affect our results of operations.

Issues in the use of A.I., including deep learning in our platform and modules, could result in reputational
harm or liability.

If the markets for our A.I. modules and TopCare® program fail to grow as we expect, or if self-insured
employers fail to adopt our TopCare® program and A.I. modules, our business, operating results, and
financial condition could be adversely affected.

We rely on healthcare benefits brokers and consultants as our principal sales channel, and some of these
companies are large and have no allegiance to us. If we do not satisfy their employer clients, they may steer
not only an unsatisfied client, but others as well, to other TPAs.

Our pricing may change over time and our ability to efficiently price our services will affect our results of
operations and our ability to attract or retain Clients.

Our sales cycles can be long and unpredictable, and our sales efforts require a considerable investment of
time and expense. If our sales cycle lengthens or we invest substantial resources pursuing unsuccessful sales
opportunities, our results of operations and growth would be harmed.

Because Continental Benefits generally recognizes technology and professional services revenue ratably
over the term of the contract for our services, a significant downturn in its business may not
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be reflected immediately in our results of operations, which increases the difficulty of evaluating our future
financial performance.

Continental Benefits has a high annual customer attrition rate historically. The loss, termination, or
renegotiation of any contract with Continental Benefits’ current Clients could have a material adverse effect
on our financial conditions and operating results.

If we do not have access to A.I. talent or fail to expand our A.I. models, we may not remain competitive, and
our revenue and results of operations could suffer.

Failure by our Clients to obtain proper permissions and waivers may result in claims against us or may limit
or prevent our use of data, which could harm our business.

Absence of change of control and/or assignment provisions in Continental Benefits’ data privacy policy and
Non-Disclosure Agreements with regard to the sharing of confidential information could adversely affect our
business.

If our security measures are breached or unauthorized access to client data is otherwise obtained, our product
and service offerings may be perceived as not being secure, Clients may reduce the use of or stop using our
services, and we may incur significant liabilities.

Global or regional health pandemics or epidemics, including COVID-19, could negatively impact our
business operations, financial performance and results of operations.

Potential political, economic and military instability in the State of Israel, where our research and
development facilities are located, may adversely affect our results of operations.

Our operations may be disrupted as a result of the obligation of Israeli citizens to perform military service.

Because a certain portion of our expenses is incurred in currencies other than the US Dollar, our results of
operations may be harmed by currency fluctuations and inflation.

Employment and other material contracts we have with our Israeli employees are governed by Israeli laws.
Our inability to enforce or obtain a remedy under these agreements could adversely affect our business and
financial condition.

Investors may have difficulties enforcing a U.S. judgment, including judgments based upon the civil liability
provisions of the U.S. federal securities laws against one of our directors or asserting U.S. securities laws
claims in Israel.

Unanticipated changes in our effective tax rate and additional tax liabilities, including as a result of our
international operations or implementation of new tax rules, could harm our future results.

We rely on third-party providers, including Amazon Web Services, for computing infrastructure, network
connectivity, and other technology-related services needed to deliver our service offerings. Any disruption in
the services provided by such third-party providers could adversely affect our business and subject us to
liability.

We rely on Internet infrastructure, bandwidth providers, data center providers, other third parties, and our
own systems for providing services to our users, and any failure or interruption in the services provided by
these third parties or our own systems could expose us to litigation, potentially require us to issue credits to
our Clients, and negatively impact our relationships with Members or Clients, adversely affecting our brand
and our business.

We employ third-party licensed software and software components for use in or with our TopCare®
program, and the inability to maintain these licenses or the presence of errors in the software we license
could limit the functionality of our TopCare® program and result in increased costs or reduced service
levels, which would adversely affect our business.

Any failure to protect our intellectual property rights could impair our ability to protect our proprietary
technology and our brand.

We may not be able to adequately defend against piracy of intellectual property in foreign jurisdictions.
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We may be sued by third parties for alleged infringement of their proprietary rights or misappropriation of
intellectual property.

Our TopCare® program utilizes open-source software, and any failure to comply with the terms of one or
more of these open-source licenses could adversely affect our business.

Government regulation of healthcare creates risks and challenges with respect to our compliance efforts and
our business strategies.

Our business could be adversely impacted by changes in laws and regulations related to the Internet or
changes in access to the Internet generally.

As a “controlled company” under the rules of the Nasdaq Capital Market, we may choose to exempt our
company from certain corporate governance requirements that could have an adverse effect on our public
shareholders.

Certain of our founding shareholders will continue to own a significant percentage of our Class A common
stock and will be able to exert significant control over matters subject to shareholder approval.

An active trading market may not develop for our securities, and you may not be able to sell your Class A
common stock at or above the offering price per share.
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The Offering

Class A common stock offered by us 6,250,000 shares (or 7,187,500 shares if the underwriters
exercise in full their option to purchase additional shares to
cover over-allotments, if any) at an initial public offering price
of $4.00 per share.

Class A common stock to be outstanding
after this offering 18,328,214 shares (or 19,265,714 shares if the underwriters

exercise in full their option to purchase additional shares to
cover over-allotments, if any)

Option to purchase additional shares We have granted the underwriters a 45-day option to purchase
up to 937,500 additional shares of our Class A common stock
from us at the public offering price, less underwriting discounts
and commissions.

Representative’s Warrants We will issue to the representative of the underwriters as
compensation, upon closing of this offering, the
Representative’s Warrants entitling the representative to
purchase a number of shares of Class A common stock equal to
5% of the aggregate number of shares of Class A common stock
issued in this offering, including shares of Class A issued
pursuant to the exercise of the over-allotment option at an
exercise price of 5.00 per share. The Representative’s’ Warrants
will have a term of five years and may be exercised at any time
and from time to time, in whole or in part, during the four and
one half year period commencing 180 days from the effective
date of the registration statement of which this prospectus is a
part. This prospectus also relates to the offering of the 312,500
shares (or 359,375 shares if the underwriters exercise their full
over-allotment option) of Class A common stock issuable upon
exercise of the Representative’s Warrants.

Use of proceeds We estimate that the net proceeds from this offering will be
approximately $21.3 million, or approximately $24.8 million if
the underwriters exercise their option to purchase additional
shares to cover over-allotments, after deducting the underwriting
discounts and commissions and estimated offering expenses
payable by us. We plan to use approximately $8.0 million of the
net proceeds from this offering to fund our research and
development. This amount includes hiring new A.I. scientists
and acquiring data from third parties. We plan to use
approximately $2.0 million on sales and marketing. We intend
to use approximately $0.8 million from the net proceeds of this
offering to repay a portion of the principal amount plus accrued
interest on the portion of the SQN Convertible Note (as defined
below) that the holder thereof has not elected to convert into
shares of Class A common stock. We intend to use up to
approximately $3.0 million from the net proceeds of this
offering to repay $3.0 million of the outstanding balance plus
accrued interest of a $3.0 million promissory note dated
July 29, 2021 payable to HillCour Investment Fund (the “the
HillCour Promissory Note”), and the remaining proceeds of this
offering for working capital, general corporate purposes and
potential acquisitions. See “Use of Proceeds”
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for a more complete description of the intended use of proceeds
from this offering.

Risk factors Investing in our securities involves a high degree of risk and
purchasers may lose their entire investment. You should read
the “Risk Factors” section of this prospectus beginning on page
25 for a discussion of certain factors to consider carefully before
deciding to purchase any shares of our Class A common stock.

NASDAQ Capital Market Symbol Our Class A common stock has been approved for listing on the
Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbol “MRAI.”

Transfer Agent and Registrar The transfer agent and registrar for our Class A common stock
is American Stock Transfer & Trust Company LLC.

The number of shares of our Class A common stock to be outstanding after this offering is based on the shares
of Class A common stock to be outstanding as of the date of this prospectus and excludes the following:

1,422,112 shares of Class A common stock issuable upon the exercise of outstanding stock options, at a
weighted average exercise price of $1.77 per share;

1,637,305 shares of Class A common stock issuable upon the exercise of outstanding warrants at a weighted
average exercise price of $5.92 per share;

781,250 shares of Class A common stock issuable upon conversion of $2.5 million of the aggregate principal
amount SQN Convertible Note by the holder thereof;

81,309 shares of Class A common stock reserved for future issuance under our 2021 Global Stock Incentive
Plan; and

312,500 shares of Class A common stock issuable upon the exercise of the Representative’s Warrants.

Unless otherwise indicated, this prospectus reflects and assumes the following:

no exercise of outstanding options or warrants;

no exercise by the underwriters of their option to purchase up to 937,500 additional shares of our Class A
common stock from us to cover over-allotments, if any; and

the issuance of 930,912 shares of Class A common stock upon conversion of the (i) New Notes and (ii) the
convertible notes in the aggregate principal amount of $300,000 issued in June 2021 (the “June 2021 Notes”)
upon the consummation of this offering.
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SELECTED UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The following summary unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial data, or the summary pro forma
data, gives effect to the Acquisition described in the section entitled “Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined
Financial Information.” The Acquisition is being accounted for as a business combination, with Marpai Health
treated as the “acquirer” and Continental Benefits treated as the “acquired” company for financial reporting
purposes. Under the acquisition method of accounting, the total purchase price of an acquisition is allocated to the
net tangible and intangible assets based on their estimated fair values. Such valuations are based on available
information and certain assumptions that management of Marpai Health believe are reasonable.

The summary unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of operations data, which have been
presented for the six months ended June 30, 2021 and the year ended December 31, 2020, give effect to the
transactions summarized below, as if they had occurred on January 1, 2020.

The summary pro forma data have been derived from, and should be read in conjunction with, the unaudited
pro forma condensed combined financial information of the combined company appearing elsewhere in this
prospectus and the accompanying notes. The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information is
based upon, and should be read in conjunction with, the historical consolidated financial statements of Marpai Inc,
Marpai Health and Continental Benefits and related notes included in this prospectus. The summary pro forma data
have been presented for informational purposes only and are not necessarily indicative of what the combined
company’s financial position or results of operations actually would have been had the Acquisition been completed
as of the dates indicated. In addition, the summary pro forma data do not purport to project the future financial
position or operating results of the combined company.

The following table presents summary pro forma data after giving effect to the Acquisition:

All share and per share amounts presented herein have been restated to reflect a forward split at a ratio of
4.555821-for-1, which was effected on September 2, 2020, as if it had occurred at the beginning of the earliest
period presented.

Year Ended 
December 31, 

2020

Six Months 
Ended 

June 30, 2021 
Net revenue $ 18,388,192  $ 7,746,593 
Operating loss  (17,131,684  (7,447,870 
Net loss $(17,620,431 $(7,591,285 
Net loss per ordinary share basic and diluted $ (1.58 $ (0.673  
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SUMMARY SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA OF MARPAI, INC.

The accompanying summary selected consolidated financial data include the accounts of Marpai Inc. (the
“Company”) and its wholly owned subsidiaries, EYME and Marpai Health, for all the periods presented and
Continental Benefits from April 1, 2021, the date of the Acquisition. All references to the Company and Marpai
Health for periods prior to the Acquisition are interchangeable as if the Acquisition was in effect for all periods
presented in the condensed consolidated financial statements.

The summary consolidated financial information and other data presented below for the six months ended
June 30, 2021 and 2020, and as of June 30, 2021, have been derived from our unaudited interim condensed
consolidated financial statements included in this prospectus. The summary consolidated financial information for
the year ended December 31, 2020 and the summary consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2020 have
been derived from our audited consolidated financial statements included in this prospectus. Our unaudited
condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the same basis as our audited consolidated
financial statements and reflect, in the opinion of our management, all adjustments, consisting of normal recurring
adjustments, considered necessary for a fair presentation of this data. Our historical results are not necessarily
indicative of the results that may be expected in the future. The following summary consolidated financial data
should be read in conjunction with “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations” and our unaudited and audited consolidated financial statements and related notes included elsewhere
in this prospectus. Amounts (excluding share data) in the following tables are in U.S. dollars.

We acquired Continental Benefits on April 1, 2021 and our unaudited consolidated financial information for
the six months ended June 30, 2021 consolidates the financial information of Continental Benefits from April 1,
2021, the date of the Acquisition. Our results of operations and statements of assets and liabilities may not be
comparable between periods as a result of the Acquisition.

All share and per share amounts presented herein have been restated to reflect a forward split at a ratio of
4.555821-for-1, which was effective on September 2, 2021, as if it had occurred at the beginning of the earliest
period presented.

STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS DATA:

 
For the Year Ended 

December 31,  
For the Six Months Ended  

June 30, 

  2020   2021   2020 

Net revenue    $ —   $ 3,531,512   $ — 
Cost of revenue (exclusive of depreciation and

amortization shown separately below)    —    (2,720,483    — 
General and administrative    1,499,376    2,814,950    773,223 
Research and development    1,840,772    549,374    1,025,986 
Sales and marketing    27,583    1,443,785    5,623 
Information and technology       731,230    — 
Facilities       226,892    — 
Depreciation and amortization       420,967    37,885 
Other expense    (500,253    (237,419     (215,785  
Loss from operations    (3,867,984    (5,613,588    (2,058,502 
Income tax provision    —    (150,000     — 
Net loss    $ (3,867,984   $(5,463,588    (2,058,502 
Net loss per share            
Basic and fully diluted    $ (1.59   $ (0.84    (0.93 
Weighted average number of common shares            
Basic and fully diluted    2,428,877    6,528,888    2,211,683 
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BALANCE SHEET DATA:

As of December 31, 2020 As of June 30, 2021 
Current assets $ 2,180,181 $ 8,621,723  
Total assets  6,531,860 26,413,689  
Current liabilities  2,649,207 9,001,133  
Long term liabilities  7,379,152 8,261,383  
Common stock  14 1,115  
Total stockholders’ (deficit) equity $ (3,496,499 $ 9,151,173  
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SUMMARY SELECTED CONSOLIDATED DATA OF 
CONTINENTAL BENEFITS, LLC PRE-ACQUISITION

The following table summarizes Continental Benefits’ consolidated financial data. We have derived the
following statements of operations data for the year ended December 31, 2020 and balance sheet data as of
December 31, 2020 from Continental Benefits’ audited consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in
this prospectus.

The historical results presented below are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for any future
period. The following selected financial information should be read in conjunction with the section entitled
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations of Continental Benefits
Pre-Acquisition” and Continental Benefits’ financial statements and related notes appearing elsewhere in this
prospectus.

STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS DATA:

Year Ended 
December 31, 

2020

Net sales $ 18,388,192  
Cost and expenses   

Cost of revenue (exclusive of depreciation and amortization shown separately below)  13,931,008  
Administrative  8,700,352 
Information technology  4,223,350 
Sales and marketing  2,724,368 
Facilities  762,649 
Depreciation and amortization  596,152 

Total costs and expenses  30,937,879  
Operating loss  (12,549,687 
Other non operating income   

Interest income  11,506 
Other income  — 

Total non operating income  11,506 
Net loss $(12,538,181 

BALANCE SHEET DATA:

As of December 31, 2020

Current assets $ 14,143,967 
Total assets  17,327,171 
Current liabilities  10,608,167 
Long term liabilities  1,281,362 
Total member’s equity $ 5,437,642 
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UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Introduction

The following unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information has been prepared in
accordance with Article 11 of Regulation S-X with respect to the financial aspects of the Acquisition, summarized
below. For each of the periods presented, the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information
reflects the combination of historical financial information of Marpai Health and Continental Benefits LLC
(“Continental Benefits”), adjusted to give effect to the Acquisition, inclusive of the issuance of shares of common
stock to Continental Benefits’ sole member. Hereinafter, Marpai Health and Continental Benefits are collectively
referred to as the “Companies,” and the Companies, subsequent to the Acquisition, are referred to herein as the
“Combined Company.”

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information does not include an unaudited pro forma
consolidated balance sheet as of June 30, 2021 as the Acquisition and related transactions are already reflected in
the historical unaudited condensed consolidated balance sheet as of June 30, 2021, included elsewhere in this
prospectus.

Description of the Transaction

On April 1, 2021, pursuant to the terms of the Amended and Restated Equity Interest Purchase and
Reorganization Agreement, as was further amended on May 7, 2021 (collectively, the “Agreement”), the
stockholders of Marpai Health Inc. (“Marpai Health”) and the sole member of Continental Benefits, LLC
(“Continental Benefits”) contributed their respective shares and ownership interests in Marpai Health and
Continental Benefits to Marpai Inc (the “Company”) in consideration for shares of the Company’s common stock.
Additionally, options to purchase 1,027,602 shares of Marpai Health’s common stock and warrants to purchase
1,366,746 shares of Marpai Health’s common stock were exchanged, on a one-to-one basis, for options and
warrants to purchase shares of the Company’s common stock (the above transactions shall be referred to as the
“Acquisition”). As part of the Acquisition, approximately $3,800,000 of Marpai Health’s convertible promissory
notes were exchanged for shares of common stock of the Company immediately prior to the Acquisition. As part of
the Acquisition, pursuant to a Note Exchange Agreement, the Company acquired Marpai Health’s certain
outstanding convertible promissory notes, with aggregate outstanding principal and accrued but unpaid interest of
$2,198,459, in exchange for the issuance of the Company’s convertible promissory notes of equivalent aggregate
principal amount. The Agreement called for Continental Benefits to not have less than $4.762 million of cash on
hand, and to have no debt at the time of closing of the Acquisition.

According to the Agreement, Continental Benefits is valued, on a cash-free and debt-free basis, at
$8.5 million. Including $4.762 million of cash on Continental Benefits’ balance sheet, equity would total
$13.26 million. In addition, pursuant to the Agreement, Marpai Health is valued at an assumed pre-money
valuation of the last convertible note’s conversion price of $35 million.

For accounting purposes, the acquirer is the entity that has obtained control of another entity and, thus,
consummated a business combination. Management has determined that Marpai Health is the accounting acquirer
and Continental Benefits is deemed to be the acquired company for financial reporting purposes based on an
evaluation of the following facts and circumstances:

Marpai Health’s legacy stockholders hold a majority ownership and voting interest in the Company;

Marpai Health’s senior management team comprise the senior management of the Company; and

Directors appointed by Marpai Health hold a majority of board seats of the Company.

Other factors were considered but they would not change the preponderance of factors indicating that Marpai
Health was the accounting acquirer.

The historical combined financial information of the Companies has been adjusted to give effect to pro forma
events that are (1) directly attributable to the Acquisition, (2) factually supportable, and (3) with
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respect to the unaudited pro forma condensed combined statements of operations, expected to have a continuing
impact on the combined results. The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information should be
read in conjunction with the accompanying notes to the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial
information. In addition, the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information was based on and
should be read in conjunction with the:

Unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements of Marpai Inc. as of and for the six months ended
June 30, 2021 and audited consolidated financial statements of Marpai Health as of and for the year ended
December 31, 2020 and the related notes, which are included elsewhere in this prospectus;

Unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements of Continental Benefits as of and for the
three months ended March 31, 2021 and audited consolidated financial statements of Continental Benefits as
of and for the year ended December 31, 2020 and the related notes, which are included elsewhere in this
prospectus;

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information does not reflect the costs of any
integration activities or benefits that may result from realization of future cost savings from operating efficiencies
or revenue synergies that may result from the Acquisition.

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information is based on the assumptions and
adjustments that are described in the accompanying notes.

All share and per share amounts presented herein have been restated to reflect a forward split at a ratio of
4.555821-for-1, which was effected on September 2, 2021, as if it had occurred at the beginning of the earliest
period presented.

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information has been prepared for illustrative
purposes only and are not necessarily indicative of the results of operations in future periods or the results that
actually would have been realized had Marpai Health and Continental Benefits been a combined company during
the specified periods.
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UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

SIX MONTHS ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

 

Marpai 
Inc  

(Historical)

Continental 
Benefits  
(Historical)

Pro Forma 
Adjustments Notes

Pro Forma 
Combined 

Net revenue   $ 3,531,512 $ 4,215,081 $ — $ 7,746,593 
Costs and expenses          
Cost of revenue (exclusive of depreciation and

amortization shown separately below)    2,720,483  3,096,275  —  5,816,758 
General and administrative    2,814,950  1,045,397  —  3,860,347 
Information technology    731,230  865,966  —  1,597,196 
Research and development    549,374  —  —  549,374 
Sales and marketing    1,443,785  628,487  —  2,072,272 
Facilities    226,892  184,718  —  411,610 
Depreciation and amortization    420,967  162,373  23,716 (a  886,906 

       279,850 (b   
Total costs and expenses    8,907,681  5,983,216  303,566  15,194,463  

Operating loss    (5,376,169  (1,768,135  (303,566  (7,447,870 
Other expenses          
Interest income (expense)    (276,033   —  —  (276,033  
Other income    54,398  16,004  —  70,402 
Foreign exchange loss    (15,784  —  —  (15,784 
Loss before provision for income taxes    (5,613,588  (1,752,131  (303,566  (7,669,285 
Income tax benefit    (150,000   —  —  (150,000  
Net loss    (5,463,588  (1,752,131  (303,566  (7,519,285 
Net loss per share, basic & fully diluted    (0.84     (0.67 
Weighted average number of 

common shares    6,528,888    (c  11,147,302  

Derived from Marpai, Inc.’s unaudited condensed consolidated statement of operations for the six months
ended June 30, 2021, which includes the results of operations for Marpai Health for the six months ended
June 30, 2021and Continental Benefits for the three months ended June 30, 2021.
Derived from Continental Benefits’ unaudited condensed consolidated statement of operations for the
three months ended March 31, 2021.

See accompanying notes to the Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Financial Information
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UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020

Marpai 
Health  

(Historical)

Continental 
Benefits  
(Historical)

Pro Forma 
Adjustments Notes

Pro Forma 
Combined 

Net revenue $ — $ 18,388,192  $ — $ 18,388,192  
Costs and expenses         
Cost of revenue (exclusive of 

depreciation and amortization shown 
separately below)  —  13,931,008   —  13,931,008  

General and administrative  1,499,376  8,700,352    10,199,728  
Information technology  —  4,223,350  —  4,223,350 
Research and development  1,840,772  —  —  1,840,772 
Sales and marketing  27,583  2,724,368  —  2,751,951 
Facilities  —  762,649    762,649 
Depreciation and amortization  —  596,152  94,866 (a  1,810,418 

     1,119,400 (b   
Total costs and expenses  3,367,731  30,937,879   1,214,266  35,519,876  

Operating loss  (3,367,731  (12,549,687  (1,214,266  (17,131,684 
Other expenses         
Interest income (expense)  (521,140   11,506  —  (509,634  
Other income  25,846  —  —  25,846 
Foreign exchange gain  (4,959   —  —  (4,959  
Loss before provision for income taxes  (3,867,984  (12,538,181  (1,214,266  (17,620,431 
Income tax expense  —  —  —  — 
Net loss  (3,867,984  (12,538,181  (1,214,266  (17,620,431 
Net loss per share, basic & fully 

diluted  (1.59      (1.58 
Weighted average number of common

shares  2,428,877     (c  11,147,302  

Derived from Marpai Health’s audited consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31,
2020.
Derived from Continental Benefits’ audited consolidated statement of operations for the year ended
December 31, 2020.

See accompanying notes to the Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Financial Information
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NOTES TO UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED COMBINED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND DESCRIPTION OF THE ACQUISITION

On April 1, 2021, pursuant to the terms of the Purchase and Reorganization Agreement (the “Agreement”),
Marpai, Inc. acquired all of the outstanding capital stock of Marpai Health and all of the outstanding membership
interests of Continental Benefits. The stockholders of Marpai Health and Continental Benefits contributed their
respective ownership interests in Marpai Health and Continental Benefits to Marpai, Inc. for shares of Common
Stock of Marpai Inc. (the “Acquisition”). For further details on the Acquisition see the section titled Description of
the Transaction.

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information presents the pro forma condensed
combined results of operations of the Combined Company based upon the historical financial statements of Marpai
Health and Continental Benefits, after giving effect to the Acquisition and are intended to reflect the impact of such
on the Combined Company’s consolidated results of operations.

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statements of operations, which have been presented for the
six months ended June 30, 2021 and the year ended December 31, 2020, give effect to the transactions summarized
below, as if they had occurred on January 1, 2020. The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statements of
operations do not purport to represent, and are not necessarily indicative of, what the actual results of operations of
the Combined Company would have been had the Acquisition taken place on January 1, 2020, nor are they
indicative of the results of operations of the Combined Company for any future period.

The historical combined financial information has been adjusted to give effect to pro forma events that are
(1) directly attributable to the Acquisition, (2) factually supportable, and (3) with respect to the pro forma
condensed combined statements of operations, expected to have a continuing impact on the combined results.

The Acquisition is being accounted for as a business combination, with Marpai Health treated as the
“acquirer” and Continental Benefits treated as the “acquired” company for financial reporting purposes. Under the
acquisition method of accounting, the total purchase price of an acquisition is allocated to the net tangible and
intangible assets based on their estimated fair values. Such valuations are based on available information and
certain assumptions that management of Marpai Health believe are reasonable. The allocation of the purchase price
to the tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed is based on various estimates. Actual results
may differ materially from the assumptions within the accompanying unaudited pro forma condensed combined
financial information. Any excess of the purchase price over the fair value of identified tangible and intangible
assets acquired and liabilities assumed is recognized as goodwill.

The unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information does not reflect restructuring or
integration activities that have yet to be determined or other costs that may be incurred to achieve cost or growth
synergies of the Combined Company. As no assurance can be made that the costs will be incurred or the cost or
growth synergies will be achieved, no adjustment has been made.

Further, the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information does not necessarily reflect what
the Combined Company’s results of operations would have been had the Acquisition occurred on the dates
indicated. They also may not be useful in predicting the future financial condition and results of operations of the
Combined Company. The actual results of operations may differ significantly from the pro forma amounts reflected
herein due to a variety of factors. In addition, the Combined Company’s management believes that income tax
effects of the pro forma adjustments on the unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial information would
not be meaningful given the Combined Company incurred significant losses during the historical periods
presented.
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Adjustments to Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Statements of Operations

The condensed consolidated statement of operations of Marpai Inc. for the six months ended June 30, 2021
includes the results of operations of Continental Benefits for the three months ended June 30, 2021, but do not
include Continental Benefits results of operations prior to the Acquisition, for the three months ended March 31,
2021. As such, the pro forma adjustments included in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined statement of
operations for the six months ended June 30, 2021 are related the three months ended March 31, 2021 as follows:

Depreciation of property and equipment, net. The following table summarizes the changes in the estimated
depreciation expense resulting from the adjustment of property and equipment, net to fair value of
$1,601,990:

Three months
ended 

March 31, 
2021

Year ended 
December 31,

2020 
Estimated depreciation expense $ 186,089  $ 691,378  
Historical depreciation expense 162,373  596,512  
Pro forma adjustments to depreciation expense $ 23,716  $ 94,866  

The following table summarizes the estimated fair values of Continental Benefits’ identifiable intangible
assets, their estimated useful lives and the amortization for presented periods:

Estimated 
Fair Value

Estimated
Useful 
Life in 
Years

Amortization 
Three Months 

ended 
March 31, 2021

Amortization 
Year ended 

December 31, 2020
Trademarks $1,860,000 10.00 $ 46,712 $ 186,848 
Patent and patent applications  700,000 (*) — — 
Customer relationships  3,370,000 7.00 120,907 483,628 
Capitalized software  1,230,000 5.00 61,500 246,000 
Intangible assets  1,010,000 5.00 50,731 202,924 
Total  8,170,000 279,850 1,119,400 
Pro forma adjustments to 

amortization expense   $ 279,850 $ 1,119,400 

Patents which have yet to be approved by US Patent Office. Useful life is determined upon placement into
service after approval.

Represents the weighted average shares in connection with the issuance of 11,147,302 common shares
upon closing of the Acquisition reflecting a forward split at a ratio of 4.555821-for-1, which was effected
on September 2, 2021, as if it had occurred at the beginning of the earliest period presented..
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RISK FACTORS

Investing in our Class A common stock involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider the risks
and uncertainties described below, together with all of the other information in this prospectus, before making a
decision to invest in our Class A common stock. The risks and uncertainties described below may not be the only
ones we face. If any of the risks actually occur, our business, results of operations, financial condition and
prospects could be harmed. In that event, the trading price of our Class A common stock could decline, and you
could lose part or all of your investment. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we
currently deem immaterial may also impair our business operations.

Risks Related to Managing and Growing Our Combined TPA Business

We and Marpai Health are a development stage company with no operating history and no revenues.

On April 1, 2021, Marpai consummated its acquisition of Marpai Health and Continental Benefits.

Marpai Health, Inc. was formed in February 2019. Together with its wholly-owned subsidiary, EYME
Technologies Ltd., an Israeli company (“EYME,”) Marpai Health is a development stage company with no
operating history and has not yet generated any revenue. As of December 31, 2020 and March 31, 2021, it had an
accumulated deficit of approximately $5.5 million, and $7.1 million, respectively, and working capital deficit of
$469,026 and $2.7 million, respectively. At March 31, 2021, it had total debt of approximately $9.6 million. Since
inception, Marpai Health has funded its capital needs from sale of convertible notes. As of June 30, 2021, Marpai
has an accumulated deficit of approximately $11.0 million and working capital deficit of $379,410. At June 30,
2021, it had total debt of approximately $5.7 million and $2.3 million of unrestricted cash on hand.

We expect to derive a significant portion of our revenue from the renewal of Continental Benefits’ existing
Client contracts and sales of our added services to its existing Clients. Sale of products and services through
Continental Benefits’ TopCare  program is key to our success. We believe that our A.I. models with deep learning
functionality and predictive algorithms give us the ability to predict chronic conditions and costly medical
procedures, and these factors differentiate us from other TPAs. However, implementing Marpai Health’s prediction
tools as part of Continental Benefits’ TopCare program is a new initiative. There can be no assurances as to how
long it will take for our A.I.-enabled TopCare  program to resonate with Continental Benefits’ current Clients, or
at all. Even with interested Clients, it will likely take some time for the TopCare  program to yield measurable
results.

Continental Benefits had a history of operating losses, and we may not be able to generate sufficient revenue
to achieve profitability.

Continental Benefits has suffered significant recurring losses and negative cash flows from operations, and
historically has relied on periodic contributions from HillCour for the development of its product and funding of its
operating expenses. It incurred net losses of $12.5 million and $11.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2020,
and 2019, respectively. It had an accumulated deficit of $56.6 million and $58.4 million as of December 31, 2020
and March 31, 2021, respectively. Compared to the year ended December 31, 2019, Continental Benefits has
experienced a decrease of 9.5% in revenue, or approximately $1.9 million. There are no assurances that we can
reverse the trend.

In September 2020, FTI Consulting, Inc. (“FTI”), a global consulting firm, was retained to assist with
Continental Benefits’ organizational restructuring with a view to reduce its operating expenses and achieve break-
even or near-term profitability. In November 2020, FTI recommended an organizational re-design including
reducing the ratio of managers to direct reports, eliminating the Program Management Office, counseling out
employees due to performance issues and cuts in claims and customer service departments to bring the operating
costs more in line with industry norms, which resulted in the elimination of a total of 56 positions. FTI also
recommended a number of cost-cutting measures, including rationalizing the IT processes, cancelling IT contracts
that were not used, and generally optimizing IT expenditures. We believe that these measures, which were
implemented on a rolling-basis through March 2021 immediately prior to the Acquisition, will save us on an
annualized basis, approximately $5.5 million in headcount-related expenses and approximately $1.5 million in non-
headcount-related expenses. The implementation of the restructuring
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and other recommendations will continue after completion of this offering and may take longer than planned. It
may also cause business disruptions which may adversely affect customer satisfaction and negatively impact
revenues. There can be no assurances that the organizational restructuring and cost-cutting measures, even if fully
implemented, will be effective to eliminate Continental Benefits’ operating losses.

We also expect that our operating costs will increase over time as we continue to invest to grow our business
and build relationships with Clients, develop our platform, develop new solutions, and operate as a public
company. These efforts may prove to be more expensive than we currently anticipate, and we may not succeed in
increasing our revenue sufficiently to offset these higher expenses. If we are unable to effectively manage these
risks and difficulties as we encounter them, our business, financial condition, and results of operations would be
adversely affected.

The audited financial statements of both Continental Benefits and Marpai for the year ended December 31,
2020 included an explanatory paragraph relating to liquidity.

For the year ended December 30, 2020, Marpai Health had an accumulated deficit of approximately
$5.5 million and working capital deficit of approximately $469,026. Since inception, Marpai Health has relied on
the issuance of convertible notes to fund its operating expenses. Its cash requirements are generally for operating
activities and debt repayments. Continental Benefits has suffered recurring losses and for the year ended
December 31, 2020, it has an accumulated deficit of $56.6 million. It has historically met its cash needs through
cash flows from operating activities and periodic contributions from HillCour. For the year ended December 30,
2020 and 2019, HillCour contributed to Continental Benefits approximately $8.8 million and $9.3 million,
respectively. In March 2021, in connection with the audit of Marpai Health and Continental Benefits, HillCour
gave a support letter (the “March Support Letters”) to each of (i) Marpai Health, agreeing to provide Marpai Health
capital to fund its operating expenses until April 2022 if the Company is unable to complete this offering, or secure
enough funding or revenue to fund Marpai Health’s operations, which was projected at the time to be
approximately between $3.5 million and $4.5 million, and (ii) Continental Benefits, agreeing to provide
Continental Benefits capital to fund its operations through April 30, 2022, which was projected at the time to be
between $6.5 million and $8.0 million. In May 2021, the two March Support Letters were superseded by a HillCour
letter (the “May Support Letter”) which has been superseded by another HillCour letter (the “August Support
Letter”) providing that if Marpai, Inc. fails to (i) complete this offering, (ii) raise sufficient capital through private
rounds of financings, or (iii) secure sufficient operating cash to fund its operating expenses, HillCour, subject to
such further conditions, and in a form to be mutually determined, will provide Marpai, Inc. funding and financial
support necessary to pay for its operating expenses so Marpai, Inc. is able to continue to operate in its normal
course of business through September 30, 2022. At the time the August Support Letter was executed, Marpai, Inc.’s
un-funded operating expenses through September 30, 2022 was estimated to be between $8.0 million and
$10.0 million. However, we do not know at this time under what terms the funding will be provided, or if the
funding actually needed will exceed the maximum amount of the un-funded operating expenses projected at the
time. If sales and profitability do not improve, the cash balances and cash generated from operations may not be
sufficient to fund operations after December 31, 2021 without the proceeds from this offering. On July 29, 2021,
HillCour Investment Fund LLC provided Marpai a revolving credit facility in return for a promissory note in the
principal amount of up to $3,000,000 (the “HillCour Promissory Note’’). With the HillCour Promissory Note, the
anticipated revenues generated from operations and the proceeds from this offering, we expect that we will have
sufficient cash to fund operations through the next twelve months.

We will continue to seek to raise additional working capital through public equity, private equity or debt
financings. If we fail to raise additional working capital, or do so on commercially unfavorable terms, it would
materially and adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations, and we may
be unable to continue as a going concern. Future reports from our independent registered public accounting firm
may also contain statements expressing substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern. If we
seek additional financing to fund our business activities in the future and there remains substantial doubt about our
ability to continue as a going concern, investors or other financing sources may be unwilling to provide additional
funding to us on commercially reasonable terms, if at all.
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Continental Benefits has a high annual customer attrition rate historically. The loss, termination, or
renegotiation of any contract with Continental Benefits’ current Clients could have a material adverse effect on
our financial conditions and operating results.

Continental Benefits’ largest two Clients collectively represented approximately 9.2% and 8.3% of its total
gross revenue in 2020 and 2019, respectively. For the twelve months ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, its
customer attrition rates were approximately 33.8% and 24.2%, respectively. We believe many Clients left due to
poor customer service. Although we believe many root causes driving customer attrition have been identified,
remedial actions are still in process, and not all of them will be fully implemented during 2021. If we fail to reverse
the upward trend of Continental’s customer attrition rate, our future revenue growth will suffer, and we may
encounter difficulty in recruiting new clients due to erosion of customer confidence. Some Clients with renewal
dates in late 2021 may opt to leave as they may have had a sub-optimal experience pre-acquisition. If this happens,
our revenue will decrease and our results of operations will be adversely affected. Besides, there can be no
assurances that all Clients will like the cost-cutting measures taken as part of Continental Benefits’ corporate
restructuring efforts. If Continental Benefits’ existing Clients do not continue or renew their contracts with us or
decide to renew at lower fee levels or decline to purchase additional products and services from us, it could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations. The loss, termination, or
renegotiation of any contract with Continental Benefits’ current Clients could have a material adverse effect on our
financial condition and operating results.

Continental Benefits is party to a number of disputes and lawsuits, and we may be subject to liabilities arisen
from these and similar disputes in the future.

In the normal course of the claims administration services business, we expect to be named from time to time
as a defendant in lawsuits by the insureds or claimants contesting decisions by us or our Clients with respect to the
settlement of their healthcare claims. Continental Benefits’ Clients have brought claims for indemnification on the
basis of alleged actions on its part or on the part of its agents or employees in rendering services to Clients. We are
subject to a number of disputes and lawsuits of which Continental Benefits is currently a subject. Any future
lawsuits against us can be disruptive to our business. The defense of the lawsuits will be time-consuming and
require attention of our senior management and financial resources, and there can be no assurances that the
resolution of any such litigation will not have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results of operations. See section titled, “Business — Legal Proceedings.”

Even though pursuant to the Purchase and Reorganization Agreement, WellEnterprises USA, LLC, has agreed
to assume all liabilities of Continental Benefits that relate to benefits claims in excess of $50,000 or that have been
outstanding in excess of 180 days, in each case as of April 1, 2021, Continental Benefits will ultimately be
responsible for any damages that may arise from these lawsuits. To the extent that WellEnterprises USA, LLC is
unable or unwilling to satisfy any such liabilities, we will be required to do so. One of our directors, Mr. Damien
Lamendola is the majority shareholder of HillCour Holding Corporation, which owns HillCour.

Pursuant to the Purchase and Reorganization Agreement, $500,000 was deposited into an escrow account on
April 30, 2021 to indemnify parties for fraud, breach of any representation or warranty, breach or non-performance
of any post-closing covenant or agreement. However, there can be no assurances that future lawsuits may not arise.
If we are exposed to liabilities in excess of the amount held in escrow, our financial condition can be materially
adversely affected. See section titled “Business — Marpai, Inc.’s Acquisition of Marpai Health and Continental
Benefits” below.

Continental Benefits may be subject to penalties from the Internal Revenue Service.

In September 2020, Continental Benefits received Notice 972CGs from the IRS regarding certain tax penalties
related to prior year 1099 tax filings. Based on the opinion of Continental Benefits’ counsel, although Continental
Benefits is in the process of appealing, the full amount of penalties and interest of $1,532,185 has been accrued as
of December 31, 2020. The penalties were a result of Continental Benefits’ failure to list accurate taxpayer
identification numbers for certain of its contractors. Continental Benefits disputed these assessments. The
Company recently received a letter dated March 8, 2021 from the IRS
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that granted a $678,780 waiver for the full amount of the 1099 penalties the tax year 2018. In June 2021, the
Company received written confirmation from the IRS that all outstanding penalties have been waived and that
nothing is due to the IRS from the Company. The Company has completely reversed the accrual as of June 30,
2021.

Even though under the Purchase and Reorganization Agreement, WellEnterprises, LLC has agreed to assume
all Continental Benefits’ liabilities related to tax matters based upon facts and circumstances that occurred prior to
the closing of the Acquisition, Continental Benefits shall ultimately be responsible for any damages that may arise
from the Notice 972CG, as well as any other penalties the IRS may assess. To the extent that WellEnterprises, LLC
is unable or unwilling to satisfy any such liabilities, we will be required to do so. See section titled, “Business — 
Legal Proceedings.”

Our success will largely depend on our ability to integrate Marpai Health and Continental Benefits, and
effectively manage the combined company.

Although Marpai Health and Continental Benefits have been working together on product design and
development since the beginning of 2020, they have not operated as a combined company before April 1, 2021.
We have no combined corporate culture or institutional knowledge prior to April 1, 2021. There are significant
risks associated with our ability to integrate successfully the two companies and effectively manage the combined
business. For instance, we are required to onboard most of Continental Benefits’ 105 employees and contractors,
and adopt and implement new benefits programs for all of them. Setting up programs and processes as such can
distract management from other business operations of the combined company. We must maintain active TPA
licenses in all states that are not expressly exempt from requiring a TPA license where we conduct business.

We also may not achieve the anticipated benefits from the Acquisition due to a number of factors, including,
but not limited to:

inability to integrate or benefit from the technologies or services in a profitable manner;

unanticipated costs or liabilities associated with the Acquisition;

difficulty integrating the two companies’ accounting systems, operations, and personnel;

difficulties and additional expenses associated with supporting Continental Benefits’ legacy technology
platform and hosting infrastructure;

difficulty converting Continental Benefits’ existing Clients onto our combined platform and contract terms;
and

failure to create one highly functioning corporate culture.

Because we lack an operating history as a combined company, you have no basis upon which to evaluate our
ability to execute our business plan and strategies in an evolving industry. If our business prospects fail to
materialize, we may never generate any operating revenues.

If our TopCare  program fails to provide accurate and timely predictions, or if it is associated with wasteful
visits to Providers or unhelpful recommendations for Members, then this could lead to low customer
satisfaction, which could adversely affect our results of operations.

When our A.I. models make a prediction, we advise the Member to reach out to his or her primary care
physician or make suggestions to the Member on the best providers in the area via our TopCare  program since we
do not provide medical prognosis. However, Members may not follow our advice or accept our suggestions. We
believe that not taking our recommendations will lead to higher claims costs to our Clients. If claim costs remain
the same or are not lower than those before we were hired, our Clients may be dissatisfied with our services,
terminate or refuse to renew contracts with us.

In addition, our A.I. models may not always work as planned, and the predictions could have many false
positives. These errors may lead to wasteful visits to the Providers, Clients’ dissatisfaction and attrition, which may
lead to loss of revenue. Our economic models assume that the costs stemming from these false positives is a small
fraction of the total savings that may be achieved by preventing or better managing chronic
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conditions and steering Members who will have high-cost medical procedures to high-quality, lower cost providers.
This assumption, however, has yet to be proven. To date, we have no actual case data to support this assumption.

Issues in the use of A.I., including deep learning in our platform and modules could result in reputational harm
or liability.

As with many developing technologies, A.I. presents risks and challenges that could affect its further
development, adoption, and use, and therefore our business. A.I. algorithms may be flawed. Datasets may be
insufficient, of poor quality, or contain biased information. Inappropriate or controversial data practices by data
scientists, engineers, and end-users of our systems could impair the acceptance of A.I. solutions. If the
recommendations, forecasts, or analyses that A.I. applications assist in producing are deficient or inaccurate, we
could be subjected to competitive harm, potential legal liability, and brand or reputational harm. Some A.I.
scenarios could present ethical issues. If we enable or offer A.I. solutions that are controversial because of their
purported or real impact on human rights, privacy, employment, or other social issues, we may experience brand or
reputational harm.

If the markets for our A.I. modules and TopCare  program fail to grow as we expect, or if self — insured
employers fail to adopt our TopCare  program and A.I. modules, our business, operating results, and financial
condition could be adversely affected.

It is difficult to predict self-insured employer adoption rates and demand for our A.I. modules and TopCare
program, the entry of competitive platforms, or the future growth rate and size of the healthcare technology and
TPA markets. We expect that a significant portion of our revenue will come from our A.I. modules with deep
learning functionality and predictive algorithms and our TopCare  program. Although demand for healthcare
technology, deep learning (an advanced form of A.I.), and data analytics platforms and A.I. applications has grown
in recent years, the market for these platforms and applications continues to evolve. There can be no assurances
that this market will continue to grow or, even if it does grow, that Clients will choose our A.I. modules, TopCare
program, or platform. Our future success will depend largely on our ability to penetrate the existing market for
healthcare technology driven by TPAs, as well as the continued growth and expansion of what we believe to be an
emerging market for healthcare administration focused on A.I. platforms and applications that are faster, easier to
adopt, and easier to use.

Our ability to penetrate the TPA market depends on a number of factors, including the cost, performance, and
perceived value associated with our A.I. modules, as well as Clients’ willingness to adopt a different approach to
data analysis. We plan to spend considerable resources to educate Clients about digital transformation, A.I., and
deep learning in general and our A.I. modules in particular. However, there can be no assurances that these
expenditures will help our A.I. modules and TopCare program achieve widespread market acceptance.
Furthermore, prospective Clients may have made significant investments in legacy healthcare analytics software
systems and may be unwilling to invest in new platforms and applications. If the market fails to grow or grows
more slowly than we currently expect or self-insured employers fail to adopt our A.I. modules and TopCare
program, our business, operating results, and financial condition could be adversely affected.

We operate in a highly competitive industry, and the size of our target market may not remain as large as we
anticipate.

The market for healthcare solutions is very competitive. We compete with almost 1,000 TPAs, all of whom
are vying for the same business — the management of healthcare benefits for self-insured employers. There is only
one TPA at a time for every employer wanting to provide health benefits via a self-insured model, and an employer
may remain with the same TPA for many years. This means that although the market is very large, not all of it is
accessible by us in any one year.

We provide administrative services to only self-insured employers who provide healthcare benefits to their
employees. These self-insured employers can always elect to abandon self-insurance and simply buy medical
insurance from one of the large players such as, Aetna, Cigna, or United Healthcare. There can be no assurances
that our Clients or prospective Clients will remain self-insured for any given period of time. If the number of
employers which choose to self-insure declines, the size of our targeted market will shrink.
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In addition to the very large health insurance companies, there are new players in the market such as,
Collective Health, Clover Health, Bind Health Insurance, Bright Health Group, Oscar and Centivo. These
companies have raised hundreds of millions of dollars and have greater financial and personnel resources than we
do and are pursuing a business strategy similar to ours and share our vision to use technology to transform the
healthcare payer space. We believe that like us, Collective Health and Clover Health are also targeting at self-
insured employers.

We rely on healthcare benefits brokers and consultants as our principal sales channel, and some of these
companies are large and have no allegiance to us. If we do not satisfy their employer clients, they may steer not
only an unsatisfied client, but others as well, to other TPAs.

Brokers such as Lockton Companies, Inc., the world’s largest privately held insurance brokerage firm, are a
key sales channel for us to reach the self-insured employer market. These brokers work with many insurance
companies and TPAs at the same time. Brokers and consultants earn their fees by also charging employers on a per
employee per month (“PEPM”) basis. As they often own the relationship with the employer, they may view our
fees as competitive to how much they can earn. They may steer our Clients to another TPA if they believe doing so
can maximize their own fees. If we do not deliver competitive pricing, quality customer service, and high member
satisfaction, these brokers can take the business they brought us to another TPA anytime. Due to the brokers’
power to influence employer groups, the brokers play an outsized role in our industry, and may exert pressure on
our pricing or influence the service levels we offer to our Clients, all of which can lead to lower price PEPM for us,
or an increase in our customer service staffing and other operating costs.

Our pricing may change over time and our ability to efficiently price our services will affect our results of
operations and our ability to attract or retain Clients.

Our current pricing model, like most in the industry, is based on a PEPM fee. In the future, we may change
our pricing model to capture more market share. We may also enter different pricing schemes with Clients,
including but not limited to shared savings. In a shared savings pricing model, we share the risk with the Client. For
example, if the Clients’ claims cost is $10 million, we may estimate that we can bring that down to $9,000,000 with
our service offering. Instead of charging a fixed PEPM fee, we would earn revenue from a share of the cost savings
in a shared savings model. In the example above, if the share were 30% and we managed to achieve a reduction of
$1 million, we would earn $300,000 as a shared savings fee.

Since there is no guarantee how much savings, if any, will actually be achieve, shared savings puts some of
our revenue at risk. If cost savings are not achieved by many of our Clients, our revenue and results of operations
will most likely suffer.

Our sales cycles can be long and unpredictable, and our sales efforts require a considerable investment of time
and expense. If our sales cycle lengthens or we invest substantial resources pursuing unsuccessful sales
opportunities, our results of operations and growth would be harmed.

Our sales process entails planning discussions with prospective Clients, analyzing their existing solutions and
identifying how these prospective Clients can use and benefit from our services. The sales cycle for a new Client,
from the time of prospect qualification to completion of the sale, may take as long as a year. We spend substantial
time, effort and money in our sales efforts without any assurance that our efforts will result in the sale of our
services.

In addition, our sales cycle and timing of sales can vary substantially from Client to Client because of various
factors, including the discretionary nature of prospective Clients’ purchasing and budget decisions, the
announcement or planned introduction of product and service offerings by us or our competitors, and the
purchasing approval processes of prospective Clients. If our sales cycle lengthens or we invest substantial resources
pursuing unsuccessful sales opportunities, our results of operations and growth would be harmed.

Because Continental Benefits generally recognizes technology and professional services revenue ratably over
the term of the contract for our services, a significant downturn in its business may not be reflected immediately
in our results of operations, which increases the difficulty of evaluating our future financial performance.

Continental Benefits generally recognizes technology and professional services revenue ratably over the term
of a contract, which is typically one year. As a result, a substantial portion of Continental Benefits’
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revenue is generated from contracts entered into during prior periods. Consequently, a decline in new contracts in
any quarter may not affect our results of operations in that quarter but could reduce our revenue in future quarters.
Additionally, the timing of renewals or non-renewals of a contract during any quarter may only affect our financial
performance in future quarters. For example, the non-renewal of a subscription agreement late in a quarter will
have minimal impact on revenue for that quarter but will reduce our revenue in future quarters. Accordingly, the
effect of significant declines in sales may not be reflected in our short-term results of operations, which would
make these reported results less indicative of our future financial results. By contrast, a non-renewal occurring
early in a quarter may have a significant negative impact on revenue for that quarter and we may not be able to
offset a decline in revenue due to non-renewal with revenue from new contracts entered into in the same quarter. In
addition, we may be unable to quickly adjust our costs in response to reduced revenue.

The success and growth of our business depends upon our ability to continuously innovate and develop new
products and technologies.

Our solution is a technology-driven platform that relies on innovation to remain competitive. The process of
developing new technologies and products is complex, and we develop our own A.I. and deep learning, healthcare
technologies, and other tools to differentiate our platform and A.I. modules. In addition, our dedication to
incorporating technological advancements into our platform requires significant financial and personnel resources
and talent. Our development efforts with respect to these initiatives could distract management from current
operations and could divert capital and other resources from other growth initiatives important to our business. We
operate in an industry experiencing rapid technological change and frequent platform introductions. We may not be
able to make technological improvements as quickly as demanded by self-insured employers and our Clients,
which could harm our ability to attract new Clients and therefore, our market share. In addition, we may not be
able to effectively implement new technology-driven products and services as projected.

If we do not have access to A.I. talent or fail to expand our A.I. models, we may not remain competitive, and our
revenue and results of operations could suffer.

Our risks as a development stage company are compounded by our heavy dependence on emerging and
sometimes unproven technologies such as A.I. and deep learning, which are characterized by extensive research
efforts and rapid technological progress. If we fail to anticipate or respond adequately to technological
developments, our ability to operate profitably could suffer. We cannot assure you that research and discoveries by
other companies will not render our technologies or potential products or services uneconomical, or result in
products superior to those we develop, or that any technologies, products or services we develop will be preferred
to any existing or newly-developed technologies, products or services.

Our success depends on our ability to innovate and provide more tools that can help employers save
healthcare claims costs while maintaining good healthcare outcomes for their employees and their families.
However, access to A.I. talent, especially with respect to deep learning in healthcare, is very limited. The
competition for talent is not so much from other payers in the healthcare space as it is from the big technology
companies such as, Google, Amazon, and Facebook and technology start-ups. Our growth is highly dependent on
our ability to access this limited pool of talent. Our Chief Science Advisor, Dr. Eli (Omid) David is a lecturer in
deep learning at Bar-Ilan University in Israel and a leading researcher in A.I. We believe his university connection
as well as his reputation and previous work experience with other technology companies will help attract key deep
learning talent to us. However, there is no assurance that that will be enough. If the right talent pool is not readily
available to us, it may impact our ability to innovate and differentiate ourselves in the market with new products
and services, which could in turn adversely affect our revenue and results of operations.

Our product development relies heavily on access to large healthcare data sets. We have developed six A.I.
modules to predict chronic conditions and high-cost medical procedures. Our ability to offer a comprehensive
solution that helps employers save on healthcare claims costs is directly related to our ability to expand to other
modules as well as to constantly make improvements on our existing modules. Access to certain data in healthcare
in large scale can be challenging. Electronic health records, for example, are stored in myriad systems and there is
no single standard for what one contains. Moreover, payers generally do not

  

31 



TABLE OF CONTENTS

  

have access to electronic health records at scale, although they may have access to some limited data to support a
claim. Our models currently rely heavily on claims data, which is the type of data that payers mostly have. We plan
to improve our A.I. predictions by incorporating other data types in the future. However, there can be no
assurances that we will be able to do so and our failure to incorporate other data types may limit our ability to
compete in the market.

Failure by our Clients to obtain proper permissions and waivers may result in claims against us or may limit or
prevent our use of data, which could harm our business.

We require our Clients to provide necessary notices and to obtain necessary permissions and waivers for use
and disclosure of the information that we receive, and we require contractual assurances from them that they have
done so and will do so. If they do not obtain necessary permissions and waivers, then our use and disclosure of
information that we receive from them or on their behalf may be restricted or prohibited by state, federal or
international privacy or data protection laws, or other related privacy and data protection laws. This could impair
our functions, processes, and databases that reflect, contain, or are based upon such data and may prevent the use
of such data, including our ability to provide such data to third parties that are incorporated into our service
offerings. Furthermore, this may cause us to breach obligations to third parties to whom we may provide such data,
such as third-party service or technology providers that are incorporated into our service offerings. In addition, this
could interfere with or prevent data sourcing, data analyses, or limit other data-driven activities that benefit us.
Moreover, we may be subject to claims, civil and/or criminal liability or government or state attorneys general
investigations for use or disclosure of information by reason of lack of valid notice, permission, or waiver. These
claims, liabilities or government or state attorneys general investigations could subject us to unexpected costs and
adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.

If our security measures are breached or unauthorized access to client data is otherwise obtained, our product
and service offerings may be perceived as not being secure, Clients may reduce the use of or stop using our
services, and we may incur significant liabilities.

Our business involves the storage and transmission of our Members’ proprietary information, including
personal or identifying information regarding members and their protected health information (“PHI”). As a result,
unauthorized access or security breaches to our system or platform as a result of third-party action, employee error,
malfeasance, or otherwise could result in the loss or inappropriate use of information, litigation, indemnity
obligations, damage to our reputation, and other liability including but not limited to government or state Attorney
General investigations. Because the techniques used to obtain unauthorized access or sabotage systems change
frequently and generally are not identified until after they are launched against a target, we may not be able to
anticipate these techniques or implement adequate preventative measures. Moreover, the detection, prevention, and
remediation of known or unknown security vulnerabilities, including those arising from third-party hardware or
software, may result in additional direct or indirect costs and management time.

Any or all of these issues could adversely affect our ability to attract new Clients, cause existing Clients to
elect not to renew their contracts, result in reputational damage, or subject us to third-party lawsuits, regulatory
fines, mandatory disclosures, or other action or liability, which could adversely affect our results of operations. Our
general liability insurance may not be adequate to cover all potential claims to which we are exposed and may not
be adequate to indemnify us for liability that may be imposed, or the losses associated with such events, and in any
case, such insurance may not cover all of the specific costs, expenses, and losses we could incur in responding to
and remediating a security breach. A security breach of another significant provider of cloud-based solutions may
also negatively impact the demand for our product and service offerings.

If we are not able to enhance our reputation and brand recognition, we may not be able to execute our business
strategy as planned.

We believe that enhancing our reputation and brand recognition is critical to maintaining our relationships
with Continental Benefits’ existing Clients and to our ability to attract new Clients. The promotion of our Marpai
brand may require us to make substantial investments and we anticipate that, as
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our market becomes increasingly competitive, these marketing initiatives may become increasingly difficult and
expensive. Our marketing activities may not be successful or yield increased revenue, and to the extent that these
activities yield increased revenue, the increased revenue may not offset the expenses we incur and our results of
operations could be harmed. In addition, any factor that diminishes our reputation or that of our management,
including failing to meet the expectations of our Clients, or any adverse publicity surrounding one of our investors
or Clients, could make it substantially more difficult for us to attract new Clients. If we do not successfully enhance
our reputation and brand recognition, our business may not grow and we could lose our relationships with
Continental Benefits’ existing clients, which would harm our business, results of operations, and financial
condition.

We may acquire other companies or technologies, which could divert our management’s attention, result in
dilution to our stockholders, and otherwise disrupt our operations and we may have difficulty integrating any
such acquisitions successfully or realizing the anticipated benefits therefrom, any of which could have an
adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

We may seek to acquire or invest in businesses, applications, and services, or technologies that we believe
could complement or expand our product and service offerings, enhance our A.I. capabilities, or otherwise offer
growth opportunities. The pursuit of potential acquisitions may divert the attention of management and cause us to
incur various expenses in identifying, investigating, and pursuing suitable acquisitions, whether or not they are
consummated. We may have difficulty integrating other technologies, other team members, or selling our
TopCare  program to acquired Clients and we may not be able to achieve the intended benefits from any such
acquisition.

In addition, a significant portion of the purchase price of companies we acquire may be allocated to acquired
goodwill and other intangible assets, which must be assessed for impairment at least annually. In the future, if our
acquisitions do not yield expected returns, we may be required to take charges to our results of operations based on
this impairment assessment process, which could adversely affect our results of operations.

Acquisitions could also result in dilutive issuances of equity securities or the incurrence of debt, which could
adversely affect our results of operations. In addition, if an acquired business fails to meet our expectations, our
business, financial condition, and results of operations may suffer.

Global or regional health pandemics or epidemics, including COVID-19, could negatively impact our business
operations, financial performance and results of operations.

Our business and financial results could be negatively impacted by the recent outbreak of COVID-19 or other
pandemics or epidemics. The severity, magnitude and duration of the current COVID-19 pandemic is uncertain,
rapidly changing and hard to predict. During 2020, COVID-19 has significantly impacted economic activity and
markets around the world, and it could negatively impact our business in numerous ways, including but not limited
to those outlined below:

the number of employers who will choose to self-insure or remain to be self-insured may decline;

Clients and prospective Clients may be less willing to pay the added fees for our TopCare  program due to
significant capital constraints as a result of COVID-19 and the macro-economic environment;

Clients may have difficulty gaining timely access to sufficient credit or obtaining credit on reasonable terms,
which could impair their ability to make timely payments to us;

disruptions or uncertainties related to the COVID-19 outbreak for a sustained period of time could result in
delays or modifications to our strategic plans and initiatives and hinder our ability to achieve our business
objectives.

illness, travel restrictions or workforce disruptions could negatively affect our business processes.

government or regulatory responses to pandemics could negatively impact our business. Mandatory
lockdowns or other restrictions could materially adversely impact our operations and results.
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the COVID-19 outbreak has increased volatility and pricing in the capital markets and volatility is likely to
continue which could have a material adverse effect on our ability to obtain debt or equity financing to fund
operations. Economic uncertainties or downturns in the general economy or the healthcare industry in
general could disproportionately affect the demand for our product and service offerings and materially
adversely affect our results of operations.

The spread of COVID-19, which has caused a broad impact globally, may materially affect us economically.
While the potential economic impact brought by COVID-19, and the duration of such impact, may be difficult to
assess or predict, the widespread pandemic has resulted in significant disruption of global financial markets, which
could reduce our ability to access capital and negatively affect our future liquidity. In addition, a recession or
market correction resulting from the spread of COVID-19 and related government orders and restrictions could
materially affect our business and the value of our Class A common stock. The COVID-19 pandemic continues to
evolve rapidly. The ultimate impact of the COVID-19 pandemic or a similar health epidemic is highly uncertain
and subject to change. We do not yet know the full extent of potential delays or impacts on our business, our
clinical trials, healthcare systems, or the global economy as a whole.

These and other impacts of the COVID-19 or other global or regional health pandemics or epidemics could
have the effect of heightening many of the other risks described in this “Risk Factors” section. We might not be
able to predict or respond to all impacts on a timely basis to prevent near- or long-term adverse impacts to our
results. The ultimate impact of these disruptions also depends on events beyond our knowledge or control,
including the duration and severity of any outbreak and actions taken by parties other than us to respond to them.
Any of these disruptions could have a negative impact on our business operations, financial performance and
results of operations, which impact could be material.

Risks Related to Managing Our Research and Development Operations in Israel

Potential political, economic and military instability in the State of Israel, where our research and development
facilities are located, may adversely affect our results of operations.

Our executive office, where we conduct primarily all of our research and development activities, is located in
Israel. Many of our software and A.I. engineers are residents of Israel. Accordingly, political, economic and
military conditions in Israel and the surrounding region may directly affect our business and operations. Since the
establishment of the State of Israel in 1948, a number of armed conflicts have taken place between Israel and its
Arab neighbors, Hamas (an Islamist militia and political group in the Gaza Strip) and Hezbollah (an Islamist militia
and political group in Lebanon). Any hostilities involving Israel or the interruption or curtailment of trade within
Israel or between Israel and its trading partners could adversely affect our operations and results of operations and
could make it more difficult for us to raise capital. To date, Israel faces political tension with respect to its
relationships with Turkey, Iran and other Arab neighbor countries. In addition, recent political uprisings and social
unrest in various countries in the Middle East and North Africa are affecting the political stability of those
countries. This instability may lead to deterioration of the political relationships that exist between Israel and these
countries and have raised concerns regarding security in the region and the potential for armed conflict. In Syria, a
country bordering Israel, a civil war is taking place. In addition, there are concerns that Iran, which has previously
threatened to attack Israel, may step up its efforts to achieve nuclear capability. Iran is also believed to have a
strong influence among extremist groups in the region, such as Hamas in Gaza and Hezbollah in Lebanon, as well
as a growing presence in Syria. Additionally, the Islamic State of Iraq and Levant, or ISIL, a violent jihadist group
whose stated purpose is to take control of the Middle East, remains active. The tension between Israel and Iran
and/or these groups may escalate in the future and turn violent. Any potential future conflict could also include
missile strikes against parts of Israel, including our offices. Political events in Israel may significantly affect our
business, assets or operations. On Israel’s domestic front, there is currently a level of unprecedented political
instability, as evidenced by Israel’s fourth general election in two years which took place in March 2021. The
Israeli Parliament, or the Knesset, has not approved a budget since 2019, and certain government ministries are
without necessary resources and may not receive sufficient funding moving forward. Social unrest, acts of
terrorism, regime changes, changes in laws and regulations, political upheaval, and policy changes or enactments
could negatively impact our business. Any armed
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conflicts, terrorist activities or political instability in the region could adversely affect our research and
development activities, ability to innovate, and results of operations.

The relationship between the United States and Israel could be subject to sudden fluctuation and periodic
tension particularly in light of the change in the U.S. administration following the 2020 Presidential election.
Changes in political conditions in Israel and changes in the state of U.S. relations with Israel are difficult to predict
and could adversely affect our operations or cause potential target businesses or their goods and services to become
less attractive.

Parties with whom we do business may be disinclined to travel to Israel during periods of heightened unrest or
tension, forcing us to make alternative arrangements when necessary in order to meet our business partners face to
face. In addition, the political and security situation in Israel may result in parties with whom we have agreements
involving performance in Israel claiming that they are not obligated to perform their commitments under those
agreements pursuant to force majeure provisions in such agreements.

Our insurance does not cover losses that may occur as a result of an event associated with the security
situation in the Middle East or for any resulting disruption in our operations. Although the Israeli government has
in the past covered the reinstatement value of direct damages that were caused by terrorist attacks or acts of war, we
cannot be assured that this government coverage will be maintained or, if maintained, will be sufficient to
compensate us fully for damages incurred and the government may cease providing such coverage or the coverage
might not suffice to cover potential damages. Any losses or damages incurred by us could have a material adverse
effect on our business. Any armed conflicts, political instability, terrorism, cyberattacks or any other hostilities
involving or threatening Israel would likely negatively affect business conditions generally and could harm our
results of operations.

Our operations may be disrupted as a result of the obligation of Israeli citizens to perform military service.

Many Israeli citizens are obligated to perform one month, and in some cases more, of annual military reserve
duty until they reach the age of 45 (or older, for reservists with certain occupations) and, in the event of a military
conflict, may be called to active duty. In response to increases in terrorist activity, there have been periods of
significant call-ups of military reservists. It is possible that there will be military reserve duty call-ups in the future.
Any major escalation in hostilities in the region could result in a portion of our employees and service providers
being called up to perform military duty for an extended period of time. Our operations could be disrupted by such
call-ups. Such disruption could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

Because a certain portion of our expenses is incurred in currencies other than the US Dollar, our results of
operations may be harmed by currency fluctuations and inflation.

Our reporting and functional currency is the U.S. Dollar, but a portion of our operations expenses are
denominated in the New Israeli Shekel (“NIS”) — 41% or $1.4 million, in 2020. As a result, we are exposed to
some currency fluctuation risks, largely derived from our current and future engagements for payroll and lease
obligations in Israel. Fluctuation in the exchange rates of foreign currency has an influence on the cost of goods
sold and our operating expenses. For instance, from the time Marpai Health was formed to now, the NIS has
increased in value relative to U.S. dollars by over 12%, resulting in a significant increase in our operating expense.
We may, in the future, decide to enter into currency hedging transactions to decrease the risk of financial exposure
from fluctuations in the exchange rate of the currencies mentioned above in relation to the US Dollar. These
measures, however, may not adequately protect us from adverse effects.

There are costs and difficulties inherent in managing cross-border business operations.

Managing a business, operations, personnel or assets in another country is challenging and costly. Any
management that we may have (whether based abroad or in the United States) may be inexperienced in cross-
border business practices and unaware of significant differences in accounting rules, legal regimes and labor
practices. Even with a seasoned and experienced management team, the costs and difficulties inherent in managing
cross-border business operations, personnel and assets can be significant (and much higher than in a purely
domestic business) and may negatively impact our financial and operational performance.
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Employment and other material contracts we have with our Israeli employees are governed by Israeli laws. Our
inability to enforce or obtain a remedy under these agreements could adversely affect our business and
financial condition.

All employees were asked to sign employment agreements that contain confidentiality, non-compete and
assignment of intellectual property provisions. The employment agreements between EYME and its employees in
Israel are governed by Israeli laws. The system of laws and the enforcement of existing laws and contracts in Israel
may not be as certain in implementation and interpretation as in the United States, leading to a higher than usual
degree of uncertainty as to the outcome of any litigation. Our inability to enforce or obtain a remedy under any of
these or future agreements could adversely affect our business and financial condition. Delay with respect to the
enforcement of particular rules and regulations, including those relating to intellectual property, customs, tax, and
labor, could also cause serious disruption to operations abroad and negatively impact our results.

Israeli courts have required employers seeking to enforce non-compete undertakings of a former employee to
demonstrate that the competitive activities of the former employee will harm one of a limited number of material
interests of the employer which have been recognized by the courts, such as the secrecy of a company’s
confidential commercial information or the protection of its intellectual property. If we cannot demonstrate that
such interests will be harmed, we may be unable to prevent our competitors from benefiting from the expertise of
our former employees or consultants and our ability to remain competitive may be diminished.

Pursuant to Israel’s Severance Pay Law, Israeli employees are entitled to severance pay equal to one month’s
salary for each year of employment, or a portion thereof. All of the employees of EYME elected to be included
under section 14 of the Severance Pay Law, 1963 (“Section 14”) pursuant to which these employees are entitled
only to monthly deposits, at a rate of 8.33% of their monthly salary, made in their name with insurance companies.
Total expenses related to severance pay amounted to approximately $80,000 for the year ended December 31,
2020.

Investors may have difficulties enforcing a U.S. judgment, including judgments based upon the civil liability
provisions of the U.S. federal securities laws against one of our directors or asserting U.S. securities laws claims
in Israel.

One director of ours is not a U.S. citizen and many of our intellectual property assets are located outside the
United States. Service of process upon one of our directors and enforcement of judgments obtained in the United
States against one of our directors may be difficult to obtain within the United States. We have been informed by
our legal counsel in Israel that it may be difficult to assert claims under U.S. securities laws in original actions
instituted in Israel or obtain a judgment based on the civil liability provisions of U.S. federal securities laws. Israeli
courts may refuse to hear a claim based on a violation of U.S. securities laws against a director of ours because
Israel may not be the most appropriate forum to bring such a claim. In addition, even if an Israeli court agrees to
hear a claim, it may determine that Israeli law and not U.S. law is applicable to the claim. If U.S. law is found to be
applicable, the content of applicable U.S. law must be proved as a fact, which can be a time-consuming and costly
process. Certain matters of procedure will also be governed by Israeli law. There is little binding case law in Israel
addressing the matters described above. Israeli courts might not enforce judgments rendered outside Israel, which
may make it difficult to collect on judgments rendered against one of our directors.

Moreover, among other reasons, including but not limited to, fraud, a lack of due process, a judgment which is
at variance with another judgment that was given in the same matter and if a suit in the same matter between the
same parties was pending before a court or tribunal in Israel, an Israeli court will not enforce a foreign judgment if
it was given in a state whose laws do not provide for the enforcement of judgments of Israeli courts (subject to
exceptional cases) or if its enforcement is likely to prejudice the sovereignty or security of the State of Israel.

Unanticipated changes in our effective tax rate and additional tax liabilities, including as a result of our
international operations or implementation of new tax rules, could harm our future results.

We are subject to income taxes in the United States and Israel. Our domestic and international tax liabilities
are subject to the allocation of expenses in differing jurisdictions and complex transfer pricing
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regulations administered by taxing authorities in various jurisdictions. Tax rates in the jurisdictions in which we
operate may change as a result of factors outside of our control or relevant taxing authorities may disagree with our
determinations as to the income and expenses attributable to specific jurisdictions. In addition, changes in tax and
trade laws, treaties or regulations, or their interpretation or enforcement, have become more unpredictable and may
become more stringent, which could materially adversely affect our tax position.

Forecasting our estimated annual effective tax rate is complex and subject to uncertainty, and there may be
material differences between our forecasted and actual effective tax rate. Our effective tax rate could be adversely
affected by changes in the mix of earnings and losses in countries with differing statutory tax rates, certain non-
deductible expenses, the valuation of deferred tax assets and liabilities, adjustments to income taxes upon
finalization of tax returns, changes in available tax attributes, decision to repatriate non-U.S. earnings for which we
have not previously provided for U.S. taxes, and changes in federal, state, or international tax laws and accounting
principles.

Finally, we may be subject to income tax audits throughout the world. An adverse resolution of one or more
uncertain tax positions in any period could have a material impact on our results of operations or financial
condition for that period.

Risks Related to Protecting Our Technology and Intellectual Property

We rely on third-party providers, including Amazon Web Services, for computing infrastructure, network
connectivity, and other technology-related services needed to deliver our service offerings. Any disruption in the
services provided by such third-party providers could adversely affect our business and subject us to liability.

Our TopCare  program is hosted from and use computing infrastructure provided by third parties, including
Amazon Web Services, and other computing infrastructure service providers. Our computing infrastructure service
providers have no obligation to renew their agreements with us on commercially reasonable terms or at all. If we
are unable to renew these agreements on commercially reasonable terms, or if one of our computing infrastructure
service providers is acquired, we may be required to transition to a new provider and we may incur significant costs
and possible service interruption in connection with doing so.

Problems faced by our computing infrastructure service providers, including those operated by Amazon Web
Services, could adversely affect the experience of our Clients. Amazon Web Services has also had and may in the
future experience significant service outages. Additionally, if our computing infrastructure service providers are
unable to keep up with our growing needs for capacity, this could have an adverse effect on our business. For
example, a rapid expansion of our business could affect our service levels or cause our third-party hosted systems
to fail. Our agreements with third-party computing infrastructure service providers may not entitle us to service
level credits that correspond with those we offer to our Clients.

Any changes in third-party service levels at our computing infrastructure service providers, or any related
disruptions or performance problems with our product and service offering, could adversely affect our reputation
and may damage our clients’ stored files, result in lengthy interruptions in our services, or result in potential losses
of client data. Interruptions in our services might reduce our revenue, cause us to issue refunds to clients for
prepaid and unused subscriptions, subject us to service level credit claims and potential liability, allow our clients
to terminate their contracts with us, or adversely affect our renewal rates.

We rely on Internet infrastructure, bandwidth providers, data center providers, other third parties, and our own
systems for providing services to our users, and any failure or interruption in the services provided by these third
parties or our own systems could expose us to litigation, potentially require us to issue credits to our Clients, and
negatively impact our relationships with Members or Clients, adversely affecting our brand and our business.

In addition to the services we provide from our offices, we serve our Clients primarily from third-party data-
hosting facilities. These facilities are vulnerable to damage or interruption from earthquakes, floods, fires, power
loss, telecommunications failures, and similar events. They are also subject to break-ins, sabotage, intentional acts
of vandalism, and similar misconduct. Their systems and servers could also be subject to hacking, spamming,
ransomware, computer viruses or other malicious software, denial of service attacks, service disruptions, including
the inability to process certain transactions, phishing attacks and unauthorized
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access attempts, including third parties gaining access to Members’ accounts using stolen or inferred credentials or
other means, and may use such access to prevent use of Members’ accounts. Despite precautions taken at these
facilities, the occurrence of a natural disaster or an act of terrorism, a decision to close the facilities without
adequate notice, or other unanticipated problems at two or more of the facilities could result in lengthy
interruptions in our services. Even with our disaster recovery arrangements, our services could be interrupted.

Our ability to deliver our Internet- and telecommunications-based services is dependent on the development
and maintenance of the infrastructure of the Internet and other telecommunications services by third parties. This
includes maintenance of a reliable network backbone with the necessary speed, data capacity, and security for
providing reliable Internet access and services and reliable mobile device, telephone, facsimile, and pager systems,
all at a predictable and reasonable cost. We have experienced and expect that we will experience interruptions and
delays in services and availability from time to time.

We rely on internal systems as well as third-party vendors, including data center, bandwidth, and
telecommunications equipment or service providers, to provide our services. We do not maintain redundant
systems or facilities for some of these services. In the event of a catastrophic event with respect to one or more of
these systems or facilities, we may experience an extended period of system unavailability, which could negatively
impact our relationship with users or clients. To operate without interruption, both we and our service providers
must guard against:

damage from fire, power loss, and other natural disasters;

communications failures;

security breaches, computer viruses, ransomware, and similar disruptive problems; and

other potential interruptions.

Any disruption in the network access, telecommunications, or co-location services provided by these third-
party providers or any failure of or by these third-party providers or our own systems to handle the current or
higher volume of use could significantly harm our business. We exercise limited control over these third-party
vendors, which increases our vulnerability to problems with the services they provide.

Any errors, failures, interruptions, or delays experienced in connection with these third-party technologies and
information services or our own systems could negatively impact our relationships with users and clients, adversely
affect our brands and business, and expose us to third-party liabilities. The insurance coverage under our policies
may not be adequate to compensate us for all losses that may occur. In addition, we cannot provide assurance that
we will continue to be able to obtain adequate insurance coverage at an acceptable cost.

The reliability and performance of the Internet may be harmed by increased usage or by denial-of-service
attacks. The Internet has experienced a variety of outages and other delays as a result of damages to portions of its
infrastructure, and it could face outages and delays in the future. These outages and delays could reduce the level of
Internet usage as well as the availability of the Internet to us for delivery of our Internet-based services.

We typically provide service level commitments under our client contracts. If we fail to meet these
contractual commitments, we could be obligated to provide credits or refunds for prepaid amounts related to
unused subscription services or face contract terminations, which could adversely affect our results of operations.

Finally, recent changes in law could impact the cost and availability of necessary Internet infrastructure.
Increased costs and/or decreased availability would negatively affect our results of operations.

We employ third-party licensed software and software components for use in or with our TopCare  program,
and the inability to maintain these licenses or the presence of errors in the software we license could limit the
functionality of our TopCare  program and result in increased costs or reduced service levels, which would
adversely affect our business.

Our software applications might incorporate or interact with certain third-party software and software
components (other than open-source software), such as claims processing software, obtained under licenses
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from other companies. We pay these third parties a license fee or royalty payment. We anticipate that we will
continue to use such third-party software in the future.

Although we believe that there are commercially reasonable alternatives to the third-party software we
currently make available, this may not always be the case, or it may be difficult or costly to replace. Furthermore,
these third parties may increase the price for licensing their software, which could negatively impact our results of
operations. Our use of additional or alternative third-party software could require clients to enter into license
agreements with third parties. In addition, if the third-party software we make available has errors or otherwise
malfunctions, or if the third-party terminates its agreement with us, the functionality of our TopCare  program
may be negatively impacted and our business may suffer.

Any failure to protect our intellectual property rights could impair our ability to protect our proprietary
technology and our brand.

Our success and ability to compete depend largely upon our intellectual property. To date, we have three
patent applications pending in the U.S. We take reasonable steps to protect our intellectual property, especially
when working with third parties. However, the steps we take to protect our intellectual property rights may be
inadequate. For example, other parties, including our competitors, may independently develop similar technology,
duplicate our services, or design around our intellectual property and, in such cases, we may not be able to assert
our intellectual property rights against such parties. Further, our contractual arrangements may not effectively
prevent disclosure of our confidential information or provide an adequate remedy in the event of unauthorized
disclosure of our confidential information, and we may be unable to detect the unauthorized use of, or take
appropriate steps to enforce, our intellectual property rights.

We make business decisions about when to seek patent protection for a particular technology and when to rely
upon trade secret protection, and the approach we select may ultimately prove to be inadequate. Even in cases
where we seek patent protection, there is no assurance that the resulting patents will effectively protect every
significant feature of our model, technology, or proprietary information, or provide us with any competitive
advantages. Moreover, we cannot guarantee that any of our pending patent application will issue or be approved.
The United States Patent and Trademark Office and various foreign governmental patent agencies also require
compliance with a number of procedural, documentary, fee payment, and other similar provisions during the patent
application process and after a patent has issued. There are situations in which noncompliance can result in
abandonment or lapse of the patent, or patent application, resulting in partial or complete loss of patent rights in the
relevant jurisdiction. If this occurs, our competitors might be able to enter the market, which would have a material
adverse effect on our business. Effective trademark, copyright, patent, and trade secret protection may not be
available in every country in which we conduct business. Further, intellectual property law, including statutory and
case law, particularly in the United States, is constantly developing, and any changes in the law could make it
harder for us to enforce our rights.

In order to protect our intellectual property rights, we may be required to spend significant resources to
monitor and protect these rights. Litigation brought to protect and enforce our intellectual property rights could be
costly, time-consuming, and distracting to management and could result in the impairment or loss of portions of our
intellectual property. Furthermore, our efforts to enforce our intellectual property rights may be met with defenses,
counterclaims, and countersuits attacking the validity and enforceability of our intellectual property rights. An
adverse determination of any litigation proceedings could put our intellectual property at risk of being invalidated
or interpreted narrowly and could put our related pending patent applications at risk of not issuing. Furthermore,
because of the substantial amount of discovery required in connection with intellectual property litigation, there is a
risk that some of our confidential or sensitive information could be compromised by disclosure in the event of
litigation. In addition, during the course of litigation, there could be public announcements of the results of
hearings, motions or other interim proceedings or developments. If securities analysts or investors perceive these
results to be negative, it could have a substantial adverse effect on the price of our Class A common stock.
Negative publicity related to a decision by us to initiate such enforcement actions against a client or former client,
regardless of its accuracy, may adversely impact our other client relationships or prospective client relationships,
harm our brand and business, and could cause the market price of our Class A common stock to decline. Our
failure to secure, protect, and enforce our intellectual property rights could adversely affect our brand and our
business.
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We may not be able to adequately defend against piracy of intellectual property in foreign jurisdictions.

Considerable research in A.I. is being performed in countries outside of the United States, and a number of
potential competitors are located in these countries. The laws protecting intellectual property in some of those
countries may not provide adequate protection to prevent our competitors from misappropriating our intellectual
property. Several of these potential competitors may be further along in the process of product development and
also operate large, company-funded research and development programs. As a result, our competitors may develop
more competitive or affordable products, or achieve earlier patent protection or product commercialization than we
are able to achieve. Competitive products may render any products or product candidates that we develop obsolete.

We may be sued by third parties for alleged infringement of their proprietary rights or misappropriation of
intellectual property.

There is considerable patent and other intellectual property development activity in our industry. Our future
success depends in part on not infringing upon the intellectual property rights of others. Our competitors, as well as
a number of other entities and individuals, including so-called non-practicing entities (“NPEs”), may own or claim
to own intellectual property relating to our TopCare  program. Not all employees and contractors of Continental
Benefits have signed non-compete and non-disclosure agreements with the Company. From time to time, third
parties may claim that we are infringing upon their intellectual property rights or that we have misappropriated
their intellectual property. For example, in some cases, very broad patents are granted that may be interpreted as
covering a wide field of healthcare data storage and analytics solutions or machine learning and predictive
modeling methods in healthcare. As competition in our market grows, the possibility of patent infringement,
trademark infringement, and other intellectual property claims against us increases. In the future, we expect others
to claim that our TopCare  program and underlying technology infringe or violate their intellectual property rights.
In a patent infringement claim against us, we may assert, as a defense, that we do not infringe the relevant patent
claims, that the patent is invalid or both. The strength of our defenses will depend on the patents asserted, the
interpretation of these patents, and our ability to invalidate the asserted patents. However, we could be unsuccessful
in advancing non-infringement and/or invalidity arguments in our defense. In the United States, issued patents
enjoy a presumption of validity, and the party challenging the validity of a patent claim must present clear and
convincing evidence of invalidity, which is a high burden of proof. Conversely, the patent owner need only prove
infringement by a preponderance of the evidence, which is a lower burden of proof. We may be unaware of the
intellectual property rights that others may claim cover some or all of our technology or services. Because patent
applications can take years to issue and are often afforded confidentiality for some period of time there may
currently be pending applications, unknown to us, that later result in issued patents that could cover one or more
aspects of our technology and services. Any claims or litigation could cause us to incur significant expenses and,
whether or not successfully asserted against us, could require that we pay substantial damages, ongoing royalty or
license payments, or settlement fees, prevent us from offering our TopCare  program or using certain
technologies, require us to re-engineer all or a portion of our platform, or require that we comply with other
unfavorable terms. We may also be obligated to indemnify our clients or business partners or pay substantial
settlement costs, including royalty payments, in connection with any such claim or litigation and to obtain licenses,
modify applications, or refund fees, which could be costly. Even if we were to prevail in such a dispute, any
litigation regarding our intellectual property could be costly and time-consuming and divert the attention of our
management and key personnel from our business operations.

Our TopCare  program utilizes open-source software, and any failure to comply with the terms of one or more
of these open-source licenses could adversely affect our business.

We use software modules licensed to us by third-party authors under “open-source” licenses in our TopCare
program. Some open-source licenses contain affirmative obligations or restrictive terms that could adversely
impact our business, such as restrictions on commercialization or obligations to make available modified or
derivative works of certain open-source code. If we were to combine our proprietary software with certain open-
source software subject to these licenses in a certain manner, we could, under certain open-source licenses, be
required to release or otherwise make available the source code to our
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proprietary software to the public. This would allow our competitors to create similar products with lower
development effort and time and ultimately could result in a loss of sales for us.

Although we employ practices designed to manage our compliance with open-source licenses and protect our
proprietary source code, we may inadvertently use open-source software in a manner we do not intend and that
could expose us to claims for breach of contract and intellectual property infringement. If we are held to have
breached the terms of an open-source software license, we could be required to, among other things, seek licenses
from third parties to continue offering our products on terms that are not economically feasible, pay damages to
third parties, to re-engineer our products, to discontinue the sale of our products if re-engineering cannot be
accomplished on a timely basis, or to make generally available, in source code form, a portion of our proprietary
code, any of which could adversely affect our business, results of operations, and financial condition. The terms of
many open-source licenses have not been interpreted by U.S. courts, and, as a result, there is a risk that such
licenses could be construed in a manner that imposes unanticipated conditions or restrictions on our ability to
commercialize our TopCare  program.

Risks Related to Conducting our Business Under a Complex and Evolving Set of Governmental Regulations

Government regulation of healthcare creates risks and challenges with respect to our compliance efforts and
our business strategies.

The healthcare industry is highly regulated and is subject to changing political, legislative, regulatory, and
other influences. Existing and new laws and regulations affecting the healthcare industry, or changes to existing
laws and regulations, including the potential amendment or repeal of all or parts of the Affordable Care Act
(“ACA”), including the effects of court challenges or additional changes to its implementation, the possible
enactment of additional federal or state health care reforms and possible changes to other federal, state or local
laws or regulations affecting the health care industry, including expanding government-funded healthcare insurance
options or implementing a single-payer proposal (often referred to as “Medicare for All”), and also including any
such laws or governmental regulations which are adopted in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, could create
unexpected liabilities for us, cause us to incur additional costs, and restrict our operations. Reforming the
healthcare industry has been a priority for U.S. politicians, and key members of the legislative and executive
branches have proposed a wide variety of potential changes and policy goals. Certain changes to laws impacting
our industry, or perceived intentions to do so, could affect our business and results of operations.

Many healthcare laws are complex, and their application to specific services and relationships may not be
clear. In particular, many existing healthcare laws and regulations, when enacted, did not anticipate the data
analytics and improvement services that we provide, and these laws and regulations may be applied to our product
and service offerings in ways that we do not anticipate, particularly as we develop and release new and more
sophisticated solutions. Our failure to accurately anticipate the application of these laws and regulations, or our
other failure to comply with them, could create significant liability for us, result in adverse publicity, and negatively
affect our business. Some of the risks we face from healthcare regulation are described below:

False Claims Laws.    There are numerous federal and state laws that prohibit submission of false
information, or the failure to disclose information, in connection with submission (or causing the submission)
and payment of claims for reimbursement. For example, the federal civil False Claims Act prohibits, among
other things, individuals or entities from knowingly presenting, or causing to be presented, to the U.S.
federal government, claims for payment or approval that are false or fraudulent, or knowingly making, using
or causing to be made or used, a false record or statement material to a false or fraudulent claim. In addition,
the government may assert that a claim including items and services resulting from a violation of the U.S.
federal Anti-Kickback Statute constitutes a false or fraudulent claim for purposes of the civil False Claims
Act. If our advisory services to clients are associated with action by clients that is determined or alleged to
be in violation of these laws and regulations, it is possible that an enforcement agency would also try to hold
us accountable. Any determination by a court or regulatory agency that we have violated these laws could
subject us to significant civil or criminal penalties, invalidate all or portions of some of our client contracts,
require us to change or terminate some portions of our business, require us to refund portions of our
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services fees, subject us to additional reporting requirements and oversight under a corporate integrity
agreement or similar agreement to resolve allegations of noncompliance with these laws, cause us to be
disqualified from serving clients doing business with government payors, and have an adverse effect on our
business. Our Clients’ failure to comply with these laws and regulations in connection with our services
could result in substantial liability (including, but not limited to, criminal liability), adversely affect demand
for our services, and force us to expend significant capital, research and development, and other resources to
address the failure.

Health Data Privacy Laws.    There are numerous federal and state laws related to health information
privacy. In particular, the federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, as amended
by the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act (“HITECH”) and their
implementing regulations, which we collectively refer to as “HIPAA,” include privacy standards that protect
individual privacy by limiting the uses and disclosures of PHI and implementing data security standards that
require covered entities to implement administrative, physical, and technological safeguards to ensure the
confidentiality, integrity, availability, and security of PHI in electronic form. In addition to enforcement
actions initiated by regulatory bodies under HIPAA, violations or breaches caused by us or our contractors
may result in related claims against us by clients, which may be predicated upon underlying contractual
responsibilities, and by Members, which may be predicated upon tort law or state privacy claims, as HIPAA
does not contain a private right of action. HIPAA also specifies formats that must be used in certain
electronic transactions, such as admission and discharge messages and limits the fees that may be charged
for certain transactions, including claim payment transactions. By processing and maintaining PHI on behalf
of our covered entity clients, we are a HIPAA business associate and mandated by HIPAA to enter into
written agreements with our covered entity clients — known as Business Associate Agreements (“BAAs”) 
— that require us to safeguard PHI. BAAs typically include:

a description of our permitted uses of PHI;

a covenant not to disclose that information except as permitted under the BAA and to require that our
subcontractors, if any, are subject to the substantially similar restrictions;

assurances that reasonable and appropriate administrative, physical, and technical safeguards are in place to
prevent misuse of PHI;

an obligation to report to our client any use or disclosure of PHI other than as provided for in the BAA;

a prohibition against our use or disclosure of PHI if a similar use or disclosure by our client would violate
the HIPAA standards;

the ability of our clients to terminate the underlying support agreement if we breach a material term of the
BAA and are unable to cure the breach;

the requirement to return or destroy all PHI at the end of our services agreement; and

access by the Department of Health and Human Services (“HHS”) to our internal practices, books, and
records to validate that we are safeguarding PHI.

In addition, we are also required to maintain BAAs, which contain similar provisions, with our subcontractors
that access or otherwise process PHI on our behalf.

We may not be able to adequately address the business risks created by HIPAA implementation, and meet the
requirements imposed by HIPAA. Furthermore, we are unable to predict what changes to HIPAA or other laws or
regulations might be made in the future or how those changes could affect our business or the costs of compliance.
For example, in 2018, the HHS Office for Civil Rights published a Request for Information in the Federal Register
seeking comments on a number of areas in which HHS is considering making both minor and significant
modifications to the HIPAA privacy and security standards to, among other things, improve care coordination. We
are unable to predict what, if any, impact the changes in such standards will have on our compliance costs or our
product and service offerings.

We will also require large sets of de-identified information to enable us to continue to develop A.I. algorithms
that enhance our product and service offerings. If we are unable to secure these rights in Client
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BAAs or as a result of any future changes to HIPAA or other applicable laws, we may face limitations on the use of
PHI and our ability to use de-identified information that could negatively affect the scope of our product and
service offering as well as impair our ability to provide upgrades and enhancements to our services.

We outsource important aspects of the storage and transmission of client and member information, and thus
rely on third parties to manage functions that have material cyber-security risks. We attempt to address these risks
by requiring outsourcing subcontractors who handle client information to sign BAAs contractually requiring those
subcontractors to adequately safeguard PHI in a similar manner that applies to us and in some cases by requiring
such outsourcing subcontractors to undergo third-party security examinations as well as to protect the
confidentiality of other sensitive client information. In addition, we periodically hire third-party security experts to
assess and test our security measures. However, we cannot be assured that these contractual measures and other
safeguards will adequately protect us from the risks associated with the storage and transmission of client
proprietary information and PHI.

Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (“CMS”) takes the position that an electronic fund transfer
(“EFT”) payment to a health care provider is a “standard transaction” under HIPAA. As a “standard transaction”,
these provider payments may be subject to certain limitations on the fees that may be charged for an EFT payment
transaction with a health care provider. We outsource important aspects of our EFT payments to health care
providers and thus rely on third parties to manage the EFT transactions and assure that the fees charged comply
with HIPAA. The application of HIPAA to EFT payments is complex, and their application to specific value-added
services for health care providers may not be clear. Our failure to accurately anticipate the application of HIPAA’s
fee restrictions on certain standard transactions could create significant liability for us, resulting in negative
publicity, and material adverse effect on our business and operating results.

In addition to the HIPAA privacy and security standards, most states have enacted patient confidentiality laws
that protect against the disclosure of confidential medical and other personally identifiable information (“PII”) and
many states have adopted or are considering new privacy laws, including legislation that would mandate new
privacy safeguards, security standards, and data security breach notification requirements. Such state laws, if more
stringent than HIPAA requirements, are not preempted by the federal requirements, and we are required to comply
with them. In addition, the Federal Trade Commission, and analogous state agencies, may apply consumer
protection laws to the context of data privacy. For example, the Federal Trade Commission has sanctioned
companies for unfair trade practices when they failed to implement adequate security protection measures for
sensitive personal information, or when they provided inadequate disclosures to consumers about the expansive
scope of data mined from consumer activity.

Failure by us to comply with any of the federal and state standards regarding patient privacy and/or privacy
more generally may subject us to penalties, including significant civil monetary penalties and, in some
circumstances, criminal penalties. In addition, such failure may injure our reputation and adversely affect our
ability to retain clients and attract new clients.

Even an unsuccessful challenge by regulatory authorities of our activities could result in adverse publicity and
could require a costly response from us.

Anti-Kickback and Anti-Bribery Laws.    There are federal and state laws that prohibit payment for patient
referrals, patient brokering, remuneration of members, or billing based on referrals between individuals or
entities that have various financial, ownership, or other business relationships with healthcare providers. In
particular, the federal Anti-Kickback Statute prohibits offering, paying, soliciting, or receiving anything of
value, directly or indirectly, for the referral of members covered by Medicare, Medicaid, and other federal
healthcare programs or the leasing, purchasing, ordering, or arranging for or recommending the lease,
purchase, or order of any item, good, facility, or service covered by these programs. A person or entity does
not need to have actual knowledge of the statute or specific intent to violate it in order to have committed a
violation. Some enforcement activities focus on below or above market payments for federally reimbursable
health care items or services as evidence of the intent to provide a kickback. Many states also have similar
anti-kickback laws, some of which are applicable to all patients and that are not necessarily limited to items
or
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services for which payment is made by a federal healthcare program. In addition, the federal physician self-
referral prohibition  — the Stark Law — is very complex in its application and prohibits physicians (and
certain other healthcare professionals) from making a referral for a designated health service to a provider in
which the referring healthcare professional (or spouse or any immediate family member) has a financial or
ownership interest, unless an enumerated exception applies. The Stark Law also prohibits the billing for
services rendered resulting from an impermissible referral. Many states also have similar anti-referral laws
that are not necessarily limited to items or services for which payment is made by a federal healthcare
program and may include patient disclosure requirements. Moreover, both federal and state laws prohibit
bribery and similar behavior. Any determination by a state or federal regulatory agency that we or any of our
clients, vendors, or partners violate or have violated any of these laws could subject us to significant civil or
criminal penalties, require us to change or terminate some portions of our business, require us to refund
portions of our services fees, subject us to additional reporting requirements and oversight under a corporate
integrity agreement or similar agreement to resolve allegations of noncompliance with these laws, cause us to
be disqualified from serving clients doing business with government payors, and have an adverse effect on
our business. Even an unsuccessful challenge by regulatory authorities of our activities could result in
adverse publicity and could require a costly response from us.

Corporate Practice of Medicine Laws and Fee-Splitting Laws.    Many states have enacted laws prohibiting
physicians from practicing medicine in partnership with non-physicians, such as business corporations. In
addition, many states prohibit certain licensed professionals, such as physicians, from splitting professional
fees with non-licensees. As we do not engage in the practice of medicine, we do not contract with providers
to render medical care, and we do not split fees with any medical professionals, we do not believe these laws
restrict our business. Our activities involve only monitoring and analyzing historical claims data, including
our Members’ interactions with licensed healthcare professionals, and recommend the most suitable
healthcare providers and/or sources of treatment. We do not provide medical prognosis or healthcare. In
accordance with various states’ corporate practice of medicine laws and states’ laws and regulations which
define the practice of medicine, our call center staff are prohibited from providing Members with any
evaluation of any medical condition, diagnosis, prescription, care and/or treatment. Rather, our call center
staff can only provide Members with general and publicly available information that is non-specific to the
Members’ medical conditions and statistical information about the prevalence of medical conditions within
certain populations or under certain circumstances. Our call center staff do not discuss Members’ individual
medical conditions and are prohibited from asking Members for any additional protected health information
(PHI) as such term is defined under HIPAA. Our call center staff have been trained and instructed to always
inform Members that they are not licensed medical professionals, are not providing medical advice, and that
Members should reach out to their medical provider for any medical advice.

Medical professional regulation.    The practice of most healthcare professions requires licensing under
applicable state law. In addition, the laws in some states prohibit business entities from practicing medicine.
In the future, we may contract with physicians, nurses and nurse practitioners, who will assist our clients with
the clients’ care coordination, care management, population health management, and patient safety activities
that do not constitute the practice of medicine. We do not intend to provide medical care, treatment, or
advice. However, any determination that we are acting in the capacity of a healthcare provider and acted
improperly as a healthcare provider may result in additional compliance requirements, expense, and liability
to us, and require us to change or terminate some portions of our business, including the use of licensed
professionals to conduct the foregoing activities.

Medical Device Laws.    The FDA may regulate medical or health-related software, including machine
learning functionality and predictive algorithms, if such software falls within the definition of a “device”
under the federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act (“FDCA”). However, the FDA exercises enforcement
discretion for certain low-risk software, as described in its guidance documents for Mobile Medical
Applications, General Wellness: Policy for Low Risk Devices, and Medical Device Data Systems, Medical
Image Storage Devices, and Medical Image Communications Devices. In addition, in December of 2016,
President Obama signed into law the 21st Century Cures Act, which included exemptions for certain
medical-related software, including software used for administrative
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support functions at a healthcare facility, software intended for maintaining or encouraging a healthy
lifestyle, EHR software, software for transferring, storing, or displaying medical device data or in vitro
diagnostic data, and certain clinical decision support software. The FDA has also issued draft guidance
documents to clarify how it intends to interpret and apply the new exemptions under the 21st Century Cures
Act. Although we believe that our software products are currently not subject to active FDA regulation, we
continue to follow the FDA’s developments in this area. There is a risk that the FDA could disagree with our
determination or that the FDA could develop new final guidance documents that would subject our Product
to active FDA oversight. If the FDA determines that any of our current or future analytics applications are
regulated as medical devices, we would become subject to various requirements under the FDCA and the
FDA’s implementing regulations. Depending on the functionality and FDA classification of our analytics
applications, we may be required to:

register and list our A.I. products with the FDA;

notify the FDA and demonstrate substantial equivalence to other products on the market before marketing
our analytics applications;

submit a de novo request to the FDA to down-classify our analytics applications prior to marketing; or

obtain FDA approval by demonstrating safety and effectiveness before marketing our analytics applications.

The FDA can impose extensive requirements governing pre- and post-market conditions, such as service
investigation and others relating to approval, labeling, and manufacturing. In addition, the FDA can impose
extensive requirements governing software development controls and quality assurance processes.

The AI algorithm is currently manufactured in Israel by Marpai Labs. The manufacturer is in the process of
meeting all FDA importation clearance for the device. Additionally, the manufacturer is in the process of listing
itself as a manufacturer with the FDA.

The AI algorithm has undergone testing to follow the Quality System regulation (that includes cGMPs) (good
manufacturing practices) and QC controls in the design, development, AI training and testing. Marpai AI
algorithms have been validated by our R&D team to determine generalizability, accuracy and reliability and are
monitored carefully. Additionally, the algorithms were trained on large, diverse patient datasets to ensure they are
not biased and that they perform as assumed across diverse sets of patients and settings. The regulatory landscape
is evolving and FDA is in the process of issuing a comprehensive guidance on AI software which may change how
our product is regulated.

Many states have licensing and other regulatory requirements requiring licensing of businesses which provide
medical review services. These laws typically establish minimum standards for qualifications of personnel,
confidentiality, internal quality control, and dispute resolution procedures. To the extent we are governed by these
regulations, these regulatory programs may result in increased costs of operation for us, which may have an
adverse impact upon our ability to compete with other available alternatives for healthcare cost control. In addition,
new laws regulating the operation of managed care provider networks have been adopted by a number of states.
These laws may apply to managed care provider networks we have contracts with. To the extent we are governed
by these regulations, we may be subject to additional licensing requirements, financial and operational oversight
and procedural standards for beneficiaries and providers.

These laws and regulations may change rapidly, and it is frequently unclear how they apply to our business.
Any failure of our products or services to comply with these laws and regulations could result in substantial civil or
criminal liability and could, among other things, adversely affect demand for our services, force us to expend
significant capital, research and development, and other resources to address the failure, invalidate all or portions of
some of our contracts with our clients, require us to change or terminate some portions of our business, require us
to refund portions of our revenue, cause us to be disqualified from serving clients doing business with government
payors, and give our clients the right to terminate our contracts with them, any one of which could have an adverse
effect on our business. Additionally, the introduction of new services may require us to comply with additional, yet
undetermined, laws and regulations.
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The security measures that we and our third-party vendors and subcontractors have in place to ensure
compliance with privacy and data protection laws may not protect our facilities and systems from security
breaches, acts of vandalism or theft, computer viruses, misplaced or lost data, programming and human errors, or
other similar events. Under the HITECH Act, as a business associate, we may also be liable for privacy and
security breaches and failures of our subcontractors, in addition to those that may be caused by us. Even though we
provide for appropriate protections through our agreements with our subcontractors, we still have limited control
over their actions and practices. A breach of privacy or security of individually identifiable health information by a
subcontractor may result in an enforcement action, including criminal and civil liability, against us. We are not able
to predict the extent of the impact such incidents may have on our business.

Our failure to comply may result in criminal and civil liability because the potential for enforcement action
against business associates is now greater. Enforcement actions against us could be costly and could interrupt
regular operations, which may adversely affect our business. While we have not received any notices of violation
of the applicable privacy and data protection laws and believe we are in compliance with such laws, there can be no
assurances that we will not receive such notices in the future, or suffer a breach.

There is ongoing concern from privacy advocates, regulators, and others regarding data protection and privacy
issues, and the number of jurisdictions with data protection and privacy laws has been increasing. Also, there are
ongoing public policy discussions regarding whether the standards for de-identified, anonymous, or
pseudonymized health information are sufficient, and the risk of re-identification sufficiently small, to adequately
protect patient privacy. We expect that there will continue to be new proposed laws, regulations, and industry
standards concerning privacy, data protection, and information security in the United States, including the
California Consumer Privacy Act, which went into effect January 1, 2020, and similar laws which will take effect
in Colorado and Virginia in 2023. We cannot yet determine the impact that any such future laws, regulations, and
standards may have on our business. Future laws, regulations, standards, and other obligations, and changes in the
interpretation of existing laws, regulations, standards, and other obligations could impair our or our clients’ ability
to collect, use, or disclose information relating to consumers, which could decrease demand for or the effectiveness
of our platform, increase our costs, and impair our ability to maintain and grow our client base and increase our
revenue. New laws, amendments to or re-interpretations of existing laws and regulations, industry standards,
contractual obligations, and other obligations may require us to incur additional costs and restrict our business
operations. In view of new or modified federal, state, or foreign laws and regulations, industry standards,
contractual obligations, and other legal obligations, or any changes in their interpretation, we may find it necessary
or desirable to fundamentally change our business activities and practices or to expend significant resources to
modify our software or platform and otherwise adapt to these changes.

Any failure or perceived failure by us to comply with federal or state laws or regulations, industry standards,
or other legal obligations, or any actual or suspected security incident, whether or not resulting in unauthorized
access to, or acquisition, release, or transfer of personally identifiable information or other data, may result in
governmental enforcement actions and prosecutions, private litigation, fines, and penalties or adverse publicity and
could cause our clients to lose trust in us, which could have an adverse effect on our reputation and business. We
may be unable to make such changes and modifications in a commercially reasonable manner or at all, and our
ability to develop new products and features could be limited. Any of these developments could harm our business,
financial condition, and results of operations. Privacy and data security concerns, whether valid or not valid, may
inhibit market adoption of our platform.

Further, on February 11, 2019, Office of the National Coordinator for Health Information Technology
(“ONC”) and Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (“CMS”) proposed complementary new rules to support
access, exchange, and use of electronic health information (“EHI”). The proposed rules, some of which have now
been finalized and are in effect, are intended to clarify provisions of the 21st Century Cures Act regarding
interoperability and “information blocking,” and have created significant new requirements for health care industry
participants.

The CMS proposed rule focuses on health plans, payors, and health care providers and proposes measures to
enable members to move from health plan to health plan, provider to provider, and have both their clinical and
administrative information travel with them.
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The rules, some of which have recently taken effect, may benefit us in that certain EHR vendors will no longer
be permitted to interfere with our attempts at integration, but the rules may also make it easier for other similar
companies to enter the market, creating increased competition, and reducing our market share. It is unclear at this
time what the costs of compliance with the rules will be, and what additional risks there may be to our business, as
only portions of the rules have become effective.

Management has limited administrative experience obtaining and maintaining the proper licensure and
authorizations required for us to conduct TPA business.

We are required to maintain a Third-Party Administrator License in 43 states and are required to maintain
registration as a foreign corporation in every state but Delaware, where we are incorporated. Management has
limited experience in administering these licensures and authorizations. Our failure to maintain any Third-Party
Administrator License or foreign qualification to do business will prohibit us from doing business in a given state,
and/or subject us to fines and other penalties. Our inability to maintain these licenses and qualifications will restrict
our ability to conduct our TPA business or otherwise have a material adverse effect on our operations.

The healthcare regulatory and political framework is uncertain and evolving.

Healthcare laws and regulations are rapidly evolving and may change significantly in the future, which could
adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations. For example, in March 2010, the Patient
Protection and ACA was adopted, which is a healthcare reform measure that provides healthcare insurance for
approximately 30 million more Americans. The ACA includes a variety of healthcare reform provisions and
requirements that substantially changed the way healthcare is financed by both governmental and private insurers,
which may significantly impact our industry and our business. Many of the provisions of the ACA phase in over
the course of the next several years, and we may be unable to predict accurately what effect the ACA or other
healthcare reform measures that may be adopted in the future, including amendments to the ACA, will have on our
business. On December 14, 2018, a U.S. District Court Judge in the Northern District of Texas, ruled that the
individual mandate is a critical and inseverable feature of the ACA, and therefore, because it was repealed as part of
the Tax Act, the remaining provisions of the ACA are invalid as well. On December 18, 2019, the Fifth Circuit
U.S. Court of Appeals held that the individual mandate is unconstitutional and remanded the case to the lower
court to reconsider its earlier invalidation of the full ACA. Pending review, the ACA remains in effect, but it is
unclear at this time what effect the latest ruling will have on the status of the ACA. Nevertheless, upon review by
the U.S. Supreme Court, the plaintiffs in the Texas action were determined to lack standing, and as such, the case
was reversed and remanded.

Our business could be adversely impacted by changes in laws and regulations related to the Internet or changes
in access to the Internet generally.

The future success of our business depends upon the continued use of the Internet as a primary medium for
communication, business applications, and commerce. Federal or state government bodies or agencies have in the
past adopted, and may in the future adopt, laws or regulations affecting the use of the Internet as a commercial
medium. Legislators, regulators, or government bodies or agencies may also make legal or regulatory changes or
interpret or apply existing laws or regulations that relate to the use of the Internet in new and materially different
ways. Changes in these laws, regulations or interpretations could require us to modify our platform in order to
comply with these changes, to incur substantial additional costs or divert resources that could otherwise be
deployed to grow our business, or expose us to unanticipated civil or criminal liability, among other things.

In addition, government agencies and private organizations have imposed, and may in the future impose,
additional taxes, fees or other charges for accessing the Internet or commerce conducted via the Internet. Internet
access is frequently provided by companies that have significant market power and could take actions that degrade,
disrupt or increase the cost of our clients’ use of our platform, which could negatively impact our business. Net
neutrality rules, which were designed to ensure that all online content is treated the same by Internet service
providers and other companies that provide broadband services were repealed by the Federal Communications
Commission effective June 2018. The repeal of the net neutrality
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rules could force us to incur greater operating expenses or our clients’ use of our platform could be adversely
affected, either of which could harm our business and results of operations.

These developments could limit the growth of Internet-related commerce or communications generally or
result in reductions in the demand for Internet-based platforms and services such as ours, increased costs to us or
the disruption of our business. In addition, as the Internet continues to experience growth in the numbers of users,
frequency of use and amount of data transmitted, the use of the Internet as a business tool could be adversely
affected due to delays in the development or adoption of new standards and protocols to handle increased demands
of Internet activity, security, reliability, cost, ease-of-use, accessibility, and quality of service. The performance of
the Internet and its acceptance as a business tool has been adversely affected by “viruses,” “worms,” and similar
malicious programs and the Internet has experienced a variety of outages and other delays as a result of damage to
portions of its infrastructure. If the use of the Internet generally, or our platform specifically, is adversely affected
by these or other issues, we could be forced to incur substantial costs, demand for our platform could decline, and
our results of operations and financial condition could be harmed.

Risks Related to Operating as a Public Emerging Growth Company

The requirements of being a public company may strain our resources, divert management’s attention and
affect our ability to attract and retain executive management and qualified board members.

As a public company, we will be subject to the reporting requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
(the Exchange Act), the listing standards of Nasdaq and other applicable securities rules and regulations. We expect
that the requirements of these rules and regulations will continue to increase our legal, accounting, and financial
compliance costs, make some activities more difficult, time-consuming, and costly, and place significant strain on
our personnel, systems, and resources. For example, the Exchange Act requires, among other things, that we file
annual, quarterly and current reports with respect to our business and results of operations. As a result of the
complexity involved in complying with the rules and regulations applicable to public companies, our
management’s attention may be diverted from other business concerns, which could harm our business, results of
operations, and financial condition.

We also expect that being a public company and these new rules and regulations will make it more expensive
for us to obtain director and officer liability insurance, and we may be required to accept reduced coverage or incur
substantially higher costs to obtain coverage. These factors could also make it more difficult for us to attract and
retain qualified members of our board of directors, particularly to serve on our audit committee and compensation
committee, and qualified executive officers.

As a result of disclosure of information in filings required of a public company, our business and financial
condition is more visible, which may result in an increased risk of threatened or actual litigation, including by
competitors and other third parties. If such claims are successful, our business and results of operations could be
harmed, and even if the claims do not result in litigation or are resolved in our favor, these claims, and the time and
resources necessary to resolve them, could divert the resources of our management and harm our business, results
of operations, and financial condition.

The individuals who now constitute our senior management team have limited experience managing a
publicly-traded company and limited experience complying with the increasingly complex laws pertaining to
public companies. Our senior management team may not successfully or efficiently manage our transition to a
public company that is subject to significant regulatory oversight and reporting obligations.

We are an emerging growth company, and any decision on our part to comply only with certain reduced
reporting and disclosure requirements applicable to emerging growth companies could make our Class A
common stock less attractive to investors.

We are an emerging growth company, and, for as long as we continue to be an emerging growth company, we
may choose to take advantage of exemptions from various reporting requirements applicable to other public
companies but not to “emerging growth companies,” including:

not being required to have our independent registered public accounting firm attest to our internal control
over financial reporting under Section 404 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act;
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reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in our periodic reports and annual report on
Form 10-K; and

exemptions from the requirements of holding a non-binding advisory vote on executive compensation and
stockholder approval of any golden parachute payments not previously approved.

We could be an emerging growth company for up to five years following the completion of this offering. Our
status as an emerging growth company will end as soon as any of the following takes place:

the last day of the fiscal year in which we have more than $1.07 billion in annual revenue;

the date we qualify as a “large accelerated filer,” with at least $700 million of equity securities held by non-
affiliates;

the date on which we have issued, in any three-year period, more than $1.0 billion in non-convertible debt
securities; or

the last day of the fiscal year ending after the fifth anniversary of the completion of this offering.

We cannot predict if investors will find our Class A common stock less attractive if we choose to rely on the
exemptions afforded emerging growth companies. If some investors find our Class A common stock less attractive
because we rely on any of these exemptions, there may be a less active trading market for our Class A common
stock and the market price of our Class A common stock may be more volatile.

Under the JOBS Act, emerging growth companies can also delay adopting new or revised accounting
standards until such time as those standards apply to private companies.

If we are unable to implement and maintain effective internal control over financial reporting in the future, our
ability to produce accurate financial statements could be impaired, investors may lose confidence in the
accuracy and completeness of our financial reports and the market price of our Class A common stock may
decline.

Our current directors have limited experience with internal control procedures required of U.S. public
companies and no current member of our Board of Directors is considered an audit committee financial expert. On
the date of this prospectus, we appointed additional directors to our Board, at least one of whom is considered an
audit committee financial expert.

As a result of this offering, we will become subject to the information and reporting requirements of the
Securities Exchange Act and, in accordance with this law, we will file periodic reports (Form 10-K’s, Form 10-Q’s
and Form 8-K’s), proxy statements and other information with the Securities and Exchange Commission. Upon
becoming a public reporting company, we will be required to maintain internal control over financial reporting and
to report any material weaknesses in such internal control. We will also be required to establish and maintain
effective disclosure controls. In addition, beginning with our first annual report on Form 10-K following this
offering, we will be required to furnish a report by management on the effectiveness of our internal control over
financial reporting pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. We are in the process of designing,
implementing and testing the internal control over financial reporting required to comply with this obligation,
which process is time consuming, costly and complicated. In addition, our independent registered public
accounting firm will be required to attest to the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting
beginning with our annual report on Form 10-K following the date on which we are no longer an “emerging growth
company,” which may be up to five full years following the date of this offering. If we identify material
weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting, if we are unable to comply with the requirements of
Section 404 in a timely manner or assert that our internal control over financial reporting is effective, or if our
independent registered public accounting firm is unable to express an opinion as to the effectiveness of our internal
control over financial reporting when required, investors may lose confidence in the accuracy and completeness of
our financial reports and the market price of our Class A common stock could be negatively affected, and we could
become subject to investigations by the stock exchange on which our securities are listed, the SEC or other
regulatory authorities, which could require additional financial and management resources.
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There may be deficiencies with our internal controls that require improvements, and we will be exposed to
potential risks from legislation requiring companies to evaluate controls under Section 404 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002.

It may be time consuming, difficult and costly for us to develop and implement the additional internal
controls, processes and reporting procedures required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. Currently, as a small company,
we maintain our internal controls through a segregation of duties between our executive officers. With the
exception of our Chief Financial Officer, our current officers and directors have limited experience in management
of a publicly reporting company. This may be inadequate to have effective internal controls as we will rely heavily
on direct management oversight of transactions, along with the use of external legal and accounting professionals.
We may need to hire additional financial reporting, internal auditing and other finance staff in order to develop and
implement appropriate additional internal controls, processes and reporting procedures.

If we fail to comply in a timely manner with the requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
regarding internal control over financial reporting or to remedy any material weaknesses in our internal controls
that we may identify, such failure could result in material misstatements in our financial statements, cause investors
to lose confidence in our reported financial information and have a negative effect on the trading price of our
Class A common stock.

Pursuant to Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and current SEC regulations, following the consummation
of this offering, we will be required to prepare assessments regarding internal controls over financial reporting and,
furnish a report by our management on our internal control over financial reporting.

We are in the process of determining whether our existing internal controls over financial reporting systems
are compliant with Section 404. We will not be required to conduct the evaluation of effectiveness of our internal
controls until the end of the fiscal year reported upon in our second annual report on Form 10-K following this
offering. In addition, because we are a smaller reporting company, we are not required to obtain the auditor
attestation of management’s evaluation of internal controls over financial reporting.

This process of internal control evaluation and testing is likely to result in increased general and administrative
expenses and may shift management time and attention from revenue-generating activities to compliance activities.
While our management expects to expend significant resources in an effort to complete this important project,
there can be no assurance that we will be able to achieve our objective on a timely basis. If it is determined that we
are not in compliance with Section 404, we may be required to implement new internal control procedures and re-
evaluate our financial reporting. Failure to achieve and maintain an effective internal control environment or
complete our Section 404 certifications could have a material adverse effect on our ability to comply with our
periodic reporting obligations under the Exchange Act and on our stock price.

In addition, in connection with our on-going assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over
financial reporting, we may discover “material weaknesses” in our internal controls as defined in standards
established by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board, or the PCAOB. A material weakness is defined
as a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a
reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the company’s annual or interim financial statements will not
be prevented or detected on a timely basis. The PCAOB defines “significant deficiency” as a deficiency, or
combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting that is less severe than a material weakness,
yet important enough to merit attention by those responsible for oversight of the company’s financial reporting.

In the event that a material weakness is identified, we would be required to adopt and implement policies and
procedures to address such material weaknesses. We may also need to employ additional qualified personnel to
assist us in these efforts. The process of designing and implementing effective internal controls is a continuous
effort that requires us to anticipate and react to changes in our business and the economic and regulatory
environments and to expend significant resources to maintain a system of internal controls that is adequate to
satisfy our reporting obligations as a public company. We cannot assure you that the measures we will take will
remediate any material weaknesses that we may identify or that we will implement and maintain adequate controls
over our financial process and reporting in the future.
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Risks Related to Investing in Our Class A Common Stock

An active trading market may not develop for our securities, and you may not be able to sell your Class A
common stock at or above the offering price per share.

This is the initial public offering of our securities. Prior to this offering, and there was no public market for
our Class A common stock.

Our Class A common stock has been approved for listing on the NASDAQ Capital Market. However, we
cannot predict the extent to which investor interest in our company will lead to the development of an active trading
market in our Class A common stock or how liquid that market might become. If such a market does not develop
or is not sustained, it may be difficult for you to sell your shares of Class A common stock at the time you wish to
sell them, at a price that is attractive to you, or at all.

The trading market for our Class A common stock in the future could be subject to wide fluctuations in
response to several factors, including, but not limited to:

actual or anticipated variations in our results of operations;

our ability or inability to generate revenues or profit;

the number of shares in our public float; and

increased competition.

Furthermore, our stock price may be impacted by factors that are unrelated or disproportionate to our
operating performance. These market fluctuations, as well as general economic, political and market conditions,
such as recessions, interest rates or international currency fluctuations may adversely affect the market price of our
Class A common stock. Additionally, moving forward we anticipate having a limited number of shares in our
public float, and as a result, there could be extreme fluctuations in the price of our Class A common stock. The
offering price per share has been determined through negotiation between us and representatives of the underwriter
and may not be indicative of the market prices that prevail after this offering. You may not be able to sell your
Class A common stock at or above the offering price per share.

Our management has broad discretion in the use of proceeds from our offering and our use may not produce a
positive rate of return.

The principal purposes of our offering are to increase our capitalization and financial flexibility, create a
public market for our stock and thereby enable access to the public equity markets by our employees and
stockholders, obtain additional capital, and strengthen our position in the TPA market. Approximately $3.8 million
from the net proceeds of this offering may be used to service our debt obligations. We intend to use up to
approximately $3.0 million from the net proceeds of this offering to repay $3.0 million of the outstanding principal
amount plus accrued interest on the HillCour Promissory Note, approximately $0.8 million from the net proceeds
of this offering to repay $0.8 million of the aggregate principal and accrued interest outstanding on the SQN
Convertible Note, approximately $8.0 million on research and development, $2.0 million on sales and marketing.
We plan to use the remaining net proceeds for working capital, other general corporate purposes and potential
acquisitions. Our management has broad discretion over the specific use of the net proceeds we received in our
offering and might not be able to obtain a significant return, if any, on investment of these net proceeds. Investors
will need to rely upon the judgment of our management with respect to the use of proceeds. If we do not use the net
proceeds that we received in our offering effectively, our business, results of operations, and financial condition
could be harmed.

Our issuance of additional capital stock in connection with financings, acquisitions, investments, our 2021
Global Stock Incentive Plan or otherwise will dilute all other stockholders.

We may need to raise additional capital through equity and debt financings in order to fund our operations. If
we raise capital through equity financings in the future, that will result in dilution to all other stockholders. We also
expect to grant equity awards to employees, directors, and consultants under our 2021 Global Stock Incentive Plan.
As part of our business strategy, we may acquire or make investments in complementary companies, products, or
technologies and issue equity securities to pay for any such acquisition
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or investment. Any such issuances of additional capital stock may cause stockholders to experience significant
dilution of their ownership interests and the per-share value of our Class A common stock to decline.

We do not intend to pay dividends on our Class A common stock and, consequently, the ability of Class A
common stockholders to achieve a return on investment will depend on appreciation, if any, in the price of our
Class A common stock.

You should not rely on an investment in our Class A common stock to provide dividend income. We do not
plan to declare or pay any dividends on our capital stock in the foreseeable future. Instead, we intend to retain any
earnings to finance the operation and expansion of our business. As a result, Class A common stockholders may
only receive a return on investment if the market price of our Class A common stock increases.

Certain of our founding shareholders will continue to own a significant percentage of our Class A common
stock and will be able to exert significant control over matters subject to shareholder approval.

Certain of our founding shareholders, including HillCour Investment Fund, LLC, WellEnterprises USA, LLC,
Eli David, Yaron Eitan Grays West Ventures LLC and our Chief Executive Officer, Edmundo Gonzalez
collectively beneficially own more than 70% of our total voting power through an Agreement Relating to Voting
Power Between Co-Founders of Marpai, Inc. and Grant of a Power of Attorney and after this offering is completed
the Company will continue to be controlled by these shareholders. Upon the closing of this offering, these
shareholders will collectively beneficially own approximately 64.1% of the voting power of our outstanding
Class A Common Stock, or approximately 62.3% if the underwriter exercises its option to purchase additional
shares of Class A Common Stock from us in full. After this offering, these shareholders will have the ability to
substantially influence us through this ownership position. For example, these shareholders may be able to control
elections of directors, amendments of our organizational documents, or approval of any merger, sale of assets, or
other major corporate transaction. The interests of these shareholders may not always coincide with our corporate
interests or the interests of other shareholders, and these shareholders may act in a manner with which you may not
agree or that may not be in the best interests of our other shareholders. So long as these shareholders continue to
collectively beneficially own a significant amount of our equity, they will continue to be able to strongly influence
or effectively control our decisions.

As a “controlled company” under the rules of the Nasdaq Capital Market, we may choose to exempt our
company from certain corporate governance requirements that could have an adverse effect on our public
shareholders;

Certain of our founding shareholders including HillCour Investment Fund, LLC, WellEnterprises USA, LLC,
Eli David, Yaron Eitan Grays West Ventures LLC and our Chief Executive Officer, Edmundo Gonzalez
collectively beneficially own more than 70% of our total voting power through an Agreement Relating to Voting
Power Between Co-Founders of Marpai, Inc. and Grant of a Power of Attorney and Proxy more fully described
herein. Upon the closing of this offering, these shareholders will continue to own a controlling interest in us and we
will meet the definition of a “controlled company” under the corporate governance standards for Nasdaq listed
companies and we will be eligible to utilize certain exemptions from the corporate governance requirements of the
Nasdaq Stock Market. We are a “controlled company” within the meaning of Nasdaq Listing Rule 5615(c). As a
controlled company, we qualify for, and our board of directors, the composition of which is and will be controlled
by these shareholders may rely upon, exemptions from several of Nasdaq’s corporate governance requirements,
including requirements that:

a majority of the board of directors consist of independent directors

compensation of officers be determined or recommended to the board of directors by a majority of its
independent directors or by a compensation committee comprised solely of independent directors; and

director nominees be selected or recommended to the board of directors by a majority of its independent
directors or by a nominating committee that is composed entirely of independent directors.
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As long as our officers and directors, either individually or in the aggregate, own at least 50% of the voting
power of our Company, we are a “controlled company” as defined under Nasdaq Marketplace Rules.

Accordingly, to the extent that we may choose to rely on one or more of these exemptions, our shareholders
would not be afforded the same protections generally as shareholders of other Nasdaq-listed companies for so long
as these shareholders are collectively able to control the composition of our board and our board determines to rely
upon one or more of such exemptions.

We do not currently intend to rely on the “controlled company” exemption under the Nasdaq listing rules.
However, we may elect to avail ourselves of these exemptions in the future.

If you purchase our securities in this offering, you will incur immediate and substantial dilution in the book
value of your investment.

The initial public offering price is substantially higher than the net tangible book value per share of our
securities. Investors purchasing shares of Class A common stock in this offering will pay a price per share that
substantially exceeds the book value of our tangible assets after subtracting our liabilities. As a result, investors
purchasing shares in this offering will incur immediate dilution of $3.03 per share, based on the initial public
offering price of $4.00 per share.

We might not be able to maintain the listing of our Class A common stock on the NASDAQ Capital Market.

Our Class A common stock has been approved for listing on the NASDAQ Capital Market. However, there
can be no assurance that we will be able to maintain the listing standards of that exchange, which includes
requirements that we maintain our stockholders’ equity, total value of shares held by unaffiliated stockholders, and
market capitalization above certain specified levels. If we fail to conform to the NASDAQ listing requirements on
an ongoing basis, our Class A common stock might cease to trade on the NASDAQ Capital Market exchange, and
may move to the OTCQB or OTC Pink Markets operated by OTC Markets Group, Inc. These quotation services are
generally considered to be markets that are less efficient, and to provide less liquidity in the shares, than the
NASDAQ Capital Market.

Future sales of our Class A common stock, or the perception that future sales may occur, may cause the market
price of our Class A common stock to decline, even if our business is doing well.

Sales of substantial amounts of our Class A common stock in the public market after this offering, or the
perception that these sales may occur, could materially and adversely affect the price of our Class A common stock
and could impair our ability to raise capital through the sale of additional equity securities. The shares of Class A
common stock sold in this offering will be freely tradable, without restriction, in the public market, except for any
shares sold to our affiliates.

In connection with this offering, we, our officers and directors and the holders of our currently outstanding
shares of Class A common stock have agreed, subject to certain exceptions, not to sell or transfer any shares of
Class A common stock for twelve months from the date of this offering in the case of our officers and directors,
and six months from the date of this offering in the case of any other holder of our currently outstanding shares of
Class A common stock, without the consent of ThinkEquity LLC. However, ThinkEquity LLC may release these
shares from any restrictions at any time. We cannot predict what effect, if any, market sales of shares held by any
stockholder or the availability of shares for future sale will have on the market price of our Class A common stock.

Approximately 3,537,703 shares of Class A common stock may be sold in the public market by existing
stockholders on or about 181 days after the date of this prospectus, subject to volume and other limitations imposed
under the federal securities laws. Sales of substantial amounts of our Class A common stock in the public market
after the completion of this offering, or the perception that such sales could occur, could adversely affect the market
price of our Class A common stock and could materially impair our ability to raise capital through offerings of our
Class A common stock. See the section entitled “Shares Eligible for Future Trading” for a more detailed
description of the restrictions on selling shares of our Class A common stock after this offering.
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In addition, as of October 26, 2021, we had 1,422,112 options outstanding that, if fully vested and exercised,
would result in the issuance of shares of Class A common stock. All of the shares of Class A common stock
issuable upon the exercise of stock options and the shares reserved for future issuance under our 2021 Global Stock
Incentive Plan will be registered for public resale under the Securities Act. Accordingly, these shares will be able to
be freely sold in the public market upon issuance, subject to existing lock-up or market standoff agreements,
volume limitations under Rule 144 for our executive officers and directors, and applicable vesting requirements.

The market price of our Class A common stock may be volatile and may decline regardless of our operating
performance, and you may lose all or part of your investments.

The market price of our Class A common stock may fluctuate significantly in response to numerous factors,
many of which are beyond our control, including:

overall performance of the equity markets and/or publicly-listed technology companies;

actual or anticipated fluctuations in our net revenue or other operating metrics;

changes in the financial projections we provide to the public or our failure to meet these projections;

failure of securities analysts to initiate or maintain coverage of us, changes in financial estimates by any
securities analysts who follow our company, or our failure to meet the estimates or the expectations of
investors;

the economy as a whole and market conditions in our industry;

political and economic stability in Israel;

exchange rate fluctuations between U.S. dollars and Israeli New Shekel;

rumors and market speculation involving us or other companies in our industry;

announcements by us or our competitors of significant innovations, acquisitions, strategic partnerships, joint
ventures, or capital commitments;

new laws or regulations or new interpretations of existing laws or regulations applicable to our business;

lawsuits threatened or filed against us;

recruitment or departure of key personnel;

other events or factors, including those resulting from war, incidents of terrorism, or responses to these
events; and

the expiration of contractual lock-up or market standoff agreements.

In addition, extreme price and volume fluctuations in the stock markets have affected and continue to affect
many technology companies’ stock prices. Often, their stock prices have fluctuated in ways unrelated or
disproportionate to the companies’ operating performance. In the past, securities class action litigation has often
been brought against a company following a decline in the market price of its securities. This risk is especially
relevant for us because technology and healthcare technology companies have experienced significant stock price
volatility in recent years. If we face such litigation, it could result in substantial costs and a diversion of
management’s attention and resources, which could harm our business.

A possible “short squeeze” due to a sudden increase in demand of our Class A common stock that largely
exceeds supply may lead to price volatility in our Class A common stock.

Following this offering, investors may purchase our common stock to hedge existing exposure in our Class A
common stock or to speculate on the price of our Class A common stock. Speculation on the price of our Class A
common stock may involve long and short exposures. To the extent aggregate short exposure exceeds the number
of shares of our Class A common stock available for purchase in the open market, investors with short exposure
may have to pay a premium to repurchase our common stock for delivery to lenders of our Class A common stock.
Those repurchases may in turn, dramatically increase the price of our
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Class A common stock until investors with short exposure are able to purchase additional Class A common stock to
cover their short position. This is often referred to as a “short squeeze.” A short squeeze could lead to volatile price
movements in our common stock that are not directly correlated to the performance or prospects of our Class A
common stock and once investors purchase the shares of Class A common stock necessary to cover their short
position the price of our Class A common stock may decline.

If securities or industry analysts do not publish research, or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research, about
our business, our stock price and trading volume could decline.

The trading market for our Class A common stock will depend, in part, on the research and reports that
securities or industry analysts publish about us or our business. Securities and industry analysts do not currently,
and may never, publish research on our company. If no securities or industry analysts commence coverage of our
company, the trading price for our Class A common stock would likely be negatively impacted. In the event
securities or industry analysts initiate coverage, if one or more of the analysts who cover us downgrade our stock or
publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about our business, our stock price would likely decline. In addition, if
our operating results fail to meet the forecast of analysts, our stock price would likely decline. If one or more of
these analysts cease coverage of our company or fail to publish reports on us regularly, demand for our Class A
common stock could decrease, which might cause our stock price and trading volume to decline.

Provisions in our charter documents and under Delaware law could make an acquisition of our company more
difficult, limit attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current board of directors and limit the
market price of our Class A common stock.

Provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and bylaws may have the effect of
delaying or preventing a change of control or changes in our management. Our amended and restated certificate of
incorporation and bylaws, include provisions that:

permit the board of directors to establish the number of directors and fill any vacancies and newly-created
directorships; and;

provide that the board of directors is expressly authorized to make, alter, or repeal our bylaws

Moreover, Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law may discourage, delay, or prevent a change
in control of our company. Section 203 imposes certain restrictions on mergers, business combinations, and other
transactions between us and holders of 15% or more of our Class A common stock.

Our bylaws designate a state or federal court located within the State of Delaware as the exclusive forum for
certain litigation that may be initiated by our stockholders, which could limit stockholders’ ability to obtain a
favorable judicial forum for disputes with us.

Our bylaws provide, to the fullest extent permitted by law, that a state or federal court located within the State
of Delaware will be the exclusive forum for the following types of actions or proceedings under Delaware statutory
or common law:

any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf;

any action asserting a breach of fiduciary duty;

any action asserting a claim against us arising pursuant to the Delaware General Corporation Law, our
amended and restated certificate of incorporation, or our bylaws; or

any action asserting a claim against us that is governed by the internal affairs doctrine.

This exclusive forum provision will not apply to any causes of action arising under the Securities Act or the
Exchange Act or any other claim for which the federal courts have exclusive jurisdiction. Nothing in our bylaws
precludes stockholders that assert claims under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act from bringing such claims
in state or federal court, subject to applicable law. This choice of forum provision may limit a stockholder’s ability
to bring a claim in a judicial forum that it finds favorable for disputes with us or any of our directors, officers, or
other employees, which may discourage lawsuits with respect to such claims. Alternatively, if a court were to find
the choice of forum provision which will be contained in our
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bylaws to be inapplicable or unenforceable in an action, we may incur additional costs associated with resolving
such action in other jurisdictions, which could harm our business, results of operations, and financial condition.

Our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation provides that derivative actions brought on our behalf,
actions against our directors, officers, employees or agent for breach of fiduciary duty and certain other actions
may be brought only in the Court of Chancery in the State of Delaware and the stockholders shall be deemed to
have consented to this choice of forum provision, which may have the effect of discouraging lawsuits against
our directors, officers, other employees or agents.

Our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation provides that, unless we consent in writing to the
selection of an alternative forum, the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware will be the sole and exclusive
forum for any stockholder for (a) any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf, (b) any action
asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by, or other wrongdoing by, any director, officer, employee or
agent of the Company to the Company or the Company’s stockholders, (c) any action asserting a claim arising
pursuant to any provision of the Delaware General Corporation Law (“DGCL”) or the Company’s Certificate of
Incorporation or Bylaws, (d) any action to interpret, apply, enforce or determine the validity of the Company’s
Certificate of Incorporation or Bylaws, or (e) any action asserting a claim governed by the internal affairs doctrine.
The federal district courts of the United States of America shall be the exclusive forum for the resolution of any
complaint, claim or proceeding asserting a cause of action arising under the Exchange Act or the Securities Act.
Furthermore, Section 22 of the Securities Act creates concurrent jurisdiction for federal and state courts over all
suits brought to enforce any duty or liability created by the Securities Act or the rules and regulations thereunder.
Stockholders cannot waive compliance with the federal securities laws and the rules and regulations thereunder.
Any person or entity purchasing or otherwise acquiring or holding any interest in shares of our capital stock shall
be deemed to have notice of and consented to the forum provision in our Amended and Restated Certificate of
Incorporation.

The choice-of-forum provision may limit a stockholder’s ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that it
finds favorable for disputes with the Company or its directors, officers or other employees, and may result in
increased costs to a stockholder who has to bring a claim in a forum that is not convenient to the stockholder,
which may discourage such lawsuits. Although under Section 115 of the DGCL, exclusive forum provisions may
be included in a company’s certificate of incorporation, the enforceability of similar forum provisions in other
companies’ certificates or incorporation or bylaws has been challenged in legal proceedings, and it is possible that
a court could find these types of provisions to be inapplicable or unenforceable. If a court were to find the exclusive
forum provision of our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation inapplicable or unenforceable with
respect to one or more of the specified types of actions or proceedings, we may incur additional costs associated
with resolving such matters in other jurisdictions, which could materially and adversely affect our business,
financial condition and results of operations and result in a diversion of the time and resources of our management
and board of directors.
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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This prospectus contains forward-looking statements. The forward-looking statements are contained
principally in the sections entitled “Prospectus Summary,” “Risk Factors,” “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations of Marpai Pre-Acquisition”, Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations of Continental Benefits Pre-Acquisition” and
“Business.” These forward-looking statements involve a number of risks and uncertainties. Many of the following
risks are, and will be, exacerbated by the COVID-19 pandemic and any worsening of the global business and
economic environment as a result. We caution readers that any forward-looking statement is not a guarantee of
future performance and that actual results could differ materially from those contained in the forward-looking
statement. These statements are based on current expectations of future events. Such statements include, but are not
limited to, statements about future financial and operating results, plans, objectives, expectations and intentions,
costs and expenses, interest rates, outcome of contingencies, financial condition, results of operations, liquidity,
cost savings, objectives of management, business strategies, success of competing drugs, financing, potential
growth and market opportunities, product candidates, clinical trial timing and plans, clinical and regulatory
pathways for our development programs, the achievement of clinical and commercial milestones, the advancement
of our technologies and our proprietary, co-developed and partnered products and product candidates, and other
statements that are not historical facts.

In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements by terms such as “may,” “will,” “should,”
“would,” “expect,” “anticipate” “plan,” “anticipate,” “could,” “intend,” “target,” “project,” “contemplate,”
“believe,” “estimate,” “predict,” “potential” “possible” or “continue” or the negative of these terms or other similar
expressions. Forward-looking statements contained in this prospectus include, but are not limited to, statements
about:

our ability to integrate two businesses and effectively manage growth;

our ability to protect our intellectual property and continue to innovate;

our expectations around the financial performance of a combined company;

our success in retaining or recruiting, or changes required in, our officers, key employees or directors
following our offering;

the potential insufficiency of our disclosure controls and procedures to detect errors or acts of fraud;

the accuracy of our estimates regarding expenses, future revenue, capital requirements and needs for
additional financing;

the success of competing products or technologies that are or may become available;

our potential ability to obtain additional financing;

our ability to grow the business due to the uncertainty resulting from the recent COVID-19 pandemic or any
future pandemic;

our ability to comply with complex and increasing regulations by state and federal authorities;

the impact of healthcare reform legislations;

our ability to maintain the listing of our securities on Nasdaq ;

our public securities’ potential liquidity and trading;

the lack of an established market for our securities;

our expectations regarding the period during which we qualify as an emerging growth company under the
JOBS Act;

our anticipated use of the proceeds from this offering; and

our financial performance following this offering.

We have based these forward-looking statements largely on our current expectations and projections about
our business, the industry in which we operate, and financial trends that we believe may affect our
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business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations, and these forward-looking statements are not
guarantees of future performance or development. These forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of
this prospectus and are subject to a number of risks, uncertainties and assumptions described in the section titled
“Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this prospectus. Because forward-looking statements are inherently subject to risks
and uncertainties, some of which cannot be predicted or quantified, you should not rely on these forward-looking
statements as predictions of future events. The events and circumstances reflected in our forward-looking
statements may not be achieved or occur and actual results could differ materially from those projected in the
forward-looking statements. The forward-looking statements in this prospectus represent our views as of the date
of this prospectus. We anticipate that subsequent events and developments will cause our views to change.
However, while we may elect to update these forward-looking statements at some point in the future, we have no
current intention of doing so except to the extent required by applicable law. You should, therefore, not rely on
these forward-looking statements as representing our views as of any date subsequent to the date of this prospectus.

In addition, statements that “we believe” and similar statements reflect our beliefs and opinions on the
relevant subject. These statements are based upon information available to us as of the date of this prospectus, and
while we believe such information forms a reasonable basis for such statements, such information may be limited
or incomplete, and our statements should not be read to indicate that we have conducted an exhaustive inquiry
into, or review of, all potentially available relevant information. These statements are inherently uncertain and you
are cautioned not to unduly rely upon these statements.

All subsequent written or oral forward-looking statements attributable to us or any person acting on our behalf
are expressly qualified in their entirety by the cautionary statements contained or referred to in this section. We do
not undertake any obligation to release publicly any revisions to these forward-looking statements to reflect events
or circumstances after the date of this prospectus or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events, except as may
be required under applicable law. If we do update one or more forward-looking statements, no inference should be
drawn that we will make additional updates with respect to those or other forward-looking statements.

You should read this prospectus and the documents that we reference in this prospectus and have filed as
exhibits to the registration statement, of which this prospectus is a part, completely and with the understanding that
our actual future results may be materially different from what we expect. We qualify all of the forward-looking
statements in this prospectus by these cautionary statements. For all forward-looking statements, we claim the
protection of the safe harbor for forward-looking statements contained in the Private Securities Litigation Reform
Act of 1995.
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USE OF PROCEEDS

We estimate that the net proceeds from our issuance and sale of 6,250,000 shares of our Class A common
stock in this offering at an initial public offering price of $4.00 per share will be approximately $21.3 million, after
deducting the underwriting discounts and commissions and estimated offering expenses payable by us. If the
underwriters exercise their option to purchase additional shares in full to cover overallotments, if any, we estimate
that our net proceeds will be approximately $24.8 million.

The principal purposes of this offering are to obtain additional capital to support our operations, establish a
public market for our Class A common stock and facilitate our future access to the public capital markets. We
currently anticipate that we will use the net proceeds from this offering, together with our existing resources, as
follows:

We plan to use approximately $8.0 million of the net proceeds from this offering to fund our research and
development. This amount includes hiring new A.I. scientists and acquiring data from third parties. We also plan to
use approximately $2.0 million on sales and marketing.

In August 2019, in connection with an asset acquisition, Marpai Health issued a convertible note in the
principal amount of $2,930,000 (the “SQN Convertible Note”). Interest on the SQN Convertible Note accrues at
6% per annum. It becomes payable on the first day of the month after the 12-month anniversary of the earliest of
the following: (i) the consummation of an equity investment in Marpai Health’s capital stock with proceeds of at
least $10,000,000, (ii) Marpai Health having continuous positive cash flow for two consecutive calendar quarters,
or (iii) October 24, 2021, the second anniversary of the issuance of the SQN Convertible Note. We intend to use up
to approximately $0.8 million from the net proceeds of this offering to repay a portion of the principal amount plus
accrued interest on the SQN Convertible Note. We also intend to use up to approximately $3.0 million from the net
proceeds from this offering to repay the outstanding balance plus accrued interest on the HillCour Promissory Note,
and the remaining net proceeds of this offering for working capital, general corporate purposes and potential
acquisitions.

We believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents, together with the net proceeds from this offering, will
be sufficient to fund our operating expenses and capital expenditure requirements for at least the next 24 months.
The amount and timing of our actual expenditures will depend upon numerous factors, including the status of our
acquisition strategy, and other factors described under “Risk Factors” in this prospectus, as well as the amount of
cash used in our operations. We may find it necessary or advisable to use the net proceeds for other purposes, and
we will have broad discretion in the use of the net proceeds from this offering and could spend the proceeds in
ways that do not improve our results of operations or enhance the value of our stock. Pending their use, we plan to
invest the net proceeds from this offering in money market funds short- and intermediate-term, interest-bearing
obligations, investment-grade instruments, certificates of deposit or direct or guaranteed obligations of the U.S.
government.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

We have never declared or paid dividends on our Class A common stock and we do not anticipate paying any
cash dividends on our Class A common stock in the foreseeable future. Payment of cash dividends, if any, in the
future will be at the discretion of our board of directors and will depend on applicable law and then-existing
conditions, including our financial condition, operating results, contractual restrictions, capital requirements,
business prospects and other factors our board of directors may deem relevant. We currently intend to retain all
available funds and any future earnings to fund the development and growth of our business.
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CAPITALIZATION

The following table sets forth our cash and cash equivalents as well as capitalization as of June 30, 2021 as
follows:

On an actual basis;

On a pro forma basis to give effect to (i) our issuance and sale of 6,250,000 shares of our Class A common
stock in this offering at an initial public offering price of $4.00 per share, after deducting estimated
underwriting discounts and commissions, estimated offering expenses payable; (ii) conversion of the New
Notes (as defined below) and the June 2021 Notes into 908,554 shares of Class A common stock at $2.80
per share upon the consummation of this offering.

The pro forma information below is illustrative only, and our capitalization following the closing of this
offering will change based on the actual initial public offering price and other terms of this offering determined at
pricing. You should read the information in this table, together with our consolidated financial statements and the
related notes appearing elsewhere in this prospectus and the section titled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” that are included elsewhere in this prospectus by us.

Actual* Pro Forma 
Cash and cash equivalents $ 2,339,223 $ 23,691,508  

Convertible notes  5,720,161  3,226,211 
Stockholders’ equity:     

Common stock, $0.0001 par value; 227,791,050 authorized shares,
11,147,302 issued and outstanding, actual and 18,305,855 issued
and outstanding, pro forma  1,115  1,831 

Additional paid-in capital  20,154,521   44,000,040  
Accumulated deficit  (11,004,463  (11,004,463 

Total stockholders’ equity  9,151,173  32,997,408  
Total capitalization $ 14,871,334  $ 36,223,619  

The number of shares of our Class A common stock to be outstanding after this offering is based on the
11,147,302 shares of Class A common stock to be outstanding as of the date of this prospectus and excludes the
following:

1,422,112 shares of Class A common stock issuable upon the exercise of outstanding stock options, at a
weighted average exercise price of $1.77 per share;

1,637,305 shares of Class A common stock issuable upon the exercise of outstanding warrants at a weighted
average exercise price of $5.92 per share;

781,250 shares of Class A common stock issuable upon the conversion of $2.5 million of the aggregate
principal amount of the SQN Convertible Note by the holder thereof;

81,309 shares of Class A common stock reserved for future issuance under our 2021 Global Stock Incentive
Plan; and

312,500 shares of Class A common stock issuable upon the exercise of the Representative’s Warrants.

Adjusted for the 2021 Forward Split.
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DILUTION

If you invest in our Class A common stock in this offering, your ownership interest will be diluted
immediately to the extent of the difference between the initial public offering price per share of our Class A
common stock and the pro forma net tangible book value per share of our Class A common stock immediately after
this offering.

Our historical net tangible book value (deficit) as of June 30, 2021 was $(6,150,113), or $(0.55) per share of
our Class A common stock. Our historical net tangible book value (deficit) is the amount of our total tangible assets
less our total liabilities. Historical net tangible book value per share represents historical net tangible book value
(deficit) divided by the number of shares of our Class A common stock outstanding as of June 30, 2021.

After giving effect to our issuance and sale of 6,250,000 shares of Class A common stock in this offering at an
initial public offering price of $4.00 per share and after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions,
estimated offering expenses payable by us, the conversion of the New Notes and the June 2021 Notes into an
aggregate of 908,554 shares of Class A common stock, the pro forma net tangible book value as of June 30, 2021
would have been approximately $17.7 million, or approximately $0.97 per share. This represents an immediate
increase in pro forma net tangible book value per share of  $1.52 to our existing stockholders and an immediate
dilution in pro forma net tangible book value per share of approximately $3.03 to new investors purchasing Class A
common stock in this offering. Dilution per share to new investors purchasing Class A common stock in this
offering is determined by subtracting pro forma net tangible book value per share after this offering from the initial
public offering price per share paid by new investors.

The following table illustrates this dilution on a per share basis to new investors:

Public offering price per share   $4.00 
Historical net tangible book value per share as of June 30, 2021 $(0.55   
Pro forma net tangible book value per share after giving effect to this offering $ 0.97   


Dilution in as adjusted net tangible book value per share to new investors participating

in this offering   $3.03 

If the underwriters exercise their option in full to purchase an additional 937,500 shares of Class A common
stock in this offering, the pro forma net tangible book value per share after the offering would be $1.10 per share,
the increase in the net tangible book value per share to existing stockholders would be $1.65 per share and the
dilution to new investors purchasing our Class A common stock in this offering would be $2.90 per share.

The number of shares of Class A common stock to be outstanding after this offering is based on 11,147,302
shares of Class A common stock outstanding as of the date of this prospectus, and excludes:

The number of shares of our Class A common stock to be outstanding after this offering is based on the shares
of Class A common stock to be outstanding as of the date of this prospectus and excludes the following:

1,422,112 shares of Class A common stock issuable upon the exercise of outstanding stock options, at a
weighted average exercise price of $1.77 per share;

1,637,305 shares of Class A common stock issuable upon the exercise of outstanding warrants at a weighted
average exercise price of $5.92 per share;

781,250 shares of Class A common stock issuable upon the conversion of $2.5 million of the aggregate
principal amount SQN Convertible Note by the holder thereof;

81,309 shares of Class A common stock reserved for future issuance under our 2021 Global Stock Incentive
Plan; and

312,500 shares of Class A common stock issuable upon the exercise of the Representative’s Warrants.

To the extent that outstanding exercisable options or warrants are exercised, you may experience further
dilution. If all outstanding exercisable options and warrants with exercise prices below $4.00 per share were
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exercised, our as adjusted net tangible book value as of June 30, 2021 (calculated on the basis of the assumptions
set forth above) would have been approximately $20.7 million, or approximately $1.03 per share, causing
immediate dilution of $2.97 per share to new investors purchasing shares in this offering.

In addition, we may choose to raise additional capital due to market conditions or strategic considerations,
even if we believe we have sufficient funds for our current or future operating plans. To the extent that we raise
additional capital by issuing equity securities or convertible debt, your ownership will be further diluted.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS OF MARPAI, INC.

The following discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations should be read in
conjunction with our unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements for the six months ended
June 30, 2021 and 2020, and the related notes and other financial information included elsewhere in this
prospectus.

The following discussion and analysis of Marpai, Inc.’s financial condition and results of operations should be
read in conjunction with Marpai, Inc.’s audited balance sheet and the related notes and other financial
information included elsewhere in this prospectus.

Overview

Marpai, Inc. was formed as a Delaware corporation on January 22, 2021 with the intention to facilitate an
initial public offering and other related transactions in order to carry on the business of two healthcare entities,
Marpai Health and Continental Benefits LLC.

Our mission is to positively change healthcare for the benefit of (i) its future clients who are self-insured
employers that pay for their employees’ healthcare benefits and will engage us to administer the latter’s healthcare
claims, (ii) employees who receive these healthcare benefits from its future Clients, and (iii) healthcare providers
including, doctors, doctor groups, hospitals, clinics, and any other entities providing healthcare services or
products. For that purpose, on April 1, 2021 we acquired all of the equity interests of Marpai Health and
Continental Benefits (“Acquisition”).

Results of Operations

Comparison of the Six Months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

Six Months Ends June 30,     
2021 2020 Change % 

Revenue         
Net revenue $ 3,531,512  —  3,531,512  n/a 
Costs and Expenses         
Cost of revenue (exclusive of depreciation and amortization

shown separately below)  2,720,483  —  2,720,483  n/a 
Research and development  549,374  1,025,986  (476,612   -46.5 
General and administrative  2,814,950  773,223  2,041,727  264.1 
Sales and marketing  1,443,785  5,623  1,438,162  25576.4 
Information technology  731,230  —  731,230  n/a 
Facilities  226,892  —  226,892  n/a 
Depreciation and amortization  420,967  37,885  383,082  1011.2 
Total Costs and Expenses  8,907,681   1,842,717   7,064,964  383.4  
Operating Loss  (5,376,169  (1,842,717  (3,533,452  191.8 
Other income and (expenses)         
Interest expense, net  (276,033   (226,330   (49,703  22.0  
Other income  54,398  12,733  41,665  327.2 
Foreign exchange gain (loss)  (15,784  (2,188   (13,596  621.4 
Total other income (expense)  (237,419   (215,785   (21,634  10.0  
Loss before income taxes  (5,613,588  (2,058,502  (3,355,086  172.7 
Income tax expense  (150,000   —  (150,000   n/a 
Net Loss  (5,463,588  (2,058,502  (3,405,086  165.4 
Comprehensive Loss  (5,463,588  (2,058,502  (3,405,086  165.4 
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Revenues and Cost of Revenue

During the six months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, our total revenue was $3,531,512 and $0, respectively.
The revenue in the six months ended June 30, 2021 consists of Continental Benefits’ revenues from April 1, 2021,
the date of the Acquisition, through June 30, 2021 and is derived from Continental Benefits’ improved TopCare®
program adoption with new 2021 clients and for renewed clients.

Total cost of revenues consists of (i) service fees, which primarily include vendor fees associated with the
client’s benefit program selections, (ii) the direct labor cost associated with claim management and processing
services, and (iii) direct labor costs associated with providing customer support and services to the clients,
members, and other external stakeholders.

Research and Development

We incurred $549,374 of research and development expenses for the six months ended June 30, 2021
compared to $1,025,986 for the six months ended June 30, 2020, a decrease of $476,612 or 46.5% on a period-
over-period basis. The decrease is attributable to having the software development project reach the development
stage in August 2020, which resulted in a substantial portion of the software development costs being capitalized
during the six months ended June 30, 2021, while no software development costs were capitalized during the
comparative six months ended June 30, 2020.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expense increased by $2,041,727 for the six months ended June 30, 2021
compared with the six months ended June 30, 2020. The increase for the six months ended June 30, 2021 was
primarily due to an increase in accounting and legal services in the amount of $1,156,014 , related to the
Acquisition, and Continental Benefits’ general and administrative expenses from April 1, 2021, the date of the
Acquisition, through June 30, 2021 in the amount of $690,076

Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing expense increased by $1,438,162 for the six months ended June 30, 2021 as compared
with six months ended June 30, 2020. The increase for the six months ended June 30, 2021 was primarily due to an
increase of $883,413 in branding expense, and Continental Benefits’ sales and marketing expenses from April 1,
2021, the date of the Acquisition, through June 30, 2021 in the amount of $554,749.

Interest Expense, net

Interest expense, net increased by $48,516 for the six months ended June 30, 2021 as compared with the
three months ended June 30, 2020. The increase resulted from the additional interest expense related to the issuance
of convertible notes during the year ended December 31, 2020.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

As shown in the accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements as of June 30, 2021, the
Company had an accumulated deficit of $11,004,463 and had a working capital deficit of $379,410. At June 30,
2021, the Company had $2,339,223 of unrestricted cash on hand and no bank debt. We have spent most of our
cash resources on research and development activities. We have financed our operations primarily with the
proceeds from the sale and issuance of convertible promissory notes.

On April 1, 2021, pursuant to the terms of the Purchase and Reorganization Agreement, and a Note Exchange
Agreement, we issued convertible promissory notes in the aggregate principal amount of $2,198,459 (the “New
Notes”) in exchange for certain then outstanding convertible promissory notes of Marpai Health of equivalent
amount of outstanding principal and accrued but unpaid interest. The New Notes carry a simple interest rate of 8%
per annum over a two-year term and the principal and accrued and unpaid interest thereon will convert into an
aggregate of 820,365 shares of Class A common stock upon the closing of this offering, at a price that is 70% of
the per share public offering price in this offering.
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In June 2021, the Company entered into convertible debt agreements with several investors for the issuance of
convertible promissory notes in the aggregate principal amount of $300,000 (the “June 2021 Notes”). The
June 2021 Notes are due two years from the date, of issuance and accrue interest at 8% per annum, payable in cash
at maturity or convertible to shares. The outstanding principal balance and unpaid accrued interest of the notes
automatically convert upon the Company’s next equity financing round with gross proceeds to the Company of at
least $2,000,000, other than an initial public offering, into the most senior class of shares of the Company issued in
such financing round at a price per share equal to a 30% discount on the lowest price per share paid by the
investors in such a financing round. The outstanding principal amount of and accrued interest will be converted
automatically into unregistered shares of Class A common stock concurrently with the consummation of this
offering at a conversion price of $2.80 equal to 70% of the per share public offering price in this offering. At the
initial public offering price of $4.00 per share, the June 2021 Notes will convert into an aggregate of 110,547
shares of Class A common stock at the closing of the offering. Unless otherwise automatically converted upon the
initial public offering or in a financing round, the June 2021 Notes are convertible in certain situations, at a
conversion price based on a maximum company pre-money valuation of the Company $48,262,000 on a fully
diluted basis into the most senior class of stock of the Company.

On July 29, 2021, the Company issued to HillCour Investment Fund LLC a promissory note in the principal
amount of up to $3,000,000 (the “HillCour Promissory Note”). Interests on the HillCour Promissory Note accrue at
6% per annum. All outstanding principal and accrued interests thereunder shall become due and payable on the
earlier of (i) January 29, 2022, or (ii) closing of this offering. As of the date of this prospectus, $3,000,000 of the
HillCour Promissory Note has been drawn down. In connection with the issuance of the HillCour Promissory Note,
the Company also issued to HillCour Investment Fund, LLC warrants to purchase a number of unregistered Class A
common stock equal to the quotient of (i) 30% of the outstanding principal amount of the HillCour Promissory
Note as of the date of closing of this offering, divided by (ii) the per share offering price of the Class A common
stock in this offering. These warrants will be exercisable into 225,000 unregistered shares of the Company’s
Class A common stock at the closing of this offering.

Cash Flows

The following tables summarizes selected information about our sources and uses of cash and cash
equivalents for the six months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020:

Comparison of the Six Months Ended June 30, 2021 and 2020

Six Months Ended June 30
2021 2020 

Net cash used in operating activities  (4,875,909  (1,051,181 
Net cash used in investing activities  10,385,665   (31,137 
Net cash provided by financing activities  553,333  1,600,000 
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents       $ 6,063,089       $ 517,682 

Net Cash Used in Operating Activities

Net cash used in operating activities totaled $4,875,909 for the six months ended June 30, 2021, and increased
by $3,824,728 or 363.9% as compared to $1,051,181 for the six months ended June 30, 2020. Net cash used in
operating activities for the six months ended June 30, 2021 was primarily driven by our net loss of $5,463,588.

Net Cash Used in Investing Activities

A total of $10,385,665 was provided by investing activities in the six months ended June 30, 2021. The cash
was received mainly from the cash and restricted cash acquired as part of the Acquisition, offset by an amount of
$972,181 expended during the six months ended June 30, 2021 on capitalized software.
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Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities

The amounts $553,333 and $1,600,000 provided by financing activities in the six months periods ended
June 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively, were primarily related to proceeds from the sale and issuance of convertible
promissory notes to investors and proceeds from issuance of warrants.

Off Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have relationships with other organizations or process any transactions that would constitute off
balance sheet arrangements.

New Accounting Pronouncements

We have considered recently issued accounting pronouncements and do not believe the adoption of such
pronouncements will have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION 
AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS OF MARPAI HEALTH

Results of Operations

Comparison of the Year ended December 31, 2020 and the Period from February 14, 2019 (Inception) to
December 31, 2019

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

 
For the year ended 

Dec 31 2020  

For the period from 
Feb 14, 2019 
(inception) to 
Dec 31 2019   Change   % 

Revenue                
Net revenue    —    —     —    n/a 
Cost of revenue    —    —     —    n/a 
Gross Profit    —    —     —    n/a 

   n/a    n/a          
Operating Expense                
Research and development    1,840,772    674,857     1,165,915    172.8 
General and administrative    1,499,376    890,035     609,341    68.5  
Sales and marketing    27,583    21,610     5,973    27.6  
Total Operating Expense    3,367,731    1,586,502     1,781,229    112.3 
Operating Loss    (3,367,731    (1,586,502     (1,781,229    112.3 
Other income and (expenses)                
Interest expense, net    (521,140    (106,933     (414,207     387.4 
Other income    25,846    16,902     8,944    52.9  
Foreign exchange gain (loss)    (4,959    3,642     (8,601     -236.2 
Total other income (expense)    (500,253    (86,389     (413,864     479.1 
Loss before income taxes    (3,867,984    (1,672,891     (2,195,093    131.2 
Income tax expense    —    —     —    n/a 
Net Loss    (3,867,984    (1,672,891     (2,195,093    131.2 
Comprehensive Loss    (3,867,984    (1,672,891     (2,195,093    131.2 

Revenues and Cost of Revenue

During the year ended December 31, 2020 and period from February 14, 2019 (Inception) to December 31,
2019, Marpai Health did not have any revenues or cost of revenue. Marpai Health is a development stage company
with no operating history and no revenues.

Research and development

Marpai Health incurred $1,840,772 of research and development expenses for the year ended December 31,
2020 compared to $674,857 for the period from Inception to December 31, 2019, which was an increase of
$1,165,915 or 172.8% on a period-over-period basis. The increase compared with the prior period was primarily a
result of additional staffing, subcontractors and technology costs (as Software and third-party Cloud access) needed
to develop the data analytics platform and new A.I. modules. Staffing expenses comprise of payroll, benefits and
share-based compensation to employees. Subcontractor expenses comprise of service costs and share-based
compensation.

General and Administrative Expenses

Total general and administrative expense increased by $609,341 for the year ended December 31, 2020
compared with the period from Inception to December 31, 2019. The increase for the year ended December 31,
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2020 was primarily due to an increase in share-based compensation expense related to restricted stock awards
(RSAs) issued to consultants and for advisory services.

Interest Expense, net

Interest expense, net increased by $414,207 for the year ended December 31, 2020 compared with the period
from Inception to December 31, 2019. The increase resulted from the additional interest expense related to the
issuance of convertible notes during the year ended December 31, 2020.

Other Income

Other income comprises of sublease income generated from our wholly-owned Israeli subsidiary. Other
income for the year ended December 31, 2020 was $25,846 which represented an increase of $8,944, or 52.9%,
compared to other income of $16,902 for the period from Inception to December 31, 2019. The increase primarily
resulted from eight months of sublease income recognized during the period ended December 31, 2019 compared
to twelve months of sublease income recognized for the year ended December 31, 2020.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Since Marpai Health’s inception in 2019, it has generated no revenues, has incurred losses and generated
negative cash flows from operations. It has spent most of its cash resources on research and development activities.
It has financed its operations primarily with the proceeds from sale and issuance of convertible promissory notes.

As of December 31, 2020, Marpai Health believes cash on hand, the continued support from its major
investors and additional funding raised through the issuance of convertible debt will allow it to continue as a going
concern for a period of twelve months from date of the issuance of the consolidated financial statements.

Cash Flows

The following tables summarize selected information about Marpai Health’s sources and uses of cash and
cash equivalents:

Comparison of the Year Ended December 31, 2020 and the Period from February 14, 2019 (Inception) to
December 31, 2019

The following table summarizes Marpai Health’s sources and uses of cash for the year ended December 31,
2020 and the period from February 14, 2019 (Inception) to December 31, 2019:

Year Ended 
December 31,

2020

Period from Feb 14,  
2019 (inception) to 

December 31, 
2019 

Net cash used in operating activities  (1,949,279  (875,639  
Net cash used in investing activities  (554,065  (378,085  
Net cash provided by financing activities  4,075,000  1,500,000  
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents $ 1,571,656  $ 246,276  

Net Cash Used in Operating Activities

Marpai Health had no revenue for the year ended December 31, 2020 and continued to incur losses. Net cash
used in operating activities totaled $1,949,279 for the year ended December 31, 2020 and increased by $1,073,640
or 122.6% as compared to $875,639 for the period from Inception to December 31, 2019.

Net Cash Used in Investing Activities

In 2019, $308,085 was primarily used to purchase personal computing equipment, furniture and leasehold
improvement. In addition, Marpai Health paid $70,000 as part of a large software system purchase financed mostly
by a convertible note.
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Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities

The amounts $4,075,000 and $1,500,000 provided by financing activities in the year ended December 31,
2020 and the period ended December 31, 2019, respectively, were primarily related to proceeds from the sale and
issuance of convertible promissory notes to investors.

Net Cash Used in Operating Activities

Marpai Health had no revenue for the year ended December 31, 2020 and continued to incur losses. Net cash
used in operating activities totaled $1,949,279 for the year ended December 31, 2020 and increased by $1,073,640
or 122.6% as compared to $875,639 for the period from Inception to December 31, 2019.

Net Cash Provided by Investing Activities

Marpai Health used $554,065 in cash in the year ended December 31, 2020 for capitalized software
development costs, as compared with $378,085 cash used for capitalized software in the period from Inception to
December 31, 2019.

Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities

The amounts $4,075,000 and $1,500,000 provided by financing activities in the year ended December 31,
2020 and the period from Inception to December 31, 2019, respectively, were primarily related to proceeds from
the sale and issuance of convertible promissory notes to investors.

Off Balance Sheet Arrangements

Marpai Health does not have relationships with other organizations or process any transactions that would
constitute off balance sheet arrangements.

New Accounting Pronouncements

Marpai Health has considered recently issued accounting pronouncements and does not believe the adoption
of such pronouncements will have a material impact on its financial statements.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Management’s discussion and analysis of Marpai Health’s financial condition and results of operations is
based on the audited consolidated financial statements and unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial
statements, each of which are included elsewhere in this prospectus. The preparation of these consolidated financial
statements requires management to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities, the disclosure of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of
revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Marpai Heath bases its estimates on historical and anticipated
results, trends and various other assumptions that it believes are reasonable under the circumstances, including
assumptions as to future events. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Management considers accounting estimates to be critical if both (i) the nature of the estimate or assumption
is material due to the levels of subjectivity and judgment involved, and (ii) the impact within a reasonable range of
outcomes of the estimate and assumption is material to the Marpai Health’s financial condition.

Management believes the following addresses the most critical accounting policies and estimates, which are
those that are most important to the portrayal of Marpai Health’s financial condition and results of operations and
require management’s most difficult, subjective and complex judgments.

Capitalized Software

Marpai Health complies with the guidance of ASC Topic 350-40, “Intangibles — Goodwill and Other — 
Internal Use Software”, in accounting for its internally developed system projects that it utilizes to
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provide its services to customers. These system projects generally relate to Marpai Health’s software that is not
intended for sale or otherwise marketed. Internal and external costs incurred during the preliminary project stage
are expensed as they are incurred. Once a project has reached the development stage, Marpai Health capitalizes
direct internal and external costs until the software is substantially complete and ready for its intended use. Costs
for upgrades and enhancements are capitalized, whereas, costs incurred for maintenance are expensed as incurred.
These capitalized software costs are amortized on a project by- project basis over the expected economic life of the
underlying software on a straight-line basis, which is generally three years. Amortization commences when the
software is available for its intended use.

Income Taxes

Marpai Health follows ASC Topic 740-10-65-1 in accounting for uncertainty in income taxes by prescribing
rules for recognition, measurement and classification in financial statements of tax positions taken or expected to
be in a tax return. This prescribes a two-step process for the financial statement measurement and recognition of a
tax position. The first step involves the determination of whether it is more likely than not (greater than 50 percent
likelihood) that a tax position will be sustained upon examination, based on the technical merits of the position.
The second step requires that any tax position that meets the more likely than not recognition threshold be
measured and recognized in the financial statements at the largest amount of benefit that is a greater than
50 percent likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement. This topic also provides guidance on the
accounting for related interest and penalties, financial statement classification and disclosure. Marpai Health’s
policy is that any interest or penalties related to uncertain tax positions are recognized in income tax expense when
incurred. Marpai Health has no uncertain tax positions or related interest or penalties requiring accrual at
September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019.

New Accounting Pronouncements

In August 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-06, Accounting for Convertible Instruments and Contracts in an
Entity’s Own Equity, which simplifies the guidance on the issuer’s accounting for convertible debt instruments by
removing the separation models for (1) convertible debt with a cash conversion feature and (2) convertible
instruments with a beneficial conversion feature. As a result, entities will not separately present in equity an
embedded conversion feature in such debt. Instead, they will account for a convertible debt instrument wholly as
debt, unless certain other conditions are met. The elimination of these models will reduce reported interest expense
and increase reported net income for entities that have issued a convertible instrument that was within the scope of
those models before the adoption of ASU 2020-06. ASU 2020-06 also requires that the effect of potential share
settlement be included in the diluted EPS calculation when an instrument may be settled in cash or share. This
amendment removes current guidance that allows an entity to rebut this presumption if it has a history or policy of
cash settlement. Furthermore, ASU 2020-06 requires the application of the if converted method for calculating
diluted earnings per share, as the treasury stock method will be no longer available. In addition, ASU 2020-06
clarifies that an average market price should be used to calculate the diluted EPS denominator in cases in which the
exercise prices may change on the basis of an entity’s share price or changes in the entity’s share price may affect
the number of shares that may be used to settle a financial instrument and that an entity should use the weighted-
average share count from each quarter when calculating the year-to-date weighted-average share. The provisions of
ASU 2020-06 are applicable for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2021, with early adoption permitted no
earlier than fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020. Marpai Health is currently evaluating the impact of
ASU 2020-06 on its condensed consolidated financial statements.

In March 2020, the FASB issued ASU No. 2020-04, “Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Facilitation of the
Effects of Reference Rate Reform on Financial Reporting.” ASU No. 2020-04 provides guidance on optional
expedients for a limited time to ease the operational burden in accounting for (or recognizing the effects of)
reference rate reform (LIBOR) on financial reporting. This guidance is effective upon the ASUs issuance on
March 12, 2020 and companies may elect to apply the amendments prospectively through December 31, 2022.
Marpai Health’s credit facilities already contain comparable alternative reference rates that would automatically
take effect upon the LIBOR phase out, and it is also reviewing its commercial contracts that may utilize LIBOR as
a reference rate. Marpai Health is currently evaluating the potential effects of this guidance on its condensed
consolidated financial statements.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION 
AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS OF CONTINENTAL BENEFITS

The following summary consolidated statements of operations data for the fiscal years ended December 31,
2020 and 2019 have been derived from Continental Benefits’ audited consolidated financial statements included
elsewhere in this prospectus. The historical financial data presented below is not necessarily indicative of
Continental Benefits’ financial results in future periods.. You should read the summary consolidated financial data
in conjunction with those financial statements and the accompanying notes and “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.” Continental Benefits’ condensed consolidated
financial statements are prepared and presented in accordance with United States generally accepted accounting
principles, or U.S. GAAP. Our condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a basis
consistent with our audited financial statements and include all adjustments, consisting of normal and recurring
adjustments that we consider necessary for a fair presentation of the financial position and results of operations as
of and for such periods. This discussion includes forward-looking statements based upon current expectations that
involve risks and uncertainties, such as plans, objectives, expectations, and intentions. Actual results and the
timing of events could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of a
number of factors. See “Forward-Looking Statements.”

Business Overview

Continental Benefits provides benefits outsourcing services to clients in the United States across multiple
industries. Continental Benefits’ backroom administration and third-party administration (“TPA”) services are
supported by a customized technology platform and a dedicated benefits call center. Under its TPA platform,
Continental Benefits provides health and welfare administration, dependent eligibility verification, Consolidated
Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act (“COBRA”) administration, and benefit billing services. Continental Benefits
is a Florida limited liability company formed in November 2013.

Continental Benefits is one of the largest independent TPA’s servicing the self-insured market in the United
States, consisting of a fully integrated billing and enrollment platform, claims administration, and customer service
to administer the TPA services. TPA services are typically measured as Enrolled Employee “EE” Lives or
Employee Lives. The term “EE” refers to the enrolled employees in a client benefit program (and may also be
referred to as “client lives”). Most Services are priced on a Per Employee Per Month (“PEPM”) basis with a
smaller number of services priced on a Per Member Per Month (“PMPM”) basis. Members are the employees and
their dependents that are enrolled in a client benefit program. Continental engages primarily in selling health
benefit programs and customer relationship activities for contracted clients with the primary focus of reducing the
overall cost of healthcare while maintaining or improving the quality of care. In mid-2018, Continental introduced
a revolutionary new product called TopCare® whereby members are referred to high quality providers (using a
proprietary ratings system), which we believe leads to better quality and typically a lower overall cost of a medical
episode.

Impact of COVID-19 Pandemic

On March 11, 2020, the World Health Organization declared the outbreak of a respiratory disease caused by a
new coronavirus a pandemic. First identified in late 2019 and known now as COVID-19, the outbreak has
impacted thousands of individuals worldwide. In response, many countries have implemented measures to combat
the outbreak that have impacted global business operations. Subsequent to the consolidated balance sheet date,
there has been no significant impact to Continental Benefits’ operations, and Continental Benefits is operating at
normal levels. Continental Benefits has responded to the outbreak by executing its Business Continuity Plan and
implemented an enhanced Work from Home program. No impairments were recorded as of the consolidated
balance sheet date; however, due to significant uncertainty surrounding the situation, Marpai, Inc.’s management’s
judgment regarding this could change in the future. In addition, while the Continental Benefits’ results of
operations, cash flows, and financial condition could be negatively impacted, the extent of the impact cannot be
reasonably estimated at this time.

Contingencies

The Company has been charged certain administrative tax penalties by the IRS related to prior year 1099 tax
filings. In March 2021, the Company received a favorable ruling from the IRS waiving the 2018 tax
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year penalty of $678,780. Based on the opinion of the Company’s counsel, although the Company is in the process
of appealing the remaining tax years, the full amount of the remaining penalties and interest of $853,405 has been
accrued as of March 31, 2021. In June 2021, the Company received written confirmation from the IRS that all
outstanding penalties have been waived and that nothing is due to the IRS from the Company. The Company has
completely reversed the accrual as of June 30, 2021.

Results of Operations

Comparison of the year ended December 31, 2020 to the year ended December 31, 2019

Our financial results for the year ended December 31, 2020 are summarized as follows in comparison to the
year ended December 31, 2019:

  Years Ended December 31,    
  2020   2019  Increase/(Decrease) % Var 

Net Sales   $ 18,388,192    $ 20,327,320   $ (1,939,128  (9.5  
Cost and expenses            

Cost of revenue (exclusive of depreciation and 
amortization shown separately below)    13,931,008     15,463,042   (1,532,034  (9.9  

Administrative    8,700,352    6,314,695  2,385,657  37.8 
Information Technology    4,223,350    5,440,224  (1,216,874  (22.4 
Sales and Marketing    2,724,368    3,562,888  (838,520  (23.5 
Facilities    762,649    659,006  103,643  15.7 
Depreciation and amortization    596,152    505,719  90,433  17.9 

Total costs and expenses    30,937,879     31,945,574   (1,007,695  (3.2  
Operating Loss   $(12,549,687   $(11,618,254  $ (931,433  8.0 
Other Non Operating Income            

Interest Income    11,506    129,085  (117,579  (91.1 
Other Income    —    2,600  (2,600  (100.0  

Total Non Operating Income    11,506    131,685  (120,179  (91.3 
Net Loss   $(12,538,181   $(11,486,569  $ (1,051,612  9.2 

Revenue

Total net sales for 2020 were $18.4 million, a decrease of 9.5% compared to $20.3 million for the year ended
December 31, 2019. The decline in net sales was attributable to a 25% decrease in client volume from 2019
partially offset by an increase in services selected by our clients. The increase in services was mainly driven by our
improved TopCare® program adoption with new 2020 clients and for our renewed clients.

Costs and expenses

Total cost of revenues consists of (1) service fees, which primarily include vendor fees associated with the
client’s benefit program selections, (2) the direct labor cost associated with claim management and processing
services, and (3) direct labor costs associated with providing customer support and services to the clients, members,
and other external stakeholders. Total cost of revenue decreased 10% to $13.9 million for the year ended
December 31, 2020 compared to $15.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2019. This decrease was driven by
the reduction of service fees and direct labor expense in claims and member services, as a response to the decline in
client lives and claim volume activity.

Expenses (excluding costs of revenue) for the year ended December 31, 2020 were $17.0 million, as compared
to $16.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2019. The increase is primarily attributable to the following:
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Administrative expenses, which consist of leadership, compliance, accounting, and indirect/secondary
labor expenses increased 37.8%, largely due to the movement of plan configuration responsibilities from
information technology to administration. The Company also increased its headcount in compliance,
quality and internal audit.

Information technology declined 22.4% from 2019 to 2020 primarily due to a decline in overall labor
expense due to the shift of configuration services as well as efficiencies from previously implemented
automated software initiatives and cost containment projects in 2020.

Sales and marketing expenses decreased by 23.5%, or a total cost of $2.7 million for the year ended
December 31, 2020 compared to $5.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2019. The reduction was
attributed to a decrease in sales management headcount as well as the decline in travel and entertainment
expenses due to the impacts of COVID-19 travel restrictions.

Operating loss

Operating loss for the year ended December 31, 2020 was $12.5 million , as compared to a loss of $11.6
million for the year ended December 31, 2019. This represents a decrease of 8% or $0.9 million.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Liquidity and Capital Resources as of and for the Year Ended December 31, 2020

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a basis, which contemplates the
realization of assets and the satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course of business. As shown in the
accompanying consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2020, Continental Benefits had an
accumulated deficit of $56,642,692 and had working capital of $3,535,800. At December 31, 2020, Continental
Benefits had $6,982,163 of unrestricted cash on hand and no bank debt. Continental Benefits has historically met
its cash needs through a combination of cash flows from operating activities, and periodic contributions from its
member. Continental Benefits’ cash requirements are generally for operating activities.

Working Capital

December 31,
2020 2019 

Total Current Assets $14,143,967  $13,890,771  
Total Current Liabilities  10,608,167   6,439,772 
Working Capital $ 3,535,800 $ 7,450,999 

Cash Flows

Years Ended December 31,
2020 2019 

Net loss $(12,538,181 $(11,486,569 
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities $ 5,713,453 $ (1,444,029 
Net cash used in investing activities  (234,126   (226,670  
Net cash provided by financing activities  8,830,295  9,323,253 
Net increase (decrease) in cash and restricted cash $ 1,771,441 $ (3,834,015 

Net Cash Used in Operating Activities

Continental Benefits used net cash in operating activities of $6,824,728 and $12,930,598 for the years ended
December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. Net cash used in operating activities for the year ended December 31,
2020 was primarily driven by the net loss of $12,538,181, offset by an increase in accrued
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liabilities of $4,558,747. Net cash used in operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2019 was primarily
driven by the net loss of $11,486,569.

Net Cash Used in Investing Activities

Continental Benefits used net cash in investing activities of $234,126 and $226,670 for the years ended
December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively, primarily for the purchase of property and equipment.

Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities

The $8,830,295 and $9,323,253 provided by financing activities for the years ended December 31, 2020 and
2019, respectively, was related to proceeds from capital contributions.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our significant accounting policies are more fully described in the notes to our financial statements. We
believe that the accounting policies below are critical for one to fully understand and evaluate our financial
condition and results of operations.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognized when control of the promised services is transferred to Continental Benefits’ customers
in an amount that reflects the consideration expected to be entitled to in exchange for those services. As Continental
Benefits completes its performance obligations, which are identified below, it has an unconditional right to
consideration, as outlined in Continental Benefits’ contracts. Generally, Continental Benefits’ accounts receivable
are expected to be collected in 30 days in accordance with the underlying payment terms.

Software Development Costs

Continental Benefits accounts for costs incurred in the development of computer software as software
research and development costs until the preliminary project stage is completed. Direct costs incurred in the
development of software are capitalized once the preliminary project stage is completed, management has
committed to funding the project, and completion and use of the software for its intended purpose is probable.
Continental Benefits ceases capitalization of development costs once the software has been substantially completed
and is ready for its intended use.

Software development costs are amortized over their estimated useful lives, generally three years.
Amortization commences when the software is available for its intended use. Costs associated with upgrades and
enhancements that result in additional functionality are capitalized. Capitalized costs are subject to an ongoing
assessment of recoverability based on anticipated future revenue and changes in software technologies.
Unamortized capitalized software development costs determined to be in excess of anticipated future net revenue
are impaired and expensed during the period of such determination. The Company capitalized approximately $0
and $37,000 of internally developed software costs during the three months ended March 31, 2021 and 2020,
respectively.

Income Taxes

Continental Benefits is treated as a partnership for federal income tax purposes. Consequently, federal income
taxes are not payable or provided for by Continental Benefits. Taxable income and losses are reported on the
income tax returns of Continental Benefits’ member, and no provision for federal income taxes has been recorded
in the accompanying financial statements.

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

On January 1, 2020, the Company adopted the requirements of Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2016-
02, Leases (Topic 842) and elected the optional transition method to apply the transition provisions from the
effective date of adoption. There was no cumulative-effect adjustment to beginning retained earnings as a result of
adopting ASC 842. The objective of this ASU, along with several related ASUs
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issued subsequently, is to increase transparency and comparability between organizations that enter into lease
agreements. For lessees, the key difference of the new standard from the previous guidance (Topic 840) is the
recognition of a right-of-use (ROU) asset and lease liability on the balance sheet. The most significant change is the
requirement to recognize ROU assets and lease liabilities for leases classified as operating leases. The standard
requires disclosures to meet the objective of enabling users of financial statements to assess the amount, timing,
and uncertainty of cash flows arising from leases.

In April 2019, the FASB issued ASU No. 2019-04 “Codification Improvements to Topic 326, Financial
Instruments — Credit Losses, Topic 815, Derivatives and Hedging, and Topic 825, Financial Instruments.” ASU
No. 2019-04 was issued as part of the FASB’s ongoing project to improve upon its ASC, and to clarify and
improve areas of guidance related to recently issued standards on credit losses, hedging, and recognition and
measurement. This guidance contains several effective dates but is applicable to the Company’s fiscal year
beginning January 1, 2020. The adoption of this guidance did not have a material impact on its consolidated
financial statements.

In November 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-18, “Collaborative Arrangements (Topic 808):
Clarifying the Interaction between Topic 808 and Topic 606.” ASU No. 2018-18 was issued to resolve the
diversity in practice concerning the manner in which entities account for transactions based on their assessment of
the economics of a collaborative arrangement. This guidance is effective for public business entities for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2019, and for interim periods within those fiscal years, with early adoption
permitted. This guidance is applicable to the Company’s fiscal year beginning January 1, 2020. The adoption of
this guidance did not have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.

In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-13, Fair Value Measurements (Topic 820): Disclosure
Framework Changes to the Disclosure Requirements for Fair Value Measurement. The amendments in this update
modify the disclosure requirements on fair value measurements in Topic 820. The ASU is effective for public
business entities for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019, and interim periods therein. Early adoption is
permitted. The adoption of this standard did not have any material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial
statements or any component of member’s equity.

In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-15, “Intangibles — Goodwill and Other — Internal-Use
Software (Subtopic 350-40): Customer’s Accounting for Implementation Costs Incurred in a Cloud Computing
Arrangement That Is a Service Contract (a consensus of the FASB Emerging Issues Task Force).” ASU No. 2018-
15 aligns the requirements for capitalizing implementation costs incurred in a hosting arrangement that is a service
contract with the requirements for capitalizing implementation costs incurred to develop or obtain internal-use
software (and hosting arrangements that include an internal-use software license). This guidance is effective for
public business entities for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019, and for interim periods within those
fiscal years, with early adoption permitted. This guidance is applicable to the Company’s fiscal year beginning
January 1, 2020. The adoption of this guidance did not have a material impact on its consolidated financial
statements.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In March 2020, the FASB issued ASU No. 2020-04, “Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Facilitation of the
Effects of Reference Rate Reform on Financial Reporting.” ASU No. 2020-04 provides guidance on optional
expedients for a limited time to ease the operational burden in accounting for (or recognizing the effects of)
reference rate reform (LIBOR) on financial reporting. This guidance is effective upon the ASUs issuance on
March 12, 2020 and companies may elect to apply the amendments prospectively through December 31, 2022. The
Company is reviewing its commercial contracts that may utilize LIBOR as a reference rate. The Company is
currently evaluating the potential effects of this guidance on its consolidated financial statements.
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BUSINESS

The business described below is that of the combined business, which includes Marpai Health’s technologies
and A.I. modules, as well as the business of the healthcare payer, Continental Benefits. “Purchase and
Reorganization Agreement” refers to the Amended and Restated Equity Interest Purchase and Reorganization
Agreement dated April 1, 2021, by and among Marpai, Inc. (“Buyer”), Marpai Health, all stockholders of Marpai
Health (“Marpai Stockholders”), holders of convertible notes of Marpai Health (“Marpai Noteholders,” and
collectively with the Marpai Stockholders, the “Marpai Sellers”), Continental Benefits, LLC (“Continental
Benefits”), WellEnterprises USA, LLC (the “Company Seller” and collectively with the Marpai Sellers, the
“Sellers”) and HillCour for the purpose of joinder, to effectuate Marpai, Inc.’s Acquisition of Marpai Health and
Continental Benefits. “Effective Time” refers to the time of the closing of the Acquisition pursuant to the Purchase
and Reorganization Agreement. “Transaction Document” refers to any agreement, certificate or instrument
delivered by a party under or in connection with the Purchase and Reorganization Agreement.

Marpai Health

Marpai Health, Inc. (originally named “CITTA, Inc.”) was founded in February 2019 as a Delaware
corporation. Together with its wholly-owned subsidiary, EYME Technologies Ltd., founded in March 2019 in
Israel (“EYME,” and collectively with Marpai Health, Inc., “Marpai Health”), Marpai Health engages in
developing and marketing artificial intelligence (“A.I.”) and healthcare technology to analyze data with the goal of
predicting and preventing costly healthcare events related to chronic conditions and expensive medical and surgical
procedures.

In August 2019, Marpai Health entered into an asset purchase agreement to acquire a software system and big
data analytics platform for research, analysis and prediction of security related events using A.I. for law
enforcement agencies (the “Purchased Assets”). The purchase price of the Purchased Assets was $3,250,000,
consisting of $70,000 in cash, 31,250 shares of Marpai Health’s common stock, and the SQN Convertible Note in
the aggregate principal amount of $2,930,000. Marpai Health has since customized the acquired software system
and technology platform and built new A.I. modules on it for the purposes of porting the system to the cloud and
making it available in a software as a service (“SaaS”) model to allow for usage in the healthcare industry and
compliance with healthcare privacy and security regulations.

Marpai Health is a development stage company with no operating history. EYME serves as Marpai Health’s
research and development center with nine A.I. and software researchers and engineers in Israel. For the
twelve months ended December 31, 2020, Marpai Health reported no revenues and a net loss of approximately
$3.9 million. As of December 31, 2020, Marpai Health reported total assets of approximately $6.5 million, of
which approximately $3.8 million represented capitalized software. At March 31, 2021, Marpai Health had an
accumulated deficit of $7.1 million, working capital deficit of $2.7 million and total debt of approximately
$9.6 million.

Continental Benefits

Continental Benefits, LLC was founded in Florida as a limited liability company in November 2013
(“Continental Benefits”). Continental Benefits is a wholly owned subsidiary of WellEnterprises USA, LLC which
was founded in 2012. Continental Benefits provides benefits outsourcing services to clients in the U.S. across
multiple industries. Continental Benefits’ backroom administration and third-party administration (“TPA”) services
are supported by a customized technology platform and a dedicated benefits call center. Under its TPA platform
and TopCare® program, Continental Benefits provides health and welfare administration, dependent eligibility
verification, Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act (“COBRA”) administration, and benefit billing.

For the twelve months ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, Continental Benefits reported net revenues of
approximately $18.4 million and $20.3 million, respectively, and a net loss of approximately $12.5 million and
$11.5 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2020 and March 31, 2021, Continental Benefits had an
accumulated deficit of approximately $56.6 million and $58.4 million, respectively. WellSystems is a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Continental Benefits. WellSystems had no significant activity for the years ended
December 31, 2020 and 2019, and for the three months ended March 31, 2021.
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In September 2019, Marpai Health began to approach TPAs in an effort to commercialize its technology.
Sharing the vision of bringing to market a healthcare “payor of the future” by using advanced A.I. technology in the
TPA business, Marpai Health and Continental Benefits started to have discussions about information exchange,
and joint development in December 2019 and Continental Benefits has been serving as Marpai Health’s A.I.
products design partner ever since. Based on the data collected by Continental Benefits, Marpai Health developed
various A.I. modules as well as a delivery system for its healthcare predictions. In August 2020, Marpai Health
started to explore long-term strategic opportunities with Continental Benefits. In September 2020, the parties
entered into a letter of intent pursuant to which Marpai Health will acquire Continental Benefits. On April 1, 2021,
pursuant to the terms of the Purchase and Reorganization Agreement, the stockholders of Marpai Health and the
sole member of Continental Benefits contributed their respective securities and ownership interests in Marpai
Health and Continental Benefits to Marpai, Inc. for a combination of shares of Class A common stock and Class B
common stock of Marpai, Inc. (the “Acquisition”). Options to purchase 1,027,602 shares of Marpai Health
common stock and warrants to purchase 1,366,746 shares of Marpai Health common stock were exchanged, on a
one to one basis, for options and warrants to purchase shares of our Class A common stock. In addition, pursuant to
a Note Exchange Agreement, we issued New Notes in the aggregate principal amount of $2,198,459 in exchange
for certain then outstanding convertible promissory notes of Marpai Health of equivalent amount of outstanding
principal and accrued but unpaid interest. The SQN Convertible Note remains outstanding. For details on the
Acquisition, see section titled, “Business — Marpai, Inc.’s Acquisition of Marpai Health and Continental Benefits”
below.

The healthcare industry is highly regulated and the criteria are often vague, and subject to change and
interpretation by various federal and state legislatures, courts, enforcement and regulatory authorities. Only a
treating physician can determine the condition and appropriate treatment for any individual patient. Future
prospects of the combined company are subject to the legal, regulatory, commercial and scientific risks. Marpai
Health has not been profitable since inception, and Continental Benefits has incurred significant losses for the past
three years. The combined company may continue to incur operating losses for at least the next twelve months. See
the section titled “Risk Factors.”

Marpai, Inc.’s Acquisition of Marpai Health and Continental Benefits

The following is a summary of the material terms of the Purchase and Reorganization Agreement. The
Purchase and Reorganization Agreement contains representations and warranties that Marpai, Inc., on the one
hand, and the Sellers on the other hand, have made to one another as of specific dates. The assertions embodied in
the representations and warranties are qualified by information in confidential disclosure schedules exchanged by
the parties. Some of these schedules contain information that modifies, qualifies and creates exceptions to the
representations and warranties set forth in the Purchase and Reorganization Agreement.

The following summary has been included in this prospectus to provide you with information regarding the
terms of the Acquisition, does not purport to be complete, and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the
Purchase and Reorganization Agreement.

General

On April 1, 2021, pursuant to the terms of the Purchase and Reorganization Agreement, the stockholders of
Marpai Health and Continental Benefits contributed their respective ownership interests in Marpai Health and
Continental Benefits to Marpai, Inc. for a combination of shares of our Class A common stock and Class B
common stock (collectively, “Common Stock”) of Marpai, Inc. (the “Acquisition”). Options to purchase 1,027,602
shares of Marpai Health common stock and warrants to purchase 1,366,746 shares of Marpai Health common stock
were exchanged, on a one to one basis, for options and warrants to purchase shares of our Class A common stock.
In addition, pursuant to a Note Exchange Agreement, we issued New Notes in the aggregate principal amount of
$2,198,459 in exchange for certain outstanding convertible promissory notes of Marpai Health of equivalent
outstanding principal and accrued but unpaid interest. HillCour and WellEnterprises, LLC agreed to perform
certain transition services for us pursuant to a Transition Services Agreement.

The Acquisition was treated as an integrated transaction for U.S. federal income tax purposes, qualified as a
tax-free reorganization pursuant to section 351 or 368 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.
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The Purchase and Reorganization Agreement required that Continental Benefits to not have less than
$4.762 million of cash on hand, and to have no debt at the time of closing of the Acquisition.

Pursuant to the Purchase and Reorganization Agreement, Continental Benefits was valued solely for purposes
of the Acquisition, on a cash-free and debt-free basis, at $8.5 million. Including the $4.762 million of cash on
Continental Benefits’ balance sheet, equity totaled $13.26 million. In addition, pursuant to Purchase and
Reorganization Agreement, Marpai Health was valued solely for purposes of the Acquisition at an assumed pre-
money valuation of the last convertible note’s conversion price of $35 million.

As a result of the Acquisition,

We have acquired all of the then outstanding membership interests of Continental Benefits in exchange for
3,599,568 shares of our Class A common stock and 127,130 shares of our Class B common stock and,
subject to certain adjustments as more fully described in the Purchase and Reorganization Agreement, based
upon a valuation as a separate concern of $8.5 million on a cash free and debt free basis;

We have acquired all of the then outstanding capital stock Marpai Health in exchange for an aggregate of
3,320,765 shares of our Class A common stock and 4,099,838 shares of our Class B common stock, based
upon the valuation of Marpai Health as a separate concern of $35 million;

We have satisfied and retired Marpai Health’s then remaining and outstanding convertible promissory notes,
with aggregate outstanding principal and accrued but unpaid interest of $2,198,459, in exchange for the New
Notes of equivalent aggregate principal amount;

Marpai Health has still the SQN Convertible Note outstanding;

All options granted by Marpai Health have been assumed by us and exchanged into options to purchase our
Class A common stock. The exchange of certain options issued by Marpai Health to employees of EYME
Technologies Ltd., a wholly owned subsidiary of Marpai Health, is subject to the issuance of a tax ruling by
the Israeli Tax Authority;

All awards of phantom units granted under Continental Benefits, LLC Long-Term Incentive Plan were
discharged; and

All outstanding warrants granted by Marpai Health automatically converted into warrants to purchase our
Class A common stock at the same exercise price as they were initially granted by Marpai Health.

In addition, pursuant to the Purchase and Reorganization Agreement, the seller of Continental Benefits,
WellEnterprises USA, LLC, as well as its owner and affiliate, HillCour, Inc., agreed, subject to the closing of the
Acquisition, to be exclusively responsible for, pay, fully satisfy and otherwise discharge in full certain liabilities
that existed as of April 1, 2021 (the “Closing Date”), both known and unknown as of such date:

Continental’s phantom unit awards outstanding on the Closing Date;

the failure of Continental to possess or maintain effectiveness of any permit which was required for the
operation of the business of Continental Benefits prior to closing;

any proceedings relating to or in connection with any actual violation of or failure to comply with any
Healthcare Law (as defined in the Purchase and Reorganization Agreement) prior to closing;

any disciplinary or enforcement action from any governmental authority related to the operation of
Continental Benefits’ business prior to closing, whether or not related to taxes or a violation of Healthcare
Laws;

any litigation or cause of action outside the ordinary course of business relating to the operation of the
Continental’s business prior to Closing;

the failure of Continental to pay any taxes for the period prior to closing when due;

any violation of the Privacy and Security Laws relating to the operation of Continental’s business prior to
Closing;
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certain claims or litigation by a client of Continental; and
certain amounts paid by Continental in excess of the amount received from the Continental’s customer (or
the customer’s health benefit plan) with respect to certain unresolved billing dispute claims.

Pre-Acquisition Entity

Structure

Marpai, Inc.’s Current Structure

Effective Time of the Acquisition

The Acquisition became effective on April 1, 2021.

Treatment of Marpai’s Stock Options and Continental Benefits’ Phantom Units

Each outstanding option of Marpai Health has been assumed by Marpai, Inc. and automatically converted into
an option to purchase shares of Marpai, Inc.’s Class A common stock. Prior to the Effective
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Time, Continental Benefits and HillCour have discharged all awards of phantom units granted under the
Continental Benefits, LLC Long-Term Incentive Plan. The aggregate value of the discharged phantom unit awards
is estimated to be $1,032,000.

Representations and Warranties

The Purchase and Reorganization Agreement contained representations and warranties of Marpai, Inc.,
Marpai Health, each Marpai Seller, WellEnterprises, LLC, HillCour, and Continental Benefits, for a customary
transaction of this type relating to, among other things which include, in addition to other customary closing
conditions, (i) organization, capacity and standing; (ii) authority and enforceability of the Purchase and
Reorganization Agreement and related documents; (iii) absence of conflict; (iv) the absence of undisclosed
liabilities; (v) capitalization; (vi) litigation; (vii) compliance with laws; (viii) the absence of undisclosed liabilities;
(ix) absence of material adverse effect; (x) investment intent; broker fees; (xi) adequate investigation;
(xii) independent investigations; (xiii) absence of rights to purchase securities of Continental Benefits; (xiv) the
phantom unit schedule; (xv) absence of unnamed subsidiaries; (xvi) financial statements; (xvii) contracts; (xviii)
legal company contracts; (xix) real estate; (xx) personal property; (xxi) accounts receivable; (xxii) title to assets;
sufficiency of assets; (xxiii) employment matters; (xxiv) employee benefits; (xxv) litigation; (xxvi) compliance
with laws; (xxvii) intellectual property; (xxviii) environmental matters; (xxix) tax matters, (xxx) insurance;
(xxxi) transactions with affiliates; (xxxii) absence of certain business practices; (xxxiii) suppliers and Customers;
(xxxiv) healthcare laws; (xxxv) data privacy; (xxxvi) no brokers or finders; (xxxvii) PPP Loan, (xxxvii) nonpublic
offering (xxxviii) investment representation; (xxxix) title and validity of Marpai Securities; and (xxxx) Marpai, Inc.
stock certificate legends.

Intended Tax Treatment of Acquisition Transaction

Consummation of the transactions contemplated by the Purchase and Reorganization Agreement, including
the Acquisition along with our initial public offering, is intended to be treated as an integrated transaction for U.S.
federal income tax purposes, qualified as a tax-free reorganization pursuant to section 351 or 368 of the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

Discharge and Satisfaction of Covered Liabilities

In addition, the seller of Continental, WellSystems, LLC, as well as its owner and affiliate, HillCour, Inc.,
have agreed to be exclusively responsible for, pay, fully satisfy and otherwise discharge in full certain liabilities
that exist as of Closing Date or may arise in the future, related to following categories of events, facts, acts,
omissions, circumstances and/or subject matters, and that relate to the period prior to the Closing Date, both known
and unknown as of such date (collectively, the “Covered Liabilities”):

Continental’s phantom unit awards outstanding on the Closing Date;

the failure of Continental to possess or maintain effectiveness of any permit which was required for the
operation of the business of Continental Benefits prior to closing;

any proceedings relating to or in connection with any actual violation of or failure to comply with any
Healthcare Law (as defined in the Purchase and Reorganization Agreement) prior to the Closing Date;

any disciplinary or enforcement action from any governmental authority related to the operation of
Continental Benefits’ business prior to closing, whether or not related to taxes or a violation of Healthcare
Laws;

any litigation or cause of action outside the Ordinary Course of Business relating to the operation of the
Continental Benefits’ business prior to Closing

the failure of Continental to pay any taxes for the period prior to closing when due;

any violation of the Privacy and Security Laws relating to the operation of the Continental Benefits’ business
prior to Closing;

any claim or litigation by a client of the Company as described in the Purchase and Reorganization
Agreement; and
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any amounts paid by the Company in excess of the amount received from the Company’s customer (or the
customer’s health benefit plan) with respect to any unresolved billing dispute claim in excess of $50,000
existing as of the closing and any unresolved billing dispute claim older than one hundred eighty (180) days
as of the Closing Date.

Class B Conversion

On June 28, 2021, Eli David, Yaron Eitan, Edmundo Gonzalez, Grays West Ventures LLC, HillCour
Investment Fund, LLC, and WellEnterprises USA, LLC converted an aggregate of 927,817 shares of the
Company’s Class B common stock they held into 4,226,968 shares of Class A common stock on a one to one basis
(“Class B Conversion”). Until the Class B conversion, the Company was authorized to issue two classes of
common stock, Class A common stock and Class B common stock. The issued and outstanding shares of Class B
common stock were converted into Class A common stock as described above, and the authorized class of Class B
common stock was eliminated with the filing of the Second Amended and Restated Charter.

Power of Attorney and Proxy

Concurrently with the Class B Conversion, the Company, (i) HillCour Investment Fund, LLC and
WellEnterprises USA, LLC (together, the “HillCour Founding Group”) and (ii) Eli David, Yaron Eitan, Edmundo
Gonzalez and Grays West Ventures LLC (collectively, the “Grays Founding Group,” and together with the
HillCour Founding Group, the “Co-Founders”) entered into the Power of Attorney and Proxy pursuant to which the
HillCour Founding Group granted the Grays Founding Group the right to vote 1,560,237 shares of the Company’s
Class A common stock it held (“Proxy Shares”) on all matters relating to any of the following: (i) change to the
composition of the Company’s Board of Directors; (ii) sale of all or substantially all of the Company’s assets or
capital stock, or a merger involving the Company; (iii) replacement of the Company’s CEO or other C-level
officers; (iv) amendment or approval of any corporate documents or agreements in connection with the Company’s
corporate structure or capital raising activities; (v) approval of the Company’s annual budget and business plan;
and (vi) the Company’s acquisition, joint venture or other collaborative agreements. Consequently, the HillCour
Founding Group and the Grays Founding Group currently have the right to vote 3,913,268 and 3,913,263 shares of
the Company’s capital stock, respectively. The Power of Attorney and Proxy also provides that the number of
Proxy Shares is subject to adjustment from time to time so as to maintain as much as possible, equal voting power
in the Company between the HillCour Founding Group on the one hand and the Grays Founding Group on the
other, subject to certain exceptions related to transfer of shares by the parties.

Pursuant to this Power of Attorney and Proxy, the Co-Founders have also agreed to vote all their shares for the
election of (a) Damien Lamendola (or another nominee of the HillCour Founding Group), (b) Edmundo Gonzalez;
and (c) Yaron Eitan (or up to two other nominees of the Grays Founding Group) as the Company’s directors. The
Power of Attorney and Proxy is irrevocable and will remain in full force and effect until the earlier of
(i) consummation of the sale of all or substantially all of the Company’s assets, or the acquisition of the Company
by a third party (by way of stock acquisition, merger, recapitalization or otherwise), or (ii) the time when the Grays
Founding Group collectively owns fewer than 1,882,420 shares of the Company’s capital stock.

Directors and Executive Officers of the Combined Company

Pursuant to the terms of the Purchase and Reorganization Agreement, all of the directors of Continental
Benefits have resigned. Effective as of the Closing, the combined company’s board of directors is fixed at seven
members and comprised of two former members of Marpai Health’s executive management team, four
independent directors, and Damien Lamendola, the indirect majority owner of WellEnterprises USA, LLC and
HillCour. The composition of the board of directors is expected to satisfy the requisite sophistication and
independence requirements for audit committee members pursuant to Nasdaq listing requirements.

Our current management team consists of the following member of the former Marpai Health executive
management team:
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Name Combined Company Position(s) Position(s) at Marpai Health

Edmundo Gonzalez Chief Executive Officer, Secretary, and
Director

Co-founder, CEO, and Director of
Marpai Health

Indemnification

HillCour is a party to the Purchase and Reorganization Agreement solely for the purposes of its joinder
provisions. HillCour agrees to pay and perform, and to be jointly and severally liable with WellEnterprises USA,
LLC, the Company Seller, for its Covered Liabilities obligations and indemnification obligation to Marpai, Inc.
against all Losses relating to either (collectively, the “Guaranteed Obligations”):

any breach by WellEnterprises, LLC or Continental Benefits of a representation or warranty in the Purchase
and Reorganization Agreement or any Transaction Document; or

any breach, non-performance or non-compliance of any pre-Closing or post-Closing covenant or agreement
of the WellEnterprises, LLC and/or pre-Closing covenant or agreement of Continental Benefits contained in
the Purchase and Reorganization Agreement or any Transaction Document.

HillCour’s liability under the joinder provisions will not be affected by (a) any amendment to the Purchase
and Reorganization Agreement, (b) the release or discharge of Company Seller in any creditors’ rights,
receivership, bankruptcy or other insolvency proceedings, (c) the impairment, limitation or modification of the
liabilities of Company Seller to Marpai, Inc. resulting from the operation of any present or future provision of the
U.S. bankruptcy code or other insolvency statute, (d) any suretyship defenses or other defenses to the enforcement
of guarantees generally, or (e) the rejection or disaffirmance of the Purchase and Reorganization Agreement in any
such bankruptcy or insolvency proceedings.

HillCour’s obligations under the joinder provisions continue, and remain in full force and effect
notwithstanding, without limitation, the dissolution of Sellers or until fulfillment or termination of all of the
Guaranteed Obligations.

HillCour represents that it is deriving direct or indirect benefits from the transactions contemplated by the
Purchase and Reorganization Agreement, and that HillCour’s execution of Purchase and Reorganization
Agreement is a material inducement to Marpai Inc.’s execution of the Purchase and Reorganization Agreement.

Under the terms of the Purchase and Reorganization Agreement, Marpai, Inc. has agreed to indemnify
WellEnterprises USA, LLC and certain of its affiliates agreed to indemnify Marpai, Inc. with respect to Losses
based upon, asserted against, arising out of, or relating to: (1) any breach or inaccuracy of Marpai, Inc.’s
representations and warranties, covenants and agreements in the Purchase and Reorganization Agreement; (2) any
breach, non-performance of or non-compliance with any post-Closing covenant or agreement by Marpai, Inc., or
Continental Benefits; and (3) fraud by Marpai, Inc.

WellEnterprises USA LLC has agreed to indemnify Marpai, Inc. with respect to Losses based upon, asserted
against, arising out of, or relating to: (1) any breach or inaccuracy of WellEnterprises USA LLC’s representations
and warranties, covenants and agreements in the Purchase and Reorganization Agreement; (2) any breach, non-
performance of or non-compliance with any post-Closing covenant or agreement by WellEnterprises USA LLC or
Continental Benefits (3) any of the Covered Liability; and (4) fraud by WellEnterprises USA LLC.

Any obligation of WellEnterprises USA LLC to indemnify Marpai, Inc. against Losses arising out of: (1) any
breach or inaccuracy of any representation or warranty of Continental Benefits or Company Seller contained in the
Purchase and Reorganization Agreement or any Transaction Document; (ii) any breach, non-performance or non-
compliance of any pre-Closing or post-Closing covenant or agreement of the Seller and/or pre-Closing covenant or
agreement of the Continental Benefits contained in the Purchase and Reorganization Agreement or any Transaction
Document; will be satisfied (i) first, from the Escrow Amount, until such amount has been exhausted or released or
otherwise reserved in respect of a claim, and (ii) last, directly by Company Seller.
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Registration Rights

We agreed that if, following the date of the Purchase and Reorganization Agreement, we sell or issue any
securities (including securities convertible into or exchangeable or exercisable for any shares of our capital stock)
that entitles any holder thereof to registration rights with respect to such securities (or any shares of capital stock
issuable upon conversion or exercise of such securities), or otherwise grants registration rights to any of our
existing security holders (the “Registration Rights”), then we will also grant the same Registration Rights to the
Marpai Sellers and WellEnterprises, LLC on a pari passu basis, provided that all securityholders with Registration
Rights shall be subject to all customary provisions and restrictions required by us in relation thereto, including
without limitation, lockups, cutbacks, and underwriting undertakings.

Interest of Certain Persons in the Acquisition

Certain of our officers, directors or director nominees received a direct or indirect benefit as a result of the
Acquisition that would not be realized by the holders of our Class A common stock generally. See “The
Acquisition — Certain Relationships and Related Party Transactions”.

Prior to the Closing, Continental Benefits was 100% owned by WellEnterprises USA LLC which was 100%
owned by HillCour, Inc. (“HillCour”). HillCour also used to hold approximately 21.5% of equity interests of
Marpai Health. HillCour is 100% owned by HillCour Holding Corporation. Our Director, Damien Lamendola, is
the indirect majority owner of WellEnterprises USA, LLC and HillCour, and the direct majority owner of HillCour
Holding Corporation. Mr. Lamendola currently indirectly holds approximately 52.4% of the outstanding capital
stock of the Company, and assuming full conversion of the New Notes and the June 2021 Notes, he can hold as
much as 51.8% of the outstanding capital stock of the Company.

Accounting Treatment

Marpai, Inc. accounts for business combinations pursuant to Accounting Standards Codification ASC 805,
Business Combinations. In accordance with ASC 805, the Company uses its best estimates and assumptions to
accurately assign fair value to the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed at the acquisition date. Goodwill as of
the acquisition date is measured as the excess of the purchase consideration over the fair value of the assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed. The results of the Marpai Health and Continental Benefits have been included
in the consolidated financial statements of Marpai, Inc. since the date of the Acquisition.

Our Business

We are a technology-driven healthcare payer, which uses A.I. to predict and help prevent costly events for our
Members, and in turn lower our Clients’ health care costs. We provide administrative services, and act as TPA to
self-insured employers who provide healthcare benefits to their employees. Most of our Clients are small and
medium-sized companies as well as local government entities. Currently, we have over 60 Clients. We provide
services to a total of over 20,000 of our Clients’ employees, and including their spouses and dependents, we serve a
total of over 40,000 Members in 44 states in addition to the District of Columbia. No single Client represents more
than 6% of our annual revenue.

Industry Trends in the Healthcare Payer Market

Today, some megatrends are affecting all participants in the healthcare ecosystem, including payers,
providers, and patients:

Rising Healthcare Costs — Healthcare expenditures have grown in the U.S. from 5% of GDP (Gross
Domestic Product) in 1960 to 18% of GDP in 2019, according to Statistica, a consultancy. Per capital
healthcare costs (adjusted for inflation and presented in 2020 dollars) increased from $5,801 in 1990 to
$7,425 in 2000 to $10,222 in 2010, and these are projected to be greater than $12,000 in 2020 according to
our analysis based on the Health System Tracker of the Peterson Center on Healthcare and Kaiser Family
Foundation.

A.I. to Help Manage Expansive Volume of Electronic Healthcare Data — The volume of all data
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of all types is estimated to double every two years, but healthcare data is growing at an even faster pace.
In 2020, 2,413 exabytes of healthcare data will be generated compared to only 153 exabytes in 2013 (an
exabyte is a billion gigabytes), according to Statista. With so much data, the latest breakthroughs in A.I.,
specifically in the field of deep learning, are beginning to make an impact in healthcare.

Consumerism in Healthcare — Devices that monitor our vital signs, such as the Apple Watch® and
FitBit® as well as myriad health and wellness applications, demonstrate the trend toward having
consumers at the center of healthcare, including trying to change behaviors that lead to better healthcare
outcomes.

Key drivers of healthcare cost increases are chronic diseases and various forms of waste.

Chronic diseases — According to the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (“CDC”), chronic
conditions such as diabetes, cardiovascular diseases and pulmonary conditions, account for 75% of the U.S.
aggregate spending on healthcare each year. Our Clients’ data also suggest that the cost of care for a Member with
a chronic condition, such as diabetes, hypertension, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (“COPD”) and kidney
diseases, is two to four times as much as the average cost of care for one without any chronic conditions. As many
chronic diseases can be prevented and managed given early detection, it is vital that a patient who is on a path to
develop these chronic diseases be identified and be given preventive care treatments as early as possible.

Waste — A survey of 54 peer-reviewed studies found that up to 30% of medical spending is wasted, according
to “Waste in the US Health Care System — Estimated Costs and Potential for Savings,” published in the Journal of
the American Medical Association (“JAMA”) in October 2019. Among the waste identified, they include:

Waste related to care coordination (organizing a patient’s care to achieve safe and effective care) — 
$27 billion to $78 billion annually;

Waste related to failure of care delivery (timely and effective care) — $102 billion to $166 billion annually;
and

Waste related to failure to obtain the best pricing — $231 billion to $240 billion annually.

In our own Clients’ data, we see wide price variations for the same medical/healthcare procedure in the same
city of between four and seven times the median cost. According to a study by UnitedHealth in published
May 2019, one of the largest payers in the U.S., reducing the cost variations of common tests could result in an
annual saving of $18 billion. Our TopCare® program identifies top-rated test centers and healthcare providers with
pricing information and allows us to steer a Member to get the same test (e.g., MRI, CT scan) with the same
equipment but at a more competitive price by switching from one provider to another within the same geographic
area.

Market Opportunities

According to the Employee Benefit Research Institute, approximately 78.7% of U.S. companies with 500 or
more employees offered a self-insured plan as of 2018. Collectively, private employers are the largest source of
healthcare insurance in the U.S.

The market is dominated by the five largest healthcare payers — United Healthcare, BlueCross (including its
licensee, Anthem), Aetna, Cigna and Humana — and according to their annual reports, they serve approximately
194 million Americans. The U.S. has an insured population of approximately 298 million, leaving 104 million
people to be served by the thousand or so other insurers or TPAs based on the National Association of Insurance
Commissioners U.S. Health Insurance Industry 2019 Annual Results. Continental Benefits is partnered with 2 of
the largest medical networks Cigna and Aetna and is considered a strategic partner for the larger firms to capture
the “middle-market” of self-insured clients.

The average annual healthcare expenditure is approximately $11,000 per person, according to the Centers for
Medicare & Medicaid Services (“CMS”) as of 2018. In other words, a total of approximately $1.2 trillion in claims
of healthcare costs are processed by healthcare payers that are not one of the five largest
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payers in the U.S. Based on our analysis of actual PEPM received by us and the estimated employee lives of
39 million, according to McLellan Consulting Services, we believe the segment of the market served by third-party
administrators presents us with a market opportunity of over $20 billion in revenue. This includes our
administration fees as well as our share of revenue from selling other products such as care management services
or telehealth services, to our Clients.

Our A.I. Capabilities — Deep Learning

During the past few years, we have witnessed the greatest leap in performance in the history of A.I., largely
due to a subfield of A.I. known as “deep learning” (or “deep neural networks”). While traditional machine learning
methods require extensive manual processing (e.g., for feature extraction), deep learning methods allow for “end-
to-end” learning, directly operating on raw data and predicting the final outcome.

The accuracy of deep learning-based models is significantly higher than traditional machine learning models
especially when more data and more data types are available. This makes deep learning very relevant for big data
platforms, which involve large quantities of data and various data types. Despite the huge success of deep learning
in improving the state-of-the-art computer vision, speech recognition, text understanding, and other areas, few
companies have the expertise to develop and deploy deep learning-based solutions, due to the numerous technical
challenges involved. We believe that is why the application of deep learning remains limited in the healthcare
space and primarily confined to medical image processing today.

We are creating a robust deep learning infrastructure that would allow us to analyze nearly any data type.
More importantly, this infrastructure is expected to have the capability to automatically train on multiple data types
at once and obtain unified predictions. Specifically, over time, we expect our deep learning capabilities to be used
for the following data types:

Structured data — Any form of data that results in a tabular database. Examples of such data include
laboratory tests, claims data, and payment details to healthcare providers. Our deep learning models for
structured data, which rely on fully connected neural networks, allow us to automatically train on any such
structured databases, and incorporate the insights into the predictive models.

Images — While traditional image processing requires cumbersome development for each specific use case,
deep learning-based models can directly operate on any image data, without having to go through a
preprocessing feature extraction phase. We are developing a series of deep learning models based on
convolutional neural networks that could be extended for processing medical images, including radiology
imaging such as MRI, CT Scan, X-Ray, Ultrasound, PET Scan, as well as processing other types of medical
images, such as those in dermatology, pathology, and ophthalmology.

Text — Traditionally, analyzing text data requires lengthy natural language processing (“NLP”). Recent
breakthroughs in deep learning, especially the advent of transformer networks (e.g., BERT), allow for end-
to-end training of language models which are significantly more accurate than previous NLP methods. Our
infrastructure includes support for these deep learning-based language models, allowing us to automatically
process textual data as well. A prime example of textual medical data is the plain text description of doctors’
notes, which includes information about the symptoms, diagnosis, and treatment. Even though some of this
data, such as disease codes, appear in structured databases as well, the textual data contains significantly
more information that does not appear elsewhere.

Multi-type data — Deep learning can also be applied on multiple data sources and data types. For each data
type at the first stage, the relevant deep learning models are applied (e.g., CNN for images, Transformers for
text, etc.), and then, at the second stage, the processed information from various data sources is fed into a
secondary deep learning model, which will provide unified predictions. This is one of the major advantages
of deep learning over traditional A.I., allowing it to incorporate multiple big data sources into a single
unified prediction model, far exceeding the accuracy rate achieved by traditional methods.

Data fusion — We have the ability to study different data types together. Data that are images (e.g., CT
scan) with data that are in tabular form (e.g., figures from healthcare claims). Putting these different data
types together is data fusion.
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The largest technology players have been aggressive recruiters of the top A.I. talent around the world. Marpai
Health has been able to recruit and maintain top talent largely due to potential employees wanting to work with
Dr. Eli David. As Dr. David maintains his professorship in the A.I. field, we believe he will continue to have a
pipeline of qualified candidates, mostly Masters and PhD students, who are potential hires for us as our needs
expand. We believe this will give us a competitive advantage.

Our TopCare® Program

We believe that our A.I. capabilities in the area of deep learning enable us to make more accurate predictions
about costly healthcare events using data types that are hard or impossible to use using traditional A.I. This allows
us to help our Clients prevent costly healthcare events, and reduce the growth of long-term healthcare spending
while also improving the quality of healthcare, which is commonly known as “bending the cost curve” in our
industry.

Continental Benefits has been providing its TPA services on its patent-pending TopCare® program for the
past two years. Since January 2021, our A.I.-powered TopCare program® became live, making it possible for us to
offer care management with high-impact predictions. Our A.I. technology is able to process, analyze and store
myriad types of data in large scale. Our A.I. models, collectively branded as FutureSight Advantage, recognize
patterns and detect anomalies, giving us greater insights on a patient’s medical trajectory, although we do not
provide medical prognosis, or are engaged in the practice of medicine of any sort. Our A.I.-enabled predictions
generate real-time alerts based on that trajectory allow our call center staff to start outreaching and recommend the
best care to an at-risk Member, whether that is a visit to a primary care physician or to a specialist, for a root cause
or drill down analysis. With a full disclaimer to the Member that our system does not provide medical advice or
prognosis, our call center staff encourages the Member to develop an actionable healthcare plan with licensed
medical professionals. Using our innovative technology, TopCare® allows us to help self-insured employers
manage their employees’ healthcare needs proactively.

The current data types our A.I. technology uses to predict healthcare needs include the following structured
data:

Historical claims data (including a medical examination, referral request or pharmaceutical prescription);

Demographic information; and

Blood test and other laboratory test data.

In the future, we expect our A.I. technology to use the following unstructured data types to predict healthcare
needs:

Pathology image;

Advanced images from X-ray, magnetic resonance imaging (“MRI”) and computed tomography (“CT”);

Electronic health records;

Health risk assessments;

Information gathered from applications used by Members; and

Information gathered from applications used by Members; and

Information gathered from wearables like Fitbit devices and the Apple watch.

In the future, we intend to incorporate clinicians directly into our TopCare® Program so that we may
communicate directly with Members regarding the insights generated by our technology, subject to strict
compliance with federal, state and local regulations. Our A.I.-enabled predictions help both Members and their
Providers to be proactive and get in front of costly healthcare events, so they can predict, prevent, and plan around
them. We believe our services to provide not only lower costs, but also better value for the money spent on
healthcare, and therefore greatly reducing any waste related to care coordination and care delivery. Eventually, we
hope our technology will inform Members as to any specific health risks they should be cognizant of, in order to
adjust their behavior and medical care accordingly.
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The key components of our TopCare® program include:

Deep Member Profile — We understand a Member’s health based on their medical history, demographic
information, historical claims, and in some cases, what they have shared with us as their own health risk
assessments. All this data is fed through various deep learning modules and automatically processed;

Claims Trajectory — Our A.I. models have studied millions of claims and have mapped out an expected
trajectory for Members. The predictions are based on all available data on each Member. Currently, the data
includes structured data, such as demographic information, historical claims, laboratory test data when
available. In the future, we expect the data to include unstructured data, such as medical images, text-based
assessments and other types of health records. All these data will be fed into deep learning models for each
data type, and subsequently fed into a unified deep learning model which finds patterns and insights across
all data and data types available for the Member; and

Alerts — Our A.I. models come to life via alerts, which are triggered by an event such as a particular claim.
Each alert is a new data point for each Member, invoking the entire model to update its predictions. Deep
learning models are especially superior for finding non-linear patterns and correlations. For example, a new
data point X that apparently is completely unrelated to prediction Y, may actually affect it through complex
non-linear patterns, which are very difficult for humans and traditional A.I. to find, but deep learning models
are very good at finding those patterns, which trigger new actionable alerts. These alerts allow the
TopCare® team to start outreaching to an at-risk Member.

Matching Members with High Quality Providers

Matching Members with high-quality providers is a key component of our services. Provider quality is
continuously tracked and measured by feeding A.I. models with various provider quality databases. Monitoring
providers’ outcomes, costs, and proper conduct will allow our models to score good and poor-quality providers as
well as measure cost-efficiency. This information will allow us to assist Members in making more informed
decisions on their healthcare provider options.

Although we do not provide medical prognosis or are engaged in the practice of medicine of any sort, we
believe our A.I. technology can in the future process in-depth insights from laboratory results, imaging, and
electronic health records to help us detect suspicious claims and potential over-treatment. These cases are always
examined by clinicians and may be used to educate both Members and Providers, or otherwise steer Members to
better healthcare solutions. High-performing Providers will be used by our A.I. models for developing the “gold
standard” with respect to pricing models and to understand what is usual and customary in terms of costs.

Given the high price variability for expensive medical procedures, we want to steer Members to cost-effective
but also high-quality providers. For instance, TopCare® may generate an alert for a Member who is on a trajectory
to have a knee replacement surgery over the next twelve months. In that case, without specifically relaying the
contents of our system-generated alerts to the Member, we will educate the Member early on his/her options in
terms of highly rated orthopedic surgeons for that exact procedure within his/her geographic area. This may
happen months before the actual surgery and involves the Member’s choice of care. This helps reduce any waste
related to not obtaining the best pricing for healthcare options. Clients’ plans may also allow for incentives
whereby the Member’s co-insurance is reduced or eliminated if he/she selects the high-quality and more cost-
effective surgeon. In the future, subject to strict compliance to applicable federal, state and local laws, we plan to
be able to share the insights generated by our alerts with our Members.

For our Clients, we use A.I. to design and optimize plans and costs given the historical data of its employee
population and its predicted costly healthcare events. This information forms the building-blocks of plan design,
risk management, and plan optimization. Continuous monitoring of the at-risk population as well as measuring how
mitigation strategies are working are also key components to lowering the overall cost of claims.

Part of the technology in our TopCare® offering also tracks member outreach to see how and if the Member
has responded, and what communication vehicles are the most successful for a particular Member
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(e.g. text, email, phone call). This data helps us tailor outreach that best facilitates Member responses and,
therefore, reduces waste related to care coordination and care delivery. The response is also fed through a feedback
loop to the deep learning models to not only improve the predictions, but more importantly, the actionable alerts.

Our Products and Services

We differentiate ourselves by using A.I. to predict costly healthcare events before they happen. These
predictions enable us to provide proactive intervention and superior care management to our Clients. For example,
our A.I. modules help to predict which Members are likely to develop a chronic disease or require a costly medical
procedure over the next twelve months. With this information, we refer Members to high quality healthcare
providers who may be able to help them postpone or eliminate the onset of the chronic disease, or the need for
costly medical procedures. Healthier Members cared for by high quality providers translates into lower total cost of
healthcare claims for employer groups. In the future, assuming strict compliance with applicable federal, state and
local regulations, we hope to be able to share the specific contents of these alerts directly with our Members.

Our current core product and service offering includes handling all aspects of administration related to a
healthcare plan. We typically design for our Client a healthcare benefit plan which outlines exactly what coverage
the Client would like to provide to its employees.

We then manage the plan for the Client by providing the following services:

Providing a Client’s employees access to a provider network via relationships with Aetna, Cigna, and
regional networks;

Concierge type services to help members find providers and care management as well as to answer
questions, such as on claims and benefits;

Validating and adjudicating claims from Clients’ employees, including automated adjudication;

Promoting health and use of high-quality providers to the member population across Clients;

Paying claims on behalf of our Clients; and

Stop-loss insurance via one or several providers.

We do not bear the financial risk with respect to the cost of the claims for any employer. Instead, the self-
insured employers and stop-loss insurance companies, if the self-insured employers purchase stop-loss insurance
policies to protect themselves from having higher than planned healthcare costs, bear the risk arising from the cost
of claims. We sell complementary services to our Clients including care management, case management, actuarial
services, health savings account administration and bill review services. Our margin on these partner products
varies greatly, but each service makes the overall package for our Clients more complete.

Our Strategy

Our strategy is to create a proprietary technology platform enabling rapid growth in the healthcare payer
market. With the use of A.I., we believe we can achieve our dual goals of lowering the cost of claims for Clients,
while maintaining high quality healthcare outcomes for Members.

Today, we have already developed six A.I. modules to predict the following chronic conditions:

Type 2 Diabetes;

Cardio-vascular disease;

Kidney disease;

Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD);

High-cost imaging of knee; and

Knee replacement.
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These modules allow us to identify which members to enroll in care management. In January 2021, our A.I.-
powered TopCare program® became live, making it possible for us to offer care management with high-impact
predictions. Seventeen Clients have signed up to use this enhanced product offering on a trial basis as a prototype
as of October 26, 2021. We plan to continue to develop our technology, expand the number of A.I. modules
TopCare® will incorporate as well as other functionalities, and sign up as many Clients who will pay a premium
price for this enhanced product offering as possible.

Although our A.I. technology has not yet been integrated with any of our TPA business’ core systems, other
than TopCare, to date, we plan to use A.I. in virtually every part of our TPA business by the end of 2022 as follows:

Claims management that will enable accurate auto-adjudication of most claims, which will lower our
operating costs and increase our operating efficiency. This will also include detecting and flagging suspicious
claims before final adjudication.

Member engagement and self-service options via an intuitive and easy-to-use application, which will also
lower the cost to serve Clients and allow Members to interact with us as often as they wish. We will present the
best providers in terms of quality and costs, in a manner that is centered around a Member’s needs and geography.

Continuous Provider quality tracking that will enable us to identify the best Providers and also the usual and
customary practices and their related costs.

Smart plan design including cost optimization, performance monitoring and risk prediction.

We plan to use a significant amount of the proceeds from this offering to expand our research and
development efforts, build technology infrastructure, and greatly expand our A.I. research. We believe all of these
items are necessary in creating a “Payer of the Future” in the TPA market, and we plan to grow both organically
and through acquisitions.

We leverage our A.I. capabilities to differentiate ourselves in the healthcare TPA market and expand our
market footprint and penetration. We show Continental Benefits’ current Clients what their employee population
may look like in terms of at-risk Members in the years to come, and how we can help them manage the related
healthcare costs and design appropriate plans. We will continue to track Provider quality. We believe this approach
will allow us to offer custom-made healthcare plans that can achieve the dual goals of improving Members’
general health by providing targeted and proactive intervention and optimization of care, while also controlling the
escalating cost of claims and reducing waste in delivery of healthcare services.

We also plan to sell our software tools, which use advanced forms of A.I. to predict chronic conditions and
other costly healthcare events, to traditional health insurance companies as well as Medicare Advantage plans.
However, since we are a TPA, they may consider us to be their competitors and decide not to purchase our
software tools. If this strategy fails, we will not be able to sell our software tools at a potentially high profit margin,
and that in turn could negatively impact our profitability prospect. To date, we have not sold any solutions to these
players.

Currently, our care management is provided by several third-party vendors. In the future, we may bring this
function in-house. Care management functions may include telemedicine, prescription drug delivery, wellness
programs and chronic condition management.

In September 2020, FTI was retained to assist with Continental Benefits’ organizational restructuring with a
view to reduce its operating expenses and achieve break-even or near-term profitability. In November 2020, FTI
recommended an organizational re-design, including reducing the ratio of managers to direct reports, eliminating
the Program Management Office, counseling out employees due to performance issues, and cuts in claims and
customer service departments to bring the operating costs more in line with industry norms, which resulted in the
elimination of a total of 56 positions. FTI also recommended a number of cost-cutting measures, including
rationalizing the IT processes, cancelling IT contracts that were not used, and generally optimizing IT
expenditures. We believe that these measures, which were implemented on a rolling-basis through March 2021
immediately prior to the Acquisition, will save us on an annualized
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basis, approximately $5.5 million in headcount-related expenses and approximately $1.5 million in non-headcount-
related expenses. The implementation of the restructuring and other recommendations will continue after
completion of this offering and may take longer than planned.

We intend to invest in the core infrastructure that will allow us to be a growth platform. These investments
include expansion of our A.I. research and development team in Israel, as well as expanded technology
infrastructure at Continental Benefits. We will also expand our sales and marketing efforts. Our growth strategy
may also include acquiring other TPAs, who can add to our client base, and building complementary modules on
our platform.

Research and Development

We plan to use approximately $8.0 million of the net proceeds from this offering to fund our research and
development. This amount includes hiring new A.I. scientists and acquiring data from third parties. We routinely
use data from Clients, but also purchase data from other sources such as state entities, which capture claims and
other healthcare data. When our team builds an A.I. model, we look to validate it with existing data. For example,
we may work on data sets, which have Member data for five years. We commonly set the most recent year aside
and build the models on the other four years. This allows us to test the predictions against available data, making
validation of the models easier.

Currently, each FutureSight Advantage A.I. model is developed with the goal of helping redirect a costly
event or prevent a chronic condition. Over the next 12 to 24 months, we plan to develop A.I. model-driven
solutions for orthopedic surgeries, cardiovascular conditions and kidney disease. In the future, we expect to also
expand our research and development efforts to several other conditions, including respiratory disease, liver
disease and forms of cancer.

Competition

Although we believe that the services we offer our Clients are highly differentiated, we operate in a highly
competitive market. We only provide administrative services to self-insured employers who provide healthcare
benefits to their employees. These self-insured employers can always elect to abandon self-insurance and simply
buy medical insurance from one of the large players such as, Aetna, Cigna, or United Healthcare. There can be no
assurances that our Clients or prospective Clients will remain self-insured for any given period of time. If the
number of employers which choose to self-insure declines, the size of our targeted market will shrink.

Also, there are other technology-driven companies focused on creating a TPA business among self-insured
employers. Like us, they provide machine learning predictions models targeted at measuring risks for Members,
identifying members susceptible to adverse healthcare events before they occur, and provide proactive guidance for
preventive care. We compete with almost 1,000 TPAs, all of whom are vying for the same business — the
management of healthcare benefits for self-insured employers. There is only one TPA at a time for every employer
wanting to provide health benefits via a self-insured model, and an employer may remain with the same TPA for
many years. This means that although the market is very large, not all of it is accessible by us in any one year. In
addition to the very large health insurance companies, there are new players in the market such as Collective
Health, Bind Health Insurance, Bright Health Group, Oscar and Centivo, which have all raised substantial venture
capital funds, are pursuing a similar strategy to ours, and share our vision to use technology to transform the
healthcare payer space. We believe that like us, Collective Health and Clover Health are also targeting at self-
insured employers. Although all of them are relatively young companies, they have products in the market already
and are known to provide technology-driven TPA services. These companies claim to save employers money and
also claim to have high retention rates.

Some of the competitors named above perform care management functions as part of their offerings.
Currently, we offer this function through our strategic partners. In the future, we may bring this function in-house.
We believe our A.I.-enabled predictions further differentiate our solution by being able to steer Members to the
appropriate healthcare Provider sooner. The ultimate gauge of success in our market will be who can help
employers reduce the growth of long-term healthcare spending while also improving the quality of healthcare
solutions.
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Government Regulation

Overview

We believe that our business and operations as outlined above are in substantial compliance with applicable
laws and regulations. Only a treating physician can determine if a prediction made by our TopCare® program is
correct or appropriate for any individual patient. However, Marpai does not currently share its TopCare®
predictions with patients or their providers. Our future prospects are subject to the legal, regulatory, commercial
and scientific risks outlined below and under the section titled, “Risk Factors.”

The healthcare industry is highly regulated and continues to undergo significant changes as third-party payors,
such as Medicare and Medicaid, traditional indemnity insurers, managed care organizations and other private
payors, increase efforts to control cost, utilization and delivery of healthcare services. Healthcare companies are
subject to extensive and complex federal, state and local laws, regulations and judicial decisions.

Health Care Reform

The Affordable Care Act or the ACA was enacted into law in 2010. The provisions of the ACA are
comprehensive and varied and are generally directed at implementing health insurance reforms to increase health
insurance coverage and reduce the number of uninsured and reshaping the health care delivery system to increase
quality and efficiency and reduce cost. Certain provisions of the ACA took effect immediately or within a
few months, while others will be phased in over time, ranging from one year to ten years. Because of the
complexity of health care reform generally, additional legislation is likely to be considered and enacted over time.
The ACA, and any subsequent health care reform legislation, will require the promulgation of substantial
regulations with significant effect on the health care industry. Thus, the health care industry may be subjected to
significant new statutory and regulatory requirements, and consequently to structural and operational changes and
challenges, for a substantial period of time.

Reimbursement

Neither we nor our self-insured Clients receive reimbursements from federal health care programs such as
Medicare and Medicaid. If in the future, we receive reimbursements from these programs, which are subject to
complex statutory and regulatory requirements, administrative rulings, interpretations of policy, determinations by
fiscal intermediaries and government funding restrictions, all of which would materially increase or decrease
reimbursement to our Company.

Fraud and Abuse

Health care fraud and abuse laws have been enacted at the federal and state levels to regulate both the
provision of services to government program beneficiaries and the methods and requirements for submitting claims
for services rendered to such beneficiaries. In addition, certain fraud and abuse laws may extend to payor sources
other than federal or state-funded programs. Under these laws, individuals and organizations can be penalized for
various activities, including submitting claims for services that are not provided, are billed in a manner other than
as actually provided, are not medically necessary, are provided by an improper person, are accompanied by an
illegal inducement to utilize or refrain from utilizing a service or product, or are billed in a manner that does not
comply with applicable government requirements. Both individuals and organizations are subject to prosecution
under the criminal and civil fraud and abuse statutes relating to health care providers.

The federal anti-kickback law (the “Anti-Kickback Law”) prohibits, among other things, knowingly and
willfully offering or receiving remuneration to induce the referral of items or services that are reimbursable by a
federal health care program. The Office of Inspector General has issued a series of regulations, known as the “safe
harbors” which immunizes the parties to the business arrangement from prosecution under the Anti-Kickback Law.
The failure of a business arrangement to fit within a safe harbor does not necessarily mean that the arrangement is
illegal. Many states have adopted laws similar to the Anti-Kickback Law, and some apply to items and services
reimbursable by any payor, including private insurers.
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The so-called Stark Law prohibits physician referrals of Medicare patients to an entity providing certain
“designated health services” if the physician or an immediate family member of the physician has any financial
relationship with the entity and the financial relationship does not fall within one of the enumerated exceptions to
the Stark Law. In addition to the Stark Law, many states have their own self-referral bans, which may extend to all
self-referrals, regardless of the payor.

The federal False Claims Act imposes liability for the submission (or causing the submission) of false or
fraudulent claims for payment to the federal government. The knowing and improper failure to return an
overpayment can serve as the basis for a False Claims Act action and Medicare and Medicaid overpayments must
be reported and returned within 60 days of identification. The qui tam provisions of the False Claims Act allow a
private individual to bring an action on behalf of the federal government and to share in any amounts paid by the
defendant to the government in connection with the action. Various states have enacted similar laws modeled after
the False Claims Act that apply to items and services reimbursed under Medicaid and other state health care
programs, and, in several states, such laws apply to claims submitted to all payors.

The federal Healthcare Fraud Statute prohibits the knowing and willful execution of a scheme to defraud any
health care benefit program, including a private insurer. It also prohibits falsifying, concealing, or covering up a
material fact or making any materially false, fictitious, or fraudulent statement in connection with the delivery of or
payment for health care benefits, items, or services. In addition, state analogs often prohibit similar conduct.

State and Federal Privacy and Data Security Laws

The Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 and its implementing regulations (HIPAA)
and the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act of 2009 and its implementing
regulations (HITECH) govern the collection, use, disclosure, maintenance and transmission of identifiable patient
information (“Protected Health Information” or “PHI”). HIPAA and HITECH apply to covered entities, which may
include health plans as well as to those entities that contract with covered entities (“Business Associates”).
HITECH imposes breach notification obligations that require the reporting of breaches of “Unsecured Protected
Health Information” or PHI that has not been encrypted or destroyed in accordance with federal standards.

In addition, other federal and state laws afford additional protections to certain categories of sensitive
information. Such protections are commonly afforded to substance abuse, mental health, or information concerning
certain contagious diseases.

In addition to the federal privacy and security laws and regulations, most states have enacted data security
laws, and breach notification laws, governing other types of personal data such as employee and customer
information.

State Managed Care Laws

State insurance and managed cared laws and regulations regulate the contractual relationships with managed
care organizations, utilization review programs and third-party administrator activities. These regulations differ
from state to state, and may contain network, contracting, and financial and reporting requirements, as well as
specific standards for delivery of services, payment of claims, and adequacy of health care professional networks.
These laws may apply to the Company in the event we engage in business transactions with state managed care
programs.

Corporate practice of medicine and fee-splitting and laws

Many states have laws prohibiting physicians from practicing medicine in partnership with non-physicians,
such as business corporations. In addition, many states, including New York, prohibit certain licensed professional,
like physicians, from sharing professional fees with non-licensees. As we do not engage in the practice of medicine,
we do not contract with licensees to render professional medical services, and we do not split fees with any medical
professionals, we do not believe these laws restrict our business. We merely monitor and analyze historical claims
data, including our Members’ interactions with licensed
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healthcare professionals, and recommend the most suitable healthcare providers and/or sources of treatment. We do
not provide medical prognosis or healthcare. In accordance with various states’ corporate practice of medicine laws
and states’ laws and regulations which define the practice of medicine, our call center staff are prohibited from
providing Members with any evaluation of any medical condition, diagnosis, prescription, care and/or treatment.
Rather, our call center staff can only provide Members with general and publicly available information that is non-
specific to the Members’ medical conditions and statistical information about the prevalence of medical conditions
within certain populations or under certain circumstances. Our call center staff do not discuss Members’ individual
medical conditions and are prohibited from asking Members for any additional protected health information (PHI)
as such term is defined under HIPAA. Our call center staff have been trained and instructed to always inform
Members that they are not licensed medical professionals, are not providing medical advice, and that Members
should reach out to their medical provider for any medical advice.

However, any determination by a state court or regulatory agency that our service contracts with our clients
violate these laws could subject us to civil or criminal penalties, invalidate all or portions of some of those
contracts, require us to change or terminate some portions of our business, require us to refund portions of our
services fees, and have an adverse effect on our business. Even an unsuccessful challenge by regulatory authorities
of our activities could result in adverse publicity and could require a costly response from us. In the event that in
the future we will share or allow access by Members to the contents of our alerts or related information, we will
endeavor to do so only in full compliance with regulatory requirements, including, potentially, those regulations
regarding the corporate practice of medicine, fee-splitting laws, and medical profession regulation.

State Laws Governing Licensure of Healthcare Professionals

State professional licensing boards contain requirements for the licensure of health care professionals and
typically require a healthcare professional who is providing professional services in that state to be licensed. Some
state licensing boards specifically address the licensure of professionals who are providing services via telephone
or other electronic means. The requirements for licensure generally apply where individuals are engaged in a
licensed activity. If we elect to hire a licensed professional to engage in a licensed profession, those individuals
may be subject to state licensing laws. In addition, hiring licensed professionals may implicate state prohibitions on
the corporate practice of medicine.

Finally, as a TPA, we must maintain active TPA licenses in all states that are not expressly exempt from
requiring a TPA license where we conduct business.

Employees

As of October 26, 2021, we have a total of 131 full-time employees, with 12 of them located in Tel Aviv,
Israel. None of them are parties to any labor agreements or are represented by a labor union. Except for Ronnie
Brown, our Chief Operating Officer, all our executive officers are full-time employees.

Properties

Continental’s principal executive and administrative offices are located at 5701 East Hillsborough Ave., Suite
1417, Tampa, Florida, and consist of leased office space totaling approximately 32,842 square feet, which will
expire in November 2023. Its base rent is approximately $49,360 per month, subject to annual adjustments, with
aggregate minimum lease commitments at December 31, 2020, totaling approximately $1,970,695.

Marpai Health leases an additional 3,089 square feet of corporate office space for our wholly-owned
subsidiary which houses our research and development team in Tel Aviv, Israel. Rent is approximately $10,500 per
month. Current lease will expire in June 2024.

We believe that the current office space is adequate to meet our needs.

Legal Proceedings

We are subject to litigation arising in the ordinary course of our business, including litigation principally
relating to our TPA business. Although the results of litigation and claims are inherently unpredictable and
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uncertain, we are not currently a party to any legal proceedings the outcome of which, if determined adversely to
us, are believed to, either individually or taken together, material to our business, results of operations, cash flows
or financial condition. Certain legal proceedings to which Continental Benefits is currently a party are detailed
below.

IRS Penalty Notice — Continental Benefits

In September 2020, Continental Benefits received Notice 972CGs from the IRS regarding certain tax penalties
related to prior year 1099 tax filings. Based on the opinion of Continental Benefits’ counsel, although Continental
Benefits is in the process of appealing, the full amount of penalties and interest of $1,532,185 has been accrued as
of December 31, 2020. Further interest has been put on hold by the IRS as the Company pursues the appeals
process. Continental submitted a response letter to the Notice 972CGs on November 12, 2020 (“Response Letter”)
requesting that the IRS not assess this penalty, under the requirement of IRC 6724(a), because Continental Benefits
acted in a responsible and reasonable manner, and the incorrectly reported payee information arose from events
beyond Continental Benefits’ control and was not due to willful neglect. Specifically, Continental Benefits
requested removal of the penalty because the incorrectly reported information at issue was determined to have
been received by Continental Benefits from the payees directly and Continental made initial and, when required,
annual solicitations to payees to furnish correct TINs. The Company recently received a letter dated March 8, 2021
from the IRS that granted a $678,780 waiver for the full amount of the 1099 penalties the tax year 2018. In
June 2021, the Company received written confirmation from the IRS that all outstanding penalties have been
waived and that nothing is due to the IRS from the Company. The Company has completely reversed the accrual as
of June 30, 2021.

CMS/Zelis Litigation

By letter dated September 3, 2020, the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (“CMS”) notified
Continental of a complaint alleging that Continental Benefits uses a clearinghouse (“Zelis”) that charges
a percentage-based fee for Electronic Funds Transfer (“EFT”) transactions, which potentially violates HIPAA, 45
CFR 162.923(a).

CMS has indicated that the issue of providers being charged to conduct standard transactions is an industry-
wide concern, and that CMS is investigating the issue. During the investigation, and until a decision is made, CMS
advises that the complaint will remain open. It is in a review status and will not escalate or require additional
information from Continental Benefits at this time. CMS has advised it will contact Continental Benefits if there
are any questions or changes. There are no outstanding deadlines or next steps at this time.

Intellectual Property

We rely on a combination of trade secrets, patent, trademark and copyright laws in the United States, as well
as intellectual property licenses and other contractual rights (including confidentiality procedures, contractual
provisions, and non-disclosure and assignment-of-intellectual property agreements with our employees,
independent contractors, consultants and companies with which we conduct business) to establish and protect our
A.I. technology, intellectual property and proprietary rights, trade secrets, databases, and our brand.

We have registered TopCare® as a service mark in the United States, and we are the registered holder of a
domain name that includes “Marpai, Inc.” We also have three patent applications pending in the United States, in
the general area of generating and displaying sales leads and referrals, and gathering data in the healthcare arena.
While Marpai Health continues to consult with counsel on the advisability to seek patent protection of some of its
algorithms, Marpai Health relies heavily on trade secrets to protect its intellectual property around its A.I.
technology.

We continue to maintain our intellectual property and confidential business information in a number of ways.
For instance, we have a policy of requiring all employees and consultants to execute confidentiality agreements
upon the commencement of an employment or consulting relationship with us. Our employee agreements also
require relevant employees to assign to us all rights to any inventions made or conceived
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during their employment with us in accordance with applicable law. In addition, we have a policy of requiring
individuals and entities with which we discuss potential business relationships to sign non-disclosure agreements.
Lastly, our agreements with Clients include confidentiality and non-disclosure provisions.
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MANAGEMENT

Officers, Directors and Director Nominees

Our current five executive officers and seven directors are as follows:

Name Age Position

Edmundo Gonzalez 48 Chief Executive Officer, Secretary and Director
Yoram Bibring 64 Chief Financial Officer
Ronnie Brown 68 Chief Operating Officer
Arthur Hoath, IV 52 Chief Revenue Officer
Alice Roth 60 President (Marpai Labs)
Yaron Eitan 64 Chairman of the Board of Directors
Damien Lamendola 65 Director
Gonen Antebi 48 Director
Jane Cavalier Lucas 60 Director
Vincent Kane 48 Director
Colleen DiClaudio 43 Director

Member of the Audit Committee
Member of the Compensation Committee

Business Experience

The following is a brief account of the education and business experience of our current directors and
executive officers:

Edmundo Gonzalez, Chief Executive Officer, Secretary and Director

Mr. Gonzalez has served as our Chief Executive Officer, Secretary, and a member of our board of directors
since inception. He also served as the co-founder and Chief Executive Officer of Marpai Health since its inception
in February 2019. He is the current owner of Grays West Ventures, LLC, a company through which he provided
consultant services.

Mr. Gonzalez is a technology entrepreneur and investor in private and publicly traded companies with over
20 years of experience. From December 2013 to December 2018, Mr. Gonzalez served as a Partner of CNTP’s US
VC Partners Management, LLC, a management company running CNTP’s series of investment funds, where he
analyzed potential investments, structured deals, and monitored companies post-investment. From October 2015 to
September 2020, Mr. Gonzalez served as a consultant to, and Co-founder and Chairman of the Board of
FreightHub, Inc., a digital cross-border logistics company, which is now completing a transaction to become a
publicly-traded company. Mr. Gonzalez also currently serves as Manager of Grays West Ventures LLC, Manager
of Grays West Ventures II LLC, Manager of Grays West Real Estate LLC, and Manager of Selway Capital LLC.

Previously, Mr. Gonzalez was the co-founder and member of the Board of 340Basics Technologies, a
healthcare IT company that grew from zero to $40 million of revenue in 5 years. He received a B.A. from Harvard
University and an M.B.A. from Columbia Business School.

We believe that Mr. Gonzalez is qualified to serve as a member of our board of directors based on his
experience building successful companies and analyzing potential investments, and perspective he brings as the
former Chief Executive Officer of Marpai Health.

Yoram Bibring, Chief Financial Officer

Mr. Bibring has served as our Chief Financial Officer since September 1, 2021. In recent years, Mr. Bibring
has focused on working with healthcare and analytics companies. Mr. Bibring served as Chief
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Financial Officer at Touchcast, Inc. from October 2020 to August 2021. From January 2020 to October 2020,
Mr. Bibring served as Chief Financial Officer of MKM Ventures. He served as Chief Financial Officer of
SundaySky, Inc. from July 2017 to March 2018. Mr. Bibring served as Chief Financial Officer at Earnix from
November 2016 July 2017.

Mr. Bibring is a finance and accounting veteran with over 20 years of experience. He received a B.S. from Tel
Aviv University.

Ronnie Brown, Chief Operating Officer

Ms. Brown has served as our Chief Operating Officer since April 1, 2021. She also served as a Senior Advisor
for Marpai Health from February 2020 to April 2021, providing advice and counsel to Marpai Health relevant to
self-funded health programs and the integration of technology in processing claims. She is a healthcare industry
veteran with over 30 years of experience in the self-funded healthcare insurance market. She has diverse
experience in healthcare operations, benefit plan administration, cost containment, health care analytics, medical
stop-loss and electronic provider payments. A frequent industry speaker, she served as national Chairperson of the
Society of Professional Benefit Administrators and has been a presenter at Self Insurance Institute of America’s
conferences.

From January 2013 to January 2016, Ms. Brown served as Chief Operating Officer at Zelis Healthcare
(formerly Pay-Plus Solutions). From January 2016 to January 2020, she served as Vice President of Client Services
and Special Projects at Inetico (currently Valenz Health). From March 2009 to July 2011, she served as Chief
Operating Officer at First Services Administrators, a Florida-based Third Party Administrator. From June 1988 to
February 2009, she served as Regional Vice President of Self Insured Benefit Administrators, a Florida-based
Third Party Administrator. She received an AA from New York Technical College.

Arthur Hoath, Chief Revenue Officer

Mr. Hoath has served as our Chief Revenue Officer since April 5, 2021. He is a sales and marketing leader
with over 20 years of experience in several healthcare sectors, including healthcare cost management, payor
management, and specialty managed care. He has also been very active in industry conferences, such as HCAA,
SIIA and SPBA.

Mr. Hoath served as Senior Vice President of Sales and Marketing at AMPS (Advanced Medical Pricing
Solutions) from October 2019 to April 2021, where he managed strategic sales and marketing for next-generation
medical claims solutions for payors, brokers, and employers. He also served as Executive Vice President of
Business Development at Inetico (currently Valenz Health) from January 2016 to October 2019, and Executive
Vice President of Sales and Marketing at Zelis (formerly Pay-Plus Solutions) from April 2013 to January 2016. He
received a B.S. from West Chester University.

Alice Roth, President of Marpai Labs

Ms. Roth has served as our President of Marpai Labs since July 17, 2021. Ms. Roth served as CEO of MAO
Food Technologies Ltd. from January 2020 to July 2021. From August 2017 to December 2018, Ms. Roth was
Business Unit Manager for one of the Property & Casualty Platforms at Sapiens. From May 2016 to February 2017,
Ms. Roth served as the CEO of Enolog Wise Technologies Ltd.. From August 2011 to February 2016, Ms. Roth
served as the VP of Research & Development and General Manager of Israel at DVTEL.

Ms. Roth is a technology and innovation leader with over 20 years of experience. She received a B.S. from
Tel Aviv University.

Yaron Eitan, Chairman of the Board

Mr. Eitan has served as Chairman of our board of directors since April 1, 2021. He served Chairman of the
board of directors of Marpai Health since its inception in February 2019. Mr. Eitan has also served as a member of
the board of directors of Nano Dimension, Ltd. (NASDAQ: NNDM) since April 2020, and he continues to serve in
this role. He served as Executive Chairman of the board of directors of DeepCube
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Ltd. from February 2017 to March 2021. Mr. Eitan also continues to serve Emporus, Ltd as a Chairman since
February 2020, and Selway Capital LLC as Managing Partner since December 2008.

Yaron Eitan is a technology entrepreneur and investor of private and publicly traded companies with over
30 years of experience. He is the Chairman of deep learning company Emporus Technologies, Ltd. Previously, he
was the Chairman of deep learning company DeepCube, Ltd. and co-founder and co-Chairman of 340Basics
Technologies. He was a Partner at CNTP, a multi-stage investment fund, where he led all Israeli investments, and
he has been a member of the board of directors of several technology companies. He received a B.S. from Haifa
University and an M.B.A. from The Wharton School of the University of Pennsylvania.

We believe that Mr. Eitan is qualified to serve as a member of our board of directors based on his significant
technology and entrepreneurship expertise, the perspective he brings as the former Chairman of Marpai Health, and
his deep learning background.

Damien Lamendola, Director

Mr. Lamendola joined the Board on April 1, 2021. Mr. Lamendola founded Continental Benefits in 2013 and
was previously the Chief Executive Officer until 2019. Mr. Lamendola has served as President of HillCour
Holding Corporation (f/k/a Welldyne Holding Corp.) since March 2002, and he continues to serve in this role.
Mr. Lamendola also continues to serve HillCour Holding Corporation as a Board Member since 2017,
WellDyneRx, LLC as a Board Member since 2017, and HillCour Investment Fund, LLC as Manager since 2017.

As President of HillCour Holding Corporation, Mr. Lamendola leads and oversees all strategic operations of
multiple operating companies in the health care space. He received a B.S. from McNeese State University and an
M.B.A. from Washington University.

We believe that Mr. Lamendola is qualified to serve as a member of our board of directors based on his
perspective and experience building and leading strategic corporate operations and his expertise in the health care
industry.

Gonen Antebi, Director

Mr. Antebi became a director on the date of this prospectus. Mr. Antebi has served as CEO of 340B
Technologies d/b/a Nuvem since May 2015, and he continues to serve in this role. He also served as the CFO of
Nuvem between May 2015 and November 2020.

As CEO of 340B Technologies d/b/a Nuvem, Mr. Antebi oversees all strategic operations. As the CFO, he
oversaw Nuvem’s accounting and reporting, tax and Financial Planning and Analysis functional departments and
had direct responsibility for analyzing Nuvem’s financial strengths and weaknesses, cash management and
forecasting. Mr. Antebi worked closely with independent accounting firms to issue quarterly and annual financial
reports and controlled day-to-day risk management activities. He received a B.A. from The College of
Management Academic Studies.

We believe that Mr. Antebi is qualified to serve as a member of our board of directors based on his
perspective and experience leading strategic corporate operations and his financial expertise and experience in the
health care industry.

Jane Cavalier Lucas, Director

Ms. Cavalier Lucas became a director on the date of this prospectus. Ms. Cavalier Lucas has served as CEO of
BrightMark LLC since April 2016, and she continues to serve in this role.

As CEO, Ms. Cavalier Lucas leads BrightMark LLC’s consulting business which provides branding and
marketing solutions for business clients. She served as co-founder and CEO of Bright Sun Consulting from
June 1996 to August 2000. She served as Executive Vice President of Strategic Planning Worldwide of McCann
Erickson from October 1994 to May 1996. Ms. Cavalier Lucas received a B.S. from Union College.
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We believe that Ms. Cavalier Lucas is qualified to serve as a member of our board of directors based on her
perspective and experience providing branding and marketing solutions for business clients, and her experience in
the health care industry.

Vincent Kane, Director

Mr. Kane became a director on the date of this prospectus. Mr. Kane has served as Senior Director & Actuary
of Health and Group Benefits at Willis Towers Watson, a global risk management, insurance brokerage and
advisory company, since February 2011, and he continues to serve in this role. As a Senior Director, Mr. Kane
provides senior actuary consulting on client strategic design, pricing, financial analysis, health analytics and
intellectual capital development at Willis Towers Watson New England. Previously, he was an actuary at Tufts
Health Plan, Verisk Health, Towers Perrin, Manulife Financial and Aetna. Mr. Kane received a B.A. from Harvard
University and an M.A. from The Wharton School of the University of Pennsylvania.

We believe that Mr. Kane is qualified to serve as a member of our board of directors based on his perspective
and experience leading health analytics and intellectual capital development projects, and his experience in the
health care industry.

Colleen DiClaudio, Director

Ms. DiClaudio became a director on the date of this prospectus. Ms. DiClaudio has served as President and
Founder of 340B Technologies d/b/a Nuvem since August 2014, and she continues to serve in this role.
Ms. DiClaudio also continues to serve SRAX, Inc. as a member of its board of directors since September 2017, and
she served as vice president of business development of CompleteCare Health Network from June 2009 through
August 2014.

As President and Founder of 340B Technologies DBA Nuvem, Ms. DiClaudio oversees day-to-day
operations. She received a Master’s Degree of Public Health from the University of Medicine and Dentistry of
New Jersey and a Bachelor’s Degree in Public Health from Stockton University.

We believe that Ms. DiClaudio is qualified to serve as a member of our board of directors based on her
experience in business development and the healthcare technology sector, as well as her entrepreneurial
background.

Number and Terms of Office of Officers and Directors

Our board of directors has seven members, four of whom are deemed “independent” under SEC and Nasdaq
rules.

Our officers are appointed by the board of directors and serve at the discretion of the board of directors, rather
than for specific terms of office. Our board of directors is authorized to appoint persons to the offices set forth in
our certificate of incorporation as it deems appropriate.

Director Independence

Nasdaq listing standards require that a majority of our board of directors be independent. An “independent
director” is defined generally as a person other than an officer or employee of the company or its subsidiaries or
any other individual having a relationship with the company which in the opinion of the company’s board of
directors, could interfere with the director’s exercise of independent judgment in carrying out the responsibilities of
a director. We have “independent directors” as defined in Nasdaq’s listing standards and applicable SEC rules. Our
board of directors has determined that Gonen Antebi, Jane Cavalier Lucas, Vincent Kane and Colleen DiClaudio,
are “independent directors” as defined in the Nasdaq listing standards and applicable SEC rules. Our independent
directors have regularly scheduled meetings at which only independent directors are present.

Committees of the Board of Directors

Our board of directors has two standing committees: an audit committee and a compensation committee.
Subject to phase-in rules and a limited exception, the rules of Nasdaq and Rule 10A-3 of the
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Exchange Act require that the audit committee of a listed company be comprised solely of independent directors.
Subject to phase-in rules and a limited exception, the rules of Nasdaq require that the compensation committee of a
listed company be comprised solely of independent directors. Each committee operates under a charter that has
been approved by our board and has the composition and responsibilities described below. The charter of each
committee will be available on our website.

Audit Committee

We have established an audit committee of the board of directors. Applicable rules of the Nasdaq require a
listed company’s audit committee to be comprised of three independent directors within one year of listing. Gonen
Antebi, Colleen DiClaudio, and Vincent Kane serve as members of our audit committee. Gonen Antebi serves as
the chairman of the audit committee. Each member of the audit committee meets the financial literacy requirements
of Nasdaq and our board of directors has determined that Gonen Antebi qualifies as an “audit committee financial
expert” as defined in applicable SEC rules and has accounting or related financial management expertise.

The audit committee’s duties, which are specified in the charter adopted by us and include, but are not limited
to:

meeting with our independent registered public accounting firm regarding, among other issues, audits, and
adequacy of our accounting and control systems;

monitoring the independence of the independent registered public accounting firm;

verifying the rotation of the lead (or coordinating) audit partner having primary responsibility for the audit
and the audit partner responsible for reviewing the audit as required by law;

inquiring and discussing with management our compliance with applicable laws and regulations;

pre-approving all audit services and permitted non-audit services to be performed by our independent
registered public accounting firm, including the fees and terms of the services to be performed, and
establishing pre-approval policies and procedures;

appointing or replacing the independent registered public accounting firm;

determining the compensation and oversight of the work of the independent registered public accounting
firm (including resolution of disagreements between management and the independent auditor regarding
financial reporting) for the purpose of preparing or issuing an audit report or related work;

establishing procedures for the receipt, retention and treatment of complaints received by us regarding
accounting, internal accounting controls or reports which raise material issues regarding our financial
statements or accounting policies;

monitoring compliance on a quarterly basis with the terms of this offering and, if any noncompliance is
identified, immediately taking all action necessary to rectify such noncompliance or otherwise causing
compliance with the terms of this offering;

obtaining and reviewing a report, at least annually, from the independent registered public accounting firm
describing (i) the independent registered public accounting firm’s internal quality-control procedures,
(ii) any material issues raised by the most recent internal quality-control review, or peer review, of the audit
firm, or by any inquiry or investigation by governmental or professional authorities within the preceding
five years respecting one or more independent audits carried out by the firm and any steps taken to deal with
such issues and (iii) all relationships between the independent registered public accounting firm and us to
assess the independent registered public accounting firm’s independence;

reviewing and approving any related party transaction required to be disclosed pursuant to Item 404 of
Regulation S-K promulgated by the SEC prior to us entering into such transaction;

reviewing with management, the independent registered public accounting firm, and our legal advisors, as
appropriate, any legal, regulatory or compliance matters, including any correspondence with
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regulators or government agencies and any employee complaints or published reports that raise material
issues regarding our financial statements or accounting policies and any significant changes in accounting
standards or rules promulgated by the Financial Accounting Standards Board, the SEC or other regulatory
authorities;

reviewing and discussing with management and the independent registered public accounting firm the annual
audited financial statements, and recommending to the board whether the audited financial statements should
be included in our Form 10-K;

approving reimbursement of expenses incurred by our management team in identifying potential target
businesses; and

reviewing and approving all payments made to our existing shareholders, executive officers or directors and
their respective affiliates. Any payments made to members of our audit committee will be reviewed and
approved by our board of directors, with the interested director or directors abstaining from such review and
approval.

Compensation Committee

We have established a compensation committee of our board of directors. The members of our compensation
committee are Gonen Antebi, Colleen DiClaudio, and Vincent Kane. Colleen DiClaudio serves as chairman of the
compensation committee.

We have adopted a compensation committee charter, which details the principal functions of the compensation
committee, including:

reviewing and approving on an annual basis the corporate goals and objectives relevant to our Chief
Executive Officer’s compensation, evaluating our Chief Executive Officer’s performance in light of such
goals and objectives and determining and approving the remuneration (if any) of our Chief Executive Officer
based on such evaluation;

reviewing and approving the compensation of all of our other Section 16 executive officers;

reviewing our executive compensation policies and plans;

implementing and administering our incentive compensation equity-based remuneration plans;

assisting management in complying with our proxy statement and annual report disclosure requirements;

approving all special perquisites, special cash payments and other special compensation and benefit
arrangements for our executive officers and employees;

producing a report on executive compensation to be included in our annual proxy statement; and

reviewing, evaluating and recommending changes, if appropriate, to the remuneration for directors.

The charter also provides that the compensation committee may, in its sole discretion, retain or obtain the
advice of a compensation consultant, legal counsel or other adviser and will be directly responsible for the
appointment, compensation and oversight of the work of any such adviser. However, before engaging or receiving
advice from a compensation consultant, external legal counsel or any other adviser, the compensation committee
will consider the independence of each such adviser, including the factors required by Nasdaq and the SEC.

Director Nominations

We do not have a standing nominating committee, though we intend to form a corporate governance and
nominating committee as and when required to do so by law or Nasdaq rules. In accordance with Rule 5605 of the
Nasdaq rules, a majority of the independent directors may recommend a director nominee for selection by the
board of directors. The board of directors believes that the independent directors can satisfactorily carry out the
responsibility of properly selecting or approving director nominees without the formation of a standing nominating
committee. The directors who will participate in the consideration and
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recommendation of director nominees are Gonen Antebi, Vincent Kane and Colleen DiClaudio. In accordance with
Rule 5605 of the Nasdaq rules, all such directors are independent. As there is no standing nominating committee,
we do not have a nominating committee charter in place.

The board of directors will also consider director candidates recommended for nomination by our stockholders
during such times as they are seeking proposed nominees to stand for election at the next annual meeting of
stockholders (or, if applicable, a special meeting of stockholders). Our stockholders that wish to nominate a
director for election to our board of directors should follow the procedures set forth in our bylaws.

We have not formally established any specific, minimum qualifications that must be met or skills that are
necessary for directors to possess. In general, in identifying and evaluating nominees for director, the board of
directors considers educational background, diversity of professional experience, knowledge of our business,
integrity, professional reputation, independence, wisdom, and the ability to represent the best interests of our
stockholders.

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation

None of our executive officers currently serves, and in the past year has not served, as a member of the
compensation committee of any entity that has one or more executive officers serving on our board of directors.

Advisory Board

Our board of advisors assists the management team with sourcing and evaluating A.I. and healthcare business
opportunities, and devising plans and strategies to optimize our market opportunities where A.I. and healthcare
payer businesses intersect. None of our advisors have any fiduciary obligations to present business opportunities to
us. Although we do not pay cash compensation to any of our advisors for their services, they are reimbursed for
any-of-pocket expenses in connection with rendering their services and are eligible for stock option awards. We
intend to appoint the following advisors to our Advisory Board and their appointment shall take place upon closing
of this offering:

Dr. Eli David, Chief Science Advisor

Dr. David has served as our Chief Science Advisor since April 1, 2021 and is the Chairman of our Advisory
Board. He was the Chief Scientist of Marpai Health immediately prior to that, and a member of Marpai Health’s
board of directors from June 2019 to January 2021. He is the current owner of Evolint, Ltd, a company through
which he provides consultant services.

Dr. David is a leading expert in the field of artificial intelligence, specializing in deep learning and
evolutionary computation. He has served as the Chief Technology Officer of Machine Learning/Deep Learning
since April 2021 and a member of the board of directors of Nano Dimension, Ltd. (NASDAQ: NNDM) since
January 2021, and he continues to serve in these roles. He has served as co-founder and a member of the board of
Emporus Technologies since June 2019, and continues to serve in this role. He has also served as co-founder and
Chief Technology Officer of DeepCube Ltd. from January 2018 to March 2021. Dr. David also continues to serve:
Deep Instinct Ltd, as a Scientific Advisor since May 2015; Evolint Ltd, as a Consultant since April 2015; and Bar-
Ilan University, as a Lecturer since March 2005.

Dr. David teaches university courses on deep learning and has also published over 50 papers in leading
artificial intelligence journals, mostly focusing on applications to real-world domains. He has won several awards,
including the Technology Pioneer award by the World Economic Forum. Previously, he was the co-founder of
Deep Instinct, the first company to apply deep learning to cybersecurity, and Fifth Dimension. He received a B.S.,
M.S. and Ph.D. from Bar-Ilan University.

Michael Paas

Michael Paas is life sciences executive with experience in biopharmaceutical companies and in strategy
consulting. Currently, he leads the Value & Access organization at AbbVie, a publicly traded biopharmaceutical
company. Previously, he served in leadership positions for global market access and
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pricing at Regeneron and Bristol-Myers Squibb. He received a B.A. from The Johns Hopkins University, an
M.P.H. from the Columbia Mailman School of Public Health and an M.B.A. from the Columbia Business School.

Winston Churchill

Winston Churchill is a long-time investor in in numerous private and publicly traded companies. He has been
the managing general partner of SCP Partners, a multi-stage venture capital firm, since its founding in 1996.
Currently, he is also Board member of three public companies: Amkor Technology, Inc. (NASDAQ: AMKR),
Innovative Solutions & Support, Inc. (NASDAQ: ISSC) and Recro Pharma, Inc. (NASDAQ: REPH). Previously,
he served as Board member of MedStar Health, a $5.6 billion regional healthcare system based in Maryland. He
received a B.S. from Fordham University, an M.A. in Economics from Oxford University as a Rhodes Scholar and
a J.D. degree from Yale Law School.

Ariel Zamir

Ariel Zamir is an artificial intelligence and deep learning leader with commercial deployment experience.
Currently, he is the Chief Operating Officer and Israel General Manager of Cognigo, an A.I.-driven data protection
platform that was acquired by NetApp in 2019. Previously, Ariel was the Vice President of Research &
Development at Fifth Dimension and Research & Development Team Leader at Verint Systems. He received an
M.B.A. from Kellogg-Recanati International.

Code of Ethics

We adopted a Code of Ethics applicable to our directors, officers and employees. A copy of the Code of
Ethics will be provided without charge upon request from us. We intend to disclose any amendments to or waivers
of certain provisions of our Code of Ethics in a Current Report on Form 8-K.
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EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Summary Compensation Table

The following table sets forth the total compensation paid during the last two fiscal years ended December 31,
2019 and December 31, 2020 to our (1) Chief Executive Officer, (2) one other highly compensated executive
officer who earned more than $100,000 during the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020, and (3) two highly
compensated executive officers that were not yet serving as executive officers on December 31, 2020.

Name and Principal Position Year
Salary 

($)  
Bonus

($)

Stock 
Awards 

($) 
Total 

($) 
Edmundo Gonzalez, Chief Executive Officer and

Director  2019 $180,000    — $1,162,764  $1,342,764 
 2020 $240,000    —    $ 240,000 

Mordechai Geva, Former Chief Technology
Officer  2019 $160,078    — $ 643,991  $ 803,989 

 2020 $226,427    —    $ 226,427 
Arthur Hoath, IV, Chief Revenue Officer  2019 $ —    — $ —  $ — 

 2020 $ —    —  —  $ — 
Yoram Bibring, Chief Financial Officer  2019 $ —    — $ —  $ — 

 2020 $ —    — $ —  $ — 

The amounts reported represent the aggregate grant date fair value of the restricted stock awards, in each case,
calculated in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB), Accounting Standards
Codification (“ASC”), Topic 718.
Edmundo Gonzalez joined Marpai Health as Chief Executive Officer since its inception in February 2019, and
continues in this role with Marpai. This amount includes cash salary payments of $20,000 per month for CEO
services as a consultant under a consulting agreement between Marpai Health and Grays West Ventures LLC
dated July 29, 2019.
Edmundo Gonzalez was awarded 822,581 shares of Marpai Health’s restricted stock for an aggregate purchase
price of $18.06 under the terms of a Restricted Stock Purchase Agreement dated July 29, 2019 (the “Grays
West RSA”). Mr. Gonzalez was issued 822,581 shares of our Class B common stock in exchange for his
822,581 restricted shares of Marpai Health on April 1, 2021.
Mordechai Geva joined Marpai Health as Chief Technology Officer in March 2019, and departed from this role
with Marpai on September 1, 2021. This amount includes cash salary payments of NIS 64,800 ($20,153, based
on an exchange ratio of $0.311:1 NIS as of September 2, 2021) plus VAT per month for services as Chief
Technology Officer under a consulting agreement between Marpai and Keystone Systems Ltd., dated July 29,
2019.
Mordechai Geva was awarded 455,582 shares of Marpai Health’s restricted stock for an aggregate purchase
price of $10.00 under the terms of a Restricted Stock Purchase Agreement dated July 29, 2019 (the “Keystone
RSA”). Dr. Geva was issued 100,000 shares of our Class A common stock in exchange for his 100,000
restricted shares of Marpai Health on April 1, 2021.
Arthur Hoath, IV joined Marpai as Chief Revenue Officer in April 2021, and continues in this role. Mr. Hoath,
IV did not receive compensation of any kind from Marpai, or our subsidiaries, in 2019 or 2020.
Yoram Bibring joined Marpai as Chief Financial Officer on September 1, 2021, and continues in this role.
Mr. Bibring did not receive compensation of any kind from Marpai, or our subsidiaries, in 2019 or 2020.

Director Compensation

None of our current three directors has received any compensation for services as a member of the Board of
Directors of either Marpai Health or Continental Benefits during the past two fiscal years. Our
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directors are and will continue to be reimbursed by us for any out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection with
activities conducted on our behalf.

Benefit Plans

We maintain a defined contribution employee retirement plan, or 401(k) plan, for our full-time employees.
Our named executive officers are eligible to participate in the 401(k) plan on the same basis as our other full-time
employees, if they are considered an employee and not a consultant. The 401(k) plan is intended to qualify as a
tax-qualified plan under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code. The 401(k) plan provides that each
participant may make pre-tax deferrals from his or her compensation up to the statutory limit, which is $19,500 for
calendar year 2021, and other testing limits. Participants that are 50 years or older can also make “catch-up”
contributions, which in calendar year 2020 may be up to an additional $6,500 above the statutory limit. Participant
contributions are held and invested, pursuant to the participant’s instructions, by the plan’s trustee.

We have no pension, or profit sharing programs for the benefit of directors, officers or other employees, but
our officers and directors may recommend adoption of one or more such programs in the future. We do not sponsor
any qualified or non-qualified pension benefit plans, nor do we maintain any non-qualified defined contribution or
deferred compensation plans.

2021 Global Stock Incentive Plan

On May 7, 2021, our Board of Directors and the holders of all of our issued and outstanding shares of
common stock approved the adoption of our 2021 Global Stock Incentive Plan (the “2021 Plan”) which is
comprised of (i) an Israeli Sub-Plan that is designated for Israeli residents; and (ii) a U.S. Sub-Plan for U.S.
persons. The 2021 Plan provides for the grant of incentive stock options, restricted stocks, restricted stock units,
and other equity-based awards (collectively, the “Awards”). We had reserved a total of 1,503,421 shares of Class A
common stock for grants of Awards to our employees, directors, advisory board members, consultants and the like
(collectively, the “Participants”) under the 2021 Plan (including the Israeli Sub-Plan and the U.S. Sub-Plan) or
otherwise as shall be determined by the Board or any committee designated by it. No option grants shall be made
under the 2021 Plan or the Israeli Sub-Plan until the date which is 30 days after filing the relevant forms with the
Israeli Tax Authority (the “ITA”), or such earlier date at which the 2021 Plan may be approved by the ITA. The
2021 Plan shall expire in May 2031.

If any Common Stock with respect to which the Participant has the right to purchase and/or receive under the
2021 Plan shall terminate, expire or otherwise cease to exist, such Common Stock shall again be available for grant
as Awards under the 2021 Plan. To date, incentive stock options for 1,503,421 shares of Class A common stock
have been approved by the Board for grant under the 2021 Plan, with 25% of the options vesting on the first
anniversary of the grant, and 6.25% at the end of each sequent three-month period over the following three years.

Director and Officer Liability Insurance

We intend to purchase director and officer liability insurance that provides financial protection for our
directors and officers in the event that they are sued in connection with the performance of their services and also
provides employment practices liability coverage, which insures for harassment and discrimination suits.

Employment Agreements

Chief Executive Officer

On July 29, 2019, we entered into a one-year consulting agreement with Grays West Ventures LLC for
consulting services from our Chief Executive Officer, Edmundo Gonzalez, which automatically renewed after an
initial one-year term until April 1, 2021. Mr. Gonzalez received an annual base salary of $20,000 per month in each
of 2019 and 2020, and compensation in the form of the right to purchase 822,581 shares of Marpai Health’s
common stock in 2019. No equity awards were granted to Mr. Gonzalez during 2020.
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Mr. Gonzalez did not receive any annual bonus during the fiscal years ended December 31, 2019 and December 31,
2020. Mr. Gonzalez received benefits equal to $4,533.52 in 2019, and $14,197.81 in 2020.

On April 1, 2021, we entered into an at-will employment agreement with Mr. Gonzalez, which remains in
effect as of the date of this prospectus. Mr. Gonzalez receives a base salary of $350,000 per year, and he may
receive an annual bonus based on mutually agreed performance targets. Mr. Gonzalez receives participation in the
company’s self-insured group medical and dental plan , a 401k plan with 5% contribution match by the company
(up to allowed limits), and short-term and long-term disability benefits.

Mr. Gonzalez’s employment agreement provides that that he will be entitled to severance if we terminate his
employment without “Cause” (as defined in the employment agreement), if he terminates his employment for
“Good Reason” (as defined in the employment agreement), or following his death or permanent disability. In any
event in which Mr. Gonzalez is entitled to severance pursuant to these provisions, we shall continue to pay
Mr. Gonzalez his then-in-effect base salary and provide benefit continuation at our expense for a period of
six months from the date of termination of employment if during his first year of employment; for a period of
nine months from the date of termination of employment if terminated on or after the one-year anniversary but
before the two-year anniversary of his employment date; and for twelve months from the date of termination of
employment if he is terminated after the two-year anniversary of his employment. Any severance payable to
Mr. Gonzalez shall be payable in equal installments in the same manner and in our regular payroll cycle as other
salaried executive employees are paid.

Chief Financial Officer

On June 17, 2021, we entered into an at will employment agreement with our Chief Financial Officer, Yoram
Bibring, which remains in effect as of the date of this prospectus. Mr. Bibring has served as our Chief Financial
Officer since September 1, 2021 and he receives a base salary of $255,000 per year. He may receive an annual
bonus that is equal to 50% of the annualized rate of his base salary with the exception of Mr. Bibring’s target 2021
bonus, which is $75,000, based on mutually agreed performance targets. Mr. Bibring’s employment agreement also
includes compensation in the form of 125,000 options to purchase Class A common stock, under our 2021 Global
Share Incentive Plan. These 125,000 options will vest over four years, with 15,625 vesting at the six-month
anniversary of his initial employment, an additional 15,625 vesting at the first anniversary of his initial
employment date, 2,604 vesting at each of the following 35 months after the first anniversary, and 2,610 vesting at
month 36. Mr. Bibring’s employment agreement provides that full vesting will take place if Marpai is sold or
otherwise in the event of a change in control of Marpai (other than as a result of this offering). The exercise price
per share for these options will be the price at which shares of Class A common stock are sold in this offering.
Mr. Bibring receives participation in the company’s self-insured group medical and dental plan, a 401k plan with
5% contribution match by the company (up to allowed limits), and short-term and long-term disability benefits.

Mr. Bibring’s employment agreement provides that he will be entitled to severance if we terminate his
employment of: (1) twelve months of his salary, target bonus and benefits, if Marpai is sold or in the event of a
change of control of Marpai (other than as a result of this offering) that results in his termination within 24 months;
or (2) six months, for any other situation where we terminate his employment without cause. Any severance
payable to Mr. Bibring shall be payable in equal installments in the same manner and in our regular payroll cycle as
other salaried executive employees are paid.

Former Chief Technology Officer

We entered into an indefinite consulting agreement with our former Chief Technology Officer, Mordechai
Geva, through our subsidiary, EYME Technologies, Ltd. on July 29, 2019, which was terminated on September 1,
2021. Under the terms of this consulting agreement, Mr. Geva provided services to the Company as an independent
contractor, through his wholly-owned company, Keystone Systems Ltd. Mr. Geva received a base salary of NIS
64,800 ($20,153, based on an exchange ratio of $0.311:1 NIS:1 NIS as of September 2, 2021) plus VAT per month
in each of 2019 and 2020, and compensation in the form of the right to purchase 455,582 shares of Marpai Health’s
common stock. Mr. Geva did not receive any annual bonus during the fiscal years ended December 31, 2019 and
December 31, 2020. No equity awards were granted to Mr. Geva during 2020. Mr. Geva’s compensation was paid
to his wholly owned company, Keystone and he was responsible for all of his own benefits.
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On March 24, 2021, we entered into an at will employment agreement with Mr. Geva. Mr. Geva received an
annual base salary of NIS 56,250 ($17,494, based on an exchange ratio of $0.311:1 NIS as of September 2, 2021)
plus social benefits per month. Mr. Geva was entitled to receive Pension Insurance not to exceed 15.83% of his
salary and Study Fund contributions not to exceed 7.5% (but in any event, not more than the maximum amount
allowable under the tax regulations without causing any tax liability). This employment agreement was mutually
terminated on August 31, 2021.

Under the terms of the March 24, 2021 employment agreement, Mr. Geva will receive severance payment
equal to two months’ pay.

Chief Revenue Officer

We entered into an at will employment agreement with our Chief Revenue Officer, Arthur Hoath, IV, on
March 9, 2021, which remains in effect as of the date of this prospectus. Mr. Hoath will receive a base salary of
$240,000 per year, and compensation in the form of 182,233 options to purchase Class A common stock, under the
company’s 2019 Global Share Incentive Plan. These 182,233 options will vest over four years with 25% of the
options vesting on the first anniversary of the grant, and 6.25% at the end of each sequent three-month period over
the following three years. The exercise price per share for these options will be the price at which shares of Class A
common stock are sold in the offering. Mr. Hoath received a signing bonus of $15,000, and he may receive a bonus
of up to $90,000, for a Year 1 advance and mutually agreed commissions on net revenue. Mr. Hoath receives
participation in the company’s self-insured group medical and dental plan, a 401k plan with 5% contribution match
by the company (up to allowed limits), and short-term and long-term disability benefits.

President of Marpai Labs

On July 4, 2021, we entered into an at will employment agreement with our President of Marpai Labs, Alice
Roth, which remains in effect as of the date of this prospectus. Ms. Roth receives a base salary of $70,000 NIS
($21,770, based on an exchange ratio of $0.311:1 NIS as of September 2, 2021) per month, and she may receive an
annual bonus that is equal to 20% of the annualized rate of her base salary, based on mutually agreed performance
targets. Ms. Roth’s employment agreement also includes compensation in the form of 125,000 options to purchase
Class A common stock, under the company’s 2021 Global Share Incentive Plan. These 125,000 options will vest
over four years with 25% of the options vesting on the first anniversary of the grant, 2,604 vesting at each of the
following 35 months after the first anniversary, and 2,610 vesting at month 36. The exercise price per share for
these options will be the price at which shares of Class A common stock are sold in this offering. Ms. Roth
receives executive benefits including group medical and dental insurance offered to all full-time salaried
employees.

Ms. Roth’s employment agreement provides that that she will be entitled to severance if we terminate her
employment in an amount equal to three months’ salary and social benefits. Any severance payable to Ms. Roth
shall be payable in equal installments in the same manner and in our regular payroll cycle as other salaried
executive employees are paid.
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CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the compensation arrangements, including employment, termination of employment and with
our directors and executive officers, including those discussed in the sections titled “Management” and “Executive
Compensation,” and the registration rights described in the section titled “Description of Capital Stock — 
Registration Rights,” the following is a description of each transaction since January 1, 2020 or any currently
proposed transaction in which:

we, Marpai Health or Continental Benefits have been or are to be a party;

the amount involved exceeded or exceeds $120,000 or 1% of the average of our total assets as of the end of
the last two completed fiscal years; and

any of our directors, executive officers or holders of more than 5% of our outstanding capital stock, or any
immediate family member of, or person sharing the household with, any of these individuals or entities, had
or will have a direct or indirect material interest.

For information on our compensation arrangements, including employment, termination of employment and
with our directors and executive officers, see the sections titled “Management” and “Executive Compensation,”
and the registration rights described in the section titled “Description of Capital Stock — Registration Rights.”

Purchase and Reorganization Agreement

On April 1, 2021, we entered into the Purchase and Reorganization Agreement with Mr. Gonzalez, our Chief
Executive Officer, Mr. Eitan, our current Chairman of the Board, Dr. David, our Chief Science Advisor, and other
then stockholders and holders of convertible notes of Marpai Health, Continental Benefits, WellEnterprises USA,
LLC, and for the sole purposes of a joinder in connection with the Guaranteed Obligations, HillCour. On May 7,
2021, parties entered into an addendum to the Purchase and Reorganization Agreement to correct interest
miscalculations on certain Original MH Notes. Pursuant to the terms of the Purchase and Reorganization
Agreement, we acquired all of the outstanding capital stock of Marpai Health and all of the outstanding
membership interests of Continental Benefits. Prior to the Closing of the Acquisition in April 2021, Continental
Benefits was 100% owned by WellEnterprises USA LLC which was 100% owned by HillCour. HillCour is 100%
owned by HillCour Holding Corporation. Our Director, Damien Lamendola, is the indirect majority owner of
WellEnterprises USA, LLC and HillCour, and the direct majority owner of HillCour Holding Corporation. Giving
effect to the conversion of the New Notes and the June 2021 Notes, Mr. Lamendola beneficially owns
approximately 51.7% of the outstanding capital stock of Marpai, Inc.

For more information regarding the Acquisition, and interests of certain of our officers, directors and greater
than 5% stockholders, please see “Business — Marpai, Inc.’s Acquisition of Marpai Health and Continental
Benefits,” “Business — Interests of Certain Persons in the Acquisition” and “Security Ownership of Certain
Beneficial Owners and Management.”

Power of Attorney and Proxy

We, (i) HillCour Investment Fund, LLC and WellEnterprises USA, LLC (together, the “HillCour Founding
Group”) and (ii) Eli David, Yaron Eitan, Edmundo Gonzalez and Grays West Ventures LLC (collectively, the
“Grays Founding Group,” and together with the HillCour Founding Group, the “Co-Founders”) entered into an
Agreement Relating to Voting Power Between Co-Founders of Marpai, Inc. and Grant of a Power of Attorney and
Proxy (“Power of Attorney and Proxy”). Pursuant to the Power of Attorney and Proxy, the HillCour Founding
Group granted the Grays Founding Group the right to vote 1,560,237 shares of our Class A common stock it held
(“Proxy Shares”) on all matters relating to any of the following: (i) change to the composition of our Board of
Directors; (ii) sale of all or substantially all of our assets or capital stock, or a merger involving us;
(iii) replacement of our CEO or other C-level officers; (iv) amendment or approval of any corporate documents or
agreements in connection with our corporate structure or capital raising activities; (v) approval of our annual
budget and business plan; and (vi) our acquisition, joint venture or other collaborative agreements. Consequently,
the HillCour Founding Group and the Grays Founding Group currently have the right to vote 3,913,268 and
3,913,263 shares of our capital
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stock, respectively. The Power of Attorney and Proxy also provides that the number of Proxy Shares is subject to
adjustment from time to time so as to maintain as much as possible, equal voting power in us between the HillCour
Founding Group on the one hand and the Grays Founding Group on the other, subject to certain exceptions related
to transfer of shares by the parties. The Power of Attorney and Proxy is irrevocable and will remain in full force and
effect until the earlier of (i) consummation of the sale of all or substantially all of our assets, or the acquisition of us
by a third party (by way of stock acquisition, merger, recapitalization or otherwise), or (ii) the time when the Grays
Founding Group collectively owns fewer than 1,882,420 shares of our capital stock. For as long as this Power of
Attorney and Proxy remains in effect, the HillCour Founding Group and the Grays Founding Group are therefore
deemed to be a “group” under Rule 13d-5(d) of the Exchange Act.

Pursuant to this Power of Attorney and Proxy, the Co-Founders have also agreed to vote all their shares for the
election of (a) Damien Lamendola (or another nominee of the HillCour Founding Group), (b) Edmundo Gonzalez;
and (c) Yaron Eitan (or up to two other nominees of the Grays Founding Group) as our directors. Pursuant to this
Power of Attorney and Proxy, the Co-Founders collectively hold an aggregate of more than 70% of the voting
power of our common stock and therefore, the we can be classified as a “controlled company” under the rules of
the Nasdaq Capital Market.

Transition Services Agreement

On April 1, 2021, in order to enable Continental Benefits and its employees to continue to operate in an
effective manner immediately following the Acquisition, we entered into a Transition Services Agreement with
WellEnterprises, LLC, HillCour, LLC and Continental Benefits, pursuant to which WellEnterprises, LLC and
HillCour, LLC provide Continental Benefits transitional services through May 31, 2021 and in return, we pay
HillCour, LLC for the time spent by employees and third party service providers on a cost-incurred basis. On
May 7, 2021, we entered into a supplemental Transition Service Agreement whereby HillCour agreed to provide
additional treasury and banking services to us through July 1, 2021 at a rate of $6,000 per month.

HillCour’s Financial Support

In March 2021, in connection with the audit of Marpai Health and Continental Benefits, HillCour gave the
March Support Letters to each of Marpai Health and Continental Benefits agreeing to provide (i) Marpai Health
capital to fund its operating expenses until April 2022 if the Company is unable to complete this offering, or secure
enough funding or revenue to fund Marpai Health’s operations, which was projected at the time to be
approximately between $3.5 million and $4.5 million, and (ii) Continental Benefits capital to fund its operations
through April 30, 2022, which was projected at the time to be between $6.5 million and $8.0 million.

In May 2021, the two March Support Letters were superseded by HillCour’s May Support Letter which that if
Marpai, Inc. fails to (i) complete this offering, (ii) raise sufficient capital through private rounds of financings, or
(iii) secure sufficient operating cash to fund its operating expenses, HillCour, subject to such further conditions,
and in a form to be mutually determined, will provide Marpai, Inc. funding and financial support necessary to pay
for its operating expenses so Marpai, Inc. is able to continue to operate in its normal course of business through
July 31, 2022.

In August 2021, HillCour’s May Support Letter was superseded by its August Support Letter which provides
that if Marpai, Inc. fails to (i) complete this offering, (ii) raise sufficient capital through private rounds of
financings, or (iii) secure sufficient operating cash to fund its operating expenses, HillCour, subject to such further
conditions, and in a form to be mutually determined, will provide Marpai, Inc. funding and financial support
necessary to pay for its operating expenses so Marpai, Inc. is able to continue to operate in its normal course of
business through September, 2022.

On July 29, 2021, Marpai, Inc. issued to HillCour Investment Fund LLC a promissory note in the principal
amount of up to $3,000,000 (the “HillCour Promissory Note”). Interest on the HillCour Promissory Note accrues at
the rate of 6% per annum. All outstanding principal and accrued interests thereunder shall become due and payable
on the earlier of (i) January 29, 2022, or (ii) closing of this offering. As of the date of this prospectus, $3,000,000
of the HillCour Promissory Note has been drawn down. In connection with
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the issuance of the HillCour Promissory Note, Marpai, Inc. also issued to HillCour Investment Fund, LLC warrants
to purchase a number of unregistered Class A common stock equal to the quotient of (i) 30% of the outstanding
principal amount of the HillCour Promissory Note as of the date of closing of this offering, divided by (ii) the per
share offering price of the Class A common stock in this offering. These warrants will be exercisable into 225,000
unregistered shares of the Company’s Class A common stock at an exercise price of $4.00 per share.

Consulting Fees

Marpai Health has received consulting services from Edmundo Gonzalez and Yaron Eitan, who are also
shareholders. The total cost of these consulting services for the year ended December 31, 2020 and the period from
February 14, 2019 (inception) to December 31, 2019 was approximately $436,000 and $329,000, respectively. The
accounts payable to these shareholders as of December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019 was $16,000 and $0,
respectively.

Sales

Continental Benefits was a party to an administration services agreement with HillCour, Inc., an entity that
was affiliated through common ownership to provide certain services, including but not limited to, enrollment and
eligibility management, claims administration, and network access. Continental Benefits generated $346,333 and
$291,013 in revenue from affiliates during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. As of
December 31, 2020 and 2019, $9,113 and $27,944, respectively, was due from the affiliate. Continental Benefits
generated $291,013 and $116,137 in revenue from this affiliate for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019,
respectively.

Management Fees

Continental Benefits remitted management fees for legal, human resources and risk management services
provided by HillCour, Inc. Continental Benefits believed that the charges for these services were consistent with
costs that could be obtained from third parties and/or hiring additional staffing to support its business needs.
During the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, Continental Benefits expensed $170,670 and $176,148,
respectively, in such management fees, which are reflected in selling, general, and administrative expenses on the
accompanying consolidated statement of operations. We do not expect to pay HillCour any more management fees
after March 2021.

Commitments and Contingencies

Continental Benefits has been charged certain administrative tax penalties by the IRS related to prior year
1099 tax filings. Based on the opinion of Continental Benefits’ counsel, although Continental Benefits is in the
process of appealing, the full amount of penalties and interest of $1,532,185 has been accrued as of December 31,
2020. Further interest has been put on hold by the IRS as Continental Benefits pursues the appeals process. The
Company recently received a letter dated March 8, 2021 from the IRS that granted a $678,780 waiver for the full
amount of the 1099 penalties the tax year 2018. In June 2021, the Company received written confirmation from the
IRS that all outstanding penalties have been waived and that nothing is due to the IRS from the Company. The
Company has completely reversed the accrual as of June 30, 2021.

Policy for Approval of Related Party Transactions

Prior to the consummation of this offering, we will adopt our Code of Ethics requiring us to avoid, wherever
possible, all conflicts of interests, except under guidelines or resolutions approved by our board of directors (or the
appropriate committee of our board of directors) or as disclosed in our public filings with the SEC. Under our Code
of Ethics, conflict of interest situations will include any financial transaction, arrangement or relationship
(including any indebtedness or guarantee of indebtedness) involving Marpai, Inc. A form of the Code of Ethics that
we plan to adopt prior to the consummation of this offering is filed as an exhibit to the registration statement of
which this prospectus forms a part.
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In addition, the audit committee of our board of directors will adopt a charter, providing for the review,
approval and/or ratification of “related party transactions,” which are those transactions required to be disclosed
pursuant to Item 404 of Regulation S-K as promulgated by the SEC, by the audit committee. At its meetings, the
audit committee shall be provided with the details of each new, existing, or proposed related party transaction,
including the terms of the transaction, any contractual restrictions that the company has already committed to, the
business purpose of the transaction, and the benefits of the transaction to the company and to the relevant related
party. Any member of the committee who has an interest in the related party transaction under review by the
committee shall abstain from voting on the approval of the related party transaction, but may, if so requested by the
chairman of the committee, participate in some or all of the committee’s discussions of the related party
transaction. Upon completion of its review of the related party transaction, the committee may determine to permit
or to prohibit the related party transaction. Our audit committee will review on a quarterly basis all payments that
were made by us to our sponsor, officers, or directors, or our or any of their affiliates.

These procedures are intended to determine whether any such related party transaction impairs the
independence of a director or presents a conflict of interest on the part of a director, employee or officer.
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SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

The following table sets forth information regarding the beneficial ownership of our Class A common stock
as of the date of this prospectus, and as adjusted to reflect the sale of our Class A common stock offered by this
prospectus, by:

each person known by us to be the beneficial owner of more than 5% of our outstanding Class A common
stock;

each of our executive officers, directors and director nominees that beneficially owns Class A common
stock; and

all our executive officers, directors and director nominees as a group.

Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with the rules of the SEC and includes voting or investment
power with respect to the securities. We deem shares of common stock that may be acquired by an individual or
group within 60 days of the date of this prospectus pursuant to the exercise of options or warrants to be outstanding
for the purpose of computing the percentage ownership of such individual or group, but are not deemed to be
outstanding for the purpose of computing the percentage ownership of any other person shown in the table.

Unless otherwise indicated, we believe that all persons named in the table have sole voting and investment
power with respect to all of our common stock beneficially owned by them.



Shares Beneficially Owned

Prior to this Offering  
Shares Beneficially Owned

After this Offering 

 Shares %   Shares % 
Name and Address of Beneficial Owner       
Edmundo Gonzalez   1,515,339  12.5   1,515,339  8.3 
Yaron Eitan   852,607  7.1   852,607  4.7 
Ronnie Brown   38,913  *   38,913  * 
Yoram Bibring   0  0.0   0  0.0 
Alice Roth   0  0.0   0  0.0 
Art Hoath   0  0.0   0  0.0 
Damien Lamendola   6,254,129  51.8   6,254,129  34.1 
Gonen Antebi   0  0.0   0  0.0 
Colleen DiClaudio   0  0.0   0  0.0 
Vincent Kane   54,670  *   54,670  * 
Jane Cavalier Lucas   27,904  *   27,904  * 
All Directors, Director Nominees and Officers as a Group

(eleven persons)   8,743,562  72.4   8,743,562  47.7 
Other Greater than 5% Beneficial Owners       
Dr. Eli David   913,273  7.6   913,273  5.0 
Midwood 43 Trust   685,482  5.7   685,482  3.7 

Less than 1%.
These individuals share voting power over a total of 7,826,531 shares of our Class A common stock as a result
of the Power of Attorney and Proxy, and are therefore deemed to be a “group” under Rule 13d-5(d) of the
Exchange Act.
Gives effect to the conversion of the New Notes and the June 2021 Notes.

Assumes that the underwriters do not exercise their over-allotment option.

Unless otherwise noted, the business address of each of the persons and entities listed above is c/o Marpai Inc
5701 East Hillsborough Ave., Suite 1417, Tampa, FL, 33610-5428.
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Includes warrants to purchase 379,650 shares of Class A common stock, exercisable at $7.90 per share, all of
which are held by Grays West Ventures LLC. Mr. Gonzalez is the sole member of Grays West Ventures LLC.
Includes warrants to purchase 227,791 shares of Class A common stock, exercisable at $7.90 per share.
Includes options to purchase 91,116 shares of Class A common stock, exercisable at $2.58 per share, of which
38,913 are vested.
Excludes options to purchase 182,233 shares of Class A common stock, exercisable at $2.58 per share, of
which none are vested.
Mr. Lamendola is the Manager of HillCour Investment Fund, LLC and has sole voting and investment power
over the shares of common stock held by HillCour. This amount includes warrants to purchase 364,466 shares
of Class A common stock at $1.43 per share and warrants to purchase 225,000 shares of Class A common
stock at $4.00 per share. HillCour’s address is 4830 W. Kennedy Blvd., Suite 100, Tampa, FL 33609.
Includes warrants to purchase 227,791 shares of Class A common stock, exercisable at $7.90 per share.
Mr. Arnold Jung is the natural person with voting and investment power over the shares owned by Midwood 43
Trust.
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DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STOCK

The following descriptions of our capital stock and certain provisions of our certificate of incorporation and
bylaws are summaries and are qualified by reference to our certificate of incorporation and bylaws that will be in
effect upon completion of this offering. Copies of these documents have been filed with the SEC as exhibits to our
registration statement, of which this prospectus forms a part.

General

Our Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, as amended (“Certificate of Incorporation”)
authorizes us to issue up to 227,791,050 shares of Class A common stock, par value $0.0001 per share, of which
11,147,302 shares of Class A common stock are currently issued and outstanding. On September 2, 2021, we
effected a forward split of our Class A common stock at ratio of 4.555821 for 1.

Until July 8, 2021 the Company was authorized to issue two classes of common stock, Class A common stock
and Class B common stock. The authorized Class B common stock was eliminated with the filing of the Second
Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation on July 8, 2021.

Immediately prior to the completion of this offering, there shall be 11,147,302 shares of our Class A common
stock issued and outstanding, and warrants and options outstanding to purchase approximately 3,059,416 shares of
our Class A common stock.

Common Stock

We have one class of common stock, the Class A common stock.

Voting Rights

Each share of Class A common stock is entitled to one vote.

Subdivisions, Combinations or Reclassifications.

Shares of Class A common stock may generally not be subdivided, combined or reclassified.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, shares Class A common stock may be subdivided, combined or reclassified, if
such subdivision, combination or reclassification is approved in advance by the affirmative vote (or written
consent, if permitted) of the holders of capital stock representing a majority of the voting power of all the then-
outstanding shares of capital stock of the Company.

Liquidation, Dissolution or Winding Up.

Upon the dissolution, liquidation or winding up of the Corporation, whether voluntary or involuntary, holders
of Class A common stock will be entitled to receive ratably all assets of the Company available for distribution to
its stockholders.

Merger or Consolidation.

In the case of any distribution or payment in respect of the shares of Class A common stock upon the
consolidation or merger of the Company with or into any other entity, or in the case of any other transaction having
an effect on stockholders substantially similar to that resulting from a consolidation or merger, such distribution or
payment shall be made ratably on a per share basis among the holders of the Class A common stock.

Exclusive Forum

Our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation provides that, unless we consent in writing to the
selection of an alternative forum, the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware will be the sole and exclusive
forum for any stockholder for (a) any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf, (b) any action
asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by, or other wrongdoing by, any director, officer, employee or
agent of the Company to the Company or the Company’s stockholders, (c) any action
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asserting a claim arising pursuant to any provision of the Delaware General Corporation Law (“DGCL”) or the
Company’s Certificate of Incorporation or Bylaws, (d) any action to interpret, apply, enforce or determine the
validity of the Company’s Certificate of Incorporation or Bylaws, or (e) any action asserting a claim governed by
the internal affairs doctrine. The federal district courts of the United States of America shall be the exclusive forum
for the resolution of any complaint, claim or proceeding asserting a cause of action arising under the Exchange Act
or the Securities Act. Furthermore, Section 22 of the Securities Act creates concurrent jurisdiction for federal and
state courts over all suits brought to enforce any duty or liability created by the Securities Act or the rules and
regulations thereunder. Stockholders cannot waive compliance with the federal securities laws and the rules and
regulations thereunder. Any person or entity purchasing or otherwise acquiring or holding any interest in shares of
our capital stock shall be deemed to have notice of and consented to the forum provision in our Amended and
Restated Certificate of Incorporation.

The choice-of-forum provision may limit a stockholder’s ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that it
finds favorable for disputes with the Company or its directors, officers or other employees, and may result in
increased costs to a stockholder who has to bring a claim in a forum that is not convenient to the stockholder,
which may discourage such lawsuits. Although under Section 115 of the DGCL, exclusive forum provisions may
be included in a company’s certificate of incorporation, the enforceability of similar forum provisions in other
companies’ certificates or incorporation or bylaws has been challenged in legal proceedings, and it is possible that
a court could find these types of provisions to be inapplicable or unenforceable. If a court were to find the exclusive
forum provision of our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation inapplicable or unenforceable with
respect to one or more of the specified types of actions or proceedings, we may incur additional costs associated
with resolving such matters in other jurisdictions, which could materially and adversely affect our business,
financial condition and results of operations and result in a diversion of the time and resources of our management
and board of directors.

Options

As of October 26 , 2021, we had outstanding options to purchase an aggregate of 1,422,112 shares of our
Class A common stock, with a weighted-average exercise price of approximately $1.77 per share.

Warrants

As of October 26 , 2021, we had outstanding warrants to purchase 1,047,839 shares of our Class A common
stock at $7.90 per share, a warrant to purchase 364,466 shares of our Class A common stock at $1.43 per share and
a warrant to purchase 225,000 shares of our Class A common stock at $4.00 per share.

Anti-Takeover Provisions of Delaware Law and Charter Provisions

Certain provisions of Delaware law and certain provisions included in our certificate of incorporation and
bylaws summarized below may be deemed to have an anti-takeover effect and may delay, deter, or prevent a
tender offer or takeover attempt that a stockholder might consider to be in its best interests, including attempts that
might result in a premium being paid over the market price for the shares held by stockholders.

Removal of Directors

Our bylaws provide that shareholders may only remove a director for cause by a vote of no less than a
majority of the shares present in person or by proxy at the meeting and entitled to vote.

Amendments to Bylaws

Our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation limited the abilities of the directors and stockholders
to amend our Bylaws in certain circumstances. In particular, the Bylaws may be amended only by the vote of a
majority of all of the directors then in office, or by the stockholders in accordance with the provisions of the
Bylaws, and the Delaware General Corporation Law.

No Cumulative Voting

Our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation does not provide for cumulative voting.
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Special Meetings of Stockholders

Our bylaws provide that, except as otherwise required by law, special meetings of the stockholders may be
called only by an officer at the request of a majority of our board of directors, by our Chief Executive Officer or
President or by the holders of not less than 25% of the holders of stock entitled to vote at the meeting.

Business Combinations with Interested Stockholders

We are subject to Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, which prohibits a publicly-held
Delaware corporation from engaging in a “business combination,” except under certain circumstances, with an
“interested stockholder” for a period of three years following the date such person became an “interested
stockholder” unless:

before such person became an interested stockholder, the board of directors of the corporation approved
either the business combination or the transaction that resulted in the interested stockholder becoming an
interested stockholder;

upon the consummation of the transaction that resulted in the interested stockholder becoming an interested
stockholder, the interested stockholder owned at least 85% of the voting stock of the corporation outstanding
at the time the transaction commenced, excluding shares held by directors who also are officers of the
corporation and shares held by employee stock plans; or

at or following the time such person became an interested stockholder, the business combination is approved
by the board of directors of the corporation and authorized at a meeting of stockholders by the affirmative
vote of the holders of 66 2/3% of the outstanding voting stock of the corporation which is not owned by the
interested stockholder.

The term “interested stockholder” generally is defined as a person who, together with affiliates and associates,
owns, or, within the three years prior to the determination of interested stockholder status, owned, 15% or more of
a corporation’s outstanding voting stock. The term “business combination” includes mergers, asset or stock sales
and other similar transactions resulting in a financial benefit to an interested stockholder. Section 203 makes it
more difficult for an “interested stockholder” to effect various business combinations with a corporation for a
three-year period. The existence of this provision would be expected to have an anti-takeover effect with respect to
transactions not approved in advance by our Board of Directors, including discouraging attempts that might result
in a premium over the market price for the shares of common stock held by stockholders.

The ability of our Board of Directors to issue shares of preferred stock and to set the voting rights, preferences
and other terms thereof, without further stockholder action, may be deemed to have an anti-takeover effect and
may discourage takeover attempts not first approved by our Board of Directors, including takeovers which
stockholders may deem to be in their best interests. If takeover attempts are discouraged, temporary fluctuations in
the market price of our common stock, which may result from actual or rumored takeover attempts, may be
inhibited. These provisions, together with the ability of our Board of Directors to issue preferred stock without
further stockholder action could also delay or frustrate the removal of incumbent directors or the assumption of
control by stockholders, even if the removal or assumption would be beneficial to our stockholders. These
provisions could also discourage or inhibit a merger, tender offer or proxy contests, even if favorable to the
interests of stockholders, and could depress the market price of our common stock. In addition, our bylaws may be
amended by action of the board of directors, which could have further anti-takeover effects, and which could limit
the price investors would be willing to pay in the future for shares of our common stock.

Registration Rights

We agreed that if, following the date of the Purchase and Reorganization Agreement, we sell or issue any
securities (including securities convertible into or exchangeable or exercisable for any shares of our capital stock)
that entitles any holder thereof to registration rights with respect to such securities (or any shares of capital stock
issuable upon conversion or exercise of such securities), or otherwise grants registration rights to any of our
existing security holders (the “Registration Rights”), then we will also grant the same
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Registration Rights to the Marpai Sellers and WellEnterprises, LLC on a pari passu basis, provided that all
securityholders with Registration Rights shall be subject to all customary provisions and restrictions required by us
in relation thereto, including without limitation, lockups, cutbacks, and underwriting undertakings.

Listing

Our Class A common stock has been approved for listing on the Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbol
“MRAI.”

Transfer Agent

The transfer agent for our securities is American Stock Transfer & Trust Company LLC whose address is
6201 15th Ave, Brooklyn, NY 11219, and whose telephone number is (718) 921-8200.
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SHARES ELIGIBLE FOR FUTURE SALE

Future sales of shares of our Class A common stock in the public market, or the availability of such shares for
sale in the public market, could adversely affect the market price of our Class A common stock prevailing from
time to time. As described below, only a limited number of shares are currently available for sale due to contractual
and legal restrictions on resale. Nonetheless, sales of our common stock, or the perception that these sales could
occur, could adversely affect prevailing market prices for our Class A common stock and could impair our future
ability to raise equity capital in the future.

Based on the number of shares outstanding as of September 2, 2021, upon the closing of this offering,
18,328,214 shares of Class A common stock will be outstanding, assuming no exercise of outstanding options or
warrants and no exercise of the underwriters’ option to purchase additional shares. Of the outstanding shares, all of
the shares of Class A common stock sold in this offering (including pursuant to the underwriters’ exercise of their
option to purchase additional shares) will be freely tradable, except that any shares held by our affiliates, as that
term is defined in Rule 144 under the Securities Act, may only be sold in compliance with the limitations described
below.

The remaining shares of our Class A common stock outstanding after this offering are restricted securities, as
that term is defined in Rule 144 under the Securities Act or are subject to lock-up agreements with us as described
below. Following the expiration of the lock-up period, restricted securities may be sold in the public market only if
registered or if their resale qualifies for exemption from registration described below under Rule 144 promulgated
under the Securities Act.

Rule 144

In general, persons who have beneficially owned restricted shares of our common stock for at least
six months, and any affiliate of ours who owns either restricted or unrestricted shares of our common stock, are
entitled to sell their securities without registration with the Securities and Exchange Commission under an
exemption from registration provided by Rule 144 under the Securities Act.

In general, a person who has beneficially owned restricted shares of our Class A common stock for at least
six months would be entitled to sell their securities provided that (i) such person is not deemed to have been one of
our affiliates at the time of, or at any time during the 90 days preceding, a sale and (ii) we have been subject to the
Exchange Act periodic reporting requirements for at least 90 days before the sale. Persons who have beneficially
owned restricted shares of our Class A common stock for at least six months, but who are our affiliates at the time
of, or any time during the 90 days preceding, a sale, would be subject to additional restrictions, by which such
person would be entitled to sell within any three-month period only a number of securities that does not exceed the
greater of either of the following:

1% of the number of shares of our Class A common stock then outstanding, which will equal approximately
183,282 shares immediately after the closing of this offering based on the number of shares of our Class A
common stock outstanding as of October 26 , 2021 and assuming no exercise of the underwriters’ option to
purchase additional shares of our Class A common stock; or

the average weekly trading volume of our Class A common stock on the NASDAQ Capital Market during
the four calendar weeks preceding the filing of a notice on Form 144 with respect to the sale;

provided, in each case, that we have been subject to the Exchange Act periodic reporting requirements for at least
90 days before the sale. Such sales both by affiliates and by non-affiliates must also comply with the manner of
sale, current public information and notice provisions of Rule 144.

Lock-Up Agreements

All of our directors and executive officers are subject to lock-up agreements or market standoff provisions
that, subject to certain exceptions, prohibit them from offering for sale, selling, contracting to sell, granting any
option for the sale of, transferring or otherwise disposing of any shares of our Class A common stock, options or
warrants to acquire shares of our Class A common stock or any security or instrument related to our Class A
common stock, or entering into any swap, hedge or other arrangement that transfers any of the economic
consequences of ownership of our Class A common stock, for a period of
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twelve (12) months. from the date of this prospectus without the prior written consent of ThinkEquity LLC. All of
our other existing shareholders are subject to lock-up agreements or market standoff provisions that, subject to
certain exceptions, prohibit them from offering for sale, selling, contracting to sell, granting any option for the sale
of, transferring or otherwise disposing of any shares of our Class A common stock, options or warrants to acquire
shares of our Class A common stock or any security or instrument related to our Class A common stock, or
entering into any swap, hedge or other arrangement that transfers any of the economic consequences of ownership
of our Class A common stock, for a period of six (6) months from the date of this prospectus without the prior
written consent of ThinkEquity LLC. See the section of this prospectus titled “Underwriting.”

Rule 701

Rule 701, as in effect on the date of this prospectus, permits resale of shares in reliance upon Rule 144 but
without compliance with some of the restrictions of Rule 144, including the holding period requirement. Most of
the employees, executive officers or officers who purchased shares under a written compensatory plan or contract
may be entitled to rely on the resale provisions of Rule 701.

Registration Rights

We agreed that if, following the date of the Purchase and Reorganization Agreement, we sell or issue any
securities (including securities convertible into or exchangeable or exercisable for any shares of our capital stock)
that entitles any holder thereof to registration rights with respect to such securities (or any shares of capital stock
issuable upon conversion or exercise of such securities), or otherwise grants registration rights to any of our
existing security holders (the “Registration Rights”), then we will also grant the same Registration Rights to the
Marpai Sellers and WellEnterprises, LLC on a pari passu basis, provided that all securityholders with Registration
Rights shall be subject to all customary provisions and restrictions required by us in relation thereto, including
without limitation, lockups, cutbacks, and underwriting undertakings.
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UNDERWRITING

ThinkEquity LLC, is acting as representative of the underwriters. Subject to the terms and conditions of an
underwriting agreement between us and the representative, we have agreed to sell to each underwriter named
below, and each underwriter named below has severally agreed to purchase, at the public offering price less the
underwriting discounts set forth on the cover page of this prospectus, the number of shares of Class A common
stock listed next to its name in the following table:

Underwriter
Number of 

Shares

ThinkEquity LLC 6,250,000 
Total  6,250,000 

The underwriting agreement provides that the obligations of the underwriters to pay for and accept delivery of
the shares of Class A common stock offered by this prospectus are subject to various conditions and
representations and warranties, including the approval of certain legal matters by their counsel and other conditions
specified in the underwriting agreement. The shares of Class A common stock are offered by the underwriters,
subject to prior sale, when, as and if issued to and accepted by them. The underwriters reserve the right to
withdraw, cancel or modify the offer to the public and to reject orders in whole or in part. The underwriters are
obligated to take and pay for all of the shares of Class A common stock offered by this prospectus if any such
shares of Class A common stock are taken, other than those shares of Class A common stock covered by the over-
allotment option described below.

We have agreed to indemnify the underwriters against specified liabilities, including liabilities under the
Securities Act, and to contribute to payments the underwriters may be required to make in respect thereof.

Over-Allotment Option

We have granted a 45-day option to the representative of the underwriters to purchase up to 937,500 additional
shares of our Class A common stock at a public offering price of $4.00 per share, solely to cover over-allotments,
if any. The underwriters may exercise this option for 45 days from the date of this prospectus solely to cover sales
of shares of Class A common stock by the underwriters in excess of the total number of shares of Class A common
stock set forth in the table above. If any of these additional shares are purchased, the underwriters will offer the
additional shares on the same terms as those on which the shares are being offered.

Discounts and Commissions

The underwriters propose initially to offer the shares of Class A common stock to the public at the public
offering price set forth on the cover page of this prospectus and to dealers at those prices less a concession not in
excess of $0.16 per share of Class A common stock. If all of the shares of Class A common stock offered by us are
not sold at the public offering price, the underwriters may change the offering price and other selling terms by
means of a supplement to this prospectus.

The following table shows the public offering price, underwriting discounts and commissions and proceeds
before expenses to us. The information assumes either no exercise or full exercise of the over-allotment option we
granted to the representative of the underwriters.

Per Share

Without 
Over- 

allotment

With 
Over- 

allotment 
Public offering price $ 4.00  $25,000,000  $28,750,000  
Underwriting discounts and commissions $ 0.28  $ 1,750,000 $ 2,012,500 
Proceeds, before expenses, to us $ 3.72  $23,250,000  $26,737,500  

The non-accountable expense allowance will not be payable with respect to representative’s exercise of the
over-allotment option.
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We have agreed to pay a non-accountable expense allowance to the representative of the underwriters equal to
1% of the gross proceeds received at the closing of the offering. The non-accountable expense allowance of 1% is
not payable with respect to the shares sold upon exercise of the underwriters’ over-allotment option. We have paid
an expense deposit of $50,000 to the representative, which will be applied against the out-of-pocket accountable
expenses that will be paid by us to the underwriters in connection with this offering and will be reimbursed to us to
the extent not actually incurred in compliance with FINRA Rule 5110(f)(2)(C).

We have also agreed to pay certain of the representative’s expenses relating to the offering, including (a) filing
fees associated with the review of the offering by FINRA; (b) all fees and expenses relating to the listing of such
public securities on the Nasdaq Capital Market, including any fees charges by The Depository Trust for new
securities; (c) all fees, expenses and disbursements relating to background checks of our officers and directors in
an amount not to exceed $15,000 in the aggregate; (d) all fees, expenses and disbursements relating to the
registration or qualification of the shares of our Class A common stock under the “blue sky” securities laws of such
states and other jurisdictions as the representative may reasonably designate; (e) all fees, expenses and
disbursements relating to the registration, qualification or exemption of the shares of our Class A common stock
under the securities laws of such foreign jurisdictions as the representative may reasonably designate; (f) the costs
associated with post-closing advertising the offering in the national editions of the Wall Street Journal and New
York Times; (g) the costs associated with bound volumes of the public offering materials as well as
commemorative mementos and Lucite tombstones, each of which the Company or its designee shall provide within
a reasonable time after the closing of this offering in such quantities as the representative may reasonably request
in an amount not to exceed $3,000 in the aggregate; (h) the fees and expenses of the Company’s accountants,
transfer agents and public relations firm; (i) fees and expenses of the underwriter’s legal counsel not to exceed
$125,000; (j) a $29,500 cost associated with the underwriters use of Ipreo’s book-building, prospectus tracking and
compliance software for the offering; (k) $10,000 for data services and communications expenses; and (l) up to
$20,000 of the underwriters’ actual accountable “road show” expenses for the offering.

Our total estimated expenses of the offering, including registration, filing and listing fees, printing fees and
legal and accounting expenses, but excluding underwriting discounts and commissions, are approximately
$1,697,715.

Representative’s Warrants

Upon closing of this offering, we have agreed to issue to the representative as compensation the
Representative’s Warrants to purchase up to 312,500 shares of Class A common stock (5% of the aggregate
number of shares of Class A common stock sold in this offering inclusive of the over-allotment option, or the
Representative’s Warrants). The Representative’s Warrants will be exercisable at a per share exercise price equal
to 125% of the public offering price per share in this offering (excluding the over-allotment option). The
Representative’s Warrants are exercisable at any time and from time to time, in whole or in part, during the four
and one half year period commencing 180 days from the effective date of the registration statement of which this
prospectus is a part.

The Representative’s Warrants have been deemed compensation by FINRA and are therefore subject to a 180-
day lock-up pursuant to Rule 5110(e)(1) of FINRA. The representative (or permitted assignees under Rule 5110(e)
(1)) will not sell, transfer, assign, pledge, or hypothecate these warrants or the securities underlying these warrants,
nor will they engage in any hedging, short sale, derivative, put, or call transaction that would result in the effective
economic disposition of the warrants or the underlying securities for a period of 180 days from the effective date of
the registration statement of which this prospectus is a part. In addition, the warrants provide for registration rights
upon request, in certain cases. The sole demand registration right provided will not be greater than five years from
the effective date of the registration statement in compliance with FINRA Rule 5110(g)(8)(A). The piggyback
registration rights provided will not be greater than seven years from the effective date of the registration statement
in compliance with FINRA Rule 5110(g)(8)(A). We will bear all fees and expenses attendant to registering the
securities issuable on exercise of the warrants other than underwriting commissions incurred and payable by the
holders. The exercise price and number of shares issuable upon exercise of the warrants may be adjusted in certain
circumstances including in the event of a stock dividend or our recapitalization, reorganization, merger
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or consolidation. However, the warrant exercise price or underlying shares will not be adjusted for issuances of
shares of Class A common stock at a price below the warrant exercise price.

Right of First Refusal

Until twelve (12) months from the closing date of this offering, the representative will have an irrevocable
right of first refusal, in its sole discretion, to act as sole investment banker, sole book-runner, and/or sole placement
agent, at the representative’s sole discretion, for each and every future public and private equity and debt offering,
including all equity linked financings, during such twelve (12) month period, on terms customary to the
representative. The representative will have the sole right to determine whether or not any other broker-dealer will
have the right to participate in any such offering and the economic terms of any such participation. The
representative will not have more than one opportunity to waive or terminate the right of first refusal in
consideration of any payment or fee.

Lock-Up Agreements

Pursuant to “lock-up” agreements, we, our executive officers and directors, and stockholders, have agreed,
without the prior written consent of the representative not to directly or indirectly, offer to sell, sell, pledge or
otherwise transfer or dispose of any of shares of (or enter into any transaction or device that is designed to, or could
be expected to, result in the transfer or disposition by any person at any time in the future of) our Class A common
stock, enter into any swap or other derivatives transaction that transfers to another, in whole or in part, any of the
economic benefits or risks of ownership of shares of our Class A common stock, make any demand for or exercise
any right or cause to be filed a registration statement, including any amendments thereto, with respect to the
registration of any shares of Class A common stock or securities convertible into or exercisable or exchangeable
for Class A common stock or any other securities of ours or publicly disclose the intention to do any of the
foregoing, subject to customary exceptions, for a period of twelve months after the date of this prospectus in the
case of our officers and directors and six months after the date of this prospectus in the case of, the Company and
any successor of the Company and other securityholders.

Discretionary Accounts

The underwriters do not intend to confirm sales of the shares of Class A common stock offered hereby to any
accounts over which they have discretionary authority.

Nasdaq Capital Market Listing

Our Class A common stock has been approved for listing on The Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbol
“MRAI.”

Determination of Offering Price

The public offering price of the securities we are offering was negotiated between us and the underwriters.
Factors considered in determining the public offering price of the shares include the history and prospects of the
Company, the stage of development of our business, our business plans for the future and the extent to which they
have been implemented, an assessment of our management, general conditions of the securities markets at the time
of the offering and such other factors as were deemed relevant.

Other

From time to time, certain of the underwriters and/or their affiliates may in the future provide, various
investment banking and other financial services for us for which they may receive customary fees. In the course of
their businesses, the underwriters and their affiliates may actively trade our securities or loans for their own
account or for the accounts of customers, and, accordingly, the underwriters and their affiliates may at any time
hold long or short positions in such securities or loans. Except for services provided in connection with this
offering, no underwriter has provided any investment banking or other financial services to us during the 180-day
period preceding the date of this prospectus.
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Indemnification

We have agreed to indemnify the underwriters against liabilities relating to this offering arising under the
Securities Act and the Exchange Act, liabilities arising from breaches of some or all of the representations and
warranties contained in the underwriting agreement, and to contribute to payments that the underwriters may be
required to make for these liabilities.

Price Stabilization, Short Positions, and Penalty Bids

In connection with this offering, the underwriters may engage in transactions that stabilize, maintain or
otherwise affect the price of our Class A common stock. Specifically, the underwriters may over-allot in
connection with this offering by selling more shares than are set forth on the cover page of this prospectus. This
creates a short position in our Class A common stock for its own account. The short position may be either a
covered short position or a naked short position. In a covered short position, the number of shares of Class A
common stock over-allotted by the underwriters is not greater than the number of shares of Class A common stock
that they may purchase in the over-allotment option. In a naked short position, the number of shares of Class A
common stock involved is greater than the number of shares Class A common stock in the over-allotment option.
To close out a short position, the underwriters may elect to exercise all or part of the over-allotment option. The
underwriters may also elect to stabilize the price of our Class A common stock or reduce any short position by
bidding for, and purchasing, Class A common stock in the open market.

The underwriters may also impose a penalty bid. This occurs when a particular underwriter or dealer repays
selling concessions allowed to it for distributing shares of Class A common stock in this offering because the
underwriter repurchases the shares of Class A common stock in stabilizing or short covering transactions.

Finally, the underwriters may bid for, and purchase, shares of our Class A common stock in market making
transactions, including “passive” market making transactions as described below.

These activities may stabilize or maintain the market price of our Class A common stock at a price that is
higher than the price that might otherwise exist in the absence of these activities. The underwriters are not required
to engage in these activities and may discontinue any of these activities at any time without notice. These
transactions may be effected on the national securities exchange on which our shares of Class A common stock are
traded, in the over-the-counter market, or otherwise.

Electronic Distribution

This prospectus in electronic format may be made available on websites or through other online services
maintained by one or more of the underwriters, or by their affiliates. Other than this prospectus in electronic
format, the information on any underwriter’s website and any information contained in any other website
maintained by an underwriter is not part of this prospectus or the registration statement of which this prospectus
forms a part, has not been approved and/or endorsed by us or any underwriter in its capacity as underwriter, and
should not be relied upon by investors.

Selling Restrictions

No action has been taken in any jurisdiction (except in the United States) that would permit a public offering
of our Class A common stock, or the possession, circulation or distribution of this prospectus or any other material
relating to us or our Class A common stock in any jurisdiction where action for that purpose is required.
Accordingly, our Class A common stock may not be offered or sold, directly or indirectly, and this prospectus or
any other offering material or advertisements in connection with our Class A common stock may be distributed or
published, in or from any country or jurisdiction, except in compliance with any applicable rules and regulations of
any such country or jurisdiction.

European Economic Area

In relation to each Member State of the European Economic Area which has implemented the Prospectus
Directive, each a “Relevant Member State”, with effect from and including the date on which
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the Prospectus Directive is implemented in that Relevant Member State, or the “Relevant Implementation Date”,
our securities will not be offered to the public in that Relevant Member State prior to the publication of a
prospectus in relation to our securities that has been approved by the competent authority in that Relevant Member
State or, where appropriate, approved in another Relevant Member State and notified to the competent authority in
that Relevant Member State, all in accordance with the Prospectus Directive, except that, with effect from and
including the Relevant Implementation Date, an offer of our securities may be made to the public in that Relevant
Member State at any time:

to any legal entity that is a qualified investor as defined in the Prospectus Directive;

to fewer than 100 or, if the Relevant Member State has implemented the relevant provision of the 2010 PD
Amending Directive, 150 natural or legal persons (other than qualified investors as defined in the Prospectus
Directive), as permitted under the Prospectus Directive, subject to obtaining the prior consent of the manager
for any such offer; or

in any other circumstances which do not require the publication by the issuer of a prospectus pursuant to
Article 3(2) of the Prospectus Directive, provided that no such offer of the securities shall require the issuer
or any underwriter to publish a prospectus pursuant to Article 3 of the Prospectus Directive.

For the purposes of this provision, the expression an “offer of securities to the public” in relation to any
securities in any Relevant Member State means the communication in any form and by any means of sufficient
information on the terms of the offer and securities to be offered so as to enable an investor to decide to purchase or
subscribe securities, as the same may be varied in that Relevant Member State by any measure implementing the
Prospectus Directive in that Relevant Member State and the expression “Prospectus Directive” means Directive
2003/71/EC (and amendments thereto, including the 2010 PD Amending Directive, to the extent implemented in
the Relevant Member State), and includes any relevant implementing measure in each Relevant Member State and
the expression “2010 PD Amending Directive” means Directive 2010/73/EU.

United Kingdom

In the United Kingdom, this document is being distributed only to, and is directed only at, and any offer
subsequently made may only be directed at persons who are “qualified investors” (as defined in the Prospectus
Directive) (i) who have professional experience in matters relating to investments falling within Article 19 (5) of
the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (Financial Promotion) Order 2005, as amended (the Order), and/or
(ii) who are high net worth companies (or persons to whom it may otherwise be lawfully communicated) falling
within Article 49(2)(a) to (d) of the Order (all such persons together, the relevant persons). This document must not
be acted on or relied on in the United Kingdom by persons who are not relevant persons. In the United Kingdom,
any investment or investment activity to which this document relates is only available to, and will be engaged in
with, relevant persons.

Canada

The offering of our common stock in Canada is being made on a private placement basis in reliance on
exemptions from the prospectus requirements under the securities laws of each applicable Canadian province and
territory where our common stock may be offered and sold, and therein may only be made with investors that are
purchasing, or deemed to be purchasing, as principal and that qualify as both an “accredited investor” as such term
is defined in National Instrument 45-106 Prospectus Exemptions or subsection 73.3(1) of the Securities Act
(Ontario) and as a “permitted client” as such term is defined in National Instrument 31-103 Registration
Requirements, Exemptions and Ongoing Registrant Obligations. Any offer and sale of our common stock in any
province or territory of Canada may only be made through a dealer that is properly registered under the securities
legislation of the applicable province or territory wherein our common stock is offered and/or sold or, alternatively,
where such registration is not required.

Any resale of our common stock by an investor resident in Canada must be made in accordance with
applicable Canadian securities laws, which require resales to be made in accordance with an exemption
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from, or in a transaction not subject to, prospectus requirements under applicable Canadian securities laws. These
resale restrictions may under certain circumstances apply to resales of the common stock outside of Canada.

Securities legislation in certain provinces or territories of Canada may provide a purchaser with remedies for
rescission or damages if this prospectus (including any amendment thereto) contains a misrepresentation, provided
that the remedies for rescission or damages are exercised by the purchaser within the time limit prescribed by the
securities legislation of the purchaser’s province or territory. The purchaser should refer to any applicable
provisions of the securities legislation of the purchaser’s province or territory for particulars of these rights or
consult with a legal advisor.

Pursuant to section 3A.3 (or, in the case of securities issued or guaranteed by the government of a non-
Canadian jurisdiction, section 3A.4) of National Instrument 33-105 Underwriting Conflicts (“NI 33-105”), the
underwriters are not required to comply with the disclosure requirements of NI 33-105 regarding underwriter
conflicts of interest in connection with this offering.

Upon receipt of this prospectus, each Québec investor hereby confirms that it has expressly requested that all
documents evidencing or relating in any way to the sale of the securities described herein (including for greater
certainty any purchase confirmation or any notice) be drawn up in the English language only. Par la réception de
ce document, chaque investisseur québecois confirme par les présentes qu’il a expressément exigé que tous les
documents faisant foi ou se rapportant de quelque manière que ce soit à la vente des valeurs mobilières décrites
aux présentes (incluant, pour plus de certitude, toute confirmation d’achat ou tout avis) soient rédigés en anglais
seulement.
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LEGAL MATTERS

The validity of the shares of the common stock offered by this prospectus will be passed upon for us by Loeb
& Loeb LLP, New York, New York. The underwriters are being represented by Blank Rome LLP, New York, New
York.

EXPERTS

The consolidated balance sheets of Marpai Health as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the related
consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ deficit, and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2020
and for the period from February 14, 2019 (inception) to December 31, 2019, the consolidated balance sheets of
Continental Benefits as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the related consolidated statements of operations,
changes in member’s equity and cash flows for each of the years in the two-year period ended December 31, 2020,
and the balance sheet of Marpai, Inc. as of March 31, 2021 have been audited by UHY LLP, independent
registered public accounting firm, as stated in its report which is incorporated herein by reference. Such financial
statements have been incorporated herein by reference in reliance on the report of such firm given upon their
authority as experts in accounting and auditing.

WHERE YOU CAN FIND ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

We have filed with the SEC a registration statement on Form S-1 under the Securities Act with respect to the
securities we are offering by this prospectus. This prospectus does not contain all of the information included in the
registration statement. For further information about us and our securities, you should refer to the registration
statement and the exhibits and schedules filed with the registration statement. Whenever we make reference in this
prospectus to any of our contracts, agreements or other documents, the references are materially complete but may
not include a description of all aspects of such contracts, agreements or other documents, and you should refer to
the exhibits attached to the registration statement for copies of the actual contract, agreement or other document.

Upon completion of this offering, we will be subject to the information requirements of the Exchange Act and
will file annual, quarterly and current event reports, proxy statements and other information with the SEC. You can
read our SEC filings, including the registration statement, over the Internet at the SEC’s website at www.sec.gov.
You may also read and copy any document we file with the SEC at its public reference facility at 100 F Street,
N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549.

We also maintain a website at www.MarpaiHealth.com, at which you may access these materials free of
charge as soon as reasonably practicable after they are electronically filed with, or furnished to, the SEC.
However, the information contained in or accessible through our website is not part of this prospectus or the
registration statement of which this prospectus forms a part, and investors should not rely on such
information in making a decision to purchase our common stock in this offering.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and 
Stockholders of Marpai, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Results of Review of Interim Financial Information

We have reviewed the condensed consolidated balance sheet of Marpai, Inc. and Subsidiaries
(the “Company”) as of June 30, 2021, and the related condensed consolidated statements of operations for the six-
month periods ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, and condensed consolidated statements of changes in stockholders’
equity (deficit) and statements of cash flows for the six-month periods then ended, and the related notes
(collectively referred to as the “interim consolidated financial statements”). Based on our reviews, we are not aware
of any material modifications that should be made to the accompanying interim consolidated financial statements
for them to be in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

We have previously audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States) (PCAOB) and in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States
of America, the consolidated balance sheet of Marpai Health, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of Marpai, Inc., as of
December 31, 2020, and the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in stockholders’ deficit, and
cash flows for the year then ended (not presented herein); and in our report dated March 18, 2021, except for Note
17, as to which the date is October 15, 2021, we expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial
statements. In our opinion, the information set forth in the accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheet as
of December 31, 2020, is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the balance sheet from which it has
been derived.

Emphasis of Matter Regarding Liquidity

As discussed in Note 2 to the condensed consolidated financial statements, the Company has suffered
recurring losses, negative cash flows from operations, and historically has relied on equity and debt financings for
the development of its product and funding of its operating expenses. Management’s evaluation of these
conditions, as well as management’s plans to mitigate these matters are described in Note 2.

Basis for Review Results

These interim consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. We
conducted our review in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB and in accordance with Statements for
Accounting and Review Services promulgated by the Accounting and Review Services Committee of the AICPA.
A review of interim financial information consists principally of applying analytical procedures and making
inquiries of persons responsible for financial and accounting matters. It is substantially less in scope than an audit
conducted in accordance with standards of the PCAOB and auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America, the objective of which is the expression of an opinion regarding the consolidated financial
statements taken as a whole. Accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. We are a public accounting firm
registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be
independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable
rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2020. 
Melville, NY 
August 25, 2021, except for Note 3 and Note 17, as to which the date is October 15, 2021

  

F-2 



(1) 

TABLE OF CONTENTS

  

MARPAI, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 
(UNAUDITED)

June 30, 2021 
(Unaudited)

December 31, 
2020 

ASSETS:     
Current assets:     

Cash and cash equivalents $ 2,339,223 $ 1,754,569 
Restricted cash  5,541,798  63,363 
Accounts receivable  60,699  — 
Unbilled receivable  45,054  — 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets  603,762  262,211 
Other receivables  31,187  100,038 

Total current assets  8,621,723  2,180,181 
Property and equipment, net  738,708  195,404 
Capitalized software, net  6,903,397  3,818,959 
Operating lease right-of-use assets  1,699,695  337,316 
Goodwill  1,676,239  — 
Intangible assets, net  6,721,650  — 
Security deposits  52,277  — 

Total assets $ 26,413,689  $ 6,531,860 
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ DEFICIT     
Current liabilities:     

Accounts payable $ 517,514 $ 159,168 
Accounts payable – related party  —  15,725 
Accrued expenses  1,605,885  267,967 
Accrued fiduciary obligations  5,195,939  — 
Deferred revenue  261,843  — 
Current portion of operating lease liabilities  699,379  96,472 
Current portion of convertible notes payable  716,936  1,866,237 
Due to related party  3,637  243,638 

Total current liabilities  9,001,133  2,649,207 
Convertible notes payable, net of current portion  5,003,225  7,095,887 
Other long-term liabilities  45,000  — 
Operating lease liabilities, net of current portion  1,212,146  283,265 
Deferred tax liabilities  2,001,012  — 

Total liabilities  17,262,516   10,028,359  
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES     
STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)     

Common stock, $0.0001 par value, 227,791,050 shares authorized; 
11,147,302 issued and outstanding at June 30, 2021 and 142,370 issued and
outstanding at December 31, 2020  1,115  14 

Additional paid-in capital  20,154,521   2,044,362 
Accumulated deficit  (11,004,463  (5,540,875 

Total stockholders’ equity (deficit)  9,151,173  (3,496,499 
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity (deficit) $ 26,413,689  $ 6,531,860 

Reflects 4.555821-for-1 forward split that became effective September 2, 2021. See Note 17 to the condensed
consolidated financial statements.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.

F-3 

(1)

) )
)



TABLE OF CONTENTS

  

MARPAI, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS 
(UNAUDITED)

Six Months Ended June 30,
2021 2020 

Revenue $ 3,531,512 $ — 
Costs and expenses     

Cost of revenue (exclusive of depreciation and amortization shown separately
below)  2,720,483  — 

General and administrative  2,814,950  773,223 
Research and development  549,374  1,025,986 
Sales and marketing  1,443,785  5,623 
Information technology  731,230  — 
Facilities  226,892  — 
Depreciation and amortization  420,967  37,885 

Total costs and expenses  8,907,681  1,842,717 
Operating loss  (5,376,169  (1,842,717 

Other income (expenses)     
Interest income  28  5  
Other income  54,398  12,733 
Interest expense  (276,061   (226,335  
Foreign exchange loss  (15,784  (2,188  

Loss before provision for income taxes  (5,613,588  (2,058,502 
Income tax benefit  (150,000   — 

Net loss $(5,463,588 $(2,058,502 
Net loss per share, basic & fully diluted $ (0.84 $ (0.93 
Weighted average number of common shares  6,528,888  2,211,683 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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MARPAI, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY 
(DEFICIT)

 Common Stock Additional 
Paid-In Capital

Accumulated 
Deficit

Total Stockholders’ 
Equity (Deficit)  Shares Amount

Balance, January 1, 2020   142,369 $ 14 $ 799,732 $ (1,672,891  $ (873,145 
Fair value of warrants issued with

convertible note   —  —  213,828  —  213,828 
Share-based compensation   —  —  641,510  —  641,510 
Net loss   —  —  —  (2,058,502  (2,058,502 
Balance, June 30, 2020 (Unaudited)   142,369 $ 14 $ 1,655,070 $ (3,731,393  $ (2,076,309 
Balance, January 1, 2021   142,369 $ 14 $ 2,044,362 $ (5,540,875  $ (3,496,499 
Exchange of common shares of Marpai

Health, Inc. (see Note 1)   (142,369   (14  —  —  (14 
Issuance of common shares of Marpai, Inc.

(see Note 1)   11,147,302   1,115  17,350,820  —  17,351,935 
Warrants issued for cash   —  —  53,333  —  53,333 
Share-based compensation   —  —  706,006  —  706,006 
Net loss   —  —  —  (5,463,588  (5,463,588 
Balance, June 30, 2021 (Unaudited)   11,147,302  $1,115 $ 20,154,521 $(11,004,463  $ 9,151,173 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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MARPAI, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
(UNAUDITED)

Six Months Ended June 30
 2021   2020 

Cash flows from operating activities:         
Net loss   $ (5,463,588   $(2,058,502 
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:         

Depreciation and amortization    420,967    37,885 
Share-based compensation    706,006    641,510 
Amortization of right-of-use asset    41,810    38,079 
Amortization of debt discount    26,728    48,571 
Interest accrued on convertible notes payable    246,230    175,133 
Convertible note issued for professional services    75,000    — 
Deferred taxes    (150,000     — 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:         

(Increase) decrease in prepaid expense and other assets    (210,138     10,002 
(Increase) in accounts receivable and unbilled receivable    (13,522    — 
Decrease (increase) in other receivable    68,851    (6,229  
Increase in security deposit    2,592    — 
(Decrease) in accounts payable    (567,261     (1,326  
(Decrease) in accounts payable – related party    (15,725    — 
Increase in accrued expenses    70,210    106,269 
Increase in accrued fiduciary obligations    1,125,031    — 
(Decrease) in operating lease liabilities    (55,722    (42,573 
(Decrease) in due to related party    (240,001     — 
(Decrease) in other liabilities    (943,377     — 

Net cash used in operating activities    (4,875,909    (1,051,181 
Cash flows from investing activities:         

Cash and restricted cash acquired as part of Acquisition (see Note 4)    11,384,035     — 
Capitalization of software development costs    (972,181     — 
Purchase of property and equipment    (26,189    (31,137 

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities    10,385,665     (31,137 
Cash flows from financing activities:         

Proceeds from issuance of convertible notes payable    500,000    1,600,000 
Proceeds from issuance of warrants    53,333    — 

Net cash provided by financing activities    553,333    1,600,000 
Net increase in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash    6,063,089    517,682 
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of the year    1,817,932    246,276 
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of the year   $ 7,881,021   $ 763,958 
Reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash reported in the

consolidated balance sheet         
Cash and cash equivalents   $ 2,339,223   $ 706,633 
Restricted cash    5,541,798    57,325 
Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash shown in the consolidated statement of

cash flows   $ 7,881,021   $ 763,958 
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash activity         

Conversion of convertible notes into common stock at the closing of the Acquisition   $ 4,174,992   $ — 
Common stock issued as part of the Acquisition   $ 8,500,000   $ — 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.
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MARPAI, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

NOTE 1 — ORGANIZATION AND DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

Organization

Marpai, Inc. (“Marpai”) was formed as a Delaware corporation on January 22, 2021 with the intention to
facilitate an initial public offering (“IPO”) and other related transactions in order to carry on the business of two
healthcare subsidiaries, Marpai Health, Inc. (“Marpai Health”) and Continental Benefits LLC (“Continental
Benefits”).

Marpai Health, a Delaware corporation, was incorporated on February 14, 2019. On March 21, 2019, EYME
Technologies Ltd. (“EYME”), a wholly owned subsidiary of Marpai Health located in Israel, was formed. Marpai
Health, along with its wholly-owned subsidiary, EYME, are hereinafter referred to as the “Marpai Health”.

On April 1, 2021, pursuant to the terms of the Amended and Restated Equity Interest Purchase and
Reorganization Agreement, as was further addended on May 7, 2021 (collectively, the “Agreement”), the
stockholders of the Marpai Health and the sole member of Continental Benefits, LLC contributed their respective
shares and ownership interests in Marpai Health and Continental Benefits to Marpai in consideration for shares of
the Marpai’s Class A and Class B common stock. Additionally, options to purchase 1,027,602 shares of Marpai
Health’s common stock and warrants to purchase 1,366,746 shares of Marpai Health’s common stock were
exchanged, on a one to one basis, for options and warrants to purchase shares of Marpai’s common stock (the
above transactions shall be referred to as the “Acquisition”). As part of the Acquisition, approximately $3,800,000
of Marpai Health’s convertible promissory notes were exchanged for shares of common stock of Marpai
immediately prior to the Acquisition. As part of the Acquisition, pursuant to a Note Exchange Agreement, Marpai
acquired Marpai Health’s certain outstanding convertible promissory notes, with aggregate outstanding principal
and accrued but unpaid interest of $2,198,459, in exchange for the issuance of Marpai’s convertible promissory
notes of equivalent aggregate principal amount. The Agreement called for Continental Benefits to not have less
than $4.762 million of cash on hand, and to have no debt at the time of closing of the Acquisition.

For accounting purposes, Continental Benefits was considered the acquiree and Marpai Health was considered
the acquirer. The acquisition was accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting. See Notes 3 and 4 for
additional information.

Marpai, along with its subsidiaries, Marpai Health and Continental Benefits, are hereinafter referred to as the
“Company”.

Nature of Business

The Company’s mission is to positively change healthcare for the benefit of (i) its future clients who are self-
insured employers that pay for their employees’ healthcare benefits and will engage the Company to administer the
latter’s healthcare claims, (ii) employees who receive these healthcare benefits from its future Clients, and
(iii) healthcare providers including, doctors, doctor groups, hospitals, clinics, and any other entities providing
healthcare services or products.

Marpai Health engages in developing and marketing artificial intelligence and healthcare technology for
customers to analyze data to predict and prevent costly events related to diagnostic errors, hospital visits and
administrative issues.

Continental Benefits and its wholly owned subsidiary WellSystems, LLC (“WellSystems”) provide benefits
outsourcing services to clients in the United States across multiple industries. The Company’s backroom
administration and third-party administration (“TPA”) services are supported by a customized technology platform
and a dedicated benefits call center. Under its TPA platform, the Company provides health and welfare
administration, dependent eligibility verification, Consolidated Omnibus Budget
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Reconciliation Act (“COBRA”) administration, and benefit billing services. Continental Benefits and WellSystems
are Florida limited liability companies.

Continental Benefits provides the technology platform, consisting of fully integrated billing and enrollment,
claims administration, and customer service to administer the TPA services. Continental Benefits engages
primarily in selling and customer relationship activities for supported clients.

The recent global pandemic outbreak, or COVID-19, continues to adversely impact commercial activity,
globally and in the United States, and has contributed to significant volatility in financial markets. The outbreak
could have a continued adverse impact on economic and market conditions, including business and financial
services disruption. As of the date these condensed consolidated financial statements were available to be issued,
the effects of impact are unknown and the Company will continue to monitor the potential impact of COVID-19 on
the Company’s condensed consolidated financial statements.

NOTE 2 — LIQUIDITY

The accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments or
classifications that may result from the possible inability of the Company to continue as a going concern. The
accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a basis, which contemplates the
realization of assets and the satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course of business. As shown in the
accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements as of the period ended June 30, 2021, the Company has
an accumulated deficit of $11,004,463 and working capital deficit of $379,410. At June 30, 2021, the Company
had total debt of $5,720,161 and $2,339,223 of unrestricted cash on hand. Since inception, the Company has met
its cash needs through proceeds from issuing convertible notes and warrants. The Company’s cash requirements are
generally for operating activities and debt repayments.

The Company believes cash on hand, and a commitment from the Company’s major investor to fund the
Company’s operations, will allow the Company to continue as a going concern for a period of twelve months from
date of the issuance of the condensed consolidated financial statements.

If the Company does not: 1) complete its initial public offering, 2) raise sufficient capital to fund its operating
expenses through private rounds of financings; 3) secure sufficient operating cash to fund its operating expenses,
the Company’s major investor agreed to provide additional funds so the Company and its subsidiaries can continue
to operate in their normal course of business through September 30, 2022.

NOTE 3 — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Presentation

These condensed consolidated financial statements and related notes are presented in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles in the United States (“GAAP”), expressed in U.S. dollars. In the opinion
of the management, the accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements reflect all normal
recurring adjustments, which are necessary for a fair presentation of financial results for the interim periods
presented. The Company believes that the disclosures are adequate to make the information presented not
misleading. The accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company
and its wholly owned subsidiaries, EYME and Marpai Health, for all the periods presented and Continental
Benefits from April 1, 2021, the date of the Acquisition (see Note 4). All references to the Company and Marpai
Health for periods prior to the Acquisition are interchangeable as if the Acquisition was in effect for all periods
presented in the condensed consolidated financial statements and related notes. All significant intercompany
balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. The accompanying unaudited condensed
consolidated financial statements have been prepared using the same accounting policies as used in the preparation
of the Marpai Health’s consolidated
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financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2020. The results of operations for the six months ended
June 30, 2021 are not necessarily indicative of the results for the full years.

In order to properly present our condensed consolidated financial statements in accordance with Staff
Accounting Bulletin (“SAB”) Topic 11B, we have recast our statements of operations to properly disclose that
depreciation and amortization were excluded from costs of services.

The financial information as of December 31, 2020 presented in the unaudited condensed consolidated
financial statements is derived from the audited consolidated financial statements of Marpai Health for the year
ended December 31, 2020.

Business Combination

The Company accounts for business combinations in accordance with the Financial Accounting Standard
Board’s (“FASB”) Accounting Standard Codification (“ASC”) 805, Business Combinations. Accordingly,
identifiable tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed are recorded at their estimated fair
values, the excess of the purchase consideration over the fair values of net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill,
and transaction costs are expensed as incurred.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the condensed consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and
disclosure of contingencies at the date of the condensed consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts
of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Such estimates include, but are not limited to, valuation of
share-based compensation, accrued expenses, useful lives of internally developed software, intangible assets and
property and equipment, whether an arrangement is or contains a lease, the discount rate used for operating leases,
income tax accruals and the valuation allowance for deferred income taxes.

The Company bases these estimates on historical and anticipated results, trends and various other assumptions
that it believes are reasonable under the circumstances, including assumptions as to future events. Actual results
could differ from those estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash consists of funds held in bank accounts. Cash equivalents consist of short-term, highly liquid
investments with original maturities of 90 days or less at the time of purchase and generally include money market
accounts.

Concentrations of Credit Risk

The Company maintains cash accounts with financial institutions. At times, balances in these accounts may
exceed federally insured limits. The amounts over the federally insured limits as of June 30, 2021 and
December 31, 2020 was approximately $1,832,000 and $1,505,000, respectively. No losses have been incurred to
date on any deposit balances.

No customer accounted for greater than 10% of total revenue during for the six months ended June 30, 2021.
At June 30, 2021, three customers each accounted for greater than 10% of accounts receivable, respectively.
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Restricted Cash

Restricted cash balances are composed of funds held on behalf of clients in a fiduciary capacity and cash held
in a separate bank account pledged to a bank as collateral for a bank guarantee provided to the lessor to secure the
Company’s obligations under its lease agreement. Fiduciary funds generally cannot be utilized for general
corporate purposes and are not a source of liquidity for the Company. A corresponding fiduciary obligation,
included in current liabilities in the accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheets, exists for disbursements
to be made on behalf of the clients and may be more than the restricted cash balance if payment from customers
has not been received.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable are recorded at the net invoiced amount, net of allowances for doubtful accounts, and do
not bear interest. They include unbilled amounts for services rendered in the respective period but not yet billed to
the customer, which typically occurs within one month.

The Company periodically reviews accounts receivable balances and provides an allowance for doubtful
accounts to the extent deemed uncollectible. The allowance for doubtful accounts is the Company’s best estimate
of the amount of probable credit losses in existing accounts receivable. The Company determines the allowance
based on historical write-off experience and the aging of outstanding accounts receivable. Balances are considered
past due based on invoiced terms. Account balances are charged off against the allowance after all means of
collection have been exhausted and the potential for recovery is considered remote. The Company has determined
that no allowance for doubtful accounts was necessary as of June 30, 2021.

Fair Value Measurements

The Company is required to disclose information on all assets and liabilities reported at fair value that enables
an assessment of the inputs used in determining the reported fair values. Accounting Standards Codification
(“ASC”) Topic 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures (“ASC 820”), establishes a hierarchy of inputs used
when available. Observable inputs are what market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability based on
market data obtained from sources independent of the Company. Unobservable inputs are those that reflect the
Company’s assumptions about the inputs that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability, and are
developed based on the best information available in the circumstances.

The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are described below:

Level 1 — Valuations based on unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
that the Company has the ability to access at the measurement date.

Level 2 — Valuations based on quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active
or for which all significant inputs are observable, either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 — Valuations that require inputs that are unobservable for the asset and liability in which there is
little, if any, market activity.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts of the Company’s financial instruments, which include accounts receivable, accounts
payable, accrued expenses, and debt at fixed interest rates, approximate their fair values at June 30, 2021 and
December 31, 2020, principally due to the short-term nature, maturities or nature of interest rates of the above
listed items.
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Long-Lived Assets

The Company reviews its long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or circumstances exist that
indicate the carrying amount of an asset or asset group may not be recoverable. Recoverability of assets is
measured by comparing the carrying amounts of the assets to the future undiscounted cash flows expected to be
generated by the assets. If the asset or asset group is considered to be impaired, an impairment loss would be
recorded to adjust the carrying amounts to the estimated fair value. Management has determined that no
impairment of long-lived assets exists, and accordingly, no adjustments to the carrying amounts of the Company’s
long-lived assets have been made for the six months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consisting of office and computer equipment, furniture and leasehold improvements
are stated at cost. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the following estimated useful
lives.

Useful Lives

Equipment 3 years
Furniture and fixtures 5 years
Leasehold improvements Shorter of 5 years or lease term

Capitalized Software

The Company complies with the guidance of ASC Topic 350-40, “Intangibles — Goodwill and Other — 
Internal Use Software”, in accounting for its internally developed system projects that it utilizes to provide its
services to customers. These system projects generally relate to software of the Company that is not intended for
sale or otherwise marketed. Internal and external costs incurred during the preliminary project stage are expensed
as they are incurred. Once a project has reached the development stage, the Company capitalizes direct internal and
external costs until the software is substantially complete and ready for its intended use. Costs for upgrades and
enhancements are capitalized, whereas, costs incurred for maintenance are expensed as incurred. These capitalized
software costs are amortized on a project-by- project basis over the expected economic life of the underlying
software on a straight-line basis, which is generally three years. Amortization commences when the software is
available for its intended use.

Goodwill

Goodwill is recognized and initially measured as any excess of the acquisition-date consideration transferred
in a business combination over the acquisition-date amounts recognized for the net identifiable assets acquired.
Goodwill is not amortized but is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently if an event occurs or
circumstances change that would more likely than not result in an impairment of goodwill. The Company operates
in one reporting segment and reporting unit; therefore, goodwill is tested for impairment at the consolidated level.
First, the Company assesses qualitative factors to determine whether or not it is more likely than not that the fair
value of a reporting unit is less than it’s carrying amount. If the Company concludes that it is more likely than not
that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, the Company conducts a quantitative goodwill
impairment test comparing the fair value of the applicable reporting unit with its carrying value. If the carrying
amount of the reporting unit exceeds the fair value of the reporting unit, the Company recognizes an impairment
loss in the Consolidated Statement of Operations for the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the fair
value of the reporting unit. The Company performs its annual goodwill impairment test at December 31. No
goodwill impairment was identified for the six months ended June 30, 2021.
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Intangible Assets

Intangible assets consist of customer relationships, non-compete agreements, and amounts attributed to patent
and patent applications that were acquired through an acquisition and are amortized on a straight-line basis over
useful lives ranging from five to ten years. The Company’s intangible assets are reviewed for impairment when
events or circumstances indicate their carrying amount may not be recoverable. The Company reviews the
recoverability of its intangible assets by comparing the carrying value of such assets to the related undiscounted
value of the projected cash flows associated with the assets, or asset group. If the carrying value is found to be
greater, the Company records an impairment loss for the excess of book value over fair value. No impairment of the
Company’s intangible assets was recorded for the six months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020.

Convertible Debt

The Company evaluates convertible debt to determine the impact (if any) of 1) embedded conversion option;
2) beneficial conversion feature; 3) bifurcation; 4) derivative liability; and 5) fair value adjustments and other
expenses thereto. In assessing the convertible debt instruments, the Company determines if the convertible debt
host instrument is conventional convertible debt and further if there is a beneficial conversion feature requiring
measurement. If the instrument is not considered conventional convertible debt under ASC Topic 470, “Debt” 
(“ASC 470”), the Company will continue its evaluation process of these instruments as derivative financial
instruments under ASC Topic 815, “Derivatives and Hedging” (“ASC 815”).

Conventional convertible debt is a financial instrument in which the holder may only realize the value of the
conversion option by exercising the option and receiving the entire proceeds in a fixed number of shares or the
equivalent amount of cash. Conventional convertible debt, for which the fair value option is not elected at issuance,
is accounted for as straight debt with no accounting recognition of the embedded equity option.

The convertible debt the Company issued has the following typical characteristics:

The debt security is convertible into the common stock of the issuer at a specified price or price that can be
measured at the option of the holder.

The debt security was sold at a price or has a value at issuance not significantly in excess of the face amount.

It bears an interest rate that is lower than the Company would obtain for nonconvertible debt.

If converted, the Company must deliver shares of its stock to the investor (i.e., physical settlement). There is
no cash conversion feature by which the convertible debt can be settled in full or in part in cash upon
conversion.

The initial conversion price of the security is greater than the market value of the common stock at time of
issuance and there is no beneficial conversion feature (“BCF”) upon issuance to be bifurcated and separately
accounted for.

Since the Company has determined that the embedded conversion options should not be bifurcated from their
host instruments, the Company accounts for convertible debt instruments in accordance with ASC 470-20, Debt
with Conversion and Other Options.

Income Taxes

The Company follows ASC Topic 740-10-65-1 in accounting for uncertainty in income taxes by prescribing
rules for recognition, measurement and classification in financial statements of tax positions

  

F-12 



TABLE OF CONTENTS

  

MARPAI, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

NOTE 3 — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

taken or expected to be in a tax return. This prescribes a two-step process for the financial statement measurement
and recognition of a tax position. The first step involves the determination of whether it is more likely than not
(greater than 50 percent likelihood) that a tax position will be sustained upon examination, based on the technical
merits of the position. The second step requires that any tax position that meets the more likely than not recognition
threshold be measured and recognized in the financial statements at the largest amount of benefit that is a greater
than 50 percent likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement. This topic also provides guidance on the
accounting for related interest and penalties, financial statement classification and disclosure. The Company’s
policy is that any interest or penalties related to uncertain tax positions are recognized in income tax expense when
incurred. The Company has no uncertain tax positions or related interest or penalties requiring accrual at June 30,
2021 and December 31, 2020.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognized when control of the promised services is transferred to the Company’s customers in an
amount that reflects the consideration expected to be entitled to in exchange for those services. As the Company
completes its performance obligations, which are identified below, it has an unconditional right to consideration, as
outlined in the Company’s contracts.

Contract Balances

At June 30, 2021, the balances of the Company’s accounts receivable from contracts with customers were
$60,699 and the balances of the Company’s unbilled receivables from contracts with customers were $45,054.
When the Company receives consideration from a customer prior to transferring services to the customer under the
terms of the customer contracts, it records deferred revenue on the Company’s condensed consolidated balance
sheet, which represents a contract liability. At June 30, 2021, the balances of the deferred revenue were $261,843
and the Company had performance guarantee liabilities of $229,414. The Company anticipates that it will satisfy
all of its performance obligations associated with its contract liabilities within a year.

Significant Payment Terms

Generally, the Company’s accounts receivable are expected to be collected in 30 days in accordance with the
underlying payment terms. Invoices for services performed over time are typically sent to customers on the last
business day of each calendar month in arrears. The Company does not offer discounts if the customer pays some
or all an invoiced amount prior to the due date.

Consideration paid for services rendered by the Company is nonrefundable. Therefore, at the time revenue is
recognized, the Company does not estimate expected refunds for services.

The Company uses the practical expedient not to account for significant financing components because the
period between recognition and collection does not exceed one year for most of the Company’s contracts.

Timing of Performance Obligations

Most of the Company’s contracts with customers obligate the Company to perform services. Services provided
include health and welfare administration, dependent eligibility verification, COBRA administration, and benefit
billing. Revenue is recognized over time as services are provided as the performance obligations are satisfied
through the effort expended to research, investigate, evaluate, document, and report claims, and control of these
services is transferred to the customer. The Company has the right to receive payment for all services rendered.
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Determining and Allocating the Transaction Price

The transaction price of a contract is the amount of consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled
in exchange for transferring promised goods or services to a customer.

To determine the transaction price of a contract, the Company considers its customary business practices and
the terms of the contract. For the purpose of determining transaction prices, the Company assumes that the services
will be transferred to the customer as promised in accordance with existing contracts and that the contracts will not
be canceled, renewed, or modified.

The Company’s contracts with customers have fixed fee prices that are denominated per employee per month.
The Company includes amounts of variable consideration in a contract’s transaction price only to the extent that the
Company has a relatively high level of confidence that the amounts will not be subject to significant reversals (that
is, downward adjustments to revenue recognized for satisfied performance obligations). In determining amounts of
variable consideration to include in a contract’s transaction price, the Company relies on its experience and other
evidence that supports its qualitative assessment of whether revenue would be subject to a significant reversal. The
Company considers all the facts and circumstances associated with both the risk of a revenue reversal arising from
an uncertain future event and the magnitude of the reversal if that uncertain event were to occur.

Share-Based Compensation

The Company accounts for share-based awards issued to employees in accordance with ASC Topic 718,
“Compensation — Stock Compensation”. In addition, the Company issues stock options to non-employees in
exchange for consulting services and accounts for these in accordance with the provisions of Accounting Standards
Update (“ASU”) 2018-07, “Improvements to Nonemployee Share-Based Payment Accounting” (“ASU 2018-07”).
Compensation expense is measured at the grant date, based on the calculated fair value of the award, and
recognized as an expense over the requisite service period, which is generally the vesting period of the grant.

For modification of stock compensation awards, the Company records the incremental fair value of the
modified award as share-based compensation on the date of modification for vested awards or over the remaining
vesting period for unvested awards. The incremental compensation is the excess of the fair value of the modified
award on the date of modification over the fair value of the original award immediately before the modification.

For options granted to non-employees, the expected life of the option used is the contractual term of each such
option. All other assumptions used to calculate the grant date fair value are generally consistent with the
assumptions used for options granted to employees.

For purposes of calculating share-based compensation, the Company estimates the fair value of stock options
using a Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The determination of the fair value of share-based payment awards
utilizing the Black-Scholes model is affected by the Company’s stock price, which is determined by a 409a
valuation, and a number of assumptions, including expected volatility, expected life, risk-free interest rate and
expected dividends. The expected volatility is primarily based on the historical volatility of peer company data
while the expected life of the stock options is based on historical and other economic data trended into the future.
The risk-free interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant for periods
corresponding to the expected option term. The dividend yield assumption is based on the Company’s history and
expectation of no dividend payouts.

If factors change and the Company employs different assumptions, share-based compensation expense may
differ significantly from what has been recorded in the past. If there is a difference between the
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assumptions used in determining share-based compensation expense and the actual factors which become known
over time, specifically with respect to anticipated forfeitures, the Company may change the input factors used in
determining share-based compensation costs for future grants. These changes, if any, may materially impact the
Company’s results of operations in the period such changes are made. Incremental compensation costs arising from
subsequent modifications of awards after the grant date are recognized when incurred. In addition, the Company
accounts for forfeitures of awards as they occur. For share-based awards that vest based on performance conditions,
expense is recognized when it is probable that the conditions will be met.

The fair value of options and share awards granted under the stock option plan during the six months ended
June 30, 2021 and 2020 was estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model and the
following assumptions for grants:

2021 2020 
Risk-free interest rates 0.912% 1.026 – 1.399% 
Expected life 5 years 6.25 years 
Expected volatility 40.81% 34.60% 
Expected dividend yield 0.00% 0.00% 

Foreign Currency Translation

For non-U.S. operations, the functional currency is U.S. dollars since these operations are a direct and integral
component or extension of the parent Company’s operations. As a result, the transactions of those operations that
are denominated in foreign currencies are re-measured into U.S. dollars, and any resulting gains or losses are
included in earnings.

Foreign Operations

Operations outside the United States include EYME. Foreign operations are subject to risks inherent in
operating under different legal systems and various political and economic environments. Among the risks are
changes in existing tax laws, possible limitations on foreign investment and income repatriation, government price
or foreign exchange controls, and restrictions on currency exchange.

Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings (loss) per share is computed by dividing net income (loss) available to common stockholders
by the weighted average number of outstanding common shares for the period, considering the effect of
participating securities. Diluted earnings (loss) per share are calculated by dividing net earnings (loss) by the
weighted average number of common shares and dilutive common stock equivalents outstanding. During the
periods when they are anti-dilutive, common stock equivalents, if any, are not considered in the computation. At
June 30, 2021 and 2020, there were 6,058,540 and 5,256,223 common share equivalents, respectively. For the
six months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, these potential shares were excluded from the shares used to calculate
diluted earnings per share. These securities were not included in the computation of diluted net earnings per share
as their effect would have been antidilutive.

Segments

Operating segments are defined as components of an entity for which separate financial information is
available. The Chief Operating Decision Maker (“CODM”) reviews financial information presented on a
consolidated basis for the purposes of making operating decisions, allocating resources and evaluating
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financial performance. As such, the Company has determined that it operates in one operating and one reportable
segment. The Company presents financial information about its operating segment and geographical areas in Note
13 to the condensed consolidated financial statements.

Offering Costs

In connection with the IPO, the Company has or will incur accounting, legal and other costs. Such costs will
be deferred and recorded as a reduction to stockholders’ equity and recorded against the proceeds from the
offering. In the event the offering is aborted, such deferred offering costs will be expensed.

Leases

The Company’s leases are accounted for under FASB ASC Topic 842, “Leases” (“Topic 842”). At the
inception of an arrangement, the Company determines whether the arrangement is or contains a lease based on the
unique facts and circumstances present. Operating lease liabilities and their corresponding right of use assets are
recorded based on the present value of lease payments over the expected lease term and adjusted for lease
incentives. Lease incentives are recognized when earned and reduce our operating lease asset related to the lease.
They are amortized through the operating lease assets as reductions of lease expense over the lease term. The
interest rate implicit in lease contracts is typically not readily determinable. As such, the Company utilizes its
incremental borrowing rate, which is the rate incurred to borrow on a collateralized basis over a similar term an
amount equal to the lease payments in a similar economic environment. Options to extend or terminate a lease are
included in the calculation of the lease term to the extent that the option is reasonably certain of exercise. The
Company has concluded that it is reasonably certain it would exercise such options; therefore, the lease term
includes the extension period stated within the lease.

Leases with an initial term of 12 months or less that do contain purchase options or renewal terms that the
Company is reasonably certain to exercise are not recorded on the condensed consolidated balance sheet. The
Company recognizes the lease expense for such leases on a straight-line basis in the condensed consolidated
statement of operations over the lease term.

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In November 2019, the FASB issued ASU No. 2019-08 “Compensation — Stock Compensation (Topic 718)
and Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606): Codification Improvements — Share-Based
Consideration Payable to a Customer.” ASU No. 2019-08 amends and clarifies ASU No. 2018-07, which was
adopted by the Company on January 1, 2019, to require that an entity measure and classify share-based payment
awards granted to a customer by applying the guidance in Topic 718. For entities that have already adopted the
amendments in ASU No. 2018-07, the amendments in this ASU are effective for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2019, and for interim periods within those fiscal years, with early adoption permitted. This guidance
is applicable to the Company’s fiscal year beginning January 1, 2020. The adoption of this guidance did not have a
material impact on its unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.

In April 2019, the FASB issued ASU No. 2019-04 “Codification Improvements to Topic 326, Financial
Instruments — Credit Losses, Topic 815, Derivatives and Hedging, and Topic 825, Financial Instruments.” ASU
No. 2019-04 was issued as part of the FASB’s ongoing project to improve upon its ASC, and to clarify and
improve areas of guidance related to recently issued standards on credit losses, hedging, and recognition and
measurement. This guidance contains several effective dates but is applicable to the Company’s fiscal year
beginning January 1, 2020. The adoption of this guidance did not have a material impact on its condensed
consolidated financial statements.
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In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU No. 2019-12 “Income Taxes (Topic 740): Simplifying the
Accounting for Income Taxes.” ASU No. 2019-12 is intended to simplify various aspects related to accounting for
income taxes, eliminates certain exceptions to the general principles in ASC Topic 740 related to intra-period tax
allocation, simplifies when companies recognize deferred taxes in an interim period, and clarifies certain aspects of
the current guidance to promote consistent application. This guidance is effective for public business entities for
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020, and for interim periods within those fiscal years, with early
adoption permitted. This guidance is applicable to the Company’s fiscal year beginning January 1, 2021. The
adoption of this guidance did not have a material impact on its condensed consolidated financial statements.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In August 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-06, Accounting for Convertible Instruments and Contracts in an
Entity’s Own Equity, which simplifies the guidance on the issuer’s accounting for convertible debt instruments by
removing the separation models for (1) convertible debt with a cash conversion feature and (2) convertible
instruments with a beneficial conversion feature. As a result, entities will not separately present in equity an
embedded conversion feature in such debt. Instead, they will account for a convertible debt instrument wholly as
debt, unless certain other conditions are met. The elimination of these models will reduce reported interest expense
and increase reported net income for entities that have issued a convertible instrument that was within the scope of
those models before the adoption of ASU 2020-06.

ASU 2020-06 also requires that the effect of potential share settlement be included in the diluted EPS
calculation when an instrument may be settled in cash or share. This amendment removes current guidance that
allows an entity to rebut this presumption if it has a history or policy of cash settlement. Furthermore, ASU 2020-
06 requires the application of the if converted method for calculating diluted earnings per share, the treasury stock
method will be no longer available. In addition, ASU 2020-06 clarifies that an average market price should be used
to calculate the diluted EPS denominator in cases in which the exercise prices may change on the basis of an
entity’s share price or changes in the entity’s share price may affect the number of shares that may be used to settle
a financial instrument and that an entity should use the weighted-average share count from each quarter when
calculating the year-to-date weighted-average share. The provisions of ASU 2020-06 are applicable for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2021, with early adoption permitted no earlier than fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2020. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of ASU 2020-06 on its condensed
consolidated financial statements.

In March 2020, the FASB issued ASU No. 2020-04, “Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Facilitation of the
Effects of Reference Rate Reform on Financial Reporting.” ASU No. 2020-04 provides guidance on optional
expedients for a limited time to ease the operational burden in accounting for (or recognizing the effects of)
reference rate reform (LIBOR) on financial reporting. This guidance is effective upon the ASUs issuance on
March 12, 2020 and companies may elect to apply the amendments prospectively through December 31, 2022. The
Company’s credit facilities already contain comparable alternative reference rates that would automatically take
effect upon the LIBOR phase out, and it is also reviewing its commercial contracts that may utilize LIBOR as a
reference rate. The Company is currently evaluating the potential effects of this guidance on its condensed
consolidated financial statements.

NOTE 4 — ACQUISITION

On April 1, 2021, the Company consummated the Acquisition that resulted in the acquisition of Continental
Benefits. According to the Agreement, Continental Benefits was valued, on a cash-free and debt-free basis, at
$8.5 million. In addition, pursuant to the Agreement, Marpai Health is valued at an assumed pre-money valuation
of the last convertible note’s conversion price of $35 million.
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For accounting purposes, the acquirer is the entity that has obtained control of another entity and, thus,
consummated a business combination. For the Acquisition, Marpai Health is the accounting acquirer and
Continental Benefits is deemed to be the acquired company for financial reporting purposes based on an evaluation
of the following facts and circumstances:

Marpai Health’s legacy stockholders hold a majority ownership and voting interest in the Company;

Marpai Health’s senior management team comprise the senior management of the Company; and

Directors appointed by Marpai Health hold a majority of board seats of the Company.

Other factors were considered but they would not change the preponderance of factors indicating that Marpai
Health was the accounting acquirer.

The following table represents the allocation of the preliminary purchase consideration among the Continental
Benefits’ assets acquired and liabilities assumed at their estimated acquisition-date fair values:

Purchase Price   
 Equity value $13,262,000  
 Cash acquired  (4,762,000 
 Total purchase price paid, net of cash acquired $ 8,500,000 
Purchase Price Allocation   
 Restricted cash $ 6,622,035 
 Accounts receivable  92,231 
 Prepaid expenses and other current assets  131,413 
 Property and equipment  1,601,990 
 Intangible assets  1,010,000 
 Capitalized software  1,230,000 
 Operating lease – right of use assets  1,532,925 
 Goodwill  1,676,239 
 Trademarks  1,860,000 
 Patents and patent applications  700,000 
 Customer relationships  3,370,000 
 Security deposits  54,869 
 Account payable  (925,608  
 Accrued expenses  (1,267,708 
 Accrued fiduciary obligations  (4,070,908 
 Operating lease liabilities  (1,716,246 
 Deferred tax liability  (2,151,012 
 Deferred revenue  (1,205,220 
 Other long-term liabilities  (45,000 

 Total fair value of net assets acquired and liabilities assumed $ 8,500,000 

The following table summarizes the estimated fair values of Continental Benefits’ identifiable intangible
assets, their estimated useful lives and expected amortization periods:
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Acquisition 
Fair Value

Useful 
Life in 
Years 

Trademarks $1,860,000 10 Years 
Intangible assets  1,010,000 5 Years 
Customer relationships  3,370,000 7 Years 
Patents and patent applications  700,000 (*) 

Patents which have yet to be approved by US Patent Office. Useful life is determined upon placement into
service after approval.

The following unaudited pro forma summary presents consolidated information of the Company as if the
business combination had occurred on January 1, 2020:

Six Months 
Ended June 30, 
2021 (pro forma)

Year Ended 
December 31, 

2020 (pro forma)
Revenue $ 7,746,593  $ 18,388,192  
Net loss (7,479,835  (17,620,431  

The pro forma financial information includes adjustments that are directly attributable to the business
combination and are factually supportable. The pro forma adjustments include incremental amortization expense of
$303,566 related to intangible and tangible assets acquired.

The unaudited pro forma results do not reflect any cost saving synergies from operating efficiencies or the
effect of the incremental costs incurred in integrating the two companies.

Accordingly, these unaudited pro forma results are presented for informational purposes only and are not
necessarily indicative of what the actual results of operations of the combined company would have been if the
acquisition had occurred at the beginning of the period presented, nor are they indicative of future results of
operations.

NOTE 5 — PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment consist of the following at:

June 30, 
2021

December 31,
2020 

Equipment $ 195,691 $ 25,892  
Furniture and fixtures  341,769 76,493  
Leasehold improvements  375,099 190,806  

Total cost  912,559 293,191  
Accumulated depreciation  (173,851  (97,787  
Property and equipment, net $ 738,708 $ 195,404  

Depreciation expense for the six months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 was $76,064 and $37,885,
respectively.
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NOTE 6 — CAPITALIZED SOFTWARE

Capitalized software consists of the following at:

June 30, 
2021

December 31,
2020 

Capitalized software $2,238,810 $ — 
Accumulated amortization  (126,553   — 
Net carrying amount  2,112,257  — 
Capitalized software in-process  4,791,140  3,818,959 
Capitalized software, net $6,903,397 $ 3,818,959 

Amortization expense for the six months ended June 30, 2021 was $126,553.

Estimated amortization for capitalized software for future periods is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,   
2021 (six months) $ 223,881 
2022  447,762 
2023  447,762 
2024  447,762 
2025  447,762 
Thereafter  97,328 

$2,112,257 

NOTE 7 — INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets consist of the following:

June 30, 2021
Useful Life   Gross Carrying Amount   Accumulated Amortization   Net Carrying Amount

Trademarks 10 Years   $ 1,860,000    $ (46,712   $ 1,813,288 
Intangible assets 5 Years   1,010,000    (50,731    959,269 
Customer relationships 7 Years   3,370,000    (120,907    3,249,093 
Patents and patent

applications (*)   700,000    —    700,000 

  $ 6,940,000    $ (218,350   $ 6,721,650 

Patents which have yet to be approved by US Patent Office. Useful life is determined upon placement into
service after approval.

Amortization expense for the six months ended June 30, 2021 was $218,350.
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Estimated amortization for intangible assets for future periods is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,   
2021 (six months) $ 434,714 
2022  869,429 
2023  869,429 
2024  869,429 
2025  869,429 
Thereafter  2,809,220 

$6,721,650 

NOTE 8 — LEASES

EYME leases office space in Tel Aviv, Israel. The lease agreement commenced on May 1, 2019 and expires
on June 15, 2021. The lease calls for monthly rent payments of $10,250. EYME exercised an extension option and
the lease term was extended for a period of three years, through June 15, 2024, with a 3% increase in base rent.

On August 1, 2019, EYME entered into sublease with expiration date of May 14, 2021. The lease calls for
monthly rent payments of $2,857. The sublease has been extended for an additional three years, through June 15,
2024.

Continental Benefits leases facilities and equipment under noncancelable operating leases through July 2025.

On January 15, 2021, Continental Benefits entered into sublease with expiration date of November 30, 2023.
The sublease calls for rent payments of approximately $14,000 plus tax in monthly payments.

Operating lease expense for the six months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 was approximately $220,750 and
$57,006, respectively. Sublease income for the six months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 was approximately
$61,095 and $12,733, respectively and is included in other income within the accompanying condensed
consolidated statement of operations.

The Company’s future lease payments, which are presented as current maturities of operating leases and
noncurrent operating lease liabilities on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet as of June 30, 2021 and include
the optional extension, are as follows:

Year Ended December 31,   
2021(six months) $ 416,064 
2022  827,607 
2023  785,908 
2024  83,683 
2025  12,661 
Total lease payments  2,125,923 
Less: imputed interest  (214,398  
Present value of lease liabilities  1,911,525 
Less: current lease liabilities  (699,379  
Long-term lease liabilities $1,212,146 
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The remaining lease term, including the optional extension, was 2.5-3 years as of June 30, 2021.

The following is a summary as of June 30, 2021, of the expected sublease income:

Year Ended December 31,   
2021(six months) $108,663 
2022  222,083 
2023  178,409 
2024  13,527 
2025  — 
Thereafter  — 
Total sublease income $522,682 

NOTE 9 — SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

Stock Options

The Company has a Global Stock Incentive Plan (the “Plan”) under which the Company may grant stock
options for up to 1,503,421 common shares. Both incentive stock options and non-qualified stock options expire
ten years from the date of the grant.

The following table summarizes the stock option activity:

Number of 
Options

Weighted
Average 
Exercise 

Price

Weighted 
Average 

Remaining 
Contractual

Term

Aggregate 
Intrinsic 

Value 
Balance at January 1, 2021  468,070 $ 0.14  9.25  $1,315,512 
Granted  1,016,722 3.32     
Forfeited/Cancelled  (30,410 0.002     
Exercised  — —     
Balance at June 30, 2021  1,454,382 2.37  9.43  $ 317,567 
Exercisable at June 30, 2021  281,477 $ 1.39  9.06  $ 335,243 

Number of
Options

Weighted
Average 
Exercise 

Price

Weighted 
Average 

Remaining 
Contractual

Term

Aggregate
Intrinsic 

Value 
Balance at January 1, 2020 —   $ — —  —  
Granted 468,070   0.14   
Forfeited/Cancelled —   —   
Exercised —   —   
Balance at June 30, 2020 468,070   0.14 9.75  932,288  
Exercisable at June 30, 2020 —   $ — —  —  

The following table summarizes the Company’s non-vested stock options:
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Non-vested 
Options 

Outstanding

Weighted- 
Average 

Grant Date
Fair Value 

At January 1, 2021  427,035  $ 1.21 
Options granted  1,016,722  0.81 
Options forfeited/cancelled  (30,408  1.53 
Options exercised  —  — 
Options vested  (240,443  0.97 
At June 30, 2021  1,172,906  $ 0.93 

Non-vested 
Options 

Outstanding

Weighted- 
Average 

Grant Date
Fair Value 

At January 1, 2020 —   $ — 
Options granted 468,070   1.22 
Options forfeited/cancelled —   — 
Options exercised —   — 
Options vested —   — 
At June 30, 2020 468,070   $ 1.22 

For the six months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, the Company recognized $158,695 and $77,669 of stock
compensation expense, respectively, relating to stock options. As of June 30, 2021, there was $1,031,625 of
unrecognized stock compensation expense related to non-vested share-based compensation arrangements granted
under the Plan. That cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of four years.

Restricted Stock Awards

In July 2019, the Board of Directors authorized grants of restricted stock awards (“RSAs”) through a
restricted stock award purchase agreement to certain founders, consultants and advisors of the Company. Certain
grants to the Company’s founders were fully vested at the date of incorporation, other grants vest over a four-year
period on each anniversary of the grant date, based on continued employment, and other grants vested based on
various milestones. The shares of common stock underlying the RSAs are issued upon grant.
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The following table summarizes the restricted stock awards activity:

Restricted 
Stock 

Awards

Weighted- 
Average 

Grant Date
Fair Value 
Per Share 

Outstanding at January 1, 2021  1,439,284  $ 1.47 
Granted  —  — 
Forfeited/cancelled  (107,271   1.80 
Vested  (402,188   1.43 
Outstanding at June 30, 2021  929,825  $ 1.42 
Outstanding at January 1, 2020  2,130,689  $ 1.41 
Granted  —  — 
Forfeited/cancelled  —  — 
Vested  (179,281   1.41 
Outstanding at June 30, 2020  1,951,408  $ 1.41 

For the six months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, the Company recognized $547,311 and $563,841 of stock
compensation expense, respectively, relating to RSAs. As of June 30, 2021, there was $1,235,427 of unrecognized
compensation expense related to unvested restricted share awards that is expected to be recognized over a
weighted-average period of 2 years.

NOTE 10 — CONVERTIBLE DEBT

Marpai Health Convertible Notes

During 2019, Marpai Health entered into convertible debt agreements (the “2019 Convertible Notes”) with
several investors for aggregate principal of $1,500,000 due, in each case, two years from the note date, at the
following conversion terms: The outstanding principal balance and unpaid accrued interest of the notes is to be
automatically converted upon the Marpai Health’s next equity financing round with gross proceeds to the Marpai
Health of at least $2,000,000, into the most senior class of shares of the Marpai Health issued in such financing
round at a price per share equal to the lesser of the following: (i) a price determined based on the maximum Marpai
Health pre-money valuation of $8,000,000 on a fully diluted basis; or (ii) a twenty percent (20%) discount on the
lowest price per share paid by the investors in such a financing round. Unless otherwise automatically converted in
such financing round, the notes could be converted discretionarily in certain situations, at a conversion price based
on the maximum Marpai Health pre-money valuation of $8,000,000 on a fully diluted basis into the most senior
class of stock. In the event the Marpai Health consummates a change of control (as defined in the note) prior to the
maturity date and prior to the conversion or repayment of the notes, the notes shall become due and payable upon
the date of consummation of such change of control in an amount equal to the greater of: (i) 1.5 times the note
amount, plus any accrued and unpaid interest; or (ii) at a price determined based on the maximum Marpai Health
pre-money valuation of $8,000,000 on a fully diluted basis, immediately prior to the change of control. The 2019
Convertible Notes accrue interest at 8% per annum, payable in cash at maturity or convertible to shares as
previously described herein.

On October 24, 2019, in connection with the software asset purchase, Marpai Health entered into a convertible
debt agreement (“Purchase Note”) with the seller for a principal of $2,930,000 due five years from the note date.
The Purchase Note contains the following conversion terms: Upon the occurrence of an
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equity investment in the Marpai Health’s capital stock, with proceeds of at least US $10,000,000, including the
amount covered by a conversion of any outstanding convertible notes and debts into shares of capital stock of the
Marpai Health on or before the maturity date (a “Qualified Financing”), the holder shall be entitled to, but not
obligated to, convert the balance of this note, in whole or in part, into the securities sold in the Qualified Financing
at a conversion price equal to (x) the cash price paid per share for equity securities by the investors in the Qualified
Financing multiplied by (y) 0.80. The Purchase Note accrues interest at 6% per annum, payable in cash at maturity
or convertible to shares as previously described herein.

During 2020, Marpai Health entered into three tranches of convertible debt agreements (the “2020
Convertible Notes”) with several investors for aggregate principal of $4,125,000, comprised of $800,000 for the
first tranche (“1st Tranche”) $1,500,000 for the second tranche (“2nd Tranche”), $1,900,000 for the third tranche,
comprised of $1,775,000 in cash proceeds, $50,000 notes issued in exchange for legal services provided and
$75,000 of cash which was funded in February 2021 (“3rd Tranche”), due, in each case, two years from the note
date, at the following conversion terms: The outstanding principal balance and unpaid accrued interest of the notes
is to be automatically converted upon Marpai Health’s next equity financing round with gross proceeds to Marpai
Health of at least $2,000,000, other than initial public offering (“IPO”), into the most senior class of shares of the
Marpai Health issued in such financing round at a price per share equal to the lesser of the following: (i) a price
determined based on the maximum Marpai Health pre-money valuation of $8,000,000 for the 1st Tranche,
$16,000,000 for the 2nd Tranche and $35,000,000 for the 3rd Tranche on a fully diluted basis; or (ii) a
twenty percent (20%) discount for the 1st Tranche and the 2nd Tranche, and a thirty percent (30%) discount for the
3rd Tranche on the lowest price per share paid by the investors in such a financing round. The outstanding principal
amount of the 3rd Tranche and accrued interest will be converted automatically into unregistered shares of
common stock of the Marpai Health concurrently with the closing of the IPO at a price 70% of the per share public
offering price stated in the final prospectus for the IPO. Unless otherwise automatically converted upon an IPO or
in a financing round, the notes could be converted discretionarily in certain situations, at a conversion price based
the maximum Marpai Health pre-money valuation of $8,000,000 for the 1st Tranche, $16,000,000 for the 2nd
Tranche and $35,000,000 for the 3rd Tranche, on a fully diluted basis into the most senior class of stock. In the
event the Marpai Health consummates a change of control (as defined in the note) prior to the maturity date and
prior to the conversion or repayment of the notes, the notes shall become due and payable upon the date of
consummation of such change of control in an amount equal to the greater of: (i) 1.5 times the note amount, plus
any accrued and unpaid interest; or (ii) net proceeds to be received if the notes had converted at a price determined
based on the maximum Marpai Health pre-money valuation of $8,000,000 for the 1st Tranche, $16,000,000 for the
2nd Tranche and $35,000,000 for the 3rd Tranche, on a fully diluted basis, immediately prior to the change of
control. The 2020 Convertible Notes accrue interest at 8% per annum, payable in cash at maturity or convertible to
shares as previously described herein.

During February 2021 and March 2021, Marpai Health entered into convertible debt agreements (the “2021
Convertible Notes”) with several investors for aggregate principal of $250,000 due, in each case, two years from
the note date, at the following conversion terms: The outstanding principal balance and unpaid accrued interest of
the notes is to be automatically converted upon the Marpai Health’s next equity financing round with gross
proceeds to the Marpai Health of at least $2,000,000, other than initial public offering (“IPO”), into the most senior
class of shares of the Marpai Health issued in such financing round at a price per share equal to the lesser of the
following: (i) a price determined based on the maximum Marpai Health pre-money valuation of $35,000,000 on a
fully diluted basis; or (ii) a thirty percent (30%) discount on the lowest price per share paid by the investors in such
a financing round. The outstanding principal amount of and accrued interest will be converted automatically into
unregistered shares of common stock of the Marpai Health concurrently with the closing of the IPO at a price 70%
of the per share public offering price stated in the final prospectus for the IPO. Unless otherwise automatically
converted upon an IPO or in a financing round, the notes could be converted discretionarily in certain situations, at
a conversion price
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based on the maximum Marpai Health pre-money valuation of $35,000,000 on a fully diluted basis into the most
senior class of stock. In the event the Marpai Health consummates a change of control (as defined in the note) prior
to the maturity date and prior to the conversion or repayment of the notes, the notes shall become due and payable
upon the date of consummation of such change of control in an amount equal to the greater of: (i) 1.5 times the note
amount, plus any accrued and unpaid interest; or (ii) net proceeds to be received if the notes had converted at a
price determined based on the maximum Marpai Health pre-money valuation of $35,000,000 on a fully diluted
basis, immediately prior to the change of control. The 2021 Convertible Notes accrue interest at 8% per annum,
payable in cash at maturity or convertible to shares as previously described herein.

In connection with the Acquisition, $3,800,000 of total principal and $374,992 of total accrued interest of
Marpai Health’s convertible notes, comprised of $1,500,000 of principal and $82,586 of accrued interest of the
2019 Convertible Notes and $2,300,000 of principal and $292,406 of accrued interest of the 2020 Convertible
Notes, were exchanged for shares of common stock of the Company immediately prior to the Acquisition. Upon
conversion of these notes, the remaining unamortized debt discount was recorded to additional paid-in-capital. All
other 2020 Convertible Notes and the 2021 Convertible Notes in a total principal amount of $2,150,000 and total
accrued interest of $48,458, were exchanged for new Marpai promissory notes at the same terms as the original
notes.

Marpai Convertible Notes

In June 2021, the Marpai entered into convertible debt agreements (the “June 2021 Notes”) with several
investors for aggregate principal of $300,000, out of which $175,000 were funded in June 2021 and $75,000 notes
issued in exchange for marketing services provided, leaving $50,000 unfunded at June 30, 2021. The notes are due
two years from the note date, at the following conversion terms: The outstanding principal balance and unpaid
accrued interest of the notes is to be automatically converted upon the Company’s next equity financing round with
gross proceeds to the Company of at least $2,000,000, other than initial public offering (“IPO”), into the most
senior class of shares of the Company issued in such financing round at a price per share equal a thirty percent
(30%) discount on the lowest price per share paid by the investors in such a financing round. The outstanding
principal amount of and accrued interest will be converted automatically into unregistered shares of common stock
of the Company concurrently with the closing of the IPO at a price 70% of the per share public offering price
stated in the final prospectus for the IPO. Unless otherwise automatically converted upon an IPO or in a financing
round, the notes could be converted discretionarily in certain situations, at a conversion price based the maximum
company pre-money valuation of $48,262,000 on a fully diluted basis into the most senior class of stock. In the
event the Company consummates a change of control (as defined in the note) prior to the maturity date and prior to
the conversion or repayment of the notes, the notes shall become due and payable upon the date of consummation
of such change of control in an amount equal to the greater of: (i) 1.5 times the note amount, plus any accrued and
unpaid interest; or (ii) net proceeds to be received if the notes had converted at a price determined based on the
maximum company pre-money valuation of $35,000,000 on a fully diluted basis, immediately prior to the change
of control. The June 2021 Notes accrue interest at 8% per annum, payable in cash at maturity or convertible to
shares.

The convertible notes and their conversion features do not meet the definition of a derivative and the
embedded conversion option is not subject to bifurcation and classification in the financial statements as liabilities
at fair value.

The Company recorded interest expense pursuant to the stated interest rates on the convertible notes in the
amount of $ 246,230 and $175,133 for the six months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

The aggregate balance of the convertible notes payable is as follows at:

  

F-26 



TABLE OF CONTENTS

  

MARPAI, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO UNAUDITED CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE SIX MONTHS ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

NOTE 10 — CONVERTIBLE DEBT (Continued)

June 30, 
2021

December 31,
2020 

Convertible notes payable $5,378,458 $ 8,555,000 
Accrued interest  341,703  518,924 
Less: unamortized debt discount  —  (111,800 
Total convertible notes payable, net  5,720,161  8,962,124 
Less: current portion of convertible notes payable  (716,936   (1,866,237 
Convertible notes payable, net of current portion $5,003,225 $ 7,095,887 

Minimum annual payments for the future periods are as follows:

Year Ended December 31,   
2021 (six months) $ 268,851 
2022  2,982,750 
2023  1,662,008 
2024  806,552 

$5,720,161 

NOTE 11 — WARRANTS

Marpai Health Warrants

On January 17, 2020, Marpai Health issued warrants to an investor to purchase up to 364,465 common shares
at an exercise price of $1.43 per share. The warrants were issued in connection with a certain convertible note.
Marpai Health estimated the fair value of the warrants to be $213,828 based on a Black-Scholes option pricing
model, and recorded it as debt discount which amortizes to interest expense over the period of the loan and as
additional paid-in capital. The warrants expire and are no longer exercisable at the fifth anniversary of the date the
warrants were issued.

The following assumptions were used when calculating the issuance date fair value:

Exercise price of the warrants $1.43
Contractual life of the warrants 5 years
Current value of the underlying common stock $9.71
Expected volatility 35.04%
Expected dividend yield 0.00%
Risk-free interest rate 1.693%

In February 2021, Marpai Health granted warrants at a purchase price of $0.05 per share to several founders
of Marpai Health to purchase up to 926,349 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $7.90 per share. The
warrants expire and are no longer exercisable at the fifth anniversary of the date the warrants were issued. The
warrants were purchased for a cash payment of $50,833 which is included in additional paid-in capital as of
June 30, 2021.

On April 1, 2021, as part of the Acquisition, Marpai Health’s outstanding warrants in the amount of 1,290,814
shares were automatically converted into warrants to purchase Marpai common stock at the same exercise price and
terms they were initially granted by Marpai Health.
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NOTE 11 — WARRANTS (Continued)

Marpai Warrants

In April 2021, Marpai granted warrants at a purchase price of $0.05 per share to a consultant of the Company
to purchase up to 45,558 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $7.90 per share. The warrants expire and
are no longer exercisable at the fifth anniversary of the date the warrants were issued. The warrants were purchased
for a cash payment of $2,500 which is included in additional paid-in capital as of June 30, 2021.

The table below summarizes the Company’s warrant activities:

Number of 
Common 

Shares 
Warrants

Exercise Price 
Range 

Per Share

Weighted
Average 
Exercise 

Price 
Balance at January 1, 2021  364,466 $       1.43  $ 1.43 
Granted  971,907         7.90  7.90 
Forfeited  —           —  — 
Exercised  —           —  — 
Balance at June 30, 2021  1,336,373 $1.43 to 7.90  $ 6.13 
Balance at January 1, 2020  — $         — $ — 
Granted  364,466         1.43  1.43 
Forfeited  —           —  — 
Exercised  —           —  — 
Balance at June 30, 2020  364,466 $        1.43  $ 1.43 

NOTE 12 — INCOME TAXES

The effective tax rate was 2.67% and 0% for the six months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020. The effective tax
rate differs from the federal tax rate of 21% for the six months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 due primarily to the
full valuation allowance, and other discrete items.

At December 31, 2020, the Company had federal and state net operating losses (“NOLs”) in the amount of
$483,102 and $517,885, respectively. Federal NOLs do not expire and state NOLs will expire on various dates
from 2039 to 2040.

Income tax expense is recorded using the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
recognized for the expected future tax consequences attributable to temporary differences between amounts
reported for income tax purposes and financial statement purposes, using current tax rates. A valuation allowance
is recognized if it is anticipated that some or all of a deferred tax asset will not be realized. The Company must
assess the likelihood that its deferred tax assets will be recovered from future taxable income and, to the extent that
the Company believes that recovery is not likely, it must establish a valuation allowance. Significant management
judgment is required in determining the provision for income taxes, deferred tax assets and liabilities and any
valuation allowance recorded against net deferred tax assets.

None of the Company’s Federal or state income tax returns are currently under examination by the Internal
Revenue Service (“IRS”), state or foreign tax authorities.

NOTE 13 — SEGMENT INFORMATION

Research and development activities are conducted through EYME. Geographic long-lived asset information
presented below is based on the physical location of the assets at the end of year.
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NOTE 13 — SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Long-lived assets including capitalized software, property and equipment and operating lease right-of-use, by
geographic region, are as follows at:

June 30, 
2021

December 31,
2020 

United States $15,512,493  $ 3,250,666 
Israel  2,010,396  1,101,013 
Total long-lived assets $17,522,889  $ 4,351,679 

NOTE 14 — RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Company received consulting services from various shareholders. The total cost of these consulting
services for the six months ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 was approximately $140,000 and $95,000, respectively.
The accounts payable to these certain shareholders as of June 30, 2021 and December 31, 2020 was approximately
$0 and $16,000, respectively.

On December 30, 2020, the Company received an advance from a certain investor for reimbursement of
certain expenses. This is recorded on the condensed consolidated balance sheets as of June 30, 2021 and
December 31, 2020 in the amount of $3,637 and $243,638 respectively.

NOTE 15 — ACCRUED SEVERANCE PAY

EYME’s employees are all based in Israel. Pursuant to Israel’s Severance Pay Law, Israeli employees are
entitled to severance pay equal to one month’s salary for each year of employment, or a portion thereof. All of the
employees of EYME elected to be included under section 14 of the Severance Pay Law, 1963 (“Section 14”).
According to this section, these employees are entitled only to monthly deposits, at a rate of 8.33% of their
monthly salary, made in their name with insurance companies. Payments in accordance with Section 14 release the
Company from any future severance payments (under the above Israeli Severance Pay Law) in respect of those
employees; therefore, related assets and liabilities are not presented in the condensed consolidated balance sheet.

Total expenses related to severance pay amounted to approximately $55,032 and $34,763 for the six months
ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

NOTE 16 — SUBSEQUENT EVENTS THROUGH AUGUST 25, 2021

For purposes of preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Company considered events through
August 25, 2021, the date the consolidated financial statements were available for issuance. Management did not
identify any events requiring adjustments to or disclosure in the consolidated financial statements, except those
noted below.

In July 2021, the Company received aggregate principal of $50,000 from an investor for the June 2021 Notes
(see Note 10).

On July 29, 2021, the Company entered into a short-term promissory note with a related party which provides
the Company a revolving line of credit up to $3,000,000 at annual interest rate of 6%. All outstanding principal and
accrued interest are due and payable on earlier of (i) the six (6) month anniversary date hereof or (ii) initial public
offering (“IPO”) date of the Company. In connection with the note, the Company issued warrants to the related
party at a price equal to the per share price of the Company’s Class A Common Stock at the closing of its IPO. The
number of shares exercisable is 30% of the drawn principal amount of the note, divided by the warrant price.
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NOTE 16 — SUBSEQUENT EVENTS THROUGH AUGUST 25, 2021 (Continued)

In August 2021, the Company approved the repricing of 948,385 stock options under the Global Stock
Incentive Plan to $2.583 per share.

NOTE 17 — SUBSEQUENT EVENTS FROM AUGUST 26, 2021 TO OCTOBER 6, 2021

On September 2, 2021, the Company effected a forward split at a ratio of 4.555821-for-1 to increase
authorized capital shares from 50,000,000 shares of Class A common stock with a par value $0.0001 per share to
227,791,050 shares of Class A common stock with a par value of $0.0001 per share (the “2021 Forward Split”). As
a result of the 2021 Forward Split, the Company has 11,147,302 shares of Class A common stock issued and
outstanding as of September 2, 2021. All share and per share data included in the condensed consolidated financial
statements and related notes give retroactive effect to the forward split for all periods presented.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and 
Stockholders of Marpai Health, Inc. and Subsidiary

Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Marpai Health, Inc. and Subsidiary (the
“Company”) as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the related consolidated statement of operations,
stockholders’ deficit, and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2020 and for the period from February 14,
2019 (inception) to December 31, 2019, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial
statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the results of its operations and its cash
flows for the year ended December 31, 2020 and for the period from February 14, 2019 (inception) to
December 31, 2019, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Emphasis of Matter Regarding Liquidity

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company has an accumulated deficit,
negative cash flows from operations, and historically has relied on issuance of convertible notes to fund
development of its product and funding of its operating expenses. Management’s evaluation of these conditions, as
well as management’s plans to mitigate these matters are described in Note 2. Our opinion is not modified with
respect to this matter.

Basis for Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are
required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements
relating to our audit.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the auditing standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States) and in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States
of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our
audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management,
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2020.

Melville, NY

March 18, 2021, except for Note 17, as to which the date is October 15, 2021
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MARPAI HEALTH, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY 
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31,
2020 2019 

ASSETS:     
Current assets:     

Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,754,569 $ 187,340 
Restricted cash  63,363  58,936 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets  262,211  16,010 
Other receivables  100,038  27,857 

Total current assets  2,180,181  290,143 
Property and equipment, net  195,404  284,683 
Capitalized software  3,818,959  3,250,000 
Operating lease right-of-use assets  337,316  415,299 

Total assets $ 6,531,860 $ 4,240,125 
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ DEFICIT     
Current liabilities:     

Accounts payable $ 159,168 $ 44,878 
Accounts payable – related party  15,725  — 
Accrued expenses  44,955  19,653 
Employee and payroll accruals  223,012  47,762 
Current portion of operating lease liabilities  96,472  86,971 
Current portion of convertible notes payable  1,866,237  — 
Due to related party  243,638  — 

Total current liabilities  2,649,207  199,264 
Convertible notes payable, net of current portion  7,095,887  4,534,270 
Operating lease liabilities, net of current portion  283,265  379,736 

Total liabilities  10,028,359   5,113,270 
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES     
STOCKHOLDERS’ DEFICIT     

Common stock, $0.0001 par value, 6,833,732 shares authorized; 
142,370 issued and outstanding  14  14 

Additional paid-in capital  2,044,362  799,732 
Accumulated deficit  (5,540,875  (1,672,891 

Total stockholders’ deficit  (3,496,499  (873,145  
Total liabilities and stockholders’ deficit $ 6,531,860 $ 4,240,125 

Reflects 4.555821-for-1 forward split that became effective September 2, 2021. See Note 17 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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MARPAI HEALTH, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Year Ended 
December 31, 2020

Period from 
February 14, 2019

(Inception) to 
December 31, 2019

Revenue $ — $ — 
Cost of revenue — — 

Gross profit — — 
Operating expenses 

Research and development 1,840,772 674,857 
General and administrative 1,499,376 890,035 
Sales and marketing 27,583 21,610 

Total operating expenses 3,367,731 1,586,502 
Operating loss (3,367,731 (1,586,502 

Other income (expenses) 
Other income 25,846 16,902 
Interest expense (521,140 (106,933 
Foreign exchange (loss) gain (4,959 3,642 

Loss before provision for income taxes (3,867,984 (1,672,891 
Income tax expense — — 

Net loss $ (3,867,984 $ (1,672,891 
Loss per share, basic & fully diluted $ (1.59 $ (1.16 
Weighted average number of common shares 2,428,877 1,443,038 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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MARPAI HEALTH, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ DEFICIT



 Common Stock 


Additional Paid-

In Capital  
Accumulated

Deficit  

Total 
Stockholders’

Deficit  Shares   Amount 
Balance, February 14, 2019 (Inception)    —   $ —    $ —    $ —   $ — 
Issuance of common shares in connection

with asset purchase    142,370   14    249,986     —    250,000 
Share-based compensation    —   —    549,746     —    549,746 
Net loss    —   —    —     (1,672,891    (1,672,891 
Balance, December 31, 2019    142,370   $ 14    $ 799,732    $(1,672,891   $ (873,145 
Fair value of warrants issued with convertible

note    —   —    213,828     —    213,828 
Share-based compensation    —   —    1,030,802     —    1,030,802 
Net loss    —   —    —     (3,867,984    (3,867,984 
Balance, December 31, 2020    142,370   $ 14    $ 2,044,362    $(5,540,875   $ (3,496,499 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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MARPAI HEALTH, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year Ended 
December 31, 2020

Period from 
February 14, 2019

(Inception) to 
December 31, 2019 

Cash flows from operating activities:   
Net loss $ (3,867,984 $ (1,672,891 
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:   

Depreciation and amortization  74,384  23,403 
Shared-based compensation  1,030,802  549,746 
Amortization of right-of-use asset  77,983  48,060 
Amortization of debt discount  102,028  — 
Interest accrued on convertible notes payable  414,654  104,269 
Professional services performed in exchange for convertible notes  50,000  — 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:   

(Increase) in prepaid expense and other assets  (318,380  (43,867 
Increase in accounts payable  114,290  44,878 
Increase in accounts payable – related party  15,725  — 
Increase in accrued expenses  200,552  67,415 
(Decrease) increase in operating lease liabilities  (86,971  3,348 
Increase in due to related party  243,638  — 

Net cash used in operating activities  (1,949,279  (875,639 
Cash flows from investing activities:   

Capitalization of software development costs  (568,959  — 
Purchase of capitalized software  —  (70,000 
Purchase of property and equipment  (30,746  (308,085 
Reimbursement of leasehold improvements from sublease  45,640  — 

Net cash used in investing activities  (554,065  (378,085 
Cash flows from financing activities:   

Proceeds from issuance of convertible notes payable  4,075,000  1,500,000 
Net cash provided by financing activities  4,075,000  1,500,000 

Net increase in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash  1,571,656  246,276 
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of the year  246,276  — 
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of the year $ 1,817,932 $ 246,276 
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing and financing activity   

Convertible debt issued to purchase capitalized software $ — $ 2,930,000 
Purchase of capitalized software asset with issuance of common 

shares $ — $ 250,000 
Initial recognition of operating lease right-of-use assets, net of lease incentive $ — $ 463,359 
Initial recognition of operating lease liabilities $ — $ 520,759 
Issuance of warrants in connection with convertible debt $ 213,828 $ — 
Professional services performed in exchange for convertible notes $ 50,000 $ — 

Reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash reported in the
consolidated balance sheet   
Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,754,569 $ 187,340 
Restricted cash  63,363  58,936 
Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash shown in the

consolidated statement of cash flows $ 1,817,932 $ 246,276 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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MARPAI HEALTH, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020 AND 

THE PERIOD FROM FEBRUARY 14, 2019 (INCEPTION) TO DECEMBER 31, 2019

NOTE 1 — ORGANIZATION AND DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

Marpai Health, Inc. (“Marpai”) a Delaware corporation, was incorporated on February 14, 2019. Marpai is a
development stage company with no operating history and no revenues. On March 21, 2019, EYME Technologies
Ltd. (“EYME”), a wholly owned subsidiary of Marpai Health, Inc located in Israel, was formed. Marpai, along with
its wholly-owned subsidiary, EYME, are hereinafter referred to as the “Company”. The Company engages in
developing and marketing artificial intelligence and healthcare technology for customers to analyze data to predict
and prevent costly events related to diagnostic errors, hospital visits and administrative issues.

The recent global pandemic outbreak, or COVID-19, continues to adversely impact commercial activity,
globally and in the United States, and has contributed to significant volatility in financial markets. The outbreak
could have a continued adverse impact on economic and market conditions, including business and financial
services disruption. As of the date these financial statements were available to be issued, the effects of impact are
unknown and the Company will continue to monitor the potential impact of COVID-19 on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements.

NOTE 2 — LIQUIDITY

The accompanying consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments or classifications that
may result from the possible inability of the Company to continue as a going concern. The accompanying
consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a basis, which contemplates the realization of assets and
the satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course of business. As shown in the accompanying consolidated
financial statements as of the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company has an accumulated deficit of
$5,540,875 and working capital deficit of $469,026. At December 31, 2020, the Company had total debt of
$9,073,924 and $1,754,569 of unrestricted cash on hand. Since inception, the Company has met its cash needs
through issuing convertible notes. The Company’s cash requirements are generally for operating activities and debt
repayments.

As of December 31, 2020, the Company believes cash on hand, and a commitment from its major investor to
fund the Company’s operations, will allow the Company to continue as a going concern for a period of
twelve months from date of the issuance of the consolidated financial statements. The Company currently has a
cash position that is projected to cover the Company’s operating expenses until June 2021. If the Company has not:
1) completed its initial public offering, which is planned for late second quarter of 2021, 2) secured another private
round of financing; 3) or secured enough revenue to fund its operations, then the major investor is prepared to fund
the gaps so that the Company has enough liquidity to operate at least until April 2022. Total un-funded operating
expenses until April 2022 are planned to be in a range of $3,500,000 to $4,500,000 based on the Company’s
current projections.

NOTE 3 — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Presentation

These consolidated financial statements and related notes are presented in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles in the United States (“GAAP”), expressed in U.S. dollars. The accompanying consolidated
financial statements reflect all adjustments including normal recurring adjustments, which, in the opinion of
management, are necessary to present fairly the financial position, results of operations and cash flows for the
period presented in accordance with GAAP. The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the
accounts of Marpai and its wholly owned subsidiary, EYME. All significant intercompany balances and
transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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THE PERIOD FROM FEBRUARY 14, 2019 (INCEPTION) TO DECEMBER 31, 2019

NOTE 3 — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of
contingencies at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reporting period. Such estimates include, but are not limited to, valuation of stock-based
compensation, accrued expenses, useful lives of internally developed software and property and equipment,
whether an arrangement is or contains a lease, the discount rate used for operating leases, income tax accruals and
the valuation allowance for deferred income taxes. The Company bases these estimates on historical and
anticipated results, trends and various other assumptions that it believes are reasonable under the circumstances,
including assumptions as to future events. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash consists of funds held in bank accounts. Cash equivalents consist of short-term, highly liquid
investments with original maturities of 90 days or less at the time of purchase and generally include money market
accounts.

Concentrations of Credit Risk

The Company maintains cash accounts with financial institutions. At times, balances in these accounts may
exceed federally insured limits. The amounts over the federally insured limits as of December 31, 2020 and 2019
was $1,504,569 and $116,611, respectively. No losses have been incurred to date on any deposit balances.

Restricted Cash

Restricted cash includes cash held in a separate bank account pledged to a bank as collateral for a bank
guarantee provided to the lessor to secure the Company’s obligations under its lease agreement.

Fair Value Measurements

The Company is required to disclose information on all assets and liabilities reported at fair value that enables
an assessment of the inputs used in determining the reported fair values. Accounting Standards Codification
(“ASC”) Topic 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures (“ASC 820”), establishes a hierarchy of inputs used
when available. Observable inputs are what market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability based on
market data obtained from sources independent of the Company. Unobservable inputs are those that reflect the
Company’s assumptions about the inputs that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability, and are
developed based on the best information available in the circumstances.

The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are described below:

Level 1 — Valuations based on unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
that the Company has the ability to access at the measurement date.

Level 2 — Valuations based on quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active or
for which all significant inputs are observable, either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 — Valuations that require inputs that are unobservable for the asset and liability in which there is
little, if any, market activity.
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NOTE 3 — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts of the Company’s financial instruments, which include accounts payable, accrued
expenses, and debt at fixed interest rates, approximate their fair values at December 31, 2020 and 2019, principally
due to the short-term nature, maturities or nature of interest rates of the above listed items.

Long-Lived Assets

The Company reviews its long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or circumstances exist that
indicate the carrying amount of an asset or asset group may not be recoverable. Recoverability of assets is
measured by comparing the carrying amounts of the assets to the future undiscounted cash flows expected to be
generated by the assets. If the asset or asset group is considered to be impaired, an impairment loss would be
recorded to adjust the carrying amounts to the estimated fair value. Management has determined that no
impairment of long-lived assets exists, and accordingly, no adjustments to the carrying amounts of the Company’s
long-lived assets have been made for the year ended December 31, 2020 and the period from February 14, 2019
(inception) to December 31, 2019.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consisting of office and computer equipment, furniture and leasehold improvements
are stated at cost. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the following estimated useful
lives.

Useful Lives

Equipment 3 years
Furniture and fixtures 5 years
Leasehold improvements Shorter of 5 years or lease term

Capitalized Software

The Company complies with the guidance of ASC Topic 350-40, “Intangibles — Goodwill and Other — 
Internal Use Software”, in accounting for its internally developed system projects that it utilizes to provide its
services to customers. These system projects generally relate to software of the Company that is not intended for
sale or otherwise marketed. Internal and external costs incurred during the preliminary project stage are expensed
as they are incurred. Once a project has reached the development stage, the Company capitalizes direct internal and
external costs until the software is substantially complete and ready for its intended use. Costs for upgrades and
enhancements are capitalized, whereas, costs incurred for maintenance are expensed as incurred. These capitalized
software costs are amortized on a project-by- project basis over the expected economic life of the underlying
software on a straight-line basis, which is generally three years. Amortization commences when the software is
available for its intended use.

Convertible Debt

The Company evaluates convertible debt to determine the impact (if any) of 1) embedded conversion option;
2) beneficial conversion feature; 3) bifurcation; 4) derivative liability; and 5) fair value adjustments and other
expenses thereto. In assessing the convertible debt instruments, management determines if the convertible debt
host instrument is conventional convertible debt and further if there is a beneficial conversion feature requiring
measurement. If the instrument is not considered conventional convertible
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NOTE 3 — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

debt under ASC Topic 470, “Debt” (“ASC 470”), the Company will continue its evaluation process of these
instruments as derivative financial instruments under ASC Topic 815, “Derivatives and Hedging” (“ASC 815”).

Conventional convertible debt is a financial instrument in which the holder may only realize the value of the
conversion option by exercising the option and receiving the entire proceeds in a fixed number of shares or the
equivalent amount of cash. Conventional convertible debt, for which the fair value option is not elected at issuance,
is accounted for as straight debt with no accounting recognition of the embedded equity option.

The convertible debt the Company issued has the following typical characteristics:

The debt security is convertible into the common stock of the issuer at a specified price or price that can be
measured at the option of the holder.

The debt security was sold at a price or has a value at issuance not significantly in excess of the face amount.

It bears an interest rate that is lower than the Company would obtain for nonconvertible debt.

If converted, the Company must deliver shares of its stock to the investor (i.e., physical settlement). There is
no cash conversion feature by which the convertible debt can be settled in full or in part in cash upon
conversion.

The initial conversion price of the security is greater than the market value of the common stock at time of
issuance and there is no beneficial conversion feature (“BCF”) upon issuance to be bifurcated and separately
accounted for.

Since the Company has determined that the embedded conversion options should not be bifurcated from their
host instruments, the Company accounts for convertible debt instruments in accordance with ASC 470-20, Debt
with Conversion and Other Options.

Income Taxes

The Company follows ASC Topic 740-10-65-1 in accounting for uncertainty in income taxes by prescribing
rules for recognition, measurement and classification in financial statements of tax positions taken or expected to
be in a tax return. This prescribes a two-step process for the financial statement measurement and recognition of a
tax position. The first step involves the determination of whether it is more likely than not (greater than 50 percent
likelihood) that a tax position will be sustained upon examination, based on the technical merits of the position.
The second step requires that any tax position that meets the more likely than not recognition threshold be
measured and recognized in the financial statements at the largest amount of benefit that is a greater than
50 percent likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement. This topic also provides guidance on the
accounting for related interest and penalties, financial statement classification and disclosure. The Company’s
policy is that any interest or penalties related to uncertain tax positions are recognized in income tax expense when
incurred. The Company has no uncertain tax positions or related interest or penalties requiring accrual at
December 31, 2020 and 2019.

Share-Based Compensation

The Company accounts for share-based awards issued to employees in accordance with ASC Topic 718,
“Compensation — Stock Compensation”. In addition, the Company issues stock options to non-employees
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in exchange for consulting services and accounts for these in accordance with the provisions of ASC 2018-07.
Compensation expense is measured at the grant date, based on the calculated fair value of the award, and
recognized as an expense over the requisite service period, which is generally the vesting period of the grant.

For modification of stock compensation awards, the Company records the incremental fair value of the
modified award as stock-based compensation on the date of modification for vested awards or over the remaining
vesting period for unvested awards. The incremental compensation is the excess of the fair value of the modified
award on the date of modification over the fair value of the original award immediately before the modification.

For options granted to non-employees, the expected life of the option used is the contractual term of each such
option. All other assumptions used to calculate the grant date fair value are generally consistent with the
assumptions used for options granted to employees.

For purposes of calculating stock-based compensation, the Company estimates the fair value of stock options
using a Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The determination of the fair value of share-based payment awards
utilizing the Black-Scholes model is affected by the Company’s stock price, which is determined by a 409a
valuation, and a number of assumptions, including expected volatility, expected life, risk-free interest rate and
expected dividends. The expected volatility is primarily based on the historical volatility of peer company data
while the expected life of the stock options is based on historical and other economic data trended into the future.
The risk-free interest rate is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant for periods
corresponding to the expected option term. The dividend yield assumption is based on the Company’s history and
expectation of no dividend payouts. If factors change and the Company employs different assumptions, stock-
based compensation expense may differ significantly from what has been recorded in the past. If there is a
difference between the assumptions used in determining stock-based compensation expense and the actual factors
which become known over time, specifically with respect to anticipated forfeitures, the Company may change the
input factors used in determining stock-based compensation costs for future grants. These changes, if any, may
materially impact the Company’s results of operations in the period such changes are made. Incremental
compensation costs arising from subsequent modifications of awards after the grant date are recognized when
incurred. In addition, the Company accounts for forfeitures of awards as they occur. For stock-based awards that
vest based on performance conditions, expense is recognized when it is probable that the conditions will be met.

The fair value of options and share awards granted under the stock option plan during the year ended
December 31, 2020 and the period from February 14, 2019 (inception) to December 31, 2019 was estimated at the
date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model and the following assumptions for grants:

2020 2019 
Risk-free interest rates 0.285 – 1.399% 1.445% 
Expected life 5 – 6.25 years 6.25 years 
Expected volatility 34.60 – 41.07% 34.70% 
Expected dividend yield 0.00% 0.00% 

Foreign Currency Translation

For non-U.S. operations, the functional currency is U.S. dollars since these operations are a direct and integral
component or extension of the parent Company’s operations. As a result, the transactions of those
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operations that are denominated in foreign currencies are re-measured into U.S. dollars, and any resulting gains or
losses are included in earnings. Foreign currency loss was recognized in the amount of $4,959 for the year ended
December 31, 2020 and foreign currency gain was recognized in the amount of $3,642 for the period from
February 14, 2019 (inception) to December 31, 2019 and is included in other expenses in the consolidated
statement of operations.

Foreign Operations

Operations outside the United States include a subsidiary in Israel. Foreign operations are subject to risks
inherent in operating under different legal systems and various political and economic environments. Among the
risks are changes in existing tax laws, possible limitations on foreign investment and income repatriation,
government price or foreign exchange controls, and restrictions on currency exchange.

Research and Development

Research and development costs incurred prior to the application development stage of the Company’s
internal use software are expensed as incurred. Research and development costs prior to the application
development stage amounted to $1,840,772 and $674,857 for the year ended December 31, 2020 and the period
from February 14, 2019 (inception) to December 31, 2019, respectively.

Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings (loss) per share is computed by dividing net income (loss) available to common stockholders
by the weighted average number of outstanding common shares for the period, considering the effect of
participating securities. Diluted earnings (loss) per share are calculated by dividing net earnings (loss) by the
weighted average number of common shares and dilutive common stock equivalents outstanding. During the
periods when they are anti-dilutive, common stock equivalents, if any, are not considered in the computation. At
December 31, 2020 and 2019, there were 5,451,500 and 3,265,845 common share equivalents, respectively. For the
year ended December 31, 2020 and the period from February 14, 2019 (inception) to December 31, 2019, these
potential shares were excluded from the shares used to calculate diluted earnings per share. These securities were
not included in the computation of diluted net earnings per share as their effect would have been antidilutive.

Segments

Operating segments are defined as components of an entity for which separate financial information is
available. The Company reviews financial information presented on a consolidated basis for the purposes of
making operating decisions, allocating resources and evaluating financial performance. As such, the Company has
determined that it operates in one operating and one reportable segment. The Company presents financial
information about its operating segment and geographical areas in Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements.

Leases

In February 2016, the FASB issued Accounting Standard Update, or (“ASU”), No. 2016-02, Leases (“Topic
842”), to enhance the transparency and comparability of financial reporting related to leasing arrangements. The
Company adopted the standard effective February 14, 2019 (inception). At the inception of an arrangement, the
Company determines whether the arrangement is or contains a lease based on the unique facts and circumstances
present. Operating lease liabilities and their corresponding right of use assets are recorded based on the present
value of lease payments over the expected lease term and adjusted for
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lease incentives. Lease incentives are recognized when earned and reduce our operating lease asset related to the
lease. They are amortized through the operating lease assets as reductions of lease expense over the lease term. The
interest rate implicit in lease contracts is typically not readily determinable. As such, the Company utilizes its
incremental borrowing rate, which is the rate incurred to borrow on a collateralized basis over a similar term an
amount equal to the lease payments in a similar economic environment. Options to extend or terminate a lease are
included in the calculation of the lease term to the extent that the option is reasonably certain of exercise. The
Company has concluded that it is reasonably certain it would exercise such options; therefore, the lease term
includes the extension period stated within the lease.

Leases with an initial term of 12 months or less that do contain purchase options or renewal terms that the
Company is reasonably certain to exercise are not recorded on the consolidated balance sheet. The Company
recognizes the lease expense for such leases on a straight-line basis in the consolidated statement of operations over
the lease term. As a result, the Company does not recognize deferred rent on the consolidated balance sheet.

On May 1, 2019, the Company recorded right-of-use assets and corresponding lease liabilities of $463,359
and $520,759, respectively, based on the present value of the minimum rental payments utilizing an incremental
borrowing rate of 8.43%. The right-of-use asset reflects a reduction of $57,400 for lease incentives. As of
December 31, 2020, the right-of-use assets and corresponding lease liabilities in the Company’s consolidated
balance sheet were $337,316 and $379,737, respectively. The adoption of this standard did not have a material
impact on the Company’s consolidated statement of operations and consolidated statement of cash flows.

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In November 2019, the FASB issued ASU No. 2019-08 “Compensation — Stock Compensation (Topic 718)
and Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606): Codification Improvements — Share-Based
Consideration Payable to a Customer.” ASU No. 2019-08 amends and clarifies ASU No. 2018-07, which was
adopted by the Company on January 1, 2019, to require that an entity measure and classify share-based payment
awards granted to a customer by applying the guidance in Topic 718. For entities that have already adopted the
amendments in ASU No. 2018-07, the amendments in this ASU are effective for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2019, and for interim periods within those fiscal years, with early adoption permitted. This guidance
is applicable to the Company’s fiscal year beginning January 1, 2020. The adoption of this guidance did not have a
material impact on its unaudited consolidated financial statements.

In April 2019, the FASB issued ASU No. 2019-04 “Codification Improvements to Topic 326, Financial
Instruments — Credit Losses, Topic 815, Derivatives and Hedging, and Topic 825, Financial Instruments.” ASU
No. 2019-04 was issued as part of the FASB’s ongoing project to improve upon its ASC, and to clarify and
improve areas of guidance related to recently issued standards on credit losses, hedging, and recognition and
measurement. This guidance contains several effective dates but is applicable to the Company’s fiscal year
beginning January 1, 2020. The adoption of this guidance will not have a material impact on its consolidated
financial statements.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In August 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-06, Accounting for Convertible Instruments and Contracts in an
Entity’s Own Equity, which simplifies the guidance on the issuer’s accounting for convertible debt instruments by
removing the separation models for (1) convertible debt with a cash conversion feature and (2) convertible
instruments with a beneficial conversion feature. As a result, entities will not separately present in equity an
embedded conversion feature in such debt. Instead, they will account for a convertible debt
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instrument wholly as debt, unless certain other conditions are met. The elimination of these models will reduce
reported interest expense and increase reported net income for entities that have issued a convertible instrument
that was within the scope of those models before the adoption of ASU 2020-06.

ASU 2020-06 also requires that the effect of potential share settlement be included in the diluted EPS
calculation when an instrument may be settled in cash or share. This amendment removes current guidance that
allows an entity to rebut this presumption if it has a history or policy of cash settlement. Furthermore, ASU 2020-
06 requires the application of the if converted method for calculating diluted earnings per share, the treasury stock
method will be no longer available. In addition, ASU 2020-06 clarifies that an average market price should be used
to calculate the diluted EPS denominator in cases in which the exercise prices may change on the basis of an
entity’s share price or changes in the entity’s share price may affect the number of shares that may be used to settle
a financial instrument and that an entity should use the weighted-average share count from each quarter when
calculating the year-to-date weighted-average share. The provisions of ASU 2020-06 are applicable for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2021, with early adoption permitted no earlier than fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2020. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of ASU 2020-06 on its consolidated financial
statements.

In March 2020, the FASB issued ASU No. 2020-04, “Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Facilitation of the
Effects of Reference Rate Reform on Financial Reporting.” ASU No. 2020-04 provides guidance on optional
expedients for a limited time to ease the operational burden in accounting for (or recognizing the effects of)
reference rate reform (LIBOR) on financial reporting. This guidance is effective upon the ASUs issuance on
March 12, 2020 and companies may elect to apply the amendments prospectively through December 31, 2022. The
Company’s credit facilities already contain comparable alternative reference rates that would automatically take
effect upon the LIBOR phase out, and it is also reviewing its commercial contracts that may utilize LIBOR as a
reference rate. The Company is currently evaluating the potential effects of this guidance on its consolidated
financial statements.

In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU No. 2019-12 “Income Taxes (Topic 740): Simplifying the
Accounting for Income Taxes.” ASU No. 2019-12 is intended to simplify various aspects related to accounting for
income taxes, eliminates certain exceptions to the general principles in ASC Topic 740 related to intra-period tax
allocation, simplifies when companies recognize deferred taxes in an interim period, and clarifies certain aspects of
the current guidance to promote consistent application. This guidance is effective for public business entities for
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020, and for interim periods within those fiscal years, with early
adoption permitted. This guidance is applicable to the Company’s fiscal year beginning January 1, 2021. The
Company is currently evaluating the potential effects of this guidance on its consolidated financial statements.

NOTE 4 — PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment consist of the following at:

December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019
Equipment $ 25,892 $ 11,200 
Furniture and fixtures  76,493  76,493 
Leasehold improvements  190,806  220,393 

Total cost  293,191  308,086 
Accumulated depreciation  (97,787  (23,403 
Property and equipment, net $ 195,404 $ 284,683 
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The Company received $45,640 as reimbursement for leasehold improvements from sublease during the year
ended December 31, 2020. Depreciation expense for the year ended December 31, 2020 and the period from
February 14, 2019 (inception) to December 31, 2019 was $74,384 and $23,403, respectively, and is included in
research and development expense in the consolidated statement of operations.

NOTE 5 — CAPITALIZED SOFTWARE

On August 12, 2019, the Company entered into an asset purchase agreement for a software system for
research, analysis and prediction of security related events for law enforcement agencies (the “Purchased Assets”).
The Company intends to customize the acquired software system for purposes of porting it to the cloud and making
it available in a software as a service (“SaaS”) model to accommodate for healthcare usage and compliance with
healthcare privacy and security regulation.

The purchase price of the Purchased Assets was $3,250,000, which consisted of $70,000 in cash, $250,000 for
the fair value of the issuance of 142,370 common shares of the Company, and $2,930,000 for the issuance of a
convertible promissory note.

On August 31, 2020, the software system project reached the development stage. The Company capitalized
direct internal and external costs of $568,959 as of December 31, 2020. There was no amortization for the year
ended December 31, 2020 and the period from February 14, 2019 (inception) to December 31, 2019 as the assets
had not yet been placed in service.

NOTE 6 — LEASES

In May 2019, EYME entered into a lease agreement for office space in Tel Aviv, Israel. The lease agreement
commenced on May 1, 2019 and expires on June 15, 2021. The lease calls for monthly rent payments of $10,250.
The lease agreement includes an extension option for an additional period of thirty-six months which includes an
increase in base rent of three percent. EYME recognized a right-of-use asset of $463,359 and operating lease
liabilities of $520,759. EYME has recorded operating lease expense in the amount of $114,012 and $76,008 during
the year ended December 31, 2020 and the period from February 14, 2019 (inception) to December 31, 2019,
respectively.

On August 1, 2019, EYME entered into sublease with expiration date of May 14, 2021. The lease calls for rent
payments of $2,857 in monthly payments. Sublease income for the year ended December 31, 2020 and the period
from February 14, 2019 (inception) to December 31, 2019 was $25,846 and $16,902, respectively, and is included
in other income within the accompanying consolidated statement of operations.

The Company’s future lease payments, which are presented as current maturities of operating leases and
noncurrent operating lease liabilities on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2020 are as
follows:

2021 $124,845 
2022  126,690 
2023  126,690 
2024  61,978 
Total lease payments  440,203 
Less: imputed interest  (60,466 
Present value of lease liabilities  379,737 
Less: current lease liabilities  (96,472 
Long-term lease liabilities $283,265 

  

F-45 

)

)



TABLE OF CONTENTS

  

MARPAI HEALTH, INC. AND SUBSIDIARY

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020 AND 

THE PERIOD FROM FEBRUARY 14, 2019 (INCEPTION) TO DECEMBER 31, 2019

NOTE 6 — LEASES (Continued)

The remaining lease term was 3.5 years as of December 31, 2020.

NOTE 7 — STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

Stock Options

In October 2019, the Company adopted the Global Stock Incentive Plan (the “Plan”) under which the
Company may grant stock options for up to 683,374 common shares. Both incentive stock options and non-
qualified stock options expire ten years from the date of the grant.

The following table summarizes the stock option activity:

 
Number of

Options  
Weighted Average

Exercise Price  

Weighted Average
Remaining 

Contractual Term  

Aggregate 
Intrinsic 

Value 
Balance at December 31, 2019   —     $ —        
Granted   468,070     0.14        
Forfeited/Expired   —     —        
Exercised   —     —        
Balance at December 31, 2020   468,070     0.14   9.25    $1,315,512 
Exercisable at December 31, 2020   41,035     $ 0.002   9.25    $ 120,966 

The following table summarizes the Company’s non-vested stock options:

Non-vested 
Options Outstanding

Weighted-Average
Grant Date Fair 

Value 
At December 31, 2019 —   $ — 
Options granted 468,070   1.23 
Options forfeited/cancelled —   — 
Options exercised —   — 
Options vested (41,035   1.41 
At December 31, 2020 427,035   $ 1.21 

For the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company recognized $149,483 stock compensation expense
relating to stock options. As of December 31, 2020, there was $425,037 of unrecognized stock compensation
expense related to non-vested share-based compensation arrangements granted under the Plan. That cost is
expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of four years.

Restricted Stock Awards

In July 2019, the Board of Directors authorized grants of restricted stock awards (“RSAs”) through a
restricted stock purchase agreement to certain founders, consultants and advisors of the Company. The fair value of
the RSAs were determined based on a Black-Scholes valuation on the date of grant and will be recognized as
stock-based compensation expense over the requisite service period. Certain grants to the Company’s founders
were fully vested at the date of incorporation, other grants vest over a four-year period on each anniversary of the
grant date, based on continued employment, and other grants vested based on various milestones. At December 31,
2020, there were 1,618,565 RSAs outstanding and 2,715,835 RSAs
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vested. The shares of common stock underlying the RSAs are not considered issued and outstanding until vested
and common stock is issued.

The following table summarizes the restricted stock unit activity:

Restricted Stock
Units

Weighted-Average
Grant Date Fair 
Value Per Share 

At February 14, 2019 —   $ — 
Granted 4,200,003   1.41 
Vested (2,069,314   1.41 
Outstanding at December 31, 2019 2,130,689   1.41 
Granted 134,397   2.13 
Exercised —   — 
Vested (646,522   1.44 
Outstanding at December 31, 2020 1,618,564   $ 1.46 

For the year ended December 31, 2020 and the period from February 14, 2019 (inception) to December 31,
2019, the Company recognized $881,319 and $549,746 of stock compensation expense, respectively, relating to
RSAs. As of December 31, 2020, there was $1,694,301 of unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related
to non-vested RSAs, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 2.65 years.

NOTE 8 — CONVERTIBLE DEBT

During 2019, the Company entered into convertible debt agreements (the “2019 Convertible Notes”) with
several investors for aggregate principal of $1,500,000 due, in each case, two years from the note date, at the
following conversion terms: The outstanding principal balance and unpaid accrued interest of the notes is to be
automatically converted upon the Company’s next equity financing round with gross proceeds to the Company of
at least $2,000,000, into the most senior class of shares of the Company issued in such financing round at a price
per share equal to the lesser of the following: (i) a price determined based on the maximum company pre-money
valuation of $8,000,000 on a fully diluted basis; or (ii) a twenty percent (20%) discount on the lowest price per
share paid by the investors in such a financing round. Unless otherwise automatically converted in such financing
round, the notes could be converted discretionarily in certain situations, at a conversion price based on the
maximum company pre-money valuation of $8,000,000 on a fully diluted basis into the most senior class of stock.
In the event the Company consummates a change of control (as defined in the note) prior to the maturity date and
prior to the conversion or repayment of the notes, the notes shall become due and payable upon the date of
consummation of such change of control in an amount equal to the greater of: (i) 1.5 times the note amount, plus
any accrued and unpaid interest; or (ii) at a price determined based on the maximum company pre-money valuation
of $8,000,000 on a fully diluted basis, immediately prior to the change of control. The 2019 Convertible Notes
accrue interest at 8% per annum, payable in cash at maturity or convertible to shares as previously described
herein.

On October 24, 2019, in connection with the software asset purchase, the Company entered into a convertible
debt agreement (“Purchase Note”) with the seller for a principal of $2,930,000 due five years from the note date.
The Purchase Note contains the following conversion terms: Upon the occurrence of an equity investment in the
Company’s capital stock, with proceeds of at least US $10,000,000, including the amount covered by a conversion
of any outstanding convertible notes and debts into shares of capital stock
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of the Company on or before the maturity date (a “Qualified Financing”), the holder shall be entitled to, but not
obligated to, convert the balance of this note, in whole or in part, into the securities sold in the Qualified Financing
at a conversion price equal to (x) the cash price paid per share for equity securities by the investors in the Qualified
Financing multiplied by (y) 0.80. The Purchase Note accrues interest at 6% per annum, payable in cash at maturity
or convertible to shares as previously described herein.

During 2020, the Company entered into three tranches of convertible debt agreements (the “2020 Convertible
Notes”) with several investors for aggregate principal of $4,125,000, comprised of $800,000 for the first tranche
(“1st Tranche”) $1,500,000 for the second tranche (“2nd Tranche”), $1,900,000 for the third tranche, comprised of
$1,775,000 in cash proceeds, $50,000 notes issued in exchange for legal service provided and $75,000 of cash
which was funded in February 2021 (“3rd Tranche”), due, in each case, two years from the note date, at the
following conversion terms: The outstanding principal balance and unpaid accrued interest of the notes is to be
automatically converted upon the Company’s next equity financing round with gross proceeds to the Company of
at least $2,000,000, other than initial public offering (“IPO”), into the most senior class of shares of the Company
issued in such financing round at a price per share equal to the lesser of the following: (i) a price determined based
on the maximum company pre-money valuation of $8,000,000 for the 1st Tranche, $16,000,000 for the 2nd
Tranche and $35,000,000 for the 3rd Tranche on a fully diluted basis; or (ii) a twenty percent (20%) discount for
the 1st Tranche and the 2nd Tranche, and a thirty percent (30%) discount for the 3rd Tranche on the lowest price
per share paid by the investors in such a financing round. The outstanding principal amount of the 3rd Tranche and
accrued interest will be converted automatically into unregistered shares of common stock of the Company
concurrently with the closing of the IPO at a price 70% of the per share public offering price stated in the final
prospectus for the IPO. Unless otherwise automatically converted upon an IPO or in a financing round, the notes
could be converted discretionarily in certain situations, at a conversion price based the maximum company pre-
money valuation of $8,000,000 for the 1st Tranche, $16,000,000 for the 2nd Tranche and $35,000,000 for the 3rd
Tranche, on a fully diluted basis into the most senior class of stock. In the event the Company consummates a
change of control (as defined in the note) prior to the maturity date and prior to the conversion or repayment of the
notes, the notes shall become due and payable upon the date of consummation of such change of control in an
amount equal to the greater of: (i) 1.5 times the note amount, plus any accrued and unpaid interest; or (ii) net
proceeds to be received if the notes had converted at a price determined based on the maximum company pre-
money valuation of $8,000,000 for the 1st Tranche, $16,000,000 for the 2nd Tranche and $35,000,000 for the 3rd
Tranche, on a fully diluted basis, immediately prior to the change of control. The 2020 Convertible Notes accrue
interest at 8% per annum, payable in cash at maturity or convertible to shares as previously described herein.

Management determined that the convertible notes and their conversion features do not meet the definition of
a derivative and the embedded conversion option is not subject to bifurcation and classification in the financial
statements in liabilities at fair value.

The Company recorded interest expense pursuant to the stated interest rates on the convertible notes in the
amount of $414,654 and $104,270 for the year ended December 31, 2020 and the period from February 14, 2019
(inception) to December 31, 2019, respectively.

The aggregate balance of the convertible notes payable is as follows at:
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December 31 2020 December 31, 2019
Convertible notes payable $ 8,555,000  $ 4,430,000 
Accrued interest 518,924  104,270 
Less: unamortized debt discount (111,800  — 
Total convertible notes payable, net $ 8,962,124  $ 4,534,270 
Less: current portion of convertible notes payable (1,866,237  — 
Convertible notes payable, net of current portion $ 7,095,887  $ 4,534,270 

Minimum annual payments for the future periods are as follows:

Year Ended December 31,   
2021 $1,866,237 
2022  5,289,388 
2023  1,046,344 

2024  871,955 

 $9,073,924 

NOTE 10 — WARRANTS

On January 17, 2020, the Company issued warrants to an investor to purchase up to 364,466 common shares
at an exercise price of $1.43 per share. The warrants were issued in connection with a certain convertible note. The
Company estimated the fair value of the warrants to be $213,828 based on a Black-Scholes option pricing model,
and recorded it as debt discount which amortizes to interest expense over the period of the loan and as additional
paid-in capital. The warrants expire and are no longer exercisable at the fifth anniversary of the date the warrants
were issued.

The following assumptions were used when calculating the issuance date fair value:

Exercise price of the warrants $6.50
Contractual life of the warrants 5 years
Current value of the underlying common stock $9.71
Expected volatility 35.04%
Expected dividend yield 0.00%
Risk-free interest rate 1.693%

NOTE 11 — INCOME TAXES

The effective tax rate was 30.35% and 34.61% for the years ended December 31, 2020 and for the period from
February 14, 2019 (inception) to December 31, 2019. The effective tax rate differs from the federal tax rate of 21%
for the years ended December 31,2020 and for the period from February 14, 2019 (inception) to December 31,
2019 due to the valuation allowance, and other discrete items.

At December 31, 2020, the Company had federal and state net operating losses (“NOLs”) in the amount of
$483,102 and $517,885. Federal NOLs do not expire and state NOLs will expire on various dates from 2039 to
2040.
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Federal States 
Expire in 2039 $ — $ 98,494 
Expire in 2040  —  226,566 
Indefinite life  483,102  192,825 
Total $483,102  517,885 

The Company is in process of evaluating the effects that a change in ownership under Internal Revenue Code
Section 382, may limit the potential utilization of its NOLs going forward.

Temporary differences which give rise to a significant portion of deferred tax assets are as follows at:

December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019
Startup costs 463,690 $ 171,092 
Stock compensation – RSAs 434,384 190,270 
Net operating loss – Federal 101,452 20,684 
Net operating loss – State 46,209 11,944 

1,045,735 393,990 
Less: Valuation allowance (1,045,735 (393,990 
Net deferred tax asset $ — $ — 

Income tax expense is recorded using the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
recognized for the expected future tax consequences attributable to temporary differences between amounts
reported for income tax purposes and financial statement purposes, using current tax rates. A valuation allowance
is recognized if it is anticipated that some or all of a deferred tax asset will not be realized. The Company must
assess the likelihood that its deferred tax assets will be recovered from future taxable income and, to the extent that
the Company believes that recovery is not likely, it must establish a valuation allowance. Significant management
judgment is required in determining the provision for income taxes, deferred tax assets and liabilities and any
valuation allowance recorded against net deferred tax assets.

Management assesses the available positive and negative evidence to estimate whether sufficient future
taxable income will be generated to permit use of the existing deferred tax assets. A significant piece of objective
negative evidence evaluated was the cumulative loss incurred since inception. Such objective evidence limits the
ability to consider other subjective evidence, such as our projections for future growth. On the basis of this
evaluation, as of December 31, 2020, a valuation allowance of $1,045,735 has been recorded to recognize the
portion of the deferred tax asset that is more likely than not to be realized. The amount of the deferred tax asset
considered realizable, however, could be adjusted if estimates of future taxable income during the carryforward
period are reduced or increased or if objective negative evidence in the form of cumulative losses is no longer
present and additional weight is given to subjective evidence such as our projections for growth.

None of the Company’s Federal or state income tax returns are currently under examination by the Internal
Revenue Service (“IRS”), state or foreign tax authorities.

NOTE 12 — SEGMENT INFORMATION

Research and development activities are conducted through EYME. Geographic long-lived asset information
presented below is based on the physical location of the assets at the end of year.
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NOTE 12 — SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Long-lived assets including capitalized software, property and equipment and operating lease right-of-use, by
geographic region, are as follows at:

December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019
United States $ 3,250,666 $ 3,250,000 
Israel 1,101,013 699,981 
Total long-lived assets $ 4,351,679 $ 3,949,981 

NOTE 13 — RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Company received consulting services from various shareholders. The total cost of these consulting
services for the year ended December 31, 2020 and the period from February 14, 2019 (inception) to December 31,
2019 was approximately $436,000 and $329,000, respectively. The accounts payable to these certain shareholders
as of December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019 was $16,000 and $0, respectively.

On December 30, 2020, the Company received an advance from a certain investor for reimbursement of
certain expenses. This is recorded on the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2020 in the amount of
$243,638.

NOTE 14 — ACCRUED SEVERANCE PAY

EYME’s employees are all based in Israel. Pursuant to Israel’s Severance Pay Law, Israeli employees are
entitled to severance pay equal to one month’s salary for each year of employment, or a portion thereof. All of the
employees of EYME elected to be included under section 14 of the Severance Pay Law, 1963 (“Section 14”).
According to this section, these employees are entitled only to monthly deposits, at a rate of 8.33% of their
monthly salary, made in their name with insurance companies. Payments in accordance with Section 14 release the
Company from any future severance payments (under the above Israeli Severance Pay Law) in respect of those
employees; therefore, related assets and liabilities are not presented in the consolidated balance sheet.

Total Company expenses related to severance pay amounted to approximately $80,000 and $8,500 for the year
ended December 31, 2020 and the period from February 14, 2019 (inception) to December 31, 2019, respectively.

NOTE 15 — STOCKHOLDERS’ DEFICIT

In October 2019, the Company issued 142,370 shares of common stock in connection with the purchase of the
software asset (see Note 5). The fair value of the common stock was $250,000 based on the fair value of the
common shares at the date they were issued.

NOTE 16 — SUBSEQUENT EVENTS THROUGH MARCH 18, 2021

For purposes of preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Company considered events through
March 18, 2021, the date the consolidated financial statements were available for issuance. Management did not
identify any events requiring adjustments to or disclosure in the consolidated financial statements, except those
noted below.
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NOTE 16 — SUBSEQUENT EVENTS THROUGH MARCH 18, 2021 (Continued)

On January 29, 2021, the Company entered into a transaction to acquire Continental Benefits, LLC
(“Continental Benefits”). The companies are currently in the process of, among other things, due diligence, the
execution of a definitive agreement, obtaining necessary board of director and stockholder approvals and
satisfaction of other customary conditions.

On February 11, 2021, the Board approved the increase of total stock options the Company may grant under
the Stock Incentive Plan to 1,047,839 common shares.

In February 2021, the Company received aggregate principal of $75,000 from several investors for the 3rd
Tranche of convertible note (see Note 8).

In February 2021, the Company granted warrants at a purchase price of $0.05 per share to several founders of
the Company at an exercise price of $7.90 per share. The warrants were purchased in exchange for $50,833 cash
paid.

In February 2021, the Company cancelled grants of 136,675 RSAs to consultants and granted 220,958 stock
options under the Global Stock Incentive Plan as replacement. The options’ exercise price is $4.04. The options
expire ten years from the date of the grant.

NOTE 17 — SUBSEQUENT EVENTS FROM MARCH 19, 2021, THROUGH OCTOBER 15, 2021

On April 1, 2021, pursuant to the terms of the Amended and Restated Equity Interest Purchase and
Reorganization Agreement, as was further addended on May 7, 2021 (collectively, the “Agreement”), the
stockholders of the Company and the sole member of Continental Benefits, LLC, a US third party administrator,
contributed their respective shares and ownership interests in the Company and in Continental Benefits to Marpai,
Inc. in consideration for shares of the Marpai, Inc.’s Class A and Class B common stock. Additionally, options to
purchase 1,027,602 shares of the Company common stock and warrants to purchase 1,366,746 shares of the
Company’s common stock were exchanged, on a one to one basis, for options and warrants to purchase shares of
Marpai, Inc.’s common stock (the above transactions shall be referred to as the “Acquisition”). As part of the
Acquisition, approximately $3,800,000 of the Company’s convertible promissory notes were exchanged for shares
of common stock of Marpai, Inc. immediately prior to the Acquisition. As part of the Acquisition, pursuant to a
Note Exchange Agreement, Marpai, Inc. acquired the Company’s certain outstanding convertible promissory notes,
with aggregate outstanding principal and accrued but unpaid interest of $2,198,459, in exchange for the issuance of
Marpai, Inc.’s convertible promissory notes of equivalent aggregate principal amount. The Agreement called for
Continental Benefits to not have less than $4.762 million of cash on hand, and to have no debt at the time of
closing of the Acquisition. According to the Agreement, Continental Benefits is valued, on a cash-free and debt-
free basis, at $8.5 million. Including $4.762 million of cash on Continental Benefits’ balance sheet, equity would
total $13.26 million. In addition, pursuant to the Agreement, the Company is valued at an assumed pre-money
valuation of the last convertible note’s conversion price of $35 million. Following the Acquisition, the Company
became a wholly owned subsidiary of Marpai, Inc.

On September 2, 2021, Marpai, Inc., the Company’s parent, effected a forward split at a ratio of 4.555821-for-
1 to increase its authorized capital shares from 50,000,000 shares of Class A common stock with a par value
$0.0001 per share to 227,791,050 shares of Class A common stock with a par value of $0.0001 per share. All share
and per share data included in the consolidated financial statements of the Company and related notes give
retroactive effect to the forward split for all periods presented as if the forward split was effected by the Company.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and 
Member of Continental Benefits LLC and Subsidiary

Results of Review of Interim Financial Information

We have reviewed the condensed consolidated balance sheet of Continental Benefits LLC and Subsidiary (the
“Company”) as of March 31, 2021, and the related condensed consolidated statements of operations for the three-
month periods ended March 31, 2021 and 2020, and condensed consolidated statements of changes in member’s
equity and statements of cash flows for the three-month periods then ended, and the related notes (collectively
referred to as the “interim consolidated financial statements”). Based on our reviews, we are not aware of any
material modifications that should be made to the accompanying interim consolidated financial statements for them
to be in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

We have previously audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States) (PCAOB) and in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States
of America, the consolidated balance sheet of the Company as of December 31, 2020, and the related consolidated
statements of operations, changes in member’s equity, and cash flows for the year then ended (not presented
herein); and in our report dated March 23, 2021, except for Note 3 and Note 11, as to which the date is October 6,
2021 we expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements. In our opinion, the
information set forth in the accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2020, is fairly
stated, in all material respects, in relation to the balance sheet from which it has been derived.

Emphasis of Matter Regarding Liquidity

As discussed in Note 2 to the condensed consolidated financial statements, the Company has suffered
recurring losses, negative cash flows from operations, and historically has relied on member contributions for the
development of its product and funding of its operating expenses. Management’s evaluation of these conditions, as
well as management’s plans to mitigate these matters are described in Note 2.

Basis for Review Results

These interim consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. We
conducted our review in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB and in accordance with Statements for
Accounting and Review Services promulgated by the Accounting and Review Services Committee of the AICPA.
A review of interim financial information consists principally of applying analytical procedures and making
inquiries of persons responsible for financial and accounting matters. It is substantially less in scope than an audit
conducted in accordance with standards of the PCAOB and auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America, the objective of which is the expression of an opinion regarding the consolidated financial
statements taken as a whole. Accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. We are a public accounting firm
registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be
independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable
rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2020

Melville, NY

June 29, 2021, except for Note 3 and Note 10, as to which the date is October 6, 2021
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Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets

March 31, 2021
(Unaudited) December 31, 2020

ASSETS   
Current assets   

Cash $ 4,579,903 $ 6,982,163  
Restricted cash  6,622,035 6,889,701  
Accounts receivable – net   

Trade  56,703 37,489  
Unbilled  35,528 41,208  

Prepaid expenses  131,413 193,406  
Total current assets  11,425,582 14,143,967  

Property and equipment – net  1,338,195 1,469,400  
Operating lease right-of-use assets  1,532,925 1,658,935  
Deposits  54,869 54,869  

Total assets $ 14,351,571 $ 17,327,171  
LIABILITIES AND MEMBER’S EQUITY   
Current liabilities   

Accounts payable $ 925,608 $ 529,224  
Deferred revenue  1,606,960 777,041  
Accrued and other current liabilities:   

Accrued compensation  894,191 985,220  
Accrued fiduciary obligations  4,070,908 5,949,654  
Accrued performance guarantees  200,914 207,916  
Accrued penalties  853,405 1,532,185  
Other accrued liabilities  39,373 56,615  
Operating lease liabilities, current  585,204 570,312  

Total current liabilities  9,176,563 10,608,167  
Operating lease liabilities, non-current portion  1,131,042 1,281,362  
Long term sublease deposit  45,000 —  

Total liabilities  10,352,605 11,889,529  
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES   
Member’s equity   

General member’s interest  62,393,788 62,080,334  
Accumulated deficit  (58,394,822 (56,642,692  

Total member’s equity  3,998,966 5,437,642  
Total liabilities and member’s equity $ 14,351,571 $ 17,327,171  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations (Unaudited)

Three Months Ended March 31,
2021 2020 

Revenue $ 4,215,082 $ 5,274,224 
Costs and expenses    

Cost of Revenue (exclusive of depreciation and amortization    
shown separately below)  3,096,275  3,769,810 
General and administrative  1,045,397  1,889,382 
Information technology  865,966  1,342,691 
Sales and marketing  628,487  797,240 
Facilities  184,718  199,360 
Depreciation and amortization  162,373  144,709 

Total costs and expenses  5,983,216  8,143,192 
Operating loss  (1,768,134  (2,868,968 

Other income (expenses)    
Interest income  —  11,221 
Other income  16,004  — 

Total non operating income  16,004  11,221 
Net loss $ (1,752,130 $ (2,857,747 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Continental Benefits, LLC and Subsidiary 
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Changes in Member’s Equity (Unaudited)

Contributed 
Capital

Accumulated 
Deficit Total 

Balance at December 31, 2019 $53,250,039  $(44,104,511 $ 9,145,528 
Distributions  (1,173,524  —  (1,173,524 
Net loss  —  (2,857,747  (2,857,747 
Balance at March 31, 2020 (Unaudited) $52,076,515  $(46,962,258 $ 5,114,257 
Balance at December 31, 2020 $62,080,334  $(56,642,692 $ 5,437,642 
Contributions  313,454  —  313,454 
Net loss  —  (1,752,130  (1,752,130 
Balance at March 31, 2021 (Unaudited) $62,393,788  $(58,394,822 $ 3,998,966 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Continental Benefits, LLC and Subsidiary 
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (Unaudited)

Three Months Ended March 31,
2021 2020 

Cash flows from operating activities     
Net loss $ (1,752,130 $ (2,857,747 
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating     
activities:     

Depreciation and amortization  162,373  144,709 
Amortization of right-of-use asset  126,010  118,921 
Changes in operating assets and liabiities:     

Accounts receivable  (19,214  158,642 
Unbilled receivables  5,680  661,901 
Prepaid expenses and other assets  61,993  8,161 
Accounts payable  396,384  (580,293  
Deferred revenue  829,919  867,647 
Operating lease liabilities  (135,428   (122,081  
Other accrued liabilities  (2,672,799  (79,439 

Net cash used in operating activities  (2,997,212  (1,679,579 
Cash flows from investing activties     

Purchase of property and equipment  (31,168  (109,225  
Deposits  45,000  (3,500  

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities  13,832  (112,725  
Cash flows from financing activities     

Capital contributions (distributions)  313,454  (1,173,524 
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities  313,454  (1,173,524 

Net decrease in cash and restricted cash  (2,669,926  (2,965,828 
Cash and restricted cash at beginning of period  13,871,864   12,100,423  
Cash and restricted cash at ending of period $11,201,938  $ 9,134,595 
Reconciliation of cash and restricted cash to the balance sheets:     

Cash $ 4,579,903 $ 4,165,579 
Restricted cash  6,622,035  4,969,016 

Total cash and restricted cash $11,201,938  $ 9,134,595 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Notes to Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the Three Months Ended March 31, 2021 and 2020

Notes to the Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 1 — Nature of Business

Continental Benefits, LLC (“Continental” or “Continental Benefits”) and its wholly owned subsidiary,
WellSystems, LLC (“WellSystems”), (collectively, the “Company”) provide benefits outsourcing services to
clients in the United States across multiple industries. The Company’s backroom administration and third-party
administration (“TPA”) services are supported by a customized technology platform and a dedicated benefits call
center. Under its TPA platform, the Company provides health and welfare administration, dependent eligibility
verification, Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act (“COBRA”) administration, and benefit billing
services. Continental and WellSystems are Florida limited liability companies.

Continental provides the technology platform, consisting of fully integrated billing and enrollment, claims
administration, and customer service to administer the TPA services. Continental engages primarily in selling and
customer relationship activities for supported clients. For the three months ended March 31, 2021 and 2020, there
was no significant activity in WellSystems.

Note 2 — Liquidity

The accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments or
classifications that may result from the possible inability of the Company to continue as a going concern. The
accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a basis, which contemplates the
realization of assets and the satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course of business. As shown in the
accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements at March 31, 2021, the Company has an accumulated
deficit of $58,394,822 and has working capital of $2,249,019. At March 31, 2021, the Company has no debt and
$4,579,903 of unrestricted cash on hand. We have historically met our cash needs through a combination of cash
flows from operating activities, and periodic contributions from our member. Our cash requirements are generally
for operating activities.

Effective April 1, 2021, Continental is a wholly owned subsidiary of Marpai, Inc. (see Note 10 — Subsequent
Events). The major investor of Marpai, Inc. has committed to financially support operations for the next
twelve months from issuance of these financial statements.

Note 3 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

These condensed consolidated financial statements and related notes are presented in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles in the United States (“GAAP”), expressed in U.S. dollars. In the opinion
of the management, the accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements reflect all normal
recurring adjustments, which are necessary for a fair presentation of financial results for the interim periods
presented. The Company believes that the disclosures are adequate to make the information presented not
misleading. The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared using
the same accounting policies as used in the preparation of the Company’s consolidated financial statements for the
year ended December 31, 2020. The results of operations for the three-months ended March 31, 2021 and 2020 are
not necessarily indicative of the results for the full years.

The financial information as of December 31, 2020 presented in the unaudited condensed consolidated
financial statements is derived from the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31,
2020.

Continental and WellSystems have been affiliated through common ownership since inception. Effective
October 1, 2017, the former common control investors in WellSystems assigned 100 percent of

  

F-59 



TABLE OF CONTENTS

  

Continental Benefits, LLC and Subsidiary

Notes to Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the Three Months Ended March 31, 2021 and 2020

Note 3 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

their membership interests in WellSystems to Continental, thereby making WellSystems a wholly owned
subsidiary of Continental. The restructuring resulted in no change to the carrying amounts of WellSystems’ assets
and liabilities. The accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements present the accounts of
WellSystems, LLC and Continental Benefits, LLC on a consolidated basis. As described in Note 1, there was no
significant activity for the three months ended March 31, 2021 and 2020 at the WellSystems level. During 2018,
the operations of WellSystems were transferred to Continental as the activities were integrated with Continental.
All intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

In order to properly present our condensed consolidated financial statements in accordance with Staff
Accounting Bulletin (“SAB”) Topic 11B, we have recast our statements of operations to properly disclose that
depreciation and amortization were excluded from costs of services.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of condensed consolidated financial statements in conformity with generally accepted
accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the interim condensed
consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
Actual results could differ from those estimates. Such estimates include, but are not limited to, accrued expenses,
useful lives of internally developed software and property and equipment, whether an arrangement is or contains a
lease, the discount rate used for operating leases, and the likelihood of payment of client performance guarantees.
The Company bases these estimates on historical and anticipated results, trends and various other assumptions that
it believes are reasonable under the circumstances, including assumptions as to future events. Actual results could
differ from those estimates.

Fair Value Measurements

The Company is required to disclose information on all assets and liabilities reported at fair value that enables
an assessment of the inputs used in determining the reported fair values. Accounting Standards Codification
(“ASC”) Topic 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures (“ASC 820”) establishes a hierarchy of inputs used
when available. Observable inputs are inputs that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability
based on market data obtained from sources independent of the Company. Unobservable inputs are those that
reflect the Company’s assumptions about the inputs that market participants would use in pricing the asset or
liability and are developed based on the best information available in the circumstances.

The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are described below:

Level 1 — Valuations based on unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
that the Company has the ability to access at the measurement date.

Level 2 — Valuations based on quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active
or for which all significant inputs are observable, either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 — Valuations that require inputs that are unobservable for the asset and liability in which there is
little, if any, market activity.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts of the Company’s financial instruments, which include trade accounts receivable,
accounts payable, and accrued expenses, approximate their fair values principally due to the short-term nature,
maturities or nature of interest rates of the above listed items.
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Note 3 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash consists of funds held in bank accounts. Cash equivalents consist of short-term, highly liquid
investments with original maturities of 90 days or less at the time of purchase and generally include money market
accounts. The company maintains cash accounts with financial institutions. At times, balances in these accounts
may exceed federally insured limits. The amounts over the federally insured limits as of March 31, 2020 and
December 31, 2020 were approximately $4,100,000 and $6,500,000, respectively. No losses have been incurred to
date on any deposit balances.

Restricted Cash

Restricted cash balances are composed of funds held on behalf of clients in a fiduciary capacity. Fiduciary
funds generally cannot be utilized for general corporate purposes and are not a source of liquidity for the Company.
A corresponding fiduciary obligation, included in current liabilities in the accompanying condensed consolidated
balance sheet, exists for disbursements to be made on behalf of the clients and may be more than the restricted cash
balance if payment from customers has not been received.

Trade Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable are recorded at the net invoiced amount, net of allowances for doubtful accounts, and do
not bear interest. They include unbilled amounts for services rendered in the respective period but not yet billed to
the customer until a future date, which typically occurs within one month.

The Company periodically reviews accounts receivable balances and provides an allowance for doubtful
accounts to the extent deemed uncollectible. The allowance for doubtful accounts is the Company’s best estimate
of the amount of probable credit losses in existing accounts receivable. The Company determines the allowance
based on historical write-off experience and the aging of outstanding accounts receivable. Balances are considered
past due based on invoiced terms. Account balances are charged off against the allowance after all means of
collection have been exhausted and the potential for recovery is considered remote. The Company has determined
that no allowance for doubtful accounts was necessary as of March 31, 2021 and 2020.

Concentration of Credit Risk

No customer accounted for greater than 10% of total revenue during for the three months ended March 31,
2021 and 2020. At March 31, 2021, three customers accounted for greater than 10% of accounts receivable,
respectively. At December 31, 2020, four customers accounted for 42%, 24%, 22% and 10% of accounts
receivable, respectively.

Long-Lived Assets

The Company reviews its long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or circumstances exist that
indicate the carrying amount of an asset or asset group may not be recoverable. Recoverability of assets is
measured by comparing the carrying amounts of the assets to the future undiscounted cash flows expected to be
generated by the assets. If the asset or asset group is considered to be impaired, an impairment loss would be
recorded to adjust the carrying amounts to the estimated fair value.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost. The straight-line method is used for computing depreciation.
Assets are depreciated over their estimated useful lives, ranging from three to five years. Typically, IT equipment
and software are depreciated over three years and furniture and fixtures are
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depreciated over five years. The cost of leasehold improvements is depreciated over the lesser of the length of the
related leases or the estimated useful lives of the assets. Costs of maintenance and repairs are charged to expense
when incurred.

Software Development Costs

The Company accounts for costs incurred in the development of computer software as software research and
development costs until the preliminary project stage is completed. Direct costs incurred in the development of
software are capitalized once the preliminary project stage is completed, management has committed to funding
the project, and completion and use of the software for its intended purpose is probable. The Company ceases
capitalization of development costs once the software has been substantially completed and is ready for its intended
use. Software development costs are amortized over their estimated useful lives, generally three years. Costs
associated with upgrades and enhancements that result in additional functionality are capitalized. Capitalized costs
are subject to an ongoing assessment of recoverability based on anticipated future revenue and changes in software
technologies. Unamortized capitalized software development costs determined to be in excess of anticipated future
net revenue are impaired and expensed during the period of such determination. The Company capitalized
approximately $0 and $37,000 of internally developed software costs during the three months ended March 31,
2021 and 2020, respectively.

Income Taxes

The Company is treated as a partnership for federal income tax purposes. Consequently, federal income taxes
are not payable or provided for by the Company. Taxable income and losses are reported on the income tax returns
of the Company’s member, and no provision for federal income taxes has been recorded in the accompanying
condensed consolidated financial statements.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognized when control of the promised services is transferred to the Company’s customers in an
amount that reflects the consideration expected to be entitled to in exchange for those services. As the Company
completes its performance obligations, which are identified below, it has an unconditional right to consideration, as
outlined in the Company’s contracts.

Contract Balances

At March 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, the balances of the Company’s accounts receivable from
contracts with customers were $56,703 and $37,489, respectively. At March 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, the
balances of the Company’s unbilled receivables from contracts with customers were $35,528 and $41,208,
respectively. When the Company receives consideration from a customer prior to transferring services to the
customer under the terms of the customer contracts, it records deferred revenue on the Company’s condensed
consolidated balance sheet, which represents a contract liability. At March 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, the
balances of the deferred revenue were $1,606,960 and $777,041, respectively. At March 31, 2021 and
December 31, 2020, the Company had performance guarantee liabilities of $200,914 and $207,916, respectively.
The Company anticipates that it will satisfy all of its performance obligations associated with its contract liabilities
within a year.

Significant Payment Terms

Generally, the Company’s accounts receivable are expected to be collected in 30 days in accordance with the
underlying payment terms. Invoices for services performed over time are typically sent to customers
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on the last business day of each calendar month in arrears. The Company does not offer discounts if the customer
pays some or all an invoiced amount prior to the due date.

Consideration paid for services rendered by the Company is nonrefundable. Therefore, at the time revenue is
recognized, the Company does not estimate expected refunds for services.

The Company uses the practical expedient not to account for significant financing components because the
period between recognition and collection does not exceed one year for most of the Company’s contracts.

Timing of Performance Obligations

Most of the Company’s contracts with customers obligate the Company to perform services. Services provided
include health and welfare administration, dependent eligibility verification, COBRA administration, and benefit
billing. Revenue is recognized over time as services are provided as the performance obligations are satisfied
through the effort expended to research, investigate, evaluate, document, and report claims, and control of these
services is transferred to the customer. The Company has the right to receive payment for all services rendered.

Determining and Allocating the Transaction Price

The transaction price of a contract is the amount of consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled
in exchange for transferring promised goods or services to a customer.

To determine the transaction price of a contract, the Company considers its customary business practices and
the terms of the contract. For the purpose of determining transaction prices, the Company assumes that the services
will be transferred to the customer as promised in accordance with existing contracts and that the contracts will not
be canceled, renewed, or modified.

The Company’s contracts with customers have fixed fee prices that are denominated per employee per month.
The Company includes amounts of variable consideration in a contract’s transaction price only to the extent that the
Company has a relatively high level of confidence that the amounts will not be subject to significant reversals (that
is, downward adjustments to revenue recognized for satisfied performance obligations). In determining amounts of
variable consideration to include in a contract’s transaction price, the Company relies on its experience and other
evidence that supports its qualitative assessment of whether revenue would be subject to a significant reversal. The
Company considers all the facts and circumstances associated with both the risk of a revenue reversal arising from
an uncertain future event and the magnitude of the reversal if that uncertain event were to occur.

Advertising

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Advertising costs amounted to $19,230 and $6,410 for the
three months ended March 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

Segments

Operating segments are defined as components of an entity for which separate financial information is
available. The Company reviews financial information presented on a consolidated basis for the purposes of
making operating decisions, allocating resources and evaluating financial performance. As such, the Company has
determined that it operates in one operating and one reportable segment.
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Leases

At lease inception, the Company determines whether an arrangement is or contains a lease. Operating leases
are included in operating lease right-of-use (“ROU”) assets, current operating lease liabilities, and noncurrent
operating lease liabilities in the condensed consolidated financial statements. ROU assets represent the Company’s
right to use leased assets over the term of the lease. Lease liabilities represent the Company’s contractual
obligation to make lease payments over the lease term.

For operating leases, ROU assets and lease liabilities are recognized at the commencement date. The lease
liability is measured as the present value of the lease payments over the lease term. The Company uses the rate
implicit in the lease if it is determinable. When the rate implicit in the lease is not determinable, the Company uses
its incremental borrowing rate at the commencement date of the lease to determine the present value of the lease
payments. The incremental borrowing rate is the rate incurred to borrow on a collateralized basis over a similar
term for an amount equal to the lease payments in a similar economic environment. Operating ROU assets are
calculated as the present value of the remaining lease payments plus unamortized initial direct costs plus any
prepayments less any unamortized lease incentives received. Lease terms may include renewal or extension
options to the extent they are reasonably certain to be exercised. The assessment of whether renewal or extension
options are reasonably certain to be exercised is made at lease commencement. Factors considered in determining
whether an option is reasonably certain of exercise include, but are not limited to, the value of any leasehold
improvements, the value of renewal rates compared to market rates, and the presence of factors that would cause a
significant economic penalty to the Company if the option were not exercised. Lease expense is recognized on a
straight-line basis over the lease term. The Company has elected not to recognize an ROU asset and obligation for
leases with an initial term of twelve months or less. The expense associated with short term leases is included in
lease expense in the statement of income.

Leases with an initial term of 12 months or less that do contain purchase options or renewal terms that the
Company is reasonably certain to exercise are not recorded on the consolidated balance sheet. The Company
recognizes the lease expense for such leases on a straight-line basis in the consolidated statement of operations over
the lease term. As a result, the Company does not recognize deferred rent on the consolidated balance sheet. To the
extent a lease arrangement includes both lease and non-lease components, the Company has elected to account for
the components as a single lease component.

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

On January 1, 2020, the Company adopted the requirements of Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2016-
02, Leases (Topic 842) and elected the optional transition method to apply the transition provisions from the
effective date of adoption. There was no cumulative-effect adjustment to beginning retained earnings as a result of
adopting ASC 842. The objective of this ASU, along with several related ASUs issued subsequently, is to increase
transparency and comparability between organizations that enter into lease agreements. For lessees, the key
difference of the new standard from the previous guidance (Topic 840) is the recognition of a right-of-use (ROU)
asset and lease liability on the balance sheet. The most significant change is the requirement to recognize ROU
assets and lease liabilities for leases classified as operating leases. The standard requires disclosures to meet the
objective of enabling users of financial statements to assess the amount, timing, and uncertainty of cash flows
arising from leases.

In April 2019, the FASB issued ASU No. 2019-04 “Codification Improvements to Topic 326, Financial
Instruments — Credit Losses, Topic 815, Derivatives and Hedging, and Topic 825, Financial Instruments.” ASU
No. 2019-04 was issued as part of the FASB’s ongoing project to improve upon its ASC, and to clarify and
improve areas of guidance related to recently issued standards on credit losses, hedging, and recognition
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and measurement. This guidance contains several effective dates but is applicable to the Company’s fiscal year
beginning January 1, 2020. The adoption of this guidance did not have a material impact on its consolidated
financial statements.

In November 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-18, “Collaborative Arrangements (Topic 808):
Clarifying the Interaction between Topic 808 and Topic 606.” ASU No. 2018-18 was issued to resolve the
diversity in practice concerning the manner in which entities account for transactions based on their assessment of
the economics of a collaborative arrangement. This guidance is effective for public business entities for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2019, and for interim periods within those fiscal years, with early adoption
permitted. This guidance is applicable to the Company’s fiscal year beginning January 1, 2020. The adoption of
this guidance did not have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.

In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-13, Fair Value Measurements (Topic 820): Disclosure
Framework Changes to the Disclosure Requirements for Fair Value Measurement. The amendments in this update
modify the disclosure requirements on fair value measurements in Topic 820. The ASU is effective for public
business entities for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019, and interim periods therein. Early adoption is
permitted. The adoption of this standard did not have any material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial
statements or any component of member’s equity.

In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-15, “Intangibles — Goodwill and Other — Internal-Use
Software (Subtopic 350-40): Customer’s Accounting for Implementation Costs Incurred in a Cloud Computing
Arrangement That Is a Service Contract (a consensus of the FASB Emerging Issues Task Force).” ASU No. 2018-
15 aligns the requirements for capitalizing implementation costs incurred in a hosting arrangement that is a service
contract with the requirements for capitalizing implementation costs incurred to develop or obtain internal-use
software (and hosting arrangements that include an internal-use software license). This guidance is effective for
public business entities for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019, and for interim periods within those
fiscal years, with early adoption permitted. This guidance is applicable to the Company’s fiscal year beginning
January 1, 2020. The adoption of this guidance did not have a material impact on its consolidated financial
statements.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In March 2020, the FASB issued ASU No. 2020-04, “Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Facilitation of the
Effects of Reference Rate Reform on Financial Reporting.” ASU No. 2020-04 provides guidance on optional
expedients for a limited time to ease the operational burden in accounting for (or recognizing the effects of)
reference rate reform (LIBOR) on financial reporting. This guidance is effective upon the ASUs issuance on
March 12, 2020 and companies may elect to apply the amendments prospectively through December 31, 2022. The
Company is reviewing its commercial contracts that may utilize LIBOR as a reference rate. The Company is
currently evaluating the potential effects of this guidance on its consolidated financial statements.
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Property and equipment are summarized as follows:

March 31, 2021 December 31, 2020
Software $ 1,936,882  $ 1,932,534 
Office equipment 382,845  382,119 
Furniture and fixtures 152,734  159,331 
Leasehold improvements 269,846  259,519 

Total cost 2,742,307  2,733,503 
Accumulated depreciation 1,404,112  1,264,103 

Net property and equipment $ 1,338,195  $ 1,469,400 

Depreciation and amortization expense for the three months ended March 31, 2021 and 2020 was $162,373
and $144,709 respectively

Note 5 — Leases

The Company leases facilities and equipment under noncancelable operating leases through July 2025. Rent
expense for three months ended March 31, 2021 and 2020 was $161,814 and $155,657, respectively.

On January 15, 2021, the Company entered into sublease with expiration date of November 30, 2023. The
lease calls for rent payments of approximately $14,000 plus tax in monthly payments.

Sublease income for the three months ended March 31, 2021 was approximately $16,000 and is included in
other income within the accompanying consolidated statement of operations.

The Company’s future lease payments, which are presented as current operating lease and noncurrent
operating lease liabilities on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet as of March 31, 2021 are as follows:

Years Ending December 31, Amount

2021 (nine months) $ 524,281 
2022  700,917 
2023  659,218 
2024  21,705 
2025  12,661 
Total lease payments  1,918,782 
Less: imputed interest  (202,536  
Present value of lease liabilities  1,716,246 
Less: current lease liabilities  (585,204  
Long-term lease liabiities $1,131,042 

Other information:

Weighted average remaining lease term – operating lease: 2.8 years
Weighted-average discount rate – operating lease: 8.0%

Note 6 — Long-term Incentive Plan

Effective November 1, 2017, Continental established the Continental Benefits, LLC Long-term Incentive Plan
(the “2017 Plan”), which provides for up to 150,000 incentive compensation awards to be
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made to employees, directors, or consultants in the form of phantom shares. Phantom shares granted under the
2017 Plan may be subject to additional performance-based vesting conditions, but only vest after the
consummation of a change of control event. Subject to the terms of the 2017 Plan, vested phantom shares are
valued based on a fair market value formula and may be exercised upon a distributable event for cash. As such, the
value of vested phantom shares will be recognized as a liability at such time as a change of control is certain to
occur. On April 1, 2021, a change of control event occurred (see Note 10 — Subsequent Events). No liability has
been recorded at March 31, 2021 as the benefits should be recorded when the business combination is
consummated.

No phantom shares were granted prior to December 31, 2017. As of March 31, 2021, 80,000 shares are
outstanding, and no shares have been recognized as a liability. There is no set exercise price for the phantom
shares.

Note 7 — Related Party Transactions

The following is a description of transactions between the Company and related parties:

Sales

The Company is party to an administration services agreement with an entity that was affiliated through
common ownership to provide certain services, including, but not limited to, enrollment and eligibility
management, claims administration, and network access. The Company generated $13,182 and $85,364 in revenue
from affiliates during the three months ended March 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. As of March 31, 2021 and
December 31, 2020, $4,358 and $9,113, respectively, was due from the affiliate and included in trade accounts
receivable in the accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheets.

Management Fees

The Company remits management fees for services provided from certain entities related through common
ownership. During the three months ended March 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company expensed $42,420 and
$42,915, respectively, in such management fees, which are reflected in selling, general, and administrative
expenses on the accompanying condensed consolidated statement of operations. Management believes the charges
for the services are consistent with costs that could be obtained from third parties and/or hiring additional staffing
to support current business levels. No amounts were payable to related parties as of March 31, 2021 and
December 31, 2020.

Note 8 — Retirement Plans

In coordination with an affiliate, the Company sponsors a 401(k) plan for eligible employees. The Company
matches 100 percent of the first 4 percent of eligible compensation that is deferred by employees. Employees are
fully vested in the matching contributions. Contributions to the plan totaled $88,611 and $66,410 for the
three months ended March 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

Note 9 — Commitments and Contingencies

Contingencies

The Company has been charged certain administrative tax penalties by the IRS related to prior year 1099 tax
filings. In March 2021, the Company received a favorable ruling from the IRS waiving the 2018 tax year penalty of
$678,780. Based on the opinion of the Company’s counsel, although the Company is in the process of appealing
the remaining tax years, the full amount of the remaining penalties and interest of $853,405 has been accrued as of
March 31, 2021. In June 2021, the Company received written confirmation

  

F-67 



TABLE OF CONTENTS

  

Continental Benefits, LLC and Subsidiary

Notes to Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements 
For the Three Months Ended March 31, 2021 and 2020

Note 9 — Commitments and Contingencies (Continued)

from the IRS that all outstanding penalties have been waived and that nothing is due to the IRS from the Company.
The Company has not reversed the accrual as of March 31, 2021.

Uncertainties

The COVID-19 pandemic has developed rapidly in 2020, with a significant number of cases. Measures taken
by various governments to contain the virus have affected economic activity. The Company has taken a number of
measures to monitor and mitigate the effects of COVID-19, such as safety and health measures for the Company’s
employees (such as social distancing and working from home).

At this stage, the impact on our business and results has not been significant and based on our experience to
date we expect this to remain the case. We will continue to follow the various government policies and advice and,
in parallel, we will do our utmost to continue our operations in the best and safest way possible without
jeopardizing the health of our people.

Note 10 — Subsequent Events

For the purposes of preparing the condensed consolidated financial statements, the Company considered
events through October 6, 2021, the date the condensed consolidated financial statements were available for
issuance. Management did not identify any events requiring adjustments to or disclosure in the condensed
consolidated financial statements, except those noted below.

Acquisition

On April 1, 2021, pursuant to the terms of the Amended and Restated Equity Interest Purchase and
Reorganization Agreement, as was further addended on May 7, 2021 (collectively, the “Agreement”), the
stockholders of the Marpai Health, Inc. (“Marpai Health”) and the sole member of Continental Benefits, LLC
contributed their respective shares and ownership interests in Marpai Health and Continental Benefits to Marpai
Inc in consideration for shares of Marpai Inc’s Class A and Class B common stock. Additionally, options to
purchase 1,027,602 shares of Marpai Health’s common stock and warrants to purchase 1,366,746 shares of Marpai
Health’s common stock were exchanged, on a one to one basis, for options and warrants to purchase shares of
Marpai Inc’s common stock (the above transactions shall be referred to as the “Acquisition”). As part of the
Acquisition, approximately $3,800,000 of Marpai Health’s convertible promissory notes were exchanged for
shares of common stock of Marpai Inc immediately prior to the Acquisition. As part of the Acquisition, pursuant to
a Note Exchange Agreement, Marpai Inc acquired Marpai Health’s certain outstanding convertible promissory
notes, with aggregate outstanding principal and accrued but unpaid interest of $2,198,459, in exchange for the
issuance of Marpai Inc’s convertible promissory notes of equivalent aggregate principal amount. The Agreement
called for Continental Benefits to not have less than $4.762 million of cash on hand, and to have no debt at the time
of closing of the Acquisition. According to the Agreement, Continental Benefits was valued, on a cash-free and
debt-free basis, at $8.5 million and Marpai Health was valued at an assumed pre-money valuation of the last
convertible note’s conversion price of $35 million. For accounting purposes, Continental Benefits was considered
the acquiree and Marpai Health was considered the acquirer.

IRS Penalties

In June 2021, the Company received written confirmation from the IRS that all outstanding administrative tax
penalties relating to prior year 1099 tax filings have been waived and the Company has subsequently reversed the
accrual of $853,405.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and 
Member of Continental Benefits, LLC and Subsidiary

Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Continental Benefits, LLC and Subsidiary
(the “Company”) as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the related consolidated statements of operations,
changes in member’s equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the two-year period ended December 31, 2020,
and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion, the
consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of
December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the years in the two-
year period ended December 31, 2020, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America.

Change in Accounting Principle

As discussed in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed its method of
accounting for lease in 2020 due to the adoption of the FASB’s Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic
842, Leases. The Company adopted this change using the modified retrospective approach.

Emphasis of Matter Regarding Liquidity

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company has suffered recurring losses,
negative cash flows from operations, and historically has relied on member contributions to fund development of
its product and funding of its operating expenses. Management’s evaluation of these conditions, as well as
management’s plans to mitigate these matters are described in Note 2. Our opinion is not modified with respect to
this matter.

Basis for Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are
required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements
relating to our audit.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the auditing standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States) and in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States
of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our
audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management,
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2020. 
Melville, NY 
March 23, 2021, except for Note 3 and Note 11, as to which the date is October 6, 2021
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Years Ended December 31,
2020 2019 

ASSETS     
Current assets     

Cash $ 6,982,163 $ 8,314,591 
Restricted cash  6,889,701  3,785,832 
Accounts receivable net     

Trade  37,489  576,271 
Unbilled  41,208  1,094,906 

Prepaid expenses  193,406  119,171 
Total current assets  14,143,967   13,890,771  

Property and equipment net  1,469,400  1,831,113 
Operating lease right-of-use assets  1,658,935  — 
Deposits  54,869  54,876 

Total assets $ 17,327,171  $ 15,776,760  
LIABILITIES AND MEMBER’S EQUITY     

Current liabilities     
Accounts payable $ 529,224 $ 1,115,928 
Deferred revenue  777,041  1,124,569 
Accrued and other current liabilities:     

Accrued compensation  985,220  710,128 
Accrued fiduciary obligations  5,949,654  2,930,309 
Current portion of deferred rent  —  26,432 
Accrued performance guarantees  207,916  256,000 
Accrued penalties  1,532,185  — 
Other accrued liabilities  56,615  276,406 
Operating lease liabilities, current  570,312  — 

Total current liabilities  10,608,167   6,439,772 
Deferred rent net of current portion  —  191,460 
Operating lease liabilities, non-current portion  1,281,362  — 

Total liabilities  11,889,529   6,631,232 
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES     
MEMBER’S EQUITY     

General members interest  62,080,334   53,250,039  
Accumulated deficit  (56,642,692  (44,104,511 

Total member’s equity  5,437,642  9,145,528 
Total liabilities and member’s equity $ 17,327,171  $ 15,776,760  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Consolidated Statements of Operations

Years Ended December 31,
2020 2019 

Revenue $ 18,388,192  $ 20,327,320  
Costs and expenses     

Cost of Revenue (exclusive of depreciation and amortization shown separately
below)  13,931,008   15,463,042  

General and administrative  8,700,352  6,314,695 
Information technology  4,223,350  5,440,224 
Sales and marketing  2,724,368  3,562,888 
Facilities  762,649  659,006 
Depreciation and amortization  596,152  505,719 

Total costs and expenses  30,937,879   31,945,574  
Operating loss  (12,549,687  (11,618,254 

Other income (expenses)     
Interest income  11,506  129,085 
Other income  —  2,600 

Total non operating income  11,506  131,685 
Net loss $(12,538,181 $(11,486,569 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 

F-72 

) )

) )



TABLE OF CONTENTS

  

Continental Benefits, LLC and Subsidiary

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Member’s Equity

Contributed 
Capital

Accumulated 
Deficit Total 

Balance December 31, 2018 $43,926,786  $(32,617,942 $ 11,308,844  
Contributions  9,323,253  —  9,323,253 
Net loss  —  (11,486,569  (11,486,569 
Balance December 31, 2019 $53,250,039  $(44,104,511 $ 9,145,528 
Contributions  8,830,295  —  8,830,295 
Net loss  —  (12,538,181  (12,538,181 
Balance December 31, 2020 $62,080,334  $(56,642,692 $ 5,437,642 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Years Ended December 31,
2020 2019 

Cash flows from operating activities     
Net loss $(12,538,181 $(11,486,569 
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization  596,152  505,719 
Gain on disposal of property and equipment  —  (2,600  
Amortization of right-of-use asset  485,417  — 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:     

Accounts receivable  538,572  1,486,182 
Unbilled receivables  1,053,698  (594,500  
Prepaid expenses and other assets  (74,231  (1,406  
Accounts payable  (586,704   (410,368  
Deferred revenue  (347,528   1,030,151 
Deferred rent  —  (12,617 
Operating lease liabilities  (510,670   — 
Other accrued liabilities  4,558,747  (3,444,590 

Net cash used in operating activities  (6,824,728  (12,930,598 
Cash flows from investing activities     

Purchase of property and equipment  (234,126   (323,984  
Proceeds from disposition of property and equipment  —  22,873 
Deposits  —  74,441 

Net cash used in investing activities  (234,126   (226,670  
Cash flows from financing activities     

Capital contributions  8,830,295  9,323,253 
Net cash provided by financing activities  8,830,295  9,323,253 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and restricted cash  1,771,441  (3,834,015 
Cash and restricted cash beginning of year  12,100,423   15,934,438  
Cash and restricted cash end of year $ 13,871,864  $ 12,100,423  

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing and financing activity:     
Initial recognition of operating lease right-of-use assets $ 2,055,146 $ — 
Initial recognition of operating lease liabilities $ 2,273,038 $ — 

Reconciliation of cash and restricted cash to the balance sheets:     
Cash $ 6,982,163 $ 8,314,591 
Restricted cash  6,889,701  3,785,832 

Total cash and restricted cash $ 13,871,864  $ 12,100,423  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Note 1 — Nature of Business

Continental Benefits, LLC (“Continental”) and its wholly owned subsidiary, WellSystems, LLC
(“WellSystems”), (collectively, the “Company”) provide benefits outsourcing services to clients in the United
States across multiple industries. The Company’s backroom administration and third-party administration (“TPA”)
services are supported by a customized technology platform and a dedicated benefits call center. Under its TPA
platform, the Company provides health and welfare administration, dependent eligibility verification, Consolidated
Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act (COBRA) administration, and benefit billing services. Continental and
WellSystems are Florida limited liability companies formed in November 2013 and August 2012, respectively.

Continental provides the technology platform, consisting of fully integrated billing and enrollment, claims
administration, and customer service to administer the TPA services. Continental engages primarily in selling and
customer relationship activities for supported clients. For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, there was
no significant activity in WellSystems.

Note 2 — Liquidity

The accompanying financial statements do not include any adjustments or classifications that may result from
the possible inability of the Company to continue as a going concern. The accompanying financial statements have
been prepared on a basis, which contemplates the realization of assets and the satisfaction of liabilities in the
normal course of business. As shown in the accompanying financial statements, as of the year ended December 31,
2020, the Company has an accumulated deficit of $56,642,692 and working capital of $3,535,800. At
December 31, 2020, the Company does not have any debt and $6,982,163 of unrestricted cash on hand. The
Company has historically met its cash needs through a combination of cash flows from operating activities, and
periodic contributions from our member. The Company’s cash requirements are generally for operating activities.

The Company believes cash on hand and the continued committed support from the Company’s member will
allow the Company to continue as a going concern for the next twelve months from the issuance of these financial
statements. The member has provided a formal support letter which covers anticipated support in the range of
$6.5 million to $8.0 million in a form to be mutually determined and with the commitment in effect through
April 22, 2022. The member has contributed $8,830,295 and $9,323,253 during the years ended December 31,
2020 and 2019, respectively.

Note 3 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

These consolidated financial statements and related notes are presented in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles in the United States (“GAAP”), expressed in U.S. dollars. The accompanying consolidated
financial statements reflect all adjustments including normal recurring adjustments, which, in the opinion of
management, are necessary to present fairly the financial position, results of operations and cash flows for the
period presented in accordance with GAAP.

Continental and WellSystems have been affiliated through common ownership since inception. Effective
October 1, 2017, the former common control investors in WellSystems assigned 100% of membership interests in
WellSystems to Continental, thereby making WellSystems a wholly owned subsidiary of Continental. The
restructuring resulted in no change to the carrying amounts of WellSystems’ assets and liabilities. The
accompanying consolidated financial statements present the accounts of WellSystems, LLC and Continental
Benefits, LLC on a consolidated basis. As described in Note 1, there was no significant
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activity for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 at the WellSystems level. During 2018, the operations
were transferred to Continental as the activities were integrated with Continental. All intercompany accounts and
transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

In order to properly present our condensed consolidated financial statements in accordance with Staff
Accounting Bulletin (“SAB”) Topic 11B, we have recast our statements of operations to properly disclose that
depreciation and amortization were excluded from costs of services.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and
the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those
estimates. Such estimates include, but are not limited to, accrued expenses, useful lives of internally developed
software and property and equipment, whether an arrangement is or contains a lease, the discount rate used for
operating leases, and the likelihood of payment of client performance guarantees. The Company bases these
estimates on historical and anticipated results, trends and various other assumptions that it believes are reasonable
under the circumstances, including assumptions as to future events.

Fair Value Measurements

The Company is required to disclose information on all assets and liabilities reported at fair value that enables
an assessment of the inputs used in determining the reported fair values. Accounting Standards Codification
(“ASC”) Topic 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures (“ASC 820”), establishes a hierarchy of inputs used
when available. Observable inputs are inputs that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability
based on market data obtained from sources independent of the Company. Unobservable inputs are those that
reflect the Company’s assumptions about the inputs that market participants would use in pricing the asset or
liability and are developed based on the best information available in the circumstances.

The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are described below:

Level 1 — Valuations based on unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
that the Company has the ability to access at the measurement date.

Level 2 — Valuations based on quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active or
for which all significant inputs are observable, either directly or indirectly.

Level 3 — Valuations that require inputs that are unobservable for the asset and liability in which there is
little, if any, market activity.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts of the Company’s financial instruments, which include trade accounts receivable,
accounts payable, and accrued expenses, approximate their fair values principally due to the short-term nature,
maturities or nature of interest rates of the above listed items.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash consists of funds held in bank accounts. Cash equivalents consist of short-term, highly liquid
investments with original maturities of 90 days or less at the time of purchase and generally include money
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market accounts. The Company maintains cash accounts with financial institutions. At times, balances in these
accounts may exceed federally insured limits. The amounts over the federally insured limits as of December 31,
2020 and 2019 were approximately $6,500,000 and $7,800,000, respectively. No losses have been incurred to date
on any deposit balances.

Restricted Cash

Restricted cash balances are composed of funds held on behalf of clients in a fiduciary capacity. Fiduciary
funds generally cannot be utilized for general corporate purposes and are not a source of liquidity for the Company.
A corresponding fiduciary obligation, included in current liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance
sheets, exists for disbursements to be made on behalf of clients and at times may be more than the restricted cash
balance if payment from customers has not been received.

Trade Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable are recorded at the net invoiced amount, net of allowances for doubtful accounts, and do
not bear interest. They include unbilled amounts for services rendered in the respective period but not yet billed to
the customer until a future date, which typically occurs within one month.

The Company periodically reviews accounts receivable balances and provides an allowance for doubtful
accounts to the extent deemed uncollectible. The allowance for doubtful accounts is the Company’s best estimate
of the amount of probable credit losses in existing accounts receivable. The Company determines the allowance
based on historical write-off experience and the aging of outstanding accounts receivable. Balances are considered
past due based on invoiced terms. Account balances are charged off against the allowance after all means of
collection have been exhausted and the potential for recovery is considered remote. The Company has determined
that no allowance for doubtful accounts was necessary as of December 31, 2020 and 2019.

Concentration of Credit Risk

As of and for the year ended December 31, 2020, no customer accounted for greater than 10% of total
revenue, and four customers accounted for 42%, 24%, 22% and 10% of accounts receivable, respectively. As of
and for the year ended December 31, 2019, no customer accounted for greater than 10% of total revenue, and four
customers accounted for 33%, 14%, 13% and 13% of the Company’s accounts receivable, respectively.

Long-Lived Assets

The Company reviews its long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or circumstances exist that
indicate the carrying amount of an asset or asset group may not be recoverable. Recoverability of assets is
measured by comparing the carrying amounts of the assets to the future undiscounted cash flows expected to be
generated by the assets. If the asset or asset group is considered to be impaired, an impairment loss would be
recorded to adjust the carrying amounts to the estimated fair value.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost. The straight-line method is used for computing depreciation.
Assets are depreciated over their estimated useful lives, ranging from three to five years. Typically, IT equipment
and software are depreciated over three years and furniture and fixtures are depreciated over five years. The cost of
leasehold improvements is depreciated over the lesser of the length of the related leases or the estimated useful
lives of the assets. Costs of maintenance and repairs are charged to expense when incurred.
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Software Development Costs

The Company accounts for costs incurred in the development of computer software as software research and
development costs until the preliminary project stage is completed. Direct costs incurred in the development of
software are capitalized once the preliminary project stage is completed, management has committed to funding
the project, and completion and use of the software for its intended purpose is probable. The Company ceases
capitalization of development costs once the software has been substantially completed and is ready for its intended
use. Software development costs are amortized over their estimated useful lives, generally three years.
Amortization commences when the software is available for its intended use. Costs associated with upgrades and
enhancements that result in additional functionality are capitalized. Capitalized costs are subject to an ongoing
assessment of recoverability based on anticipated future revenue and changes in software technologies.
Unamortized capitalized software development costs determined to be in excess of anticipated future net revenue
are impaired and expensed during the period of such determination. For the years ended December 31, 2020 and
2019, the Company capitalized approximately $190,000 and $220,000, respectively, of internally developed
software costs.

Income Taxes

The Company is treated as a partnership for federal income tax purposes. Consequently, federal income taxes
are not payable or provided for by the Company. Taxable income and losses of the Company are reported on the
income tax returns of the Company’s member, and no provision for federal income taxes has been recorded in the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognized when control of the promised services is transferred to the Company’s customers in an
amount that reflects the consideration expected to be entitled to in exchange for those services. As the Company
completes its performance obligations, which are identified below, it has an unconditional right to consideration, as
outlined in the Company’s contracts.

Contract Balances

At December 31, 2020 and 2019, the balances of the Company’s accounts receivables from contracts with
customers were $37,489 and $576,271, respectively. At December 31, 2020 and 2019, the balances of the
Company’s unbilled receivables from contracts with customers were $41,208 and $1,094,906, respectively. When
the Company receives consideration from a customer prior to transferring services to the customer under the terms
of the customer contracts, it records deferred revenue on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet, which
represents a contract liability. At December 31, 2020 and 2019, the balances of the Company’s contract liabilities
from contracts with customers were $777,041 and $1,124,569, respectively. At December 31, 2020 and 2019, the
Company had performance guarantee liabilities of $207,916 and $256,000, respectively. The Company anticipates
that it will satisfy all of its performance obligations associated with its contract liabilities within a year.

Significant Payment Terms

Generally, the Company’s accounts receivable are expected to be collected in 30 days in accordance with the
underlying payment terms. Invoices for services performed over time are typically sent to customers on the last
business day of each calendar month in arrears. The Company does not offer discounts if the customer pays some
or all of an invoiced amount prior to the due date.

Consideration paid for services rendered by the Company is nonrefundable. Therefore, at the time revenue is
recognized, the Company does not estimate expected refunds for services.
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The Company uses the practical expedient not to account for significant financing components because the
period between recognition and collection does not exceed one year for most of the Company’s contracts.

Timing of Performance Obligations

Most of the Company’s contracts with customers obligate it to perform services. Services provided include
health and welfare administration, dependent eligibility verification, COBRA administration, and benefit billing.
Revenue is recognized over time as services are provided as the performance obligations are satisfied through the
effort expended to research, investigate, evaluate, document, and report the claim, and control of these services is
transferred to the customer. The Company has the right to receive payment for all services rendered.

Determining and Allocating the Transaction Price

The transaction price of a contract is the amount of consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled
in exchange for transferring promised goods or services to a customer.

To determine the transaction price of a contract, the Company considers its customary business practices and
the terms of the contract. For the purpose of determining transaction prices, the Company assumes that the services
will be transferred to the customer as promised in accordance with existing contracts and that the contracts will not
be canceled, renewed, or modified.

The Company’s contracts with customers have fixed fee prices that are denominated per employee per month.
The Company includes amounts of variable consideration in a contract’s transaction price only to the extent that the
Company has a relatively high level of confidence that the amounts will not be subject to significant reversals (that
is, downward adjustments to revenue recognized for satisfied performance obligations). In determining amounts of
variable consideration to include in a contract’s transaction price, the Company relies on its experience and other
evidence including customer service metrics and cost savings metrics that supports its qualitative assessment of
whether revenue would be subject to a significant reversal. The Company considers all the facts and circumstances
associated with both the risk of a revenue reversal arising from an uncertain future event and the magnitude of the
reversal if that uncertain event were to occur.

Advertising

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Advertising costs amounted to $64,100 and $67,251 for the years
ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

Segments

Operating segments are defined as components of an entity for which separate financial information is
available. The Company reviews financial information presented on a consolidated basis for the purposes of
making operating decisions, allocating resources and evaluating financial performance. As such, the Company has
determined that it operates in one operating and one reportable segment.

Reclassification of Prior Year Presentation

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified for consistency with the current year presentation. These
reclassifications had no effect on the reported results of operations.
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Deferred Rent Obligation

The Company has entered into operating lease agreements for its corporate offices, some of which contain
provisions for future rent increases or periods in which rent payments are reduced (abated). The Company records
monthly rent expense equal to the total of the payments due over the lease term, divided by the number of months
of the lease term. The difference between rent expense recorded and the amount paid is credited or charged to
deferred rent.

Leases

At lease inception, the Company determines whether an arrangement is or contains a lease. Operating leases
are included in operating lease right-of-use (“ROU”) assets, current operating lease liabilities, and noncurrent
operating lease liabilities in the consolidated financial statements. ROU assets represent the Company’s right to use
leased assets over the term of the lease. Lease liabilities represent the Company’s contractual obligation to make
lease payments over the lease term.

For operating leases, ROU assets and lease liabilities are recognized at the commencement date. The lease
liability is measured as the present value of the lease payments over the lease term. The Company uses the rate
implicit in the lease if it is determinable. When the rate implicit in the lease is not determinable, the Company uses
its incremental borrowing rate at the commencement date of the lease to determine the present value of the lease
payments. The incremental borrowing rate is the rate incurred to borrow on a collateralized basis over a similar
term for an amount equal to the lease payments in a similar economic environment. Operating ROU assets are
calculated as the present value of the remaining lease payments plus unamortized initial direct costs plus any
prepayments less any unamortized lease incentives received. Lease terms may include renewal or extension
options to the extent they are reasonably certain to be exercised. The assessment of whether renewal or extension
options are reasonably certain to be exercised is made at lease commencement. Factors considered in determining
whether an option is reasonably certain of exercise include, but are not limited to, the value of any leasehold
improvements, the value of renewal rates compared to market rates, and the presence of factors that would cause a
significant economic penalty to the Company if the option were not exercised. Lease expense is recognized on a
straight-line basis over the lease term. The Company has elected not to recognize an ROU asset and obligation for
leases with an initial term of twelve months or less. The expense associated with short term leases is included in
lease expense in the statement of income.

Leases with an initial term of 12 months or less that do contain purchase options or renewal terms that the
Company is reasonably certain to exercise are not recorded on the consolidated balance sheet. The Company
recognizes the lease expense for such leases on a straight-line basis in the consolidated statement of operations over
the lease term. As a result, the Company does not recognize deferred rent on the consolidated balance sheet. To the
extent a lease arrangement includes both lease and non-lease components, the Company has elected to account for
the components as a single lease component.

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

On January 1, 2020, the Company adopted the requirements of Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2016-
02, Leases (Topic 842) and elected the optional transition method to apply the transition provisions from the
effective date of adoption. The comparative periods presented herein reflect the former accounting guidance and
the required comparative disclosures are included in Note 5- Leases. There was no cumulative-effect adjustment to
beginning retained earnings as a result of adopting ASC 842. The objective of this ASU, along with several related
ASUs issued subsequently, is to increase transparency and comparability between organizations that enter into
lease agreements. For lessees, the key difference of the new standard from the previous guidance (Topic 840) is the
recognition of a right-of-use (ROU) asset and
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lease liability on the balance sheet. The most significant change is the requirement to recognize ROU assets and
lease liabilities for leases classified as operating leases. The standard requires disclosures to meet the objective of
enabling users of financial statements to assess the amount, timing, and uncertainty of cash flows arising from
leases.

On January 1, 2020, the Company recorded right-of-use assets and corresponding lease liabilities of
$2,055,146 and $2,273,038, respectively, based on the present value of the minimum rental payments utilizing an
incremental borrowing rate of 8.0%. The right-of-use asset reflects a reduction of $217,892 for the elimination of
deferred rent. As of December 31, 2020, the right-of-use assets and corresponding lease liabilities in the
Company’s consolidated balance sheet were $1,658,935 and $1,851,674, respectively. The adoption of this
standard did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated statement of operations nor consolidated
statement of cash flows.

Given the potential acquisition as outlined in Note 10 — Subsequent Events, the Company has adopted the
below accounting pronouncements to be consistent with the acquirer’s accounting policies.

In April 2019, the FASB issued ASU No. 2019-04 “Codification Improvements to Topic 326, Financial
Instruments — Credit Losses, Topic 815, Derivatives and Hedging, and Topic 825, Financial Instruments.” ASU
No. 2019-04 was issued as part of the FASB’s ongoing project to improve upon its ASC, and to clarify and
improve areas of guidance related to recently issued standards on credit losses, hedging, and recognition and
measurement. This guidance contains several effective dates but is applicable to the Company’s fiscal year
beginning January 1, 2020. The adoption of this guidance did not have a material impact on its consolidated
financial statements.

In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-13, Fair Value Measurements (Topic 820): Disclosure
Framework Changes to the Disclosure Requirements for Fair Value Measurement. The amendments in this update
modify the disclosure requirements on fair value measurements in Topic 820. The ASU is effective for public
business entities for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019, and interim periods therein. Early adoption is
permitted. The adoption of this standard did not have any material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial
statements or any component of member’s equity.

In November 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-18, “Collaborative Arrangements (Topic 808):
Clarifying the Interaction between Topic 808 and Topic 606.” ASU No. 2018-18 was issued to resolve the
diversity in practice concerning the manner in which entities account for transactions based on their assessment of
the economics of a collaborative arrangement. This guidance is effective for public business entities for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2019, and for interim periods within those fiscal years, with early adoption
permitted. This guidance is applicable to the Company’s fiscal year beginning January 1, 2020. The adoption of
this guidance did not have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.

In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-15, “Intangibles — Goodwill and Other — Internal-Use
Software (Subtopic 350-40): Customer’s Accounting for Implementation Costs Incurred in a Cloud Computing
Arrangement That Is a Service Contract (a consensus of the FASB Emerging Issues Task Force).” ASU No. 2018-
15 aligns the requirements for capitalizing implementation costs incurred in a hosting arrangement that is a service
contract with the requirements for capitalizing implementation costs incurred to develop or obtain internal-use
software (and hosting arrangements that include an internal-use software license). This guidance is effective for
public business entities for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019, and for interim periods within those
fiscal years, with early adoption permitted. This guidance is applicable to the Company’s fiscal year beginning
January 1, 2020. The adoption of this guidance did not have a material impact on its consolidated financial
statements.
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In March 2020, the FASB issued ASU No. 2020-04, “Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Facilitation of the
Effects of Reference Rate Reform on Financial Reporting.” ASU No. 2020-04 provides guidance on optional
expedients for a limited time to ease the operational burden in accounting for (or recognizing the effects of)
reference rate reform (LIBOR) on financial reporting. This guidance is effective upon the ASUs issuance on
March 12, 2020 and companies may elect to apply the amendments prospectively through December 31, 2022. The
Company is reviewing its commercial contracts that may utilize LIBOR as a reference rate. The Company is
currently evaluating the potential effects of this guidance on its consolidated financial statements.

Note 4 — Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consist of the following at:

December 31,
2020 2019 

Software $1,932,534 $1,813,061 
Office equipment  382,119  282,920 
Furniture and fixtures  159,331  172,057 
Leasehold improvements  259,519  259,519 

Total cost  2,733,503  2,527,557 
Accumulated depreciation  1,264,103  696,444 

Net property and equipment $1,469,400  $1,831,113  

Depreciation and amortization expense for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 was $596,152 and
$505,719, respectively.

Note 5 — Leases

The Company leases facilities and equipment under noncancelable operating leases through July 2025. On
January 1, 2020, the Company recorded right-of-use assets of $2,055,146 and operating lease liabilities of
$2,273,038. Rent expense for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 was $651,907 and $558,060,
respectively.
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The Company’s future lease payments, which are presented as current operating lease and noncurrent
operating lease liabilities on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2020 are as follows:

Years Ending December 31, Amount

2021 $ 695,843 
2022  700,917 
2023  659,218 
2024  21,705 
2025  12,661 
Total lease payments  2,090,344 
Less: imputed interest  (238,670  
Present value of lease liabilities  1,851,674 
Less: current lease liabilities  (570,312  
Long-term lease liabiities $1,281,362 

Other information:

Weighted average remaining lease term – operating lease: 3.1 years
Weighted-average discount rate – operating lease: 8.0%

As of December 31, 2019, future minimum lease payments under noncancelable operating leases were as
follows:

Years Ending December 31, Amount

2020 $ 621,062 
2021  618,256 
2022  622,079 
2023  583,877 

$2,445,274 

Note 6 — Long-term Incentive Plan

Effective November 1, 2017, Continental established the Continental Benefits, LLC Long-term Incentive Plan
(the “2017 Plan”), which provides for up to 150,000 incentive compensation awards to be made to employees,
directors, or consultants in the form of phantom shares. Phantom shares granted under the 2017 Plan may be
subject to additional performance-based vesting conditions, but only vest after the consummation of a change of
control event. Subject to the terms of the 2017 Plan, vested phantom shares are valued based on a fair market value
formula and may be exercised upon a distributable event for cash. As such, the value of vested phantom shares will
be recognized as a liability at such time as a change of control is certain to occur. No phantom shares were granted
prior to December 31, 2017. As of December 31, 2020, 80,000 shares are outstanding, and no shares have been
recognized as a liability. There is no set exercise prices for the Phantom shares. Thus, no shares have been
recognized as a liability.

Note 7 — Related Party Transactions

The following is a description of transactions between the Company and related parties:
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Sales

The Company is party to an administration services agreement with an entity that was affiliated through
common ownership to provide certain services, including, but not limited to, enrollment and eligibility
management, claims administration, and network access. The Company generated $346,333 and $291,013 in
revenue from affiliates during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. As of December 31,
2020, and 2019, $9,113 and $27,944, respectively, was due from the affiliate and included in trade accounts
receivable in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Management Fees

The Company remits management fees for services provided from certain entities related through common
ownership. During the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company expensed $170,670 and $176,148,
respectively, in such management fees, which are reflected in selling, general, and administrative expenses on the
accompanying consolidated statement of operations. Management believes the charges for the services are
consistent with costs that could be obtained from third parties and/or hiring additional staffing to support current
business levels. No amounts were payable to related parties as of December 31, 2020 or 2019.

Note 8 — Retirement Plans

In coordination with an affiliate, the Company sponsors a 401(k) plan for eligible employees. The Company
matches 100% of the first 4% of eligible compensation that is deferred by employees. Employees are fully vested
in the matching contributions. Contributions to the plan totaled $245,881 and $240,725 for the years ended
December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

Note 9 — Commitments and Contingencies

Contingencies

The Company has been charged certain administrative tax penalties by the IRS related to prior year 1099 tax
filings. Based on the opinion of the Company’s counsel, although the Company is in the process of appealing, the
full amount of penalties and interest of $1,532,185 has been accrued as of December 31, 2020. Further interest has
been put on hold by the IRS as the Company pursues the appeals process.

Uncertainties

On March 11, 2020, the World Health Organization declared the outbreak of a respiratory disease caused by a
new coronavirus a pandemic. First identified in late 2019 and known now as COVID-19, the outbreak has
impacted thousands of individuals worldwide. In response, many countries have implemented measures to combat
the outbreak that have impacted global business operations. There have been no significant impacts to the
Company’s operations, and the Company is operating at normal levels. The Company has responded to the
outbreak by executing its Business Continuity Plan and implemented an enhanced Work from Home program. No
impairments were recorded as of the consolidated balance sheet date; however, due to significant uncertainty
surrounding the situation, management’s judgment regarding this could change in the future. In addition, while the
Company’s results of operations, cash flows, and financial condition could be negatively impacted, the extent of
the impact cannot be reasonably estimated at this time.

Note 10 — Subsequent Events Through March 23, 2021

For the purposes of preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Company considered events through
March 23, 2021, the date the consolidated financial statements were available for issuance.
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Management did not identify any events requiring adjustments to or disclosure in the consolidated financial
statements, except those noted below.

On January 15, 2021, the company signed a sublease agreement for approximately 11,000 sq ft of space at its
facility in Tampa, FL. This is expected to offset approximately $180,000 of annual rent expense through
November 2023.

On January 29, 2021, Continental Benefits, LLC (“Continental”) entered into a transaction to be acquired by
Marpai Health, Inc. (“Marpai”). The companies are currently in the process of, among other things, due diligence,
the execution of a definitive agreement, obtaining necessary board of director and stockholder approvals and
satisfaction of other customary conditions.

Note 11 — Subsequent Events From March 24, 2021 Through October 6, 2021

On April 1, 2021, pursuant to the terms of the Amended and Restated Equity Interest Purchase and
Reorganization Agreement, as was further addended on May 7, 2021 (collectively, the “Agreement”), the
stockholders of the Marpai Health, Inc. (“Marpai Health”) and the sole member of Continental Benefits, LLC
contributed their respective shares and ownership interests in Marpai Health and Continental Benefits to Marpai
Inc in consideration for shares of Marpai Inc’s Class A and Class B common stock. Additionally, options to
purchase 1,027,602 shares of Marpai Health’s common stock and warrants to purchase 1,366,746 shares of Marpai
Health’s common stock were exchanged, on a one-to-one basis, for options and warrants to purchase shares of
Marpai Inc’s common stock (the above transactions shall be referred to as the “Acquisition”). As part of the
Acquisition, approximately $3,800,000 of Marpai Health’s convertible promissory notes were exchanged for
shares of common stock of Marpai Inc immediately prior to the Acquisition. As part of the Acquisition, pursuant to
a Note Exchange Agreement, Marpai Inc acquired Marpai Health’s certain outstanding convertible promissory
notes, with aggregate outstanding principal and accrued but unpaid interest of $2,198,459, in exchange for the
issuance of Marpai Inc’s convertible promissory notes of equivalent aggregate principal amount. The Agreement
called for Continental Benefits to not have less than $4.762 million of cash on hand, and to have no debt at the time
of closing of the Acquisition. According to the Agreement, Continental Benefits was valued, on a cash-free and
debt-free basis, at $8.5 million and Marpai Health was valued at an assumed pre-money valuation of the last
convertible note’s conversion price of $35 million. For accounting purposes, Continental Benefits was considered
the acquiree and Marpai Health was considered the acquirer.

In June 2021, the Company received written confirmation from the IRS that all outstanding administrative tax
penalties relating to prior year 1099 tax filings have been waived and the Company has subsequently reversed the
accrual of $853,405.
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October 26, 2021

Through and including November 20, 2021 (the 25th day after the date of this offering), all dealers effecting
transactions in these securities, whether or not participating in this offering, may be required to deliver a
prospectus. This is in addition to a dealer’s obligation to deliver a prospectus when acting as an underwriter and
with respect to an unsold allotment or subscription.


